## ON CLOSE FIELDS AND THE LOCAL LANGLANDS CORRESPONDENCE

#### SIYAN DANIEL LI-HUERTA

ABSTRACT. We prove that Fargues–Scholze's semisimplified local Langlands correspondence (for quasisplit groups) with  $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}$ -coefficients is compatible with Deligne and Kazhdan's philosophy of close fields. From this, we deduce that the same holds with  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ -coefficients after restricting to wild inertia, addressing questions of Gan–Harris–Sawin and Scholze. The proof involves constructing a moduli space of nonarchimedean local fields and then extending Fargues–Scholze's work to this context.

#### Contents

Introduction	1
1. Smooth representations over profinite sets	6
2. Local fields in families	16
3. Fargues–Fontaine curves	22
4. Lubin–Tate theory	32
5. Vector bundles on Fargues–Fontaine curves	41
6. Reductive groups in families	47
7. Beilinson–Drinfeld affine Grassmannians	56
8. Geometric Satake	65
9. Local Langlands over close fields	78
Appendix A. Congruences of disconnected parahoric subgroups	86
References	92

#### INTRODUCTION

## Close fields. In number theory, there is a heuristic that

(\*) "as absolute ramification tends to  $\infty$ , *p*-adic fields tend to function fields."

For example, let E be a p-adic field with residue field  $\mathbb{F}_q$  and absolute ramification index e, and write E' for the function field  $\mathbb{F}_q((t))$ . Write  $\Gamma$  and  $\Gamma'$  for the absolute Galois groups of E and E', respectively. Building on work of Krasner [28], Deligne [10] showed that there exists a canonical<sup>1</sup> isomorphism (up to conjugation)

$$\Gamma/I^e \cong \Gamma'/I'^e,$$

where  $I^e$  and  $I'^e$  denote the *e*-th ramification subgroup of  $\Gamma$  and  $\Gamma'$ , respectively. Consequently, we get a canonical bijection between representations of  $\Gamma$  that are trivial on  $I^e$  and representations of  $\Gamma'$  that are trivial on  $I'^e$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Everything depends on a choice of uniformizer (up to multiplication by  $1 + \mathfrak{p}^e$ , where  $\mathfrak{p}$  denotes the maximal ideal of the ring of integers) of E. However, we ignore this in the introduction.

This bijection also applies to Galois representations with extra structure. More precisely, Deligne's isomorphism induces a correspondence  $G/E \leftrightarrow G'/E'$  between isomorphism classes of quasisplit<sup>2</sup> connected reductive groups that split over an *e*-ramified extension. Under this correspondence, Deligne's isomorphism also induces a canonical bijection

$$\left\{\begin{array}{c} L\text{-parameters }\rho\\ \text{for }G \text{ with }\rho|_{I^e}=1\end{array}\right\}\longleftrightarrow \left\{\begin{array}{c} L\text{-parameters }\rho'\\ \text{for }G' \text{ with }\rho'|_{I'^e}=1\end{array}\right\}$$

Something similar happens for representations of p-adic groups. Fix a positive integer n. One can compatibly define n-th congruence subgroups  $K^n$  and  $K'^n$  of G(E) and G'(E'), respectively, by using the corresponding Chevalley group over  $\mathbb{Z}$ . Let  $\ell \neq p$  be a prime, and let  $\Lambda$  be either  $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}$  or  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ . Extending results of Kazhdan [25], Ganapathy [19] showed that there exists a canonical isomorphism<sup>3</sup> between the bi-invariant Hecke algebras

$$\mathcal{H}(G(E), K^n)_{\Lambda} \cong \mathcal{H}(G'(E'), K'^n)_{\Lambda}$$

over  $\Lambda$  whenever *e* is large enough. Consequently, we get a canonical bijection

$$\left\{\begin{array}{l} \text{smooth irreps } \pi \text{ of } G(E) \\ \text{over } \Lambda \text{ with } (\pi)^{K^n} \neq 0 \end{array}\right\} \longleftrightarrow \left\{\begin{array}{l} \text{smooth irreps } \pi' \text{ of } G'(E') \\ \text{over } \Lambda \text{ with } (\pi')^{K'^n} \neq 0 \end{array}\right\}$$

**Local Langlands.** The Langlands program predicts a relationship between automorphic forms and Galois representations. For example, in the context of connected reductive groups G over nonarchimedean local fields E, recent groundbreaking work of Fargues–Scholze [14] yields a natural map

$$\operatorname{LLC}_{G}^{\operatorname{ss}}: \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \operatorname{smooth\ irreps} \\ \operatorname{of\ } G(E) \operatorname{ over\ } \Lambda \end{array} \right\} \longrightarrow \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \operatorname{semisimple\ } L\text{-parameters} \\ \operatorname{for\ } G \operatorname{ over\ } \Lambda \end{array} \right\}$$

The goal of this paper is to prove that  $LLC_G^{ss}$  is compatible with Heuristic ( $\star$ ). Our first main theorem concerns the case of  $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}$ -coefficients.

**Theorem A.** Let G' be a quasisplit connected reductive group over E' that splits over an n-ramified extension. There exists an integer  $d \ge n$  such that, for all p-adic fields E with residue field  $\mathbb{F}_q$  and absolute ramification index  $e \ge d$ ,

i) the map  $LLC_G^{ss}$  restricts to a map

$$\operatorname{LLC}_{G}^{\operatorname{ss}}:\left\{\begin{array}{c} \text{smooth irreps } \pi \text{ of } G(E)\\ \text{over } \overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell} \text{ with } (\pi)^{K^{n}} \neq 0\end{array}\right\} \longrightarrow \left\{\begin{array}{c} \text{semisimple } L\text{-parameters } \rho\\ \text{for } G \text{ over } \overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell} \text{ with } \rho|_{I^{d}} = 1\end{array}\right\}.$$

*ii)* the square

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ One can even extend this to *all* connected reductive groups that split over an *e*-ramified extension [18, Lemma 5.1], though we do not work in this generality.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>While Kazhdan and Ganapathy work over  $\mathbb{C} \approx \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ , one can deduce the result over  $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}$  using their work. Also, strictly speaking, we use an isomorphism whose construction differs from that of [19], and we do not know whether these isomorphisms are equal. See Appendix A.

#### commutes.

We actually prove a refinement of Theorem A on the level of *excursion algebras*; see Theorem 9.8. Using this refinement, we prove our second main theorem in the case of  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ -coefficients.

**Theorem B.** Let G' be a quasisplit connected reductive group over E' that splits over an n-ramified extension. There exists an integer  $d \ge n$  such that, for all p-adic fields E with residue field  $\mathbb{F}_q$  and absolute ramification index  $e \ge d$ ,

i) the map  $LLC_G^{ss}$  restricts to a map

$$\operatorname{LLC}_{G}^{\operatorname{ss}}:\left\{\begin{array}{c} \text{smooth irreps } \pi \text{ of } G(E)\\ \text{over } \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \text{ with } (\pi)^{K^{n}} \neq 0 \end{array}\right\} \longrightarrow \left\{\begin{array}{c} \text{semisimple } L\text{-parameters } \rho\\ \text{for } G \text{ over } \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \text{ with } \rho|_{I^{d}} = 1 \end{array}\right\}$$

*ii)* the square

commutes after restricting to the wild inertia subgroup.

This addresses (a generalization to quasisplit connected reductive groups of) a question of Gan–Harris–Sawin [17, Conjecture 11.7]<sup>4</sup> and Scholze [35, p. 470].

#### Remarks.

- 1) Since  $LLC_G^{ss}$  equals the expected local Langlands correspondence when G is a torus [14, p. 331], in this case Theorem A and Theorem B follow from work of Aubert–Varma [2, Theorem 1.2.1(iv)].
- 2) One can ask whether our main theorems hold for d = n. The answer for part i) is already negative when G is a wildly ramified induced torus [33, Sec. 7.1]. When G is split but not a torus, the answer for part i) is also negative because our congruence subgroups arise from hyperspecial subgroups and hence are "too big." However, if one instead uses congruence subgroups arising from Iwahori subgroups, then one expects the answer to be positive when G is split [17, Conjecture 11.7].

**Idea of proof.** We begin by introducing a moduli space of nonarchimedean local fields, which allows us to conceptualize Heuristic ( $\star$ ). This starts with the observation that, by Krasner's lemma, there exists an enumeration  $\{E_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$  of all *p*-adic fields with residue field  $\mathbb{F}_q$  (up to isomorphism), and as *i* tends to infinity, the absolute ramification index of  $E_i$  also tends to infinity. We use this to construct a topological ring E such that

- the topological space  $|\operatorname{Spa} E|$  is naturally homeomorphic to the one-point compactification  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  of the discrete space  $\mathbb{N}$ ,
- for all i in  $\mathbb{N}$ , the residue field of  $\operatorname{Spa} E$  at i is  $E_i$ , and the residue field of  $\operatorname{Spa} E$  at  $\infty$  is  $E' := \mathbb{F}_q((t))$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Gan-Harris-Sawin work with the Genestier-Lafforgue correspondence [20] for G', but this agrees with the Fargues-Scholze correspondence by [30, Theorem C].

#### SIYAN DANIEL LI-HUERTA

Therefore Spa E can be regarded as the moduli space of nonarchimedean local fields with residue field  $\mathbb{F}_q$ . We prove that finite étale E-algebras are spread out from finite étale E'-algebras in a way that is compatible with Deligne's isomorphism, so the finite étale site of Spa E geometrizes the Galois side in our main theorems.

What about the automorphic side? First, using the above results, we spread out quasisplit connected reductive groups G' over E' to reductive group schemes Gover E in a way that is compatible with Deligne's isomorphism. Next, we refine our construction of E to produce a *ring topological space*  $\mathbb{E}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  that recovers Eafter taking global sections. We use this to construct a group topological space  $G(\mathbb{E})$ over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  that interpolates between p-adic groups for different nonarchimedean local fields, as well as to define a compact open group subspace  $\mathbb{K}^n \subseteq G(\mathbb{E})$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  that interpolates between n-th congruence subgroups. Finally, we introduce and study a notion of *smooth representations* of  $G(\mathbb{E})$  with  $\Lambda$ -coefficients, which are sheaves of  $\Lambda$ -modules on  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  equipped with certain continuous actions of  $G(\mathbb{E})$ . An important example is the compactly supported induction c-Ind $\mathbb{K}^{G(\mathbb{E})}_{\mathbb{K}^n} \Lambda$ ; crucially, we prove that its endomorphism sheaf

$$\underline{\operatorname{End}}_{G(\mathbb{E})}(\operatorname{c-Ind}_{\mathbb{K}^n}^{G(\mathbb{E})}\Lambda)$$

is isomorphic to the constant sheaf  $\mathcal{H}(G'(E'), K'^n)_{\Lambda}$  on  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  in a way that is compatible with Ganapathy's isomorphism.

From here, we geometrize the above theory as in work of Fargues–Scholze [14]. Write  $\mathcal{O} \subseteq E$  for the subring of powerbounded elements. We begin by constructing a generalization of Witt vectors for  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebras that interpolates between  $\mathcal{O}_i$ -typical Witt vectors for all i in  $\mathbb{N}$ , where  $\mathcal{O}_i$  denotes the ring of integers of  $E_i$ . Next, we use this to define and study a generalization  $X_S \to \operatorname{Spa} E$  of the relative Fargues– Fontaine curve for any perfectoid space S over  $\underbrace{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}_{\mathbb{F}_q}$ . Restricting to perfectoid test objects S puts us in the world of diamonds [36],<sup>5</sup> and here we define a space

$$\operatorname{Div}_X^1 \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}_{\mathbb{F}}$$

of degree 1 relative effective Cartier divisors on  $X_S$ . By reducing to the situation considered in Fargues–Scholze [14], we prove a version of Drinfeld's lemma for  $\text{Div}_X^1$ .

Continuing as in work of Fargues–Scholze [14], we introduce the moduli stack

$$\operatorname{Bun}_G \to \underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}_{\mathbb{F}}$$

of G-bundles on  $X_S$ . To study  $\operatorname{Bun}_G$ , we reduce many statements to the case of vector bundles by proving a Tannakian description of G-torsors, which is subtle because E is non-noetherian. We then handle the case of vector bundles by using our generalization of Witt vectors to prove an *explicit* version of Lubin–Tate theory over E, generalizing arguments of Fontaine [15] and Fargues–Fontaine [13].

At this point, we prove a version of the geometric Satake equivalence for G/E with  $\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}$ -coefficients. This requires working over non-noetherian rings like

$$\operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathbb{Z}_{\ell}),$$

which seem inaccessible to Tannakian identification results, so we instead use an elaborate argument to reduce to the situation considered in Fargues–Scholze [14].

4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Via the tilting equivalence and almost purity, perfectoid spaces provide *another* example of Heuristic ( $\star$ ). Hence their appearance here should be unsurprising. See [35, p. 470].

Our geometric Satake equivalence lets us spread out geometric Hecke operators  $T'_V$  from the stack  $\operatorname{Bun}_{G'}$  studied in Fargues–Scholze [14] to our stack  $\operatorname{Bun}_G$ .

We can now put everything together to prove Theorem A. Recall that  $LLC_{G'}^{ss}$  is defined using *excursion algebras*, which are certain  $\overline{\mathbb{Z}}_{\ell}$ -algebras with canonical generators indexed by tuples  $(J, V, x, \xi, \gamma'_{\bullet})$ , where J is a finite set, V is a representation of the J-th power  $({}^{L}G')^{J}$  of the L-group, x and  $\xi$  are elements of V and  $V^{\vee}$ , respectively, that are fixed by the image of the diagonal map  $\widehat{G}' \hookrightarrow ({}^{L}G')^{J}$ , and  $\gamma'_{\bullet}$  is a J-tuple of elements of the absolute Weil group of E'. Any such tuple induces an endomorphism of  $A' \coloneqq$  c-Ind $_{K'n}^{G'(E')} \overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}$  via the composition

$$(\times) \qquad \qquad A' = T'_{\mathbf{1}}(A') \xrightarrow{x} T'_{V}(A') \xrightarrow{\gamma'_{\bullet}} T'_{V}(A') \xrightarrow{\xi} T'_{\mathbf{1}}(A') = A',$$

where we view A' as an étale  $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}$ -sheaf on the open locus of trivial G'-bundles  $\operatorname{Bun}_{G'}^1 \subseteq \operatorname{Bun}_{G'}$ . Using the geometric Hecke operators  $T_V$  on our stack  $\operatorname{Bun}_G$ , we can spread out  $(\times)$  to an endomorphism of  $A \coloneqq \operatorname{c-Ind}_{\mathbb{K}^n}^{G(\mathbb{E})} \overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}$  via the composition

$$A = T_{\mathbf{1}}(A) \xrightarrow{x} T_{V}(A) \xrightarrow{\gamma_{\bullet}} T_{V}(A) \xrightarrow{\xi} T_{\mathbf{1}}(A) = A,$$

where we similarly view A as an étale  $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}$ -sheaf on the open locus of trivial G-bundles  $\operatorname{Bun}_G^1 \subseteq \operatorname{Bun}_G$ . Then part i) follows from compactness properties of  $T_V$ , and part ii) follows from our isomorphism

$$\mathcal{H}(G'(E'), K'^n)_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \underline{\mathrm{End}}_{G(\mathbb{E})}(A).$$

Finally, let us sketch the proof of Theorem B. Work of Bernstein [3] reduces us to proving part ii) for individual irreducible cuspidal representations  $\pi'$  of G'(E') over  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ . After twisting  $\pi'$  by an unramified character, we can assume that  $\pi'$  is defined over  $\overline{\mathbb{Z}}_{\ell}$ , which implies that the corresponding irreducible smooth representation  $\pi$  of G(E) is also defined over  $\overline{\mathbb{Z}}_{\ell}$ . By applying (the excursion algebra version of) Theorem A, the desired result then follows from comparing  $\mathrm{LLC}_{G'}^{\mathrm{ss}}(\pi')$  and  $\mathrm{LLC}_{G}^{\mathrm{ss}}(\pi) \mod \ell$  and using the fact that the kernel of  $\widehat{G}(\overline{\mathbb{Z}}_{\ell}) \to \widehat{G}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell})$  is (ind-)pro- $\ell$ .

**Outline.** In §1, we develop a theory of smooth representations over profinite sets. In §2, we introduce our moduli space of nonarchimedean local fields and study its Galois theory. In §3, we construct a generalization of Witt vectors over  $\mathcal{O}$ , which we use to define a version of relative Fargues–Fontaine curves. In §4, we prove an explicit version of Lubin–Tate theory over E, and we apply this in §5 to study vector bundles on Fargues–Fontaine curves in our context.

In §6, we introduce the connected reductive group G over E, and we prove that Hecke algebras for the resulting family of p-adic groups over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  geometrize Ganapathy's isomorphism. (Actually, we use an isomorphism whose construction differs from that of Ganapathy; see Appendix A.) We also define the moduli stack  $\operatorname{Bun}_G$ . In §7, we introduce Beilinson–Drinfeld affine Grassmannians in our context, and in §8 we prove a version of the geometric Satake equivalence for G/E. Finally, we put everything together in §9 to prove Theorem A and Theorem B.

**Notation.** We endow all finite free  $\mathbb{Z}$ -modules with the discrete topology. For all rings R and affine groups G over R, write Rep G for the category of representations of G on finite free R-modules. We view all functors between derived categories as derived functors, and starting in §8, we view derived categories as  $\infty$ -categories.

Starting in §3, we freely use definitions from perfectoid geometry as in [36] and [14]. We work over  $\operatorname{Spd} \mathbb{F}_q$  (unless otherwise specified) until 8.15, after which we work over  $\operatorname{Spd} \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ . For all small v-stacks Z on  $\operatorname{Perf}_{\mathbb{F}_q}$  and rings  $\Lambda$  that are  $\ell$ -power torsion, write  $\operatorname{Shv}_{\acute{e}t}(Z, \Lambda) \subseteq D_{\acute{e}t}(Z, \Lambda)$  for the heart of the standard t-structure. Write  $D_{\operatorname{lc}}(Z, \Lambda)$  for the full subcategory of  $D_{\acute{e}t}(Z, \Lambda)$  given by objects that are étalelocally constant with perfect fibers, and write  $\operatorname{LocSys}(Z, \Lambda)$  for the full subcategory of  $D_{\acute{e}t}(Z, \Lambda)$  given by objects that are étale-locally constant with finite projective fibers.

Acknowledgements. The author is indebted to Peter Scholze for suggesting that [14] should extend to families of local fields over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . The author would also like to thank Radhika Ganapathy for answering many questions about her work, as well as for sharing a revised version of [19]. Finally, the author would like to thank Michael Harris for his encouragement, and to thank Tasho Kaletha and Zhiwei Yun for helpful discussions.

During the completion of this work, the author was partially supported by NSF Grant #2303195. The author also benefitted greatly from visiting the Hausdorff Research Institute for Mathematics, supported by the DFG under Germany's Excellence Strategy – EXC-2047/1 – 390685813.

#### 1. Smooth representations over profinite sets

In this section, we develop a theory of *smooth representations* for certain group topological spaces over a profinite set. The group topological spaces that we consider are a relative version of locally compact totally disconnected (or *lctd*) topological groups. Examples will include the analogues of absolute Galois groups in  $\S2$ , absolute Weil groups in  $\S3$ , and *p*-adic groups in  $\S6$ .

This section is elementary and self-contained; although nobody would want to, it can be read independently of the other sections.

1.1. We start with some recollections about topological spaces S. Recall that the étalé space construction yields an equivalence from the category of sheaves on S to the category of étale topological spaces over S, with a quasi-inverse given by the sheaf of continuous sections [32, II.6, Corollary 3]. For any topological space X over S and open subset U of S, write X(U) for the set of continuous sections of  $X_U \rightarrow U$ .

For the rest of this section, assume that S is profinite. Then compact open subsets U of S form a basis for the topology of S, and because U is also profinite, every open cover of U splits. Hence when evaluating on this basis, it suffices to check the sheaf condition for S on pairs of disjoint compact open subsets of S.

1.2. We study the following generalization of lctd groups in the sense of [27, 2.2].

**Definition.** Let G be a group topological space over S. We say that G is *lctd over* S if G is Hausdorff and

- a) there exists a family  $\{K^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha}$  of compact open group subspaces of G over S that is cofinal among neighborhoods of the identity section in G,
- b) for all s in S and  $g_s$  in the fiber  $G_s$ , there exists a neighborhood U of s and g in G(U) such that  $g(s) = g_s$ .

For the rest of this section, let G be a group topological space over S that is lctd over S, and let  $\{K^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha}$  be a family of compact open group subspaces of G over S satisfying Definition 1.2.a).

For all s in S, evaluation at s yields a homomorphism  $\operatorname{ev}_s : \varinjlim_U G(U) \to G_s$ , where U runs over compact neighborhoods of s. Note that Definition 1.2.b) is equivalent to  $\operatorname{ev}_s$  being surjective.

1.3. While  $ev_s$  need not be bijective, it does satisfy the following relationship with open group subspaces H of G. Note that any such H is Hausdorff and satisfies Definition 1.2.b).

**Lemma.** For all s in S, the kernel of  $ev_s$  lies in  $\varinjlim_U H(U)$ , where U runs over compact neighborhoods of s. Consequently,  $ev_s$  induces a bijection

$$\varinjlim_U G(U) / \varinjlim_U H(U) \xrightarrow{\sim} G_s / H_s$$

*Proof.* Let g be in ker ev<sub>s</sub>, and view g as a continuous map  $g: U \to G$  for some compact neighborhood U of s. Then  $g^{-1}(H)$  is a neighborhood of s, so it contains a compact neighborhood U' of s. Hence  $g|_{U'}$  lies in H(U'). Finally, the last statement follows from Definition 1.2.b) applied to G and H.

1.4. Since H is open in G, we expect the "quotient" of G by H to be "discrete." We make this precise as follows. Write G and H for their associated sheaves on S, and consider the quotient G/H of sheaves on S.

**Proposition.** For all compact open subsets U of S, we have

$$G(U)/H(U) = (G/H)(U),$$

and for all s in S, we have  $G_s/H_s = (G/H)_s$ . Moreover, the map  $q: G \to G/H$ over S whose fiber at s equals the quotient map  $G_s \to G_s/H_s$  is continuous.

*Proof.* Let U and U' be disjoint compact open subsets of S. Then

$$G(U \cup U')/H(U \cup U') = (G(U) \times G(U'))/(H(U) \times H(U'))$$
$$= [G(U)/H(U)] \times [G(U')/H(U')],$$

so 1.1 shows that, when evaluating G/H on compact open subsets of S, we do not need to sheafify. Lemma 1.3 immediately implies that  $G_s/H_s = (G/H)_s$ .

To see that q is continuous, it suffices to show that, for all compact open subsets U of S and  $\sigma$  in (G/H)(U), the preimage under q of  $\sigma(U)$  is open. Now  $\sigma = gH(U)$  for some g in G(U), so this preimage equals the union of  $g(u)H_u$  for all u in U. But this is precisely the image of the open subset  $H_U \subseteq G_U$  under the homeomorphism

$$G_U = U \times_S G \xrightarrow{g \times \mathrm{id}} G_U \times_S G \xrightarrow{m} G_U. \qquad \Box$$

1.5. The notion of discrete spaces with continuous actions (and consequently of smooth representations) generalizes to our setting as follows. Let  $\Lambda$  be a ring.

### Definition.

- a) An *étale G-space* is an étale topological space X over S along with a continuous action  $a: G \times_S X \to X$  over S.
- b) A smooth representation of G over  $\Lambda$  is a  $\Lambda$ -module étale topological space V over S along with a continuous  $\Lambda$ -linear action  $a: G \times_S V \to V$  over S.

Write  $\operatorname{Rep}(G, \Lambda)$  for the category of smooth representations of G over  $\Lambda$ , and write  $\underline{\Lambda}$  for the constant topological space over S along with the trivial action of G.

For all smooth representations V and V' of G over  $\Lambda$ , write  $\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_G(V, V')$  for the sheaf of  $\Lambda$ -modules on S that sends compact open subsets U of S to the set of morphisms  $V_U \to V'_U$  of smooth representations of  $G_U$  over  $\Lambda$ .

1.6. We now translate the various ways of interpreting discrete spaces with continuous actions (and consequently of smooth representations) into our more general setting. Let X be an étale G-space, and consider the continuous map

$$\rho: G \times_S X \xrightarrow{(\mathrm{pr}_1, a)} G \times_S X$$

of étale topological spaces over G.

**Lemma.** This association induces an equivalence of categories between

```
a) étale G-spaces X,
```

b) G-equivariant sheaves  $(X, \rho : \operatorname{pr}^* X \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{pr}^* X)$  on S.

*Proof.* By checking on fibers, we see that  $\rho: G \times_S X \to G \times_S X$  satisfies the cocycle condition and is bijective. Since  $G \times_S X$  is étale over G, the latter implies that  $\rho$  is a homeomorphism, as desired.

In the other direction, let X be a sheaf on S along with an isomorphism

$$o: \operatorname{pr}^* X \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{pr}^* X$$

of sheaves on G satisfying the cocycle condition. Then the composition

$$a: G \times_S X \xrightarrow{\rho} G \times_S X \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_2} X$$

is continuous, and checking on fibers shows that a is an action over S.

1.7. Let X be an étale G-space, and consider the action  $G \times X \to X$  of sheaves on S induced by the continuous map  $a : G \times_S X \to X$ .

Proposition. This association induces an equivalence of categories between

- a) étale G-spaces X,
- b) sheaves X on S along with an action  $G \times X \to X$  of sheaves on S such that, for all compact open subsets U of S and  $\tau$  in X(U), there exists an  $\alpha$  with  $K^{\alpha}(U)$ stabilizing  $\tau$ .

Proposition 1.7 implies that  $\operatorname{Rep}(G, \Lambda)$  is naturally an abelian category, so we can form its derived category  $D(G, \Lambda)$ .

*Proof.* Since a is continuous and  $\tau$  is an open embedding, the cartesian diagram



shows that  $\operatorname{stab}_G \tau$  is a neighborhood of the identity section in  $G_U$ . By Definition 1.2.a), there exists an  $\alpha$  with  $K_U^{\alpha}$  lying in  $\operatorname{stab}_G \tau$ , so our action  $G \times X \to X$  of sheaves on S satisfies the property in part b).

In the other direction, let X be a sheaf on S along with an action  $G \times X \to X$  of sheaves on S satisfying the property in part b). For all s in S, taking stalks yields an action of  $\varinjlim_U G(U)$  on  $X_s$ , where U runs over compact neighborhoods of s. We claim that this action factors through  $ev_s : \varinjlim_U G(U) \to G_s$ . To see this, let g be in ker  $ev_s$ , let  $\tau$  be in  $X_s$ , and view  $\tau$  as an element of X(U) for some compact neighborhood U of s. Lemma 1.3 represents g as an element of  $K^{\alpha}(U')$  for some compact neighborhood  $U' \subseteq U$  of s, so g stabilizes  $\tau|_{U'}$ , as desired.

The claim induces an action  $G_s \times X_s \to X_s$ , and taking the disjoint union over s yields an action  $a: G \times_S X \to X$  over S. As U and  $\tau$  vary, the open subsets  $G \times_S \tau(U)$  of  $G \times_S X$  form a cover, so it suffices to check the continuity of a by restricting to  $G \times_S \tau(U)$ . Then Proposition 1.4 and checking on fibers show that  $a: G \times_S \tau(U) \to X$  equals the composition

$$G \times_S \tau(U) \xrightarrow{q \times_{\mathrm{Id}}} G/K^{\alpha} \times_S \tau(U) \longrightarrow X,$$

so it suffices to show that the right map is continuous. Because  $G/K^{\alpha}$  is étale over S, as  $\sigma$  varies through  $(G/K^{\alpha})(U)$ , the open subsets  $\sigma(U) \times_S \tau(U)$  of  $G/K^{\alpha} \times_S \tau(U)$  form a cover. Therefore it suffices to restrict to  $\sigma(U) \times_S \tau(U)$ . Finally, Proposition 1.4 identifies  $\sigma = gK^{\alpha}(U)$  for some g in G(U), and we see that  $a : \sigma(U) \times_S \tau(U) \to X$  equals the map  $g \cdot \tau : U \to X$ . This is indeed continuous.

1.8. Endow the category of étale *G*-spaces with the Grothendieck topology whose coverings are given by jointly surjective collections of étale maps.

# **Corollary.** The site { $\acute{e}tale \ G$ -spaces} is subcanonical, and the Yoneda embedding { $\acute{e}tale \ G$ -spaces} $\hookrightarrow$ {sheaves on { $\acute{e}tale \ G$ -spaces}}

is an equivalence of categories.

*Proof.* Note that surjective étale maps are quotient maps, which implies the first statement. For the second statement, let  $\mathcal{F}$  be a sheaf on {étale *G*-spaces}, and write *X* for the presheaf on *S* given by  $U \mapsto \varinjlim_{\alpha} \mathcal{F}(G/K^{\alpha}|_U)$  for all compact open subsets *U* of *S*. For all disjoint compact open subsets *U* and *U'* of *S*, we have

$$\lim_{\alpha} \mathcal{F}(G/K^{\alpha}|_{U\cup U'}) = \lim_{\alpha} \mathcal{F}((G/K^{\alpha}|_{U}) \cup (G/K^{\alpha}|_{U'}))$$
$$= \lim_{\alpha} \left( \mathcal{F}(G/K^{\alpha}|_{U}) \times \mathcal{F}(G/K^{\alpha}|_{U'}) \right) = \left[ \lim_{\alpha} \mathcal{F}(G/K^{\alpha}|_{U}) \right] \times \left[ \lim_{\alpha} \mathcal{F}(G/K^{\alpha}|_{U'}) \right],$$

so 1.1 shows that, when evaluating X on compact open subsets of S, it is already a sheaf.

Let g be in G(U), and write  $g^{-1}K_U^{\alpha}g$  for the image of the open group subspace  $K_U^{\alpha} \subseteq G_U$  under the homeomorphism

$$K_U^{\alpha} = U \times_S K^{\alpha} \times_S U \xrightarrow{g^{-1} \times \mathrm{id} \times g} K_U^{\alpha} \times_S K^{\alpha} \times_S K_U^{\alpha} \xrightarrow{m} K_U^{\alpha}$$

Because  $g^{-1}K_U^{\alpha}g$  is a neighborhood of the identity section in  $G_U$ , Definition 1.2.a) yields an  $\alpha'$  such that  $K_U^{\alpha'}$  lies in  $g^{-1}K^{\alpha}g$ . Therefore right translation by g induces a map  $G/K^{\alpha}|_U \to G/K^{\alpha'}|_U$  of étale  $G_U$ -spaces. Taking  $\lim_{\alpha} \mathcal{F}(-)$  yields a map  $X(U) \to X(U)$ , and as U varies, we obtain an action  $G \times X \to X$  of sheaves on S. By construction, this action satisfies the property in Proposition 1.7.b), so Proposition 1.7 endows X with the structure of an étale G-space. Finally, the image of X under the Yoneda embedding is naturally isomorphic to  $\mathcal{F}$ , as desired.

1.9. Next, we introduce our generalization of compactly supported induction. For the rest of this section, assume that H is closed in G. By taking intersections, this implies that H also satisfies Definition 1.2.a), so H is also let over S.

Let W be a smooth representation of H over  $\Lambda$ .

**Definition.** Write c-Ind<sup>G</sup><sub>H</sub> W for the sheaf of  $\Lambda$ -modules on S that sends compact open subsets U of S to the set of continuous functions  $f : G_U \to W$  over S such that

a) the square

$$\begin{array}{c} H \times_S G_U \xrightarrow{m} G_U \\ & \downarrow^{\operatorname{id}} \times f \\ H \times_S W \xrightarrow{a} W \end{array}$$

commutes,

- b) there exist  $g_1, \ldots, g_r$  in G(U) such that, for all u in U, the function  $f_u : G_u \to W_u$  is supported on  $\bigcup_{i=1}^r H_u g_i(u)$ .
- 1.10. Lemma. For all s in S, restricting to  $G_s$  yields a bijection

 $(\operatorname{c-Ind}_{H}^{G} W)_{s} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{c-Ind}_{H_{*}}^{G_{s}}(W_{s}).$ 

*Proof.* For injectivity, let U be a compact neighborhood of s, let f be in

 $(\operatorname{c-Ind}_{H}^{G} W)(U),$ 

and let  $g_1, \ldots, g_r$  be the elements of G(U) provided by Definition 1.9.b). Suppose that  $f|_{G_s} = 0$ . Then, for all  $1 \leq j \leq r$ , the preimage under  $f \circ g_j$  of  $0(U) \subseteq$ (c-Ind<sup>G</sup><sub>H</sub> W)<sub>U</sub> is a neighborhood of s, so there exists a compact neighborhood U' of s contained in all of them. Definition 1.9.b) indicates that  $f|_{G_{U'}} = 0$ .

For surjectivity, let  $f_s: G_s \to W_s$  be in c-Ind $_{H_s}^{G_s}(W_s)$ . Since restricting to  $G_s$  is additive, it suffices to consider  $f_s$  of the form

$$x_s \mapsto \begin{cases} (x_s g_s^{-1}) w_s & \text{if } x_s \text{ lies in } H_s g_s, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

for some  $w_s$  in  $W_s$  and  $g_s$  in  $G_s$ . By Definition 1.2.b), there exists a compact neighborhood U of s and g in G(U) such that  $g(s) = g_s$ , and after shrinking U, there exists w in W(U) such that  $w(s) = w_s$ .

Write  $H_Ug$  for the image of  $H_U \subseteq G_U$  under the homeomorphism

$$G_U = G \times_S U \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id} \times g} G \times_S G_U \xrightarrow{m} G_U.$$

Write  $f: G_U \to W$  for the continuous function over S whose value on  $H_Ug$  equals

$$H_Ug \xrightarrow{\sim} H_U = H \times_S U \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id} \times w} H \times_S W \xrightarrow{a} W$$

and whose value on  $G_U - H_U g$  equals  $0 \circ \text{pr}$ , which is well-defined because  $H_U g$  is clopen in  $G_U$ . By checking on fibers, we see that f lies in  $(\text{c-Ind}_H^G W)(U)$ , and its restriction to  $G_s$  equals  $f_s$ , as desired.

1.11. We get an action  $G \times \text{c-Ind}_H^G W \to \text{c-Ind}_H^G W$  of sheaves on S as follows. For all compact open subsets U of S, g in G(U), and f in  $(\text{c-Ind}_H^G W)(U)$ , define  $g \cdot f$  to be the composition

$$G_U = G \times_S U \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id} \times g} G \times_S G_U \xrightarrow{m} G_U \xrightarrow{f} W.$$

Note that this action is  $\Lambda$ -linear.

**Lemma.** For all f in  $(c-\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G} W)(U)$ , there exists an  $\alpha$  with  $K^{\alpha}(U)$  stabilizing f.

Combined with Proposition 1.7, Lemma 1.11 yields a continuous  $\Lambda$ -linear action  $G \times_S \operatorname{c-Ind}_H^G W \to \operatorname{c-Ind}_H^G W$  over S, so we obtain a functor

$$\operatorname{c-Ind}_{H}^{G} : \operatorname{Rep}(H, \Lambda) \to \operatorname{Rep}(G, \Lambda).$$

Proof. Let  $g_1, \ldots, g_r$  be the elements of G(U) provided by Definition 1.9.b). For all  $1 \leq j \leq r$ , the subspace  $g_j^{-1} \operatorname{stab}_H(f \circ g_j)g_j \subseteq G_U$  is a neighborhood of the identity section in  $G_U$ , so Definition 1.2.a) yields an  $\alpha$  such that  $K_U^{\alpha}$  lies in

$$g_j^{-1} \operatorname{stab}_H (f \circ g_j) g_j$$

for all  $1 \leq j \leq r$ . By using Lemma 1.10 to check on fibers, Definition 1.9.a) implies that every g in  $K^{\alpha}(U)$  stabilizes f, as desired.

1.12. We need the following separatedness property of G/H.

**Lemma.** Let U be a compact open subset of S, let  $\sigma_1$  and  $\sigma_2$  be in (G/H)(U), and let u be in U. If  $\sigma_{1u} \neq \sigma_{2u}$ , then there exists a compact neighborhood  $U' \subseteq U$  of u such that  $\sigma_{1u'} \neq \sigma_{2u'}$  for all u' in U'.

Proof. By Proposition 1.4, there exist  $g_1$  and  $g_2$  in G(U) such that  $\sigma_1 = g_1H(U)$ and  $\sigma_2 = g_2H(U)$ . Proposition 1.4 also indicates that  $g_1(u)H_u \neq g_2(u)H_u$ , so  $(g_1^{-1}g_2)(u)$  does not lie in  $H_u$ . Since  $g_1^{-1}g_2: U \to G$  is continuous, the preimage under  $g_1^{-1}g_2$  of G-H is a neighborhood of u, so it contains a compact neighborhood U' of u. Hence  $g_1(u')H_{u'} \neq g_2(u')H_{u'}$  for all u' in U', as desired.  $\Box$ 

1.13. We want to prove that  $\operatorname{c-Ind}_{H}^{G}$  is left adjoint to restriction, so we start by constructing the counit. Let V be a smooth representation of G over  $\Lambda$ , and consider the map

$$\varepsilon : \operatorname{c-Ind}_{H}^{G}(V|_{H}) \to V$$

over S whose fiber at s equals

$$f_s \mapsto \sum_{\sigma_s \in H_s \setminus G_s} \sigma_s^{-1} f_s(\sigma_s),$$

where the sum is finite by Definition 1.9.b), and its terms are well-defined by Definition 1.9.a).

## **Proposition.** The map $\varepsilon$ is a morphism of smooth representations of G over $\Lambda$ .

*Proof.* Let U be a compact open subset of S, let f be in  $(c-\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G}(V|_{H}))(U)$ , and let  $g_{1}, \ldots, g_{r}$  be the elements of G(U) provided by Definition 1.9.b). Note that Definition 1.9.b) depends only on the images  $\sigma_{1}, \ldots, \sigma_{r}$  in  $(H \setminus G)(U)$  of the  $g_{1}, \ldots, g_{r}$ .

Let u be in U. We claim that there exists a compact neighborhood  $U' \subseteq U$  of u and representatives  $g'_1, \ldots, g'_r$  in G(U') of the  $\sigma_1|_{U'}, \ldots, \sigma_r|_{U'}$  such that, for all  $1 \leq j_1, j_2 \leq r$ , if  $H_{u'}g'_{j_1}(u') = H_{u'}g'_{j_2}(u')$  for some u' in U', then  $g'_{j_1} = g'_{j_2}$ . To

see this, note that Proposition 1.4 and Lemma 1.12 yield a compact neighborhood  $U' \subseteq U$  of u such that, if  $\sigma_{j_1u'} = \sigma_{j_2u'}$  for some u' in U', then  $\sigma_{j_1}|_{U'} = \sigma_{j_2}|_{U'}$ . Then take  $g'_1, \ldots, g'_r$  in G(U') to be representatives of the  $\sigma_1|_{U'}, \ldots, \sigma_r|_{U'}$  such that, if  $\sigma_{j_1}|_{U'} = \sigma_{j_2}|_{U'}$ , then  $g'_{j_1} = g'_{j_2}$ .

By construction, the restriction of  $\varepsilon \circ f$  to U' equals the sum of the compositions

$$U' \xrightarrow{(g'_j^{-1},g'_j)} G \times_S G_U \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id} \times f} G \times_S V \xrightarrow{a} V$$

as  $g'_j$  runs over distinct elements in  $g'_1, \ldots, g'_r$ . Therefore the restriction of  $\varepsilon \circ f$  to U' is continuous, and as u varies, this implies that  $\varepsilon \circ f$  is continuous. As U and f vary, this implies that  $\varepsilon$  is continuous. Finally, using Lemma 1.10 to check on fibers shows that  $\varepsilon$  is a morphism of smooth representations of G over  $\Lambda$ .

1.14. We now turn to the unit. Let W be a smooth representation of H over  $\Lambda$ . For all compact open subsets U of S and w in W(U), write  $\eta(w) : G_U \to W$  for the continuous map over S whose value on  $H_U$  equals the composition

$$H \times_S U \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id} \times w} H \times_S W \xrightarrow{a} W,$$

and whose value on  $G_U - H_U$  equals  $0 \circ \text{pr}$ , which is well-defined because  $H_U$  is clopen in  $G_U$ .

**Proposition.** The map  $\eta$  yields a morphism  $W \to (c-\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G} W)|_{H}$  of smooth representations of H over  $\Lambda$ . Moreover,  $c-\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G}$  is left adjoint to the restriction functor  $(-)|_{H} : \operatorname{Rep}(G, \Lambda) \to \operatorname{Rep}(G, \Lambda)$ , with counit given by  $\varepsilon$  and unit given by  $\eta$ , and  $c-\operatorname{Ind}_{H}^{G}$  is exact.

Now  $(-)|_H$  is also exact, so  $(-)|_H$  and c-Ind<sup>G</sup><sub>H</sub> agree with their derived functors.

*Proof.* Checking on fibers indicates that  $\eta(w)$  lies in  $(\operatorname{c-Ind}_{H}^{G}W)(U)$ . Then Lemma 1.10 lets us check on stalks to see that the induced map  $\eta: W \to \operatorname{c-Ind}_{H}^{G}W$  is a morphism of smooth representations of H over  $\Lambda$ , that  $\varepsilon$  and  $\eta$  satisfy the counitunit equations for  $\operatorname{c-Ind}_{H}^{G}$  and  $(-)|_{H}$ , and that  $\operatorname{c-Ind}_{H}^{G}$  is exact.  $\Box$ 

1.15. We define finite generation in terms of c-Ind as follows.

**Definition.** Let V be a smooth representation of G over  $\Lambda$ . We say that V is *finitely generated* if there exists a surjective morphism  $\bigoplus_{j=1}^{r} \operatorname{c-Ind}_{K^{\alpha_j}}^{G_{\alpha_j}} \underline{\Lambda} \to V$  of smooth representations of G over  $\Lambda$  for some  $\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_r$ .

If W is a finitely generated smooth representation of H over  $\Lambda$ , then Proposition 1.14 implies that c-Ind<sup>G</sup><sub>H</sub> W is a finitely generated smooth representation of G over  $\Lambda$ .

1.16. We will need the following lemma.

**Lemma.** Let V and V' be smooth representations of G over  $\Lambda$ , and assume that V is finitely generated. For all s in S, restricting to V<sub>s</sub> yields an injection

 $\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{G}(V,V')_{s} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{G_{s}}(V_{s},V'_{s}).$ 

*Proof.* Let  $\bigoplus_{j=1}^{r} \operatorname{c-Ind}_{K^{\alpha_j}}^{G} \underline{\Lambda} \to V$  be the surjective morphism provided by Definition 1.15. Because Lemma 1.10 induces a commutative square

$$\underbrace{\operatorname{Hom}_{G}(V,V')_{s} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{G}(\bigoplus_{j=1}^{r} \operatorname{c-Ind}_{K^{\alpha_{j}}}^{G} \underline{\Lambda},V')_{s}}_{\bigcup}$$

$$\downarrow$$

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{G_{s}}(V_{s},V'_{s}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{G_{s}}(\bigoplus_{j=1}^{r} \operatorname{c-Ind}_{K^{\alpha_{j}}_{s}}^{G_{s}} \Lambda,V'_{s})$$

with injective rows, it suffices to consider  $V = \bigoplus_{i=1}^{r} \operatorname{c-Ind}_{K^{\alpha_{j}}}^{G} \underline{\Lambda}$ . Then we have

$$\begin{split} \underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{G}(\bigoplus_{j=1}^{r}\operatorname{c-Ind}_{K^{\alpha_{j}}}^{G}\underline{\Lambda},V')_{s} &= \bigoplus_{j=1}^{r}\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{G}(\operatorname{c-Ind}_{K^{\alpha_{j}}}^{G}\underline{\Lambda},V')_{s} & \text{by finitude} \\ &= \bigoplus_{j=1}^{r}\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_{K^{\alpha_{j}}}(\underline{\Lambda},V'|_{K^{\alpha_{j}}})_{s} & \text{by Proposition 1.14} \\ &= \bigoplus_{j=1}^{r}(V'_{s})^{K_{s}^{\alpha_{j}}} \\ &= \bigoplus_{j=1}^{r}\operatorname{Hom}_{K_{s}^{\alpha_{j}}}(\Lambda,V'_{s}|_{K_{s}^{\alpha_{j}}}) \\ &= \bigoplus_{j=1}^{r}\operatorname{Hom}_{G_{s}}(\operatorname{c-Ind}_{K_{s}^{\alpha_{j}}}^{G_{s}}\Lambda,V'_{s}) & \text{by Proposition 1.14} \\ &= \operatorname{Hom}_{G_{s}}(\bigoplus_{j=1}^{r}\operatorname{c-Ind}_{K_{s}^{\alpha_{j}}}^{G_{s}}\Lambda,V'_{s}), & \text{by finitude} \end{split}$$

as desired.

1.17. Let W be a smooth representation of H over  $\Lambda$ . To compute the endomorphisms of c-Ind<sup>G</sup><sub>H</sub>W, we will use the following generalization of Hecke algebras. Write  $\underline{\operatorname{End}}_{\Lambda}(W)$  for the sheaf of  $\Lambda$ -module endomorphisms of W.

**Definition.** Write  $\mathcal{H}(G, W)$  for the sheaf of  $\Lambda$ -modules on S that sends compact open subsets U of S to the set of continuous functions  $\phi : G_U \to \underline{\operatorname{End}}_{\Lambda}(W)$  over Ssuch that

a) the square

commutes, where the bottom arrow is the map over S whose fiber at s equals

$$(h_s, \nu_s, h'_s) \mapsto h_s \circ \nu_s \circ h'_s,$$

b) there exist  $g_1, \ldots, g_r$  in G(U) such that, for all u in U, the function  $\phi_u : G_u \to \operatorname{End}_{\Lambda}(W_u)$  is supported on  $\bigcup_{i=1}^r H_u g_i(u) H_u$ .

When  $W = \underline{\Lambda}$ , write  $\mathcal{H}(G, H)_{\Lambda}$  for  $\mathcal{H}(G, W)$ .

1.18. In the generality of this section, we can only prove the following injectivity result. However, in our case of interest, we actually upgrade it into a bijectivity result: see Theorem 6.8.

**Proposition.** We have a natural morphism of sheaves on S

$$\varsigma: \mathcal{H}(G, W) \to \underline{\operatorname{End}}_G(\operatorname{c-Ind}_H^G W).$$

When W is finitely generated,  $\varsigma$  is injective.

*Proof.* Proposition 1.14 identifies  $\underline{\operatorname{End}}_G(\operatorname{c-Ind}_H^G W)$  with  $\underline{\operatorname{Hom}}_H(W, (\operatorname{c-Ind}_H^G W)|_H)$ , so it suffices to construct a morphism from  $\mathcal{H}(G, W)$  to the latter. Let U be a compact open subset of S, and let  $\phi$  be in  $\mathcal{H}(G, W)(U)$ . For all w in W(U), consider the map  $\varsigma(\phi)(w): G_U \to W$  over S whose fiber at s equals

$$x_s \mapsto \sum_{\sigma_s \in G_s/H_s} \phi_s(\sigma_s) \begin{cases} (\sigma_s^{-1} x_s) w_s & \text{if } x_s \text{ lies in } \sigma_s H_s, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$

where the sum is finite by Definition 1.17.b), and its terms are well-defined by Definition 1.17.a). Definition 1.17.a) and Definition 1.17.b) also imply that  $\varsigma(\phi)(w)$  satisfies Definition 1.9.a) and Definition 1.9.b), respectively.

We turn to the continuity of  $\varsigma(\phi)(w)$ . Let  $g_1, \ldots, g_r$  be the elements of G(U)provided by Definition 1.17.b), and write  $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_r$  for their images in (G/H)(U). Let u be in U. The proof of Proposition 1.13 yields a compact neighborhood  $U' \subseteq U$ of u and representatives  $g'_1, \ldots, g'_r$  in G(U') of the  $\sigma_1|_{U'}, \ldots, \sigma_r|_{U'}$  such that, for all  $1 \leq j_1, j_2 \leq r$ , if  $g'_{j_1}(u')H_{u'} = g'_{j_2}(u')H_{u'}$  for some u' in U', then  $g'_{j_1} = g'_{j_2}$ . Write  $f_j: G_{U'} \to W$  for the continuous function over S whose value on  $g'_j H_{U'}$  equals

$$g'_{j}H_{U'} \xrightarrow{(\phi,\cong,w\circ\operatorname{pr})} \underline{\operatorname{End}}_{\Lambda}(W) \times_{S} H_{U'} \times_{S} W \xrightarrow{a} W$$

and whose value on  $G_{U'} - g'_j H_{U'}$  equals  $0 \circ \text{pr}$ , which is well-defined because  $g'_j H_{U'}$  is clopen in  $G_{U'}$ . By construction, the restriction of  $\varsigma(\phi)(w)$  to U' equals the sum of the  $f_j$  as  $g'_j$  runs over distinct elements in  $g'_1, \ldots, g'_r$ . Therefore the restriction of  $\varsigma(\phi)(w)$  to U' is continuous, and as u varies, this implies that  $\varsigma(\phi)(w)$  is continuous.

Note that  $\varsigma(\phi)$  yields a morphism  $W_U \to (c-\operatorname{Ind}_{H_U}^{\tilde{G}_U} W_U)|_{H_U}$  of smooth representations of  $H_U$  over  $\Lambda$ . To see that the resulting morphism  $\varsigma$  of sheaves on S is injective when W is finitely generated, it suffices to check on stalks. For all s in S, restriction to the fiber at s yields a commutative square

The bottom arrow is a bijection, and Lemma 1.16 and Lemma 1.10 show that the right arrow is injective. By using Definition 1.17.b) instead of Definition 1.9.b), the proof of Lemma 1.10 implies that the left arrow is injective, so the top arrow is injective, as desired.  $\hfill \Box$ 

1.19. Later, we will need the following fact. Let g be in G(S), and write HgH for the image of the composition

$$H \times_S S_S \times H \xrightarrow{\operatorname{id} \times g \times \operatorname{id}} G \times_S G \times_S G \xrightarrow{m} G.$$

**Lemma.** The subset  $HgH \subseteq G$  is open.

*Proof.* Let s be in S, and let  $h_sg(s)h'_s$  be in the fiber of HgH at s for some  $h_s$  and  $h'_s$  in  $H_s$ . By Definition 1.2.b), there exists a compact neighborhood U of s and h in H(U) such that  $h(s) = h_s$ . Then  $(hg)H_U$  is a neighborhood of  $h_s(g)h'_s$  that lies in HgH, as desired.

1.20. We conclude this section by providing a way to construct group topological spaces over S. Let R be a ring topological space over S. For all sets I, write  $R^{I}$  for the I-fold fiber power of R over S.

**Proposition.** There exists a unique functor

 $(-)(R): \{affine \ schemes \ over \ R(S)\} \rightarrow \{topological \ spaces \ over \ S\}$ 

that preserves fiber products and, for all sets I, sends the affine space  $\mathbb{A}_{R(S)}^{I}$  to  $R^{I}$ . Moreover, for all affine schemes X over R(S), we have a natural identification X(R)(S) = X(R(S)).

In particular, for all affine group schemes X over R(S), we naturally obtain a group topological space X(R) over S. Write  $R^{\times}$  for  $\mathbb{G}_m(R)$ .

*Proof.* Let X = Spec A be an affine scheme over R(S), and fix a presentation  $A \cong R(S)[T_i]_{i \in I}/\mathfrak{a}$ . Because R is a ring topological space over S, elements of  $R(S)[T_i]_{i \in I}$  induce continuous maps  $R^I \to R$  over S. Applying this to every element of  $\mathfrak{a}$  yields a continuous map  $R^I \to R^{\mathfrak{a}}$  over S; define X(R) to be the fiber product



Now let  $Y = \operatorname{Spec} B$  be another affine scheme over R(S). Fix a presentation  $B \cong R(S)[U_j]_{j \in J}/\mathfrak{b}$ , and let  $f: Y \to X$  be a morphism over R(S). For all i in I, choose a lift to  $R(S)[U_j]_{j \in J}$  of  $f^*T_i$ . As i varies, this yields a continuous map  $R^J \to R^I$  over S. Checking on fibers indicates that the diagram



commutes, which induces a continuous map  $Y(R) \to X(R)$  over S. This shows that our construction is functorial, as well as independent of the presentation.

Our construction evidently sends  $\mathbb{A}_{R(S)}^{I}$  to  $\mathbb{R}^{I}$ . Let  $Z = \operatorname{Spec} C$  be yet another affine scheme over  $\mathbb{R}(S)$  along with a morphism  $Z \to X$  over  $\mathbb{R}(S)$ . By choosing presentations of B and C over A, we see that our construction preserves fiber products. The cartesian square



indicates that these properties uniquely determine the value of X(R). Finally, the fiber product definition of X(R) immediately yields the desired description of X(R)(S).

#### SIYAN DANIEL LI-HUERTA

#### 2. Local fields in families

In this section, we conceptualize Heuristic  $(\star)$  by converting sequences  $\{E_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$  of p-adic local fields into nontrivial families over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . We begin by constructing a ring topological space  $\mathbb{E}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  whose fibers recover the  $E_i$ . Next, we define the topological ring E to be the global sections of  $\mathbb{E}$ , and we study finite étale E-algebras. We prove that E enjoys a version of Galois theory over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  that is compatible with Deligne's isomorphism. Finally, we conclude by extending various constructions (e.g. maximal unramified extensions, adjoining q-th power roots of a uniformizer, separable closures, and Lubin–Tate extensions) to the context of E.

2.1. When forming families of local fields, it will be convenient to work in the following generality. Let  $\kappa$  be a perfect field. Let  $\{E_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence of complete discretely valued fields of characteristic 0 with residue field  $\kappa$ , and write  $E_{\infty}$  for  $\kappa((t))$ . For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $v_i : E_i \to \mathbb{Z} \cup \{\infty\}$  for the (normalized) valuation, write  $\mathcal{O}_i$  for the ring of integers of  $E_i$ , and write  $\mathfrak{p}_i$  for the maximal ideal of  $\mathcal{O}_i$ . For all positive integers n, write  $\operatorname{Tr}_n(E_i)$  for the triple as in [10, (1.2)].

When *i* lies in  $\mathbb{N}$ , write  $e_i$  for the absolute ramification index  $v_i(p)$ , assume that  $e_i \to \infty$  as  $i \to \infty$ , and fix an isomorphism  $\operatorname{Tr}_{e_i}(E_i) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_{e_i}(E_\infty)$ . Note that this includes an isomorphism  $\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^{e_i} \cong \mathcal{O}_\infty/\mathfrak{p}_\infty^{e_i}$ . Write  $\pi_\infty$  for *t*, and choose a uniformizer  $\pi_i$  of  $E_i$  whose image in  $\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^{e_i} \cong \mathcal{O}_\infty/\mathfrak{p}_\infty^{e_i}$  equals the image of  $\pi_\infty$ .

2.2. View  $\mathbb{N}$  as a discrete topological space, and write  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  for its one-point compactification. Note that  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  is profinite; in fact, it is homeomorphic to

$$\lim_{d} \{i \in \mathbb{N} \mid i \le d\} \cup \{\infty\},\$$

where d runs over natural numbers, and the transition map

$$\{i \in \mathbb{N} \mid i \leq d+1\} \cup \{\infty\} \rightarrow \{i \in \mathbb{N} \mid i \leq d\} \cup \{\infty\}$$

sends d + 1 to  $\infty$  and equals the identity otherwise.

First, we construct our family as a ring topological space over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

## Definition.

a) Let *n* be a positive integer. Write  $\mathbb{O}_n$  for the ring topological space over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  given by  $\varprojlim_d$  of the discrete ring topological spaces

$$\Big(\coprod_{i\leq d}\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n\Big)\coprod\mathcal{O}_\infty/\mathfrak{p}_\infty^n$$

over  $\{i \in \mathbb{N} \mid i \leq d\} \cup \{\infty\}$ , where, for large enough d, the transition map

$$\left(\coprod_{i\leq d+1}\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n\right)\coprod\mathcal{O}_\infty/\mathfrak{p}_\infty^n\to\left(\coprod_{i\leq d}\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n\right)\coprod\mathcal{O}_\infty/\mathfrak{p}_\infty^n$$

sends  $\mathcal{O}_{d+1}/\mathfrak{p}_{d+1}^n$  to  $\mathcal{O}_{\infty}/\mathfrak{p}_{\infty}^n$  via the isomorphism  $\mathcal{O}_{d+1}/\mathfrak{p}_{d+1}^{e_{d+1}} \cong \mathcal{O}_{\infty}/\mathfrak{p}_{\infty}^{e_{d+1}}$ (since *d* is large enough) and equals the identity otherwise.

b) Write  $\mathbb{O}$  for the ring topological space over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  given by  $\varprojlim_n \mathbb{O}_n$ , where *n* runs over positive integers, and the transition map  $\mathbb{O}_{n+1} \to \mathbb{O}_n$  is induced from reduction mod  $\pi_i^n$ .

c) Write  $\pi$  for the continuous section of  $\mathbb{O} \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  whose value on i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  equals  $\pi_i$ . Write  $\mathbb{E}$  for the ring topological space over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  given by  $\varinjlim_r \mathbb{O}$ , where r runs over non-negative integers, and the transition maps are given by

$$\mathbb{O} = (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}) \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \mathbb{O} \xrightarrow{\pi \times \mathrm{id}} \mathbb{O} \times_{\mathbb{N} \times \{\infty\}} \mathbb{O} \xrightarrow{m} \mathbb{O}.$$

Note that  $\mathbb{O}_n$  is locally constant over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , so  $\mathbb{O}$  is Hausdorff. Because  $\mathbb{E}$  is an increasing union of open subspaces homeomorphic to  $\mathbb{O}$ , it is also Hausdorff. Finally, we see that  $\mathbb{E}$  is independent of the choice of  $\pi_i$ .

2.3. We have the following version of the valuation map for  $\mathbb{E}^{\times}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Write  $v : \mathbb{E}^{\times} \to \mathbb{Z} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$  for the map over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  whose fiber at *i* equals  $v_i$ . Note that  $\mathbb{O}^{\times}$  is an open group topological subspace of  $\mathbb{E}^{\times}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

**Proposition.** The map v is a morphism of group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , and ker v equals  $\mathbb{O}^{\times}$ .

*Proof.* Now  $\pi$  induces a morphism  $\underline{\mathbb{Z}} \to \mathbb{E}^{\times}/\mathbb{O}^{\times}$  of abelian sheaves on  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . By using Proposition 1.4 to check on stalks, we see that this is an isomorphism. Its inverse yields an isomorphism  $\mathbb{E}^{\times}/\mathbb{O}^{\times} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{Z} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$  of group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , and v equals the composition

$$\mathbb{E}^{\times} \to \mathbb{E}^{\times} / \mathbb{O}^{\times} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{Z} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}).$$

Proposition 1.4 shows that  $\mathbb{E}^{\times} \to \mathbb{E}^{\times}/\mathbb{O}^{\times}$  is continuous, and checking on fibers shows that it is a morphism of group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . So the same holds for v. Finally, the above work also shows that ker v equals  $\mathbb{O}^{\times}$ .  $\Box$ 

2.4. Next, we study the topological ring associated with  $\mathbb{E}$ . Write E for  $\mathbb{E}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$  equipped with the compact-open topology, which is a topological ring. Similarly, write  $\mathcal{O}$  for the topological ring  $\mathbb{O}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$ . Note that  $\mathcal{O}$  is an open subring of E, equals the subset  $E^{\circ}$  of powerbounded elements, and contains  $\pi$ .

**Lemma.** As topological rings,  $\mathcal{O}$  is naturally isomorphic to

$$\varprojlim_n \underset{d}{\underset{d}{\overset{\underset{i\leq d}}{\longrightarrow}}} \big(\prod_{i\leq d} \mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n\big) \times \mathcal{O}_\infty/\mathfrak{p}_\infty^n,$$

and E is isomorphic to  $\mathcal{O}[\frac{1}{\pi}]$ . Consequently,  $\mathcal{O}$  carries the  $\pi$ -adic topology and is complete, and we have  $\mathcal{O}/\pi^n = \varinjlim_d \left(\prod_{i \leq d} \mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n\right) \times \mathcal{O}_\infty/\mathfrak{p}_\infty^n = \mathbb{O}_n(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}).$ 

*Proof.* Since  $\mathbb{O} = \underline{\lim}_n \mathbb{O}_n$  and  $\mathbb{O}_n$  is locally constant, we have

$$\mathcal{O} = \operatorname{Cont}_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathbb{O}) = \varprojlim_{n} \operatorname{Cont}_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathbb{O}_{n})$$
$$= \varprojlim_{n} \varinjlim_{d} \left(\prod_{i \leq d} \mathcal{O}_{i}/\mathfrak{p}_{i}^{n}\right) \times \mathcal{O}_{\infty}/\mathfrak{p}_{\infty}^{n}$$

as topological rings. Because  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  is compact, we also have

$$E = \operatorname{Cont}_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathbb{E}) = \varinjlim_{r} \operatorname{Cont}_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathbb{O}) = \varinjlim_{r} \mathcal{O} = \mathcal{O}[\frac{1}{\pi}]. \quad \Box$$

2.5. For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , evaluation at i yields a continuous ring homomorphism  $\operatorname{ev}_i : E \to E_i$ . Note that  $\operatorname{ev}_i(\mathcal{O}) = \mathcal{O}_i$ , so  $\operatorname{ev}_i$  is surjective and ker  $\operatorname{ev}_i$  is maximal.

**Proposition.** Every closed prime ideal of E equals ker  $ev_i$  for some i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Thus  $|\operatorname{Spa} E|$  is naturally homeomorphic to  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , and  $\operatorname{Spa} E$  is an adic space.

*Proof.* For all i in  $\mathbb{N}$ , write  $b_i$  for the continuous section of  $\mathbb{E} \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  whose value on i' in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  equals 1 if i' = i and 0 otherwise. Let  $\mathfrak{a}$  be a closed prime ideal of E, and first assume that  $\mathfrak{a}$  does not contain  $b_i$  for some i in  $\mathbb{N}$ . Since  $b_i x = 0$  for all x in ker ev<sub>i</sub>,  $\mathfrak{a}$  being prime implies that it equals ker ev<sub>i</sub>.

Next, assume that  $\mathfrak{a}$  contains  $b_i$  for all i in  $\mathbb{N}$ . Because  $\mathfrak{a}$  is closed and  $\mathcal{O}$  is  $\pi$ -adically complete, this implies that  $\mathfrak{a}$  contains  $\sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} f_i b_i$  for all sequences  $\{f_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  with  $f_i$  in  $E_i$  such that  $v_i(f_i) \to \infty$  as  $i \to \infty$ . The set of such  $\sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} f_i b_i$  is precisely ker  $\mathrm{ev}_{\infty}$ , so  $\mathfrak{a}$  equals ker  $\mathrm{ev}_{\infty}$ .

Since  $|\operatorname{Spa} E_i|$  is a singleton, the above discussion identifies  $|\operatorname{Spa} E|$  with  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  as sets. Note that rational open subspaces of  $\operatorname{Spa} E$  correspond to compact open subsets of  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , so this identification is a homeomorphism. In fact, for any compact open subset U of  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , the corresponding rational localization of E equals  $\mathbb{E}(U)$ , and this implies that  $\mathscr{O}_{\operatorname{Spa} E}$  is a sheaf.  $\Box$ 

2.6. Let us recall the setup of Deligne's isomorphism. For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , fix a separable closure  $\overline{E}_i$  of  $E_i$ , and write  $\Gamma_i$  for  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{E}_i/E_i)$ . Write  $C_i$  for the completion of  $\overline{E}_i$ , and recall that  $C_i$  is algebraically closed.

For all positive integers n, write  $I_i^n$  for the *n*-th ramification subgroup of  $\Gamma_i$  in the upper numbering. Using our isomorphism  $\operatorname{Tr}_{e_i}(E_i) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_{e_i}(E_{\infty})$ , we obtain a canonical isomorphism  $\Gamma_i/I_i^{e_i} \cong \Gamma_{\infty}/I_{\infty}^{e_i}$  of topological groups (up to conjugation) [10, (3.5.1)]. Fix an isomorphism in this conjugacy class.

We now introduce the analogue of the absolute Galois group for E.

## Definition.

a) Write  $\Gamma^n$  for the group topological space over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  given by  $\varprojlim_d$  of the group topological spaces

$$\left(\coprod_{i\leq d}\Gamma_i/I_i^n\right)\coprod\Gamma_\infty/I_\infty^n$$

over  $\{i \in \mathbb{N} \mid i \leq d\} \cup \{\infty\}$ , where, for large enough d, the transition map

$$\left(\coprod_{i\leq d+1}\Gamma_i/I_i^n\right)\coprod\Gamma_\infty/I_\infty^n\to \left(\coprod_{i\leq d}\Gamma_i/I_i^n\right)\coprod\Gamma_\infty/I_\infty^n$$

sends  $\Gamma_{d+1}/I_{d+1}^n$  to  $\Gamma_{\infty}/I_{\infty}^n$  via the isomorphism  $\Gamma_{d+1}/I_{d+1}^{e_{d+1}} \cong \Gamma_{\infty}/I_{\infty}^{e_{d+1}}$  (since d is large enough) and equals the identity otherwise.

b) Write  $\Gamma$  for the group topological space over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  given by  $\varprojlim_n \Gamma^n$ , where n runs over positive integers, and the transition map  $\Gamma^{n+1} \to \Gamma^n$  is induced from quotienting by  $I_i^n$ .

Because  $\Gamma^n$  is profinite, so is  $\Gamma$ . Moreover, note that  $\Gamma$  is let over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

2.7. We will use the following fiberwise criterion to construct étale maps over E.

**Lemma.** Let  $(A, A^+)$  be a sheafy complete Huber pair over  $(E, \mathcal{O})$ , and let  $(A', A'^+)$  be a finite free Huber pair over  $(A, A^+)$ . Then A' is étale over A if and only if, for all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , the base change  $A' \otimes_E E_i$  is étale over  $A \otimes_E E_i$ .

Proof. Write Z for Spa(A, A<sup>+</sup>), and write Z' for Spa(A', A'<sup>+</sup>). By [23, (1.7.5)], the morphism  $f: Z' \to Z$  is étale if and only if, for every rank-1 point z of Z, the fiber  $f^{-1}(z)$  is étale over z. Gathering rank-1 points z according to their images in  $|\text{Spa} E| \cong \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  and applying [23, (1.7.5)] again shows that this holds if and only if  $Z' \times_{\text{Spa} E} \text{Spa} E_i \to Z \times_{\text{Spa} E} \text{Spa} E_i$  is étale for all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

Because E is Tate, the morphism  $(E, \mathcal{O}) \to (A, A^+)$  is adic. Therefore [22, (3.7)] shows that  $Z' \times_{\text{Spa} E} \text{Spa} E_i$  and  $Z \times_{\text{Spa} E} \text{Spa} E_i$  are affinoid, with global sections equal to  $A' \otimes_E E_i$  and  $A \otimes_E E_i$ . Combined with the above criterion, we get the desired result.

2.8. Via Deligne's isomorphism, finite étale *E*-algebras spread out from finite étale  $E_{\infty}$ -algebras as follows.

#### Proposition.

i) Base change induces an equivalence of categories

 $\lim_{U} \{ \text{finite \'etale } \mathbb{E}(U) \text{-algebras} \} \xrightarrow{\sim} \{ \text{finite \'etale } E_{\infty} \text{-algebras} \},$ 

where U runs over compact neighborhoods of  $\infty$ .

ii) Let  $F_{\infty}$  be a finite étale  $E_{\infty}$ -algebra such that  $I_{\infty}^{n}$  acts trivially on its associated  $\Gamma_{\infty}$ -set. For any compact neighborhood U of  $\infty$  and finite étale  $\mathbb{E}(U)$ -algebra F with  $F \otimes_{\mathbb{E}(U)} E_{\infty} \cong F_{\infty}$ , there exists a compact neighborhood  $U' \subseteq U$  of  $\infty$  such that, for all i in U', we have  $e_{i} \geq n$ , and the finite étale extension  $(F \otimes_{\mathbb{E}(U)} E_{i})/E_{i}$  corresponds to  $F_{\infty}/E_{\infty}$  via the isomorphism  $\Gamma_{i}/I_{i}^{n} \cong \Gamma_{\infty}/I_{\infty}^{n}$ .

*Proof.* Because  $\mathscr{O}_{\operatorname{Spa} E,\infty} = \lim_{U} \mathbb{E}(U)$ , base change induces an equivalence

 $\lim_{U} \{ \text{finite \acute{e}tale } \mathbb{E}(U) \text{-algebras} \} \xrightarrow{\sim} \{ \text{finite \acute{e}tale } \mathscr{O}_{\text{Spa} E, \infty} \text{-algebras} \}.$ 

Note that the residue field of  $\mathscr{O}_{\text{Spa} E,\infty}$  is  $E_{\infty}$ . Since  $\mathscr{O}_{\text{Spa} E,\infty}$  is henselian [26, Lemma 2.4.17 (a)], part i) follows from [40, Tag 09ZL].

We turn to part ii). Part i) indicates that it suffices to find one U and F satisfying the desired property for U = U'. By taking finite products, we can assume that  $F_{\infty}$  is a field. The maximal unramified subextension of  $F_{\infty}$  is handled by repeating the construction of E (except that in 2.1 we replace  $\kappa$  with a finite extension, and we replace  $E_i$  with its corresponding unramified extension).

Thus we can assume that  $F_{\infty}/E_{\infty}$  is totally ramified. Then  $F_{\infty}$  is generated by an element with minimal polynomial

$$f_{\infty} = T^r + \pi_{\infty}(a_{r-1,\infty}T^{r-1} + \dots + a_{0,\infty}),$$

where the  $a_{r-1,\infty}, \ldots, a_{0,\infty}$  lie in  $\mathcal{O}_{\infty}$ . Choose  $a_{r-1}, \ldots, a_0$  in  $\mathcal{O}$  such that  $\operatorname{ev}_{\infty}(a_j) = a_{j,\infty}$  for all  $0 \leq j \leq r-1$ . Let U be a compact neighborhood of  $\infty$  such that, for all i in U, we have  $e_i \geq n$ , and for all  $0 \leq j \leq r-1$ , the image of  $\operatorname{ev}_i(a_j)$  in  $\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n$  equals the image of  $a_{j,\infty}$  in  $\mathcal{O}_{\infty}/\mathfrak{p}_{\infty}^n$  under the isomorphism  $\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n \cong \mathcal{O}_{\infty}/\mathfrak{p}_{\infty}^n$ .

Let F be the finite free  $\mathbb{E}(U)$ -algebra obtained via quotienting  $\mathbb{E}(U)[T]$  by

$$f \coloneqq T^r + \pi(a_{r-1}T^{r-1} + \dots + a_0).$$

For all *i* in *U*, [10, (1.3)] shows that  $(F \otimes_{\mathbb{E}(U)} E_i)/E_i$  is the finite separable extension corresponding to  $F_{\infty}/E_{\infty}$  via the isomorphism  $\Gamma_i/I_i^n \cong \Gamma_{\infty}/I_{\infty}^n$ . Therefore Lemma 2.7 implies that  $F \otimes_E \mathbb{E}(U)$  is étale over  $\mathbb{E}(U)$ , as desired.

2.9. Proposition 2.8 implies that E enjoys the following version of Galois theory.

**Corollary.** The category of finite étale *E*-algebras is naturally anti-equivalent to the category of finite locally constant topological spaces X over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  along with a continuous action  $\Gamma \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} X \to X$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

*Proof.* Let F be a finite étale E-algebra. Let n be a positive integer such that  $I_{\infty}^n$  acts trivially on the  $\Gamma_{\infty}$ -set associated with  $F \otimes_E E_{\infty}$ , and let U' be a compact neighborhood of  $\infty$  as in Proposition 2.8.ii). Write X for the finite locally constant topological space over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  along with a continuous action  $\Gamma \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} X \to X$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  such that

- a) for all i not in U', its fiber  $X_i$  at i is the  $\Gamma_i$ -set associated with  $F \otimes_E E_i$ ,
- b)  $X_{U'}$  is the pullback to U' of the  $\Gamma_{\infty}/I_{\infty}^n$ -set associated with  $F \otimes_E E_{\infty}$  (since  $\Gamma_{U'}^n \cong \Gamma_{\infty}/I_{\infty}^n \times U'$  as group topological spaces over U').

By Proposition 2.8.i), the assignment  $F \mapsto X$  is functorial. This functor is fully faithful by Proposition 2.8.i) and essentially surjective by Proposition 1.7.

2.10. Later, we will need to spread out finite Galois extensions from  $E_{\infty}$  to E as follows. Let  $F_{\infty}/E_{\infty}$  be a finite Galois extension, and let n be a positive integer such that the image of  $I_{\infty}^n$  in  $\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})$  is trivial. Write  $\psi : [-1, \infty) \to [-1, \infty)$  for the Hasse–Herbrand function associated with  $F_{\infty}/E_{\infty}$  as in [39, Chap. IV, §3].

In this subsection, assume that  $e_i \geq n$  for all i in  $\mathbb{N}$ . Write  $F_i/E_i$  for the finite Galois extension corresponding to  $F_{\infty}/E_{\infty}$  via the isomorphism  $\Gamma_i/I_i^n \cong \Gamma_{\infty}/I_{\infty}^n$ , and recall that our isomorphism  $\operatorname{Tr}_{e_i}(E_i) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_{e_i}(E_{\infty})$  induces an isomorphism  $\operatorname{Tr}_{\psi(e_i)}(F_i) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_{\psi(e_i)}(F_{\infty})$  [10, (3.4.1)]. Because  $\psi(x) \to \infty$  as  $x \to \infty$ , repeating Definition 2.2 (except that in 2.1 we replace  $\kappa$  with the residue field of  $F_{\infty}$ , and we replace  $E_i$  with  $F_i$ ) yields ring topological spaces  $\mathbb{O}_{\mathbb{F},n}$ ,  $\mathbb{O}_{\mathbb{F}}$ , and  $\mathbb{F}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

Corollary 2.9 yields a natural finite étale *E*-algebra *F* such that, for all *i* in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , the  $E_i$ -algebra  $F \otimes_E E_i$  is isomorphic to  $F_i$ . Note that  $\mathbb{O}_{\mathbb{F}}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$  is naturally isomorphic to  $F^\circ$ , and  $\mathbb{F}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$  is naturally isomorphic to *F*.

Finally, Corollary 2.9 implies that the above construction is functorial in  $F_{\infty}$ . Therefore we obtain actions of  $\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})$  on  $\mathbb{O}_{\mathbb{F},n}$ ,  $\mathbb{O}_{\mathbb{F}}$ , and  $\mathbb{F}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . By checking on fibers, we see that the natural closed embedding  $\mathbb{E} \hookrightarrow \mathbb{F}$  of ring topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  identifies  $\mathbb{E}$  with the fixed point locus of  $\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})$  in  $\mathbb{F}$ .

## 2.11. For the rest of this paper, assume that $\kappa = \mathbb{F}_q$ is a finite field. Then $\mathbb{O}_n$ is finite locally constant over $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , so $\mathbb{O}$ is profinite and $\mathbb{E}$ is locally profinite.

Let us describe the analogue of (the completion of) the maximal unramified extension of E. For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $\check{E}_i$  for the completion of the maximal unramified extension of  $E_i$ , and write  $\check{\mathcal{O}}_i$  for its ring of integers. Applying  $-\otimes_{\mathbb{F}_q} \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ to  $\operatorname{Tr}_{e_i}(E_i) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_{e_i}(E_{\infty})$  induces an isomorphism  $\operatorname{Tr}_{e_i}(\check{E}_i) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_{e_i}(\check{E}_{\infty})$ , so repeating Definition 2.2 (except that in 2.1 we replace  $\kappa$  with  $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ , and we replace  $E_i$  with  $\check{E}_i$ ) yields ring topological spaces  $\check{\mathbb{O}}$  and  $\check{\mathbb{E}}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Write  $\check{E}$  for  $\check{\mathbb{E}}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$ , and write  $\check{\mathcal{O}}$  for  $\check{\mathbb{O}}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$ .

Finally, write  $\varphi : \mathbb{E} \to \mathbb{E}$  for the map over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  whose fiber at *i* equals the lift  $\varphi_i : \check{E}_i \to \check{E}_i$  of absolute *q*-Frobenius. Note that  $\varphi$  is a morphism of ring topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  and preserves  $\mathbb{O}$ . By checking on fibers, we see that the natural

closed embedding  $\mathbb{E} \hookrightarrow \check{\mathbb{E}}$  of ring topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  identifies  $\mathbb{E}$  with the fixed point locus of  $\varphi$  in  $\check{\mathbb{E}}$ .

2.12. We now consider the analogue of (the completion of) adjoining all q-th power roots of  $\pi$  to E. For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $E_i^{\text{perf}}$  for the completion of  $\bigcup_{r=0}^{\infty} E_i(\pi_i^{1/q^r})$ . Our choice of uniformizer  $\pi_i$  induces an identification  $(E_i^{\text{perf}})^{\flat} = E_{\infty}^{\text{perf}}$  such that  $\pi_i = \pi_{\infty}^{\sharp}$ . Choose a system of q-th power roots of  $\pi_i$  in  $C_i$ , which induces a map  $E_i^{\text{perf}} \to C_i$  over E. Since  $E_i^{\text{perf}}$  is perfected and this realizes  $C_i$  as the completion of its separable closure, the tilting equivalence induces an identification  $C_i^{\flat} = C_{\infty}$ .

 $C_i^{\flat} = C_{\infty}$ . Write  $\mathcal{O}^{\text{perf}}$  for the  $\pi$ -adic completion of  $\bigcup_{r=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{O}[\pi^{1/q^r}]$ , and write  $E^{\text{perf}}$  for  $\mathcal{O}^{\text{perf}}[\frac{1}{\pi}]$ . Note that  $\mathcal{O}$  is a direct summand of  $\mathcal{O}^{\text{perf}}$  as topological  $\mathcal{O}$ -modules, and  $E^{\text{perf}} \otimes_E E_i$  is naturally isomorphic to  $E_i^{\text{perf}}$ .

2.13. The following is the analogue of (the completion of) the separable closure of E. Let  $\{K^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha}$  be a directed family of compact open group subspaces of  $\Gamma$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  that is cofinal among neighborhoods of the identity section in  $\Gamma$ . Then  $\Gamma/K^{\alpha}$  is finite locally constant over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Write  $F^{\alpha}$  for the finite étale E-algebra corresponding to  $\Gamma/K^{\alpha}$  via Corollary 2.9, write  $\mathcal{O}_C$  for the  $\pi$ -adic completion of  $\bigcup_{\alpha}(F^{\alpha})^{\circ}$ , and write C for  $\mathcal{O}_C[\frac{1}{\pi}]$ . By cofinality,  $\mathcal{O}_C$  is independent of the  $\{K^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha}$ .

**Proposition.** The ring C is perfected, and our identifications  $C_i^{\flat} = C_{\infty}$  induce an identification  $C^{\flat} = \operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, C_{\infty})$  such that  $\pi_{\infty}^{\sharp} = \pi$ .

*Proof.* For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $F_i^{\alpha}$  for the finite étale  $E_i$ -algebra  $F^{\alpha} \otimes_E E_i$ , and note that  $F_i^{\alpha}$  corresponds to the  $\Gamma_i$ -set  $\Gamma_i/K_i^{\alpha}$ . Now  $C^{\circ} = \mathcal{O}_C$ , and we have

$$\mathcal{O}_C/\pi = \varinjlim_{\alpha} (F^{\alpha})^{\circ}/\pi = \varinjlim_{\alpha} \varinjlim_{d} \prod_{i \le d} \mathcal{O}_{F_i^{\alpha}}/\pi_i \times \mathcal{O}_{F_{\infty}^{\alpha}}/\pi_{\infty},$$

where d is large enough with respect to  $\alpha$ . Since  $\{K_i^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha}$  is a cofinal family of open compact subgroups of  $\Gamma_i$ , we see that  $\varinjlim_{\alpha} \mathcal{O}_{F_i^{\alpha}}/\pi_i = \mathcal{O}_{\overline{E}_i}/\pi_i = \mathcal{O}_{C_i}/\pi_i$ . Our identification  $C_i^{\flat} = C_{\infty}$  induces an identification  $\mathcal{O}_{C_i}/\pi_i = \mathcal{O}_{C_{\infty}}/\pi_{\infty}$ , so switching the order of the direct limits yields

$$\varinjlim_{d} \varinjlim_{i \le d} \prod_{i \le d} \mathcal{O}_{F_{i}^{\alpha}} / \pi_{i} \times \mathcal{O}_{F_{\infty}^{\alpha}} / \pi_{\infty} = \varinjlim_{d} \prod_{i \le d} \mathcal{O}_{C_{\infty}} / \pi_{\infty} \times \mathcal{O}_{C_{\infty}} / \pi_{\infty}$$
$$= \operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathcal{O}_{C_{\infty}} / \pi_{\infty}).$$

This description implies that the absolute q-Frobenius map  $\mathcal{O}_C/p \to \mathcal{O}_C/p$  is surjective, so C is perfected [36, Remark 3.2]. Moreover, the above work identifies  $\mathcal{O}_C^{\flat}$  with  $\operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathcal{O}_{C_{\infty}})$ , so  $C^{\flat}$  is naturally isomorphic to  $\operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathcal{C}_{\infty})$ . Finally, the fact that  $\pi_{\infty}^{\sharp} = \pi_i$  under the identification  $C_i^{\flat} = C_{\infty}$  implies the desired description of  $\pi_{\infty}^{\sharp}$  in C.

2.14. Finally, we define the analogues of Lubin–Tate extensions over E as follows. (In §4, we will explain their relationship with Lubin–Tate theory over E.) For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $\widehat{E}_i^{\times}$  for the profinite completion of  $E_i^{\times}$ , and write  $\operatorname{Art}_i : \widehat{E}_i^{\times} \xrightarrow{\sim} \Gamma_i^{\operatorname{ab}}$  for the local Artin isomorphism normalized by sending uniformizers to geometric q-Frobenii. For all positive integers n, note that  $\operatorname{Art}_i$  and our choice of uniformizer  $\pi_i$  induce a surjective continuous homomorphism  $\Gamma_i/I_i^n \to (\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n)^{\times}$ . Write  $E_i^{\operatorname{LT},n}$ 

for the corresponding finite abelian extension of  $E_i$ . Write  $E_i^{\text{LT}}$  for the completion of  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} E_i^{\text{LT},n}$ , and recall that  $E_i^{\text{LT}}$  is perfected. Note that  $\mathbb{O}_n^{\times}$  is finite locally constant over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

**Lemma.** The map  $\Gamma^n \to \mathbb{O}_n^{\times}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  whose fiber at i equals  $\Gamma_i/I_i^n \to (\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n)^{\times}$ is continuous. Consequently, there exists a natural finite étale E-algebra  $E^{LT,n}$  such that, for all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , the  $E_i$ -algebra  $E^{LT,n} \otimes_E E_i$  is isomorphic to  $E_i^{LT,n}$ .

Write  $\mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{LT}}$  for the  $\pi$ -adic completion of  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (E^{\mathrm{LT},n})^{\circ}$ , and write  $E^{\mathrm{LT}}$  for  $\mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{LT}}[\frac{1}{\pi}]$ .

*Proof.* Because Proposition 1.20 is compatible with inverse limits in S, we have

$$\mathbb{O}_n^{\times} = \varprojlim_d \left[ \left( \coprod_{i \leq d} (\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n)^{\times} \right) \coprod (\mathcal{O}_{\infty}/\mathfrak{p}_{\infty}^n)^{\times} \right].$$

as group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Next, consider the continuous map

$$\left(\prod_{i\leq d}\Gamma_i/I_i^n\right)\coprod\Gamma_\infty/I_\infty^n\to \left(\coprod_{i\leq d}(\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n)^\times\right)\coprod(\mathcal{O}_\infty/\mathfrak{p}_\infty^n)^\times$$

over  $\{i \in \mathbb{N} \mid i \leq d\} \cup \{\infty\}$  given by the disjoint union of the  $\Gamma_i/I_i^n \to (\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n)^{\times}$ . Now [10, (3.6.1)] shows that this is compatible with the  $\lim_{d \to d}$  in Definition 2.6.a), so taking  $\underline{\lim}_{d}$  yields a continuous map  $\Gamma^{n} \to \mathbb{O}_{n}^{\times}$  with the desired property.

By checking on fibers, we see that  $\Gamma^n \to \mathbb{O}_n^{\times}$  is a morphism of group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Therefore precomposing with  $\Gamma \to \Gamma^n$  yields a continuous action  $\Gamma \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \mathbb{O}_n^{\times} \to \mathbb{O}_n^{\times}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Finally, the corresponding finite étale *E*-algebra  $E^{LT,n}$  from Corollary 2.9 has the desired property. 

## 3. Fargues–Fontaine curves

To carry out Fargues–Scholze's program [14] in our context, we need to define a version of relative Fargues–Fontaine curves over E. This is the goal of this section. First, we construct a generalization of Witt vectors for  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebras, which specializes to  $\mathcal{O}_i$ -typical Witt vectors when applied to  $\mathcal{O}_i$ -algebras. We prove that various properties of  $\mathcal{O}_i$ -typical Witt vectors extend to our generalization, and we also construct a version of Witt bivectors over  $\mathcal{O}$  (which will be needed for computations in §4).

Next, we use this to define a relative Fargues–Fontaine curve  $X_S$  over Spa Efor any affinoid perfectoid space S over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . After proving basic facts about  $X_S$ , we show that S-points of  $\operatorname{Div}_X^1 := (\operatorname{Spd} E)/\phi^{\mathbb{Z}}$  induce closed Cartier divisors on  $X_S$ , where  $\phi$  denotes the relative q-Frobenius morphism. Finally, we prove a version of Drinfeld's lemma for  $(\text{Div}_X^1)_{\mathbb{F}_n}$  by reducing to the situation considered in Fargues–Scholze [14].

3.1. We start by constructing the analogue of Witt vectors over  $\mathcal{O}$ . For all nonnegative integers j, write  $w_j$  for the polynomial in  $\mathcal{O}[T_0, \ldots, T_j]$  given by

$$T_0^{q^j} + \pi T_1^{q^{j-1}} + \dots + \pi^j T_j.$$

For all  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebras A, view  $w_i$  as a function

 $w_i: \{\text{sequences } (a_0, a_1, \dots) \text{ in } A\} \rightarrow A$ 

by sending  $(a_0, a_1, \dots) \mapsto w_i(a_0, \dots, a_i)$ .

22

### Proposition.

i) Let A be an O-algebra that is  $\pi$ -torsionfree and has an O-algebra endomorphism  $\varphi$  whose reduction mod  $\pi$  equals absolute q-Frobenius. Then the map  $(w_0, w_1, ...)$  is injective with image equal to

{sequences  $(b_0, b_1, \ldots)$  in  $A \mid \text{for all } j \ge 0, \ b_{j+1} \equiv \varphi(b_j) \pmod{\pi^{j+1}}$ .

*ii)* The functor  $\{\mathcal{O}\text{-algebras}\} \rightarrow \{sets\}$  given by

 $A \mapsto \{sequences (a_0, a_1, \dots) \text{ in } A\}$ 

factors uniquely through a functor  $W : \{\mathcal{O}\text{-algebras}\} \rightarrow \{\mathcal{O}\text{-algebras}\}$  such that, for all non-negative integers j, the map  $w_j : W(A) \rightarrow A$  is an  $\mathcal{O}\text{-algebra}$  homomorphism.

*Proof.* For part i), A being  $\pi$ -torsionfree implies that  $(w_0, w_1, ...)$  is injective. Next,  $a_{j'}^q \equiv \varphi(a_{j'}) \pmod{\pi}$  implies that  $a_{j'}^{q^{j-j'+1}} \equiv \varphi(a_{j'})^{q^{j-j'}} \pmod{\pi^{j-j'+1}}$  for all  $0 \leq j' \leq j$ , so the image of  $(w_0, w_1, ...)$  lies in the above subset.

In the other direction, let  $(b_0, b_1, ...)$  be a sequence in A satisfying  $b_{j+1} \equiv \varphi(b_j)$ (mod  $\pi^{j+1}$ ) for all  $j \ge 0$ . Define  $a_0 \coloneqq b_0$ , and inductively apply

$$b_{j+1} \equiv \varphi(b_j) = \varphi(a_0)^{q^j} + \pi \varphi(a_1)^{q^{j-1}} + \dots + \pi^j \varphi(a_j) \pmod{\pi^{j+1}} \\ \equiv a_0^{q^{j+1}} + \pi a_1^{q^j} + \dots + \pi^j a_j^q \pmod{\pi^{j+1}},$$

which implies that  $\pi^{j+1}$  divides  $b_{j+1} - (a_0^{q^{j+1}} + \pi a_1^{q^j} + \dots + \pi^j a_j^q)$ , to define

$$a_{j+1} \coloneqq \frac{1}{\pi^{j+1}} \left( b_{j+1} - \left( a_0^{q^{j+1}} + \pi a_1^{q^j} + \dots + \pi^j a_j^q \right) \right).$$

Then the image of  $(a_0, a_1, ...)$  under  $(w_0, w_1, ...)$  equals  $(b_0, b_1, ...)$ , which yields the desired result.

For part ii), note that part i) uniquely determines the value of W when A is a polynomial  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebra. Finally, reducing to this universal case uniquely determines the value of W on any  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebra.

## 3.2. **Proposition.** Let A be an O-algebra.

- i) The map  $[-]: A \to W(A)$  given by  $a \mapsto (a, 0, ...)$  is multiplicative,
- ii) There exists unique maps  $\varphi : W(A) \to W(A)$  and  $V : W(A) \to W(A)$  such that, for all non-negative integers j, we have  $w_j \circ \varphi = w_{j+1}$  and

$$w_j \circ V = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } j = 0, \\ \pi \cdot w_{j-1} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Consequently,  $\varphi$  is an O-algebra homomorphism, V is O-linear, and  $\varphi \circ V = \pi$ .

- iii) Let n be a positive integer. Then  $\operatorname{im} V^n$  is an ideal of W(A), and the map  $W(A) \to A^n$  given by  $(a_0, a_1, \ldots) \mapsto (a_0, \ldots, a_{n-1})$  induces an identification from  $W^n(A) \coloneqq W(A) / \operatorname{im} V^n$  to  $A^n$ .
- iv) Assume that A is an  $\mathcal{O}/\pi$ -algebra. Then  $V \circ \varphi = \pi$ , and  $\varphi$  equals the  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebra homomorphism  $W(A) \to W(A)$  induced by absolute q-Frobenius  $A \to A$ .

*Proof.* First, assume that A is  $\pi$ -torsionfree and has an  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebra endomorphism whose reduction mod  $\pi$  equals absolute q-Frobenius. Then Proposition 3.1.i) identifies W(A) with its image under  $(w_0, w_1, \ldots)$ . This uniquely determines  $\varphi$  and V,

as well as verifies part i), part ii), and the first statement in part iii). Note that V sends  $(a_0, a_1, \ldots)$  to  $(0, a_0, a_1, \ldots)$ , which implies the second statement in part iii).

The above includes the case where A is a polynomial  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebra. Reducing to this universal case uniquely determines  $\varphi$  and V, as well as verifies parts i)–iii), for any  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebra. Similarly, reducing to the universal case and taking reduction mod  $\pi$  verifies part iv).

3.3. When restricted to perfect  $\mathcal{O}/\pi$ -algebras A, our Witt vectors satisfy the following usual properties. Proposition 3.2.ii) and Proposition 3.2.iv) imply that  $\varphi^n: W^n(A) \to W(A)/\pi^n$  is an isomorphism for all positive integers n. Proposition 3.2.iii) identifies W(A) with  $\varprojlim_n W^n(A)$ , so this shows that W(A) is  $\pi$ -adically complete and  $\pi$ -torsionfree. Note that  $(a_0, a_1, \ldots)$  in W(A) equals  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} [a_n^{1/q^n}]\pi^n$ .

For all  $\pi$ -adically complete  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebras B, recall that the tilt  $\overline{B^{\flat}}$  is naturally isomorphic to the inverse limit perfection of  $B/\pi$  [5, Lemma 3.2(i)].

## **Proposition.** Consider the functor

 $W : \{ perfect \ \mathcal{O}/\pi \text{-}algebras \} \rightarrow \{ \pi \text{-}adically \ complete \ \mathcal{O}\text{-}algebras \}.$ 

- i) It is left adjoint to the tilt functor  $(-)^{\flat}$ . The unit  $A \to W(A)^{\flat}$  is an isomorphism, and the counit  $\theta : W(B^{\flat}) \to B$  sends  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} [r_n] \pi^n$  to  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} r_n^{\sharp} \pi^n$ .
- ii) It is fully faithful, and its essential image consists of  $\pi$ -adically complete,  $\pi$ -torsionfree B such that  $B/\pi$  is perfect.

*Proof.* For part i), our candidate for the unit is the isomorphism

$$A = \varprojlim_{r} A = \varprojlim_{r} W(A)/\pi = W(A)^{\flat},$$

where r runs over non-negative integers, and the transition maps are given by absolute q-Frobenius.

We turn to our candidate for the counit. Let n be a positive integer, and recall that the  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebra homomorphism  $w_{n-1}: W^n(B) \to B$  is given by

$$(b_0,\ldots,b_{n-1})\mapsto b_0^{q^{n-1}}+\pi b_1^{q^{n-2}}+\cdots+\pi^{n-1}b_{n-1}.$$

For all  $0 \leq j \leq n-1$ , we see that  $b \equiv b' \pmod{\pi}$  implies that  $b^{q^j} \equiv b'^{q^j} \pmod{\pi^{j+1}}$ , so the composition  $W^n(B) \to B \to B/\pi^n$  factors through an  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebra homomorphism  $\theta_n : W^n(B/\pi) \to B/\pi^n$ . Proposition 3.2.ii) implies that the square

commutes, so taking  $\lim_{n \to \infty}$  yields an  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebra homomorphism

$$\theta: W(B^{\flat}) = \varprojlim_{n} W^{n}(B/\pi) \to \varprojlim_{n} B/\pi^{n} = B$$

Tracing through our identifications shows that our candidates satisfy the counitunit equations for W and  $(-)^{\flat}$ , as well as the desired description of  $\theta$ .

For part ii), full faithfulness follows from part i), so we focus on the essential image. When  $B/\pi$  is perfect, note that  $(-)^{\sharp}$  yields a section  $B/\pi \cong B^{\flat} \to B$  of  $B \to B/\pi$ . Therefore, when B is also  $\pi$ -torsionfree, every element of B equals

 $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} r_n^{\sharp} \pi^n$  for uniquely determined  $r_n$  in  $B/\pi$ . This shows that  $\theta: W(B^{\flat}) \to B$  is an isomorphism, so B lies in the essential image of W.

3.4. In this subsection, assume that A is a perfect  $\mathcal{O}/\pi$ -algebra.

**Corollary.** Reduction mod  $\pi$  induces an equivalence of categories

{finite étale W(A)-algebras}  $\xrightarrow{\sim}$  {finite étale A-algebras}.

Moreover, it has a quasi-inverse given by W.

Proof. The first statement follows from the  $\pi$ -adic completeness of W(A), since  $W(A)/\pi = A$ . For the second statement, let A' be a finite étale A-algebra, and B' be a finite étale W(A)-algebra satisfying  $B'/\pi \cong A'$ . Since W(A) is  $\pi$ -adically complete and  $\pi$ -torsionfree, so is the finite projective W(A)-module B'. Moreover, [26, Lemma 3.1.5] shows that A' is perfect. Hence Proposition 3.3.ii) implies that  $B' \cong W(A')$ , as desired.

3.5. Later, we will need the analogue of Witt bivectors over  $\mathcal{O}$ , so first let us introduce the analogue of Witt covectors over  $\mathcal{O}$ . Write  $CW^u(A)$  for the  $\mathcal{O}$ -module  $\varinjlim_n W^n(A)$ , where the transition maps are given by  $V: W^n(A) \to W^{n+1}(A)$ , and write  $V: CW^u(A) \to CW^u(A)$  for the map given by  $\varinjlim_n$  of the composition

$$W^n(A) \xrightarrow{V} W^{n+1}(A) \longrightarrow W^n(A).$$

Identify  $CW^u(A)$  with the set of sequences  $(\ldots, a_{-1}, a_0)$  in A satisfying the following property: there exists an  $M \ge 0$  such that  $a_{-m} = 0$  for all  $m \ge M$ . Under this identification, V sends  $(\ldots, a_{-1}, a_0)$  to  $(\ldots, a_{-2}, a_{-1})$ .

3.6. Write CW(A) for the set of sequences  $(\ldots, a_{-1}, a_0)$  in A satisfying the following weaker property:

( $\triangleleft$ ) there exists an  $M \ge 0$  such that the ideal  $(a_{-m})_{m>M}$  of A is nilpotent.

**Lemma.** The  $\mathcal{O}$ -module structure on  $CW^u(A)$  naturally extends to CW(A), and the natural extension of V to CW(A) is  $\mathcal{O}$ -linear.

Write BW(A) for the  $\mathcal{O}$ -module  $\varprojlim_r CW(A)$ , where r runs over non-negative integers, and the transition maps are given by  $V: CW(A) \to CW(A)$ . We identify BW(A) with the set of double sequences  $(\ldots, a_{-1}, a_0, a_1, \ldots)$  in A satisfying  $(\triangleleft)$ .

*Proof.* Note that [15, n° II.1.5, lemme 1.2] holds after replacing p with q. Therefore, for the polynomials  $S_j$  that compute the j-th coordinate of addition on W, the analogue of [15, n° II.1.5, lemme 1.3] also holds, and the bound depends only on q. Thus the desired result follows from the proof of [15, n° II.1.5, proposition 1.1].  $\Box$ 

3.7. Crucially, our Witt vectors specialize to the usual Witt vectors as follows. For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $W_i$  for the ring of  $\mathcal{O}_i$ -typical Witt vectors as in [12, Proposition 1.1], and view  $\mathcal{O}_i$  as an  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebra via the surjective ring homomorphism  $\operatorname{ev}_i : \mathcal{O} \to \mathcal{O}_i$ .

In this subsection, assume that A is an  $\mathcal{O}_i$ -algebra.

**Proposition.** The  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebra W(A) is naturally isomorphic to  $W_i(A)$ .

*Proof.* First, assume that A is  $\pi$ -torsionfree and has an  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebra endomorphism whose reduction mod  $\pi$  equals absolute q-Frobenius. Then Proposition 3.1.i) identifies W(A) with its image under  $(w_0, w_1, \ldots)$ , and this satisfies the characterizing property in [12, Proposition 1.1]. Therefore uniqueness in [12, Proposition 1.1] implies that W(A) is naturally isomorphic to  $W_i(A)$ .

The above includes the case where A is a polynomial  $\mathcal{O}_i$ -algebra. Finally, reducing to this universal case shows that W(A) is naturally isomorphic to  $W_i(A)$  for any  $\mathcal{O}_i$ -algebra A.

3.8. Note that  $\mathcal{O}/\pi \cong \operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathbb{F}_q)$  and that  $\operatorname{Spd}\operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathbb{F}_q)$  equals the v-sheaf  $\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}$  on  $\operatorname{Perf}_{\mathbb{F}_q}$ . Hence Spa yields an anti-equivalence from the category of perfectoid Huber pairs over  $\mathcal{O}/\pi$  to the category of affinoid perfectoid spaces over  $\mathbb{F}_q$  equipped with a morphism to  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

We can now define the analogue of relative Fargues–Fontaine curves over  $\mathcal{O}$ . Let  $S = \operatorname{Spa}(R, R^+)$  be an affinoid perfectoid space over  $\mathbb{F}_q$  equipped with a morphism  $S \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Choose a pseudouniformizer  $\varpi$  of R, and write  $\|-\|$  for the associated spectral norm on R normalized by  $\|\varpi\| = \frac{1}{q}$ . Endow  $W(R^+)$  with the  $(\pi, [\varpi])$ -adic topology, write  $\mathcal{Y}_S$  for the complement of the vanishing locus of  $(\pi, [\varpi])$  in  $\operatorname{Spa} W(R^+)$ , and note that  $\mathcal{Y}_S$  is the analytic locus of  $\operatorname{Spa} W(R^+)$ .

We have a continuous map rad :  $|\mathcal{Y}_S| \rightarrow [0, \infty]$  given by

$$x \mapsto \frac{\log |[\varpi](\widetilde{x})|}{\log |\pi(\widetilde{x})|},$$

where  $\widetilde{x}$  denotes the unique rank-1 generalization of x in  $\mathcal{Y}_S$ . For any closed interval  $\mathcal{I}$  in  $[0, \infty]$  with rational endpoints, write  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,\mathcal{I}} = \operatorname{Spa}(B_{S,\mathcal{I}}, B^+_{S,\mathcal{I}})$  for the associated rational open subspace of  $\operatorname{Spa} W(R^+)$ , which lies in  $\mathcal{Y}_S$ . More generally, for any subset  $\mathcal{I}$  of  $[0, \infty]$ , write  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,\mathcal{I}}$  for the open subspace  $\bigcup_{\mathcal{I}'} \mathcal{Y}_{S,\mathcal{I}'}$  of  $\mathcal{Y}_S$ , where  $\mathcal{I}'$  runs over closed intervals in  $\mathcal{I}$  with rational endpoints. Write  $Y_S$  for  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,(0,\infty)}$ , and note that  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,\infty)}$  is the complement of the vanishing locus of  $[\varpi]$  in  $\operatorname{Spa} W(R^+)$ .

Write  $\varphi : S \to S$  for the absolute q-Frobenius automorphism, as well as the induced automorphisms of  $W(R^+)$  and  $\mathcal{Y}_S$ . Note that  $\operatorname{rad} \circ \varphi = q \cdot \operatorname{rad}$ , so  $\varphi$  acts freely and totally discontinuously on  $Y_S$  over  $\operatorname{Spa} E$ . Write  $X_S$  for the quotient  $Y_S/\varphi^{\mathbb{Z}}$ .

3.9. Write  $W'(R^+)$  for the ring  $W(R^+)$  endowed with the  $\pi$ -adic topology.

#### Lemma.

- i) The ring  $W'(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}]$  is sousperfectoid,
- ii) The pre-adic space  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,[1,\infty]}$  is sousperfectoid and hence adic.

*Proof.* For part i), we claim that  $W'(R^+) \widehat{\otimes}_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{O}^{\text{perf}}$  is integral perfectoid. Note that

$$\mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{perf}}/\pi = \bigcup_{r=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{O}[\pi^{1/q^r}]/\pi = \bigcup_{r=0}^{\infty} (\mathcal{O}/\pi)[t^{1/q^r}]/t,$$

where  $t^{1/q^r}$  equals the image of  $\pi^{1/q^r}$ , so we get

$$(W'(R^+)\widehat{\otimes}_{\mathcal{O}}\mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{perf}})/\pi = R^+ \otimes_{\mathcal{O}/\pi} (\mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{perf}}/\pi) = \bigcup_{r=0}^{\infty} R^+ [t^{1/q^r}]/t.$$

Replacing  $\pi$  with  $\pi^{1/q}$  yields  $(W'(R^+)\widehat{\otimes}_{\mathcal{O}}\mathcal{O}^{\text{perf}})/\pi^{1/q} = \bigcup_{r=0}^{\infty} R^+[t^{1/q^r}]/t^{1/q}$ . Since  $R^+$  is integral perfectoid, these descriptions imply that the absolute q-Frobenius

$$(W'(R^+)\widehat{\otimes}_{\mathcal{O}}\mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{perf}})/\pi^{1/q} \to (W'(R^+)\widehat{\otimes}_{\mathcal{O}}\mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{perf}})/\pi$$

is an isomorphism, so [5, Lemma 3.10(ii)] yields the claim. From here, [5, Lemma 3.21] indicates that  $(W'(R^+)\widehat{\otimes}_{\mathcal{O}}\mathcal{O}^{\text{perf}})[\frac{1}{\pi}] = W'(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}]\widehat{\otimes}_E E^{\text{perf}}$  is perfected, which shows that  $W'(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}]$  is sousperfected.

For part ii), note that the  $(\pi, [\varpi])$ -adic topology on  $W(R^+)[[\varpi]/\pi]$  equals the  $\pi$ -adic topology. Therefore  $B_{S,[1,\infty]}$  equals the global sections of the rational open subspace  $\{|[\varpi]| \leq |\pi| \neq 0\}$  of  $\operatorname{Spa} W'(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}]$ , which is sousperfected by part i).  $\Box$ 

3.10. Proposition. For all non-negative integers r, the pre-adic space

$$\mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,q^r]} \times_{\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}} \operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}^{\operatorname{perf}}$$

is affinoid perfectoid, and our choices of  $\pi$  and  $\varpi$  induce an identification between  $(\mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,q^r]} \times_{\operatorname{Spa}} \mathcal{O}_{\operatorname{Spa}} \mathcal{O}_{\operatorname{spa}})^{\flat}$  and the closed perfectoid unit disk over S. Consequently,  $\mathcal{Y}_S, \mathcal{Y}_S$ , and  $\mathcal{X}_S$  are sousperfectoid adic spaces.

*Proof.* We claim that  $B_{S,[0,1]}\widehat{\otimes}_{\mathcal{O}}\mathcal{O}^{\text{perf}}$  is perfected. To see this, write A for the  $[\varpi]$ -adic completion of  $\bigcup_{m=0}^{\infty} (W(R^+)\widehat{\otimes}_{\mathcal{O}}\mathcal{O}^{\text{perf}})[(\pi/[\varpi])^{1/q^m}]$ . Because  $B_{S,[0,1]}$  equals  $W(R^+)\langle \pi/[\varpi]\rangle[\frac{1}{[\varpi]}]$ , we see that  $B_{S,[0,1]}\widehat{\otimes}_{\mathcal{O}}\mathcal{O}^{\text{perf}}$  equals  $A[\frac{1}{[\varpi]}]$ . Now

$$\begin{aligned} A/[\varpi] &= \bigcup_{m=0}^{\infty} \left( W(R^+) \widehat{\otimes}_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{perf}} \right) [(\pi/[\varpi])^{1/q^m}] / [\varpi] \\ &= \bigcup_{m=0}^{\infty} \left( (R^+/\varpi) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}/\pi} (\mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{perf}}/\pi) \right) [X^{1/q^m}] / (\pi^{1/p^m} - \varpi^{1/q^m} X^{1/q^m}), \end{aligned}$$

where  $X^{1/q^m}$  equals the image of  $(\pi/[\varpi])^{1/q^m}$ . The proof of Lemma 3.9.i) identifies  $\mathcal{O}^{\text{perf}}/\pi$  with  $\bigcup_{r=0}^{\infty} (\mathcal{O}/\pi)[t^{1/q^r}]/t$ , so the above expression for  $A/[\varpi]$  becomes

$$\bigcup_{m=0}^{\infty} \Big(\bigcup_{r=0}^{\infty} (R^+/\varpi)[t^{1/q^r}]/t\Big)[X^{1/q^m}]/(t^{1/q^m} - \varpi^{1/q^m}X^{1/q^m}) = \bigcup_{m=0}^{\infty} (R^+/\varpi)[X^{1/q^m}].$$

Replacing  $\varpi$  with  $\varpi^{1/q}$  yields  $A/[\varpi]^{1/q} = \bigcup_{m=0}^{\infty} (R^+/\varpi^{1/q})[X^{1/q^m}]$ . Since  $R^+$  is integral perfectoid, these descriptions imply that the absolute q-Frobenius morphism  $A/[\varpi]^{1/q} \to A/[\varpi]$  is an isomorphism, so [5, Lemma 3.10(ii)] shows that A is integral perfectoid. From here, [5, Lemma 3.21] indicates that  $A[[\frac{1}{[\varpi]}] = B_{S,[0,1]} \widehat{\otimes}_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{O}^{\text{perf}}$  is perfected, as desired.

The claim shows that  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,1]}$  is sousperfectoid. Because  $\mathcal{Y}_S$  is covered by  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,1]}$ and  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,[1,\infty]}$ , combining this with Lemma 3.9.ii) indicates that  $\mathcal{Y}_S$  is sousperfectoid. Moreover, the above work identifies  $A^{\flat}$  with  $R^+\langle X^{1/p^{\infty}}\rangle$  and hence identifies

$$(\mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,1]} \times_{\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}} \operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}^{\operatorname{perf}})^{\flat}$$

with the closed perfectoid unit disk over S. Since  $\varphi^r$  induces an isomorphism  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,1]} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,q^r]}$ , the same holds for  $(\mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,q^r]} \times_{\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}} \operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}^{\operatorname{perf}})^{\flat}$ .  $\Box$ 

3.11. As usual, relative Fargues–Fontaine curves enjoy the following "diamond formula." Because  $\mathcal{O}^{\flat} \cong \mathcal{O}/\pi$ , we get a natural morphism  $\operatorname{Spd} \mathcal{O} \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

**Proposition.** The v-sheaves  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,\infty)}^{\Diamond}$  and  $\operatorname{Spd} \mathcal{O} \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} S$  are naturally isomorphic over  $\operatorname{Spd} \mathcal{O}$ . Consequently, we get a natural continuous map  $|\mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,\infty)}| \to |S|$ .

Proof. For the first statement, let  $T = \operatorname{Spa}(A, A^+)$  be an affinoid perfectoid space along with an untilt  $T^{\sharp} = \operatorname{Spa}(A^{\sharp}, A^{\sharp+})$  of T over  $\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}$ . A morphism  $T^{\sharp} \to \mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,\infty)}$ over  $\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}$  is equivalent to an  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebra homomorphism  $W(R^+) \to A^{\sharp+}$  such that the image of  $[\varpi]$  is invertible in  $A^{\sharp}$ . By Proposition 3.3.i), this is equivalent to an  $\mathcal{O}/\pi$ -algebra homomorphism  $R^+ \to A^+$  such that the image of  $\varpi$  is invertible in A, i.e. a morphism of Huber pairs  $(R, R^+) \to (A, A^+)$  over  $\mathcal{O}/\pi$ . This yields the desired result. By [36, Lemma 15.6], the second statement follows from applying |-| to the composition  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,\infty)}^{\Diamond} \cong \operatorname{Spd} \mathcal{O} \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}}} S \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Pr}_2} S$ .  $\Box$ 

3.12. Relative Fargues–Fontaine curves are open-local in the following sense. Let U be a rational open subspace of S.

**Proposition.** The morphism  $\mathcal{Y}_{U,[0,\infty)} \to \mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,\infty)}$  is an open embedding, and its image is the subset  $|\mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,\infty)}| \times_{|S|} |U|$  of  $|\mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,\infty)}|$ .

Proof. Write  $U = \{|f_j| \leq |g| \neq 0 \text{ for all } 1 \leq j \leq m\}$  for some  $g, f_1, \ldots, f_m$  in R such that the ideal generated by  $f_1, \ldots, f_m$  is open. Write  $\mathcal{Y}(U)$  for the open subspace  $\{|[f_j]| \leq |[g]| \neq 0 \text{ for all } 1 \leq j \leq m\}$  of  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,\infty)}$ , and note that the image of  $\mathcal{Y}_{U,[0,\infty)} \to \mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,\infty)}$  lies in  $\mathcal{Y}(U)$ . The proof of Proposition 3.11 shows that  $\mathcal{Y}(U)^{\diamond}$  is naturally isomorphic to Spd  $\mathcal{O} \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} U$  over Spd  $\mathcal{O}$ , so [36, Lemma 15.6] implies that  $|\mathcal{Y}(U)| = |\mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,\infty)}| \times_{|S|} |U|$ .

Now  $\mathcal{Y}_{U,[0,\infty)} \to \mathcal{Y}(U)$  equals the increasing union of its restrictions

$$\mathcal{Y}_{U,[0,q^r]} \to \mathcal{Y}(U) \cap \mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,q^r]},$$

where r runs over non-negative integers. Thus it suffices to prove that these restrictions are isomorphisms. Both sides are affinoid, so it suffices to check on global sections, and because  $\mathcal{O}$  is a direct summand of  $\mathcal{O}^{\text{perf}}$  as topological  $\mathcal{O}$ -modules, it suffices to show that

 $\mathcal{Y}_{U,[0,q^r]} \times_{\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}} \operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}^{\operatorname{perf}} \to (\mathcal{Y}(U) \cap \mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,q^r]}) \times_{\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}} \operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}^{\operatorname{perf}}$ 

is an isomorphism. Proposition 3.10 indicates that both sides are perfected, so it suffices to check after applying  $(-)^{\flat}$ . Finally, this follows from Proposition 3.10.  $\Box$ 

3.13. Next, we turn to divisors on relative Fargues–Fontaine curves over  $\mathcal{O}$ . Let  $S \to \operatorname{Spd} \mathcal{O}$  be a morphism over  $\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}$ , and write  $S^{\sharp} = \operatorname{Spa}(R^{\sharp}, R^{\sharp+})$  for the associated until of S over  $\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}$ .

**Proposition.** The  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebra homomorphism  $\theta : W(R^+) \to R^{\sharp+}$  is surjective. Its kernel is generated by an element of the form  $\pi + [\varpi] \alpha$  for some pseudouniformizer  $\varpi$  of R and  $\alpha$  in  $W(R^+)$ , and ker  $\theta$  induces a closed Cartier divisor  $S^{\sharp} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,\infty)}$ .

*Proof.* Choose a pseudouniformizer  $\varpi$  of R such that  $\varpi^{\sharp}$  divides  $\pi$  in  $R^{\sharp+}$ . Since  $W(R^+)$  and  $R^{\sharp+}$  are  $[\varpi]$ -adically complete, it suffices to check the surjectivity of  $\theta \mod [\varpi]$ . There,  $\theta$  becomes  $R^+ \to R^{\sharp+}/\varpi^{\sharp}$ , which is surjective because  $R^{\sharp+}$  is integral perfectoid.

The fact that  $R^{\sharp+}$  is integral perfected also shows that there exists  $\beta$  in  $R^+$  such that  $\beta^{\sharp} \equiv \pi/\varpi^{\sharp} \pmod{\pi}$ , so  $\varpi^{\sharp}\beta^{\sharp} \equiv \pi \pmod{\varpi^{\sharp}\pi}$ . The surjectivity of  $\theta$  then yields  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} [r_n]\pi^n$  in  $W(R^+)$  such that  $\varpi^{\sharp}\beta^{\sharp} = \pi + \varpi^{\sharp}\pi \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} r_n^{\sharp}\pi^n$ . By setting  $\alpha := [\beta] - \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} [r_n]\pi^{n+1}$ , we see that  $\xi := \pi + [\varpi]\alpha$  lies in ker  $\theta$ .

Note that  $\xi$  is not divisible by  $[\varpi]$ , so  $W(R^+)/\xi$  remains  $[\varpi]$ -adically complete and  $[\varpi]$ -torsionfree. Therefore, to show that the induced map  $W(R^+)/\xi \to R^{\sharp+}$  is an isomorphism, it suffices to check mod  $[\varpi]$ . There, it becomes

$$W(R^+)/(\xi,[\varpi]) = W(R^+)/(\pi,[\varpi]) = R^+/\varpi \to R^{\sharp +}/\varpi^{\sharp},$$

which is indeed an isomorphism.

Finally, suppose that  $\xi \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} [s_n] \pi^n$  for some  $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} [s_n] \pi^n$  in  $W(R^+)$ . Then

$$\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} [s_n] \pi^{n+1} = \pi \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} [s_n] \pi^n \equiv \xi \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} [s_n] \pi^n = 0 \pmod{[\varpi]},$$

so the  $s_n$  are divisible by  $\varpi$ . By repeatedly replacing the  $s_n$  with  $s_n/\varpi$ , this shows that the  $s_n = 0$ . Hence  $\xi$  is a non-zerodivisor. Finally, by using Proposition 3.10 instead of [14, Proposition II.1.1] and the fact that the tilt of  $S^{\sharp} \to \operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}$  equals  $S \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , the proof of [14, Proposition II.1.4] shows that the induced Cartier divisor  $S^{\sharp} \to \mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,\infty)}$  is closed.  $\Box$ 

3.14. Write  $\operatorname{Div}_Y^1$  for the v-sheaf  $\operatorname{Spd} E$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , and write  $\phi : \operatorname{Div}_Y^1 \to \operatorname{Div}_Y^1$  for the absolute q-Frobenius automorphism. By Proposition 3.13, the S-points of  $\operatorname{Div}_Y^1$  naturally induce closed Cartier divisors  $S^{\sharp} \hookrightarrow Y_S$ . Note that  $\phi$  sends  $S^{\sharp} \hookrightarrow Y_S$  to its image under  $\varphi : Y_S \to Y_S$ , so  $\phi$  acts freely on  $\operatorname{Div}_Y^1$ .

Write  $\operatorname{Div}_X^1$  for the quotient  $\operatorname{Div}_Y^1/\phi^{\mathbb{Z}}$ . Since  $\varphi$  acts totally discontinuously on  $Y_S$ , the S-points of  $\operatorname{Div}_X^1$  naturally induce closed Cartier divisors  $S^{\sharp} \hookrightarrow X_S$ .

## **Lemma.** Our $\operatorname{Div}_X^1 \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ is representable in spatial diamonds and proper.

*Proof.* Because absolute q-Frobenius is compatible with products and acts trivially on underlying topological spaces, we have

$$\left|\operatorname{Div}_X^1 \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}} S\right| = \left|\operatorname{Div}_Y^1 \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}} S\right| / (\phi \times \operatorname{id})^{\mathbb{Z}} = \left|\operatorname{Div}_Y^1 \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}} S\right| / (\operatorname{id} \times \varphi)^{\mathbb{Z}}.$$

Proposition 3.11 indicates that  $\operatorname{Div}_Y^1 \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} S \cong Y_S^{\diamond}$ . Therefore the above implies that  $\operatorname{Div}_X^1 \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} S$  has an open cover by v-sheaves of the form  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,\mathcal{I}}^{\diamond}$  for small enough closed intervals  $\mathcal{I}$  in [1,q], so [36, Lemma 15.6] shows that  $\operatorname{Div}_X^1 \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} S$  is a locally spatial diamond. Similarly, we get a surjective continuous map  $|\mathcal{Y}_{S,[1,q]}| \twoheadrightarrow$  $|\operatorname{Div}_X^1 \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} S|$ , so the latter is qcqs. Hence [36, Proposition 11.19 (iii)] shows that  $\operatorname{Div}_X^1 \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} S$  is spatial, and properness follows from [36, Proposition 18.3].  $\Box$ 

3.15. Write  $(-)_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$  for the fiber product  $- \times_{\operatorname{Spd} \mathbb{F}_q} \operatorname{Spd} \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ .

**Lemma.** We have a natural isomorphism  $\operatorname{Spd} \check{\mathcal{O}} \cong (\operatorname{Spd} \mathcal{O})_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_a}$  over  $\operatorname{Spd} \mathcal{O}$ .

*Proof.* Note that  $\check{\mathcal{O}}$  is  $\pi$ -adically complete,  $\pi$ -torsionfree, and satisfies

$$\check{\mathcal{O}}/\pi \cong \operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q).$$

Hence Proposition 3.3.ii) implies that  $\check{\mathcal{O}} \cong W(\operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q))$ , so a morphism  $S^{\sharp} \to \operatorname{Spa} \check{\mathcal{O}}$  over  $\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}$  is equivalent to an  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebra homomorphism

$$W(\operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\},\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q))\to R^{\sharp+}$$

By Proposition 3.3.i), this is equivalent to an  $\mathcal{O}/\pi$ -algebra homomorphism

$$(\mathcal{O}/\pi) \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_q} \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q \cong \operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q) \to R^+$$

Applying Proposition 3.3.i) again shows that this is equivalent to an  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebra homomorphism  $W(\mathcal{O}/\pi) \to R^{\sharp+}$  along with an  $\mathbb{F}_q$ -algebra homomorphism  $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q \to R^+$ . Finally, Proposition 3.3.ii) implies that  $W(\mathcal{O}/\pi) \cong \mathcal{O}$ , and this yields the desired result.

3.16. To state the analogue of Drinfeld's lemma in our context, we need the analogue of the absolute Weil group for E. For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $W_i$  for the absolute Weil group of  $\overline{E}_i/E_i$ , write  $I_i$  for its inertia subgroup, and write  $v_i : W_i/I_i \to \mathbb{Z}$  for the isomorphism that sends geometric q-Frobenius to 1. By repeating Definition 2.6 (except that we replace  $\Gamma_i/I_i^n$  with  $W_i/I_i^n$  or  $I_i/I_i^n$ ) we obtain natural group topological spaces  $\mathbb{W}$  and  $\mathbb{I}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  whose fibers at i are isomorphic to  $W_i$  and  $I_i$ , respectively. Note that  $\mathbb{W}$  and  $\mathbb{I}$  are lctd over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  as in Definition 1.2.

View  $\check{E}$  as an E-subalgebra of C. Because  $\check{\mathcal{O}}^{\flat} \cong \operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q)$ , we get natural morphisms  $\operatorname{Spd} C \to \operatorname{Spd} \check{E} \to \underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}}$ .

**Proposition.** We have a natural action of  $\underline{\mathbb{W}}$  on  $\operatorname{Spd} C$  over  $\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$  such that  $\operatorname{Spd} C \to \operatorname{Spd} \check{E}$  induces an isomorphism  $(\operatorname{Spd} C)/\underline{\mathbb{W}} \xrightarrow{\sim} (\operatorname{Div}^1_X)_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$  over  $\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}}$ .

*Proof.* Arguing as in the proof of Lemma 2.14 shows that the maps

$$\mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{Z} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$$
 and  $\mathbb{W} \to \Gamma$ 

over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  whose fibers at i equal  $W_i \longrightarrow W_i/I_i \xrightarrow{v_i} \mathbb{Z}$  and  $W_i \hookrightarrow \Gamma_i$ , respectively, are continuous. By checking on fibers, we see that they are morphisms of group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

Corollary 2.9 and [36, Lemma 15.6] imply that  $\operatorname{Spd} C \to \operatorname{Spd} E$  is a  $\underline{\Gamma}$ -torsor. Therefore precomposing with  $\underline{\mathbb{W}} \to \underline{\Gamma}$  yields an action a of  $\underline{\mathbb{W}}$  on  $\operatorname{Spd} C$  over  $\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Since absolute q-Frobenius  $\varphi$  is an automorphism of  $\operatorname{Spd} C$  over  $\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}$  that commutes with a, it induces an action of  $\underline{\mathbb{Z}} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$  on  $\operatorname{Spd} C$  over  $\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}$  that commutes with a. By precomposing with  $\underline{\mathbb{W}} \to \underline{\mathbb{Z}} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$  and multiplying by a, we get our candidate action of  $\underline{\mathbb{W}}$  on  $\operatorname{Spd} C$  over  $\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

Because the image of  $\mathbb{I}$  under  $\mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{Z} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$  is trivial, the restriction to  $\underline{\mathbb{I}}$  of our candidate action equals a. Hence  $(\operatorname{Spd} C)/\underline{\mathbb{I}}$  is naturally isomorphic to  $\operatorname{Spd} \check{E}$ . Under the identification  $\operatorname{Spd} \check{E} \cong (\operatorname{Div}_Y^1)_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$  from Lemma 3.15, we see that the resulting action of  $\underline{\mathbb{W}}/\underline{\mathbb{I}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \underline{\mathbb{Z}} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$  on  $(\operatorname{Div}_Y^1)_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$  is induced by  $\phi \times \operatorname{id}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ . Thus further quotienting by  $\underline{\mathbb{W}}/\underline{\mathbb{I}}$  yields an natural isomorphism  $(\operatorname{Spd} C)/\underline{\mathbb{W}} \xrightarrow{\sim} (\operatorname{Div}_X^1)_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ , as desired.  $\Box$ 

3.17. We conclude this section by proving some analogues of Drinfeld's lemma in our context. In this subsection, we work over  $\operatorname{Spd}\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ . For any group topological space G over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write BG for the v-stack  $\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}/\underline{G}$ . Proposition 3.16 shows that  $\operatorname{Spd} C \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  induces a morphism  $\operatorname{Div}_X^1 \to B\mathbb{W}$ .

Let  $\Lambda$  be a ring that is  $\ell$ -power torsion.

**Proposition.** For all small v-stacks Z over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , the pullback functor

$$D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Z \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} B\mathbb{W}, \Lambda) \to D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Z \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \mathrm{Div}_X^1, \Lambda)$$

is fully faithful. Moreover, it is essentially surjective when the pullback functor

$$D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Z,\Lambda) \to D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Z \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \operatorname{Spd} C,\Lambda)$$

is essentially surjective.

*Proof.* Note that  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\} \to B\mathbb{W}$  and  $\operatorname{Spd} C \to \operatorname{Div}_X^1$  induce simplicial v-hypercovers  $\underline{\mathbb{W}}^{\bullet} \to B\mathbb{W}$  and  $\underline{\mathbb{W}}^{\bullet} \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}} \operatorname{Spd} C \to \operatorname{Div}_X^1$ , respectively, and this yields a commutative square

The top and bottom functors are fully faithful by [36, Proposition 17.3]. Proposition 2.13 identifies Spd C with  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\} \times \text{Spa } C_{\infty}$ , so applying [36, Theorem 19.5 (ii)] to  $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q \hookrightarrow C_{\infty}$  shows that the right functor is also fully faithful. Therefore the left functor is fully faithful, which yields the first statement.

For the second statement, consider an object of  $D_{\text{\'et}}(Z \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \text{Div}_X^1, \Lambda)$ , and write A for its image in  $D_{\text{\'et}}(Z \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \underline{\mathbb{W}}^{\bullet} \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \text{Spd}\,C, \Lambda)$ . Then A is cartesian, and by assumption its  $\bullet = 0$  part lies in the image of  $D_{\text{\'et}}(Z, \Lambda)$ . Since the right functor is fully faithful, this shows that A arises from a cartesian object of  $D_{\text{\'et}}(Z \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \underline{\mathbb{W}}^{\bullet}, \Lambda)$ , so [36, Proposition 17.3] indicates that A lies in the essential image of the top functor, as desired.  $\Box$ 

3.18. In this subsection, we work over  $\operatorname{Spd}\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ . For any small v-stack Z over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  and finite set J, write  $Z^J$  for the J-fold fiber power of Z over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

**Corollary.** For all small v-stacks Z over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  and finite sets J, pullback

$$D_{\mathrm{lc}}(Z \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}} B \mathbb{W}^J, \Lambda) \to D_{\mathrm{lc}}(Z \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}} (\mathrm{Div}^1_X)^J, \Lambda)$$

is an equivalence of categories.

j

Proof. By induction on #J, we can assume that #J = 1. Full faithfulness follows from Proposition 3.17, so we focus on essential surjectivity. Now full faithfulness and descent [36, Proposition 17.3] indicate that, after replacing Z with a v-cover, we can assume that Z is strictly totally disconnected. Then Lemma 3.14 shows that  $Z \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \operatorname{Div}_X^1$  is a spatial diamond. Hence [36, Proposition 20.15] implies that, after replacing Z with a connected component, we can assume that Z is a geometric point. Finally, the image of |Z| in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  equals  $\{i\}$  for some i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , so the result follows from Proposition 3.7 and [14, Proposition IV.7.3].

#### SIYAN DANIEL LI-HUERTA

#### 4. LUBIN-TATE THEORY

In this section, we develop a version of Lubin–Tate theory over E. We begin by using our generalization of Witt vectors to construct an analogue LT over  $\mathcal{O}$  of Lubin–Tate formal group laws, as in work of Fargues–Fontaine [13]. This yields a natural choice of coordinates for LT, which we use to explicitly define an analogue of the logarithm map. We also show that LT satisfies the expected relationship with the Lubin–Tate extensions defined in §2.

This version of Lubin–Tate theory has the following consequences. First, after computing the global sections of  $\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(1)$  on  $X_S$  using Witt bivectors as in work of Fontaine [15] and Fargues–Fontaine [13],<sup>6</sup> it lets us reinterpret sections of  $\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(1)$ in terms of  $\text{Div}_X^1$ . Second, it lets us prove that the morphism  $\text{Div}_X^1 \to \underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}$  is cohomologically smooth of dimension 1, which will be needed in §8.

4.1. Recall that Spec yields an anti-equivalence from the category of  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebras A where  $\pi$  is nilpotent to the category of affine schemes over Spf  $\mathcal{O}$ . Write  $\widehat{W}$  for the infinite-dimensional formal disk over Spf  $\mathcal{O}$  whose A-points equal

 $\{(a_0, a_1, \dots) \in W(A) \mid \text{the } a_j \text{ are nilpotent, and cofinitely many } a_j \text{ are zero}\}.$ 

Note that V preserves  $\widehat{W}$ . Also, for all non-negative integers j, we see that the polynomials that compute the j-th coordinate of  $\mathcal{O}$ -module operations on W are homogeneous of degree  $q^j$ , where  $T_{j'}$  has degree  $q^{j-j'}$  for all  $0 \leq j' \leq j$ , so  $\widehat{W}$  is naturally a formal  $\mathcal{O}$ -module.

Write LT for the  $\mathcal{O}$ -module object coker $(V - 1 : \widehat{W} \to \widehat{W})$  over Spf  $\mathcal{O}$ . By the discussion on [13, p. 158–159], we have an isomorphism Spf  $\mathcal{O}[\![X_0]\!] \xrightarrow{\sim} LT$  of sheaves over Spf  $\mathcal{O}$  given by sending  $a_0 \mapsto [a_0]$ , so LT is a 1-dimensional formal  $\mathcal{O}$ -module. Moreover, for all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , Proposition 3.7 and the discussion on [13, p. 156–158] show that  $LT \times_{\text{Spf}} \mathcal{O}$  Spf  $\mathcal{O}_i$  is a Lubin–Tate formal  $\mathcal{O}_i$ -module  $LT_i$  over Spf  $\mathcal{O}_i$ ; in particular, the element  $f_{\pi}$  of  $\mathcal{O}[\![X_0]\!]$  that computes multiplication by  $\pi$  on LT satisfies  $f_{\pi} \equiv X_0^q \pmod{\pi}$ .

4.2. View LT as the pre-adic space  $\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}[X_0]$ . Write  $(-)_E$  for the fiber product  $- \times_{\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}} \operatorname{Spa} E$ , and note that  $\operatorname{LT}_E$  is isomorphic to the open unit disk over  $\operatorname{Spa} E$ . Recall from 1.20 the group topological space  $\mathbb{O}_n^{\times}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

Our formal group  $LT_E$  is related to the *E*-algebras  $E^{LT,n}$  from 2.14 as follows.

**Proposition.** For all positive integers n, multiplication by  $\pi^n$  yields a finite étale cover  $LT_E \to LT_E$  of degree  $q^n$ . Its kernel  $LT_E[\pi^n]$  is the finite étale cover of Spa E corresponding to  $\mathbb{O}_n$  via Corollary 2.9, where  $\Gamma$  acts on  $\mathbb{O}_n$  through  $\Gamma \to \Gamma^n \to \mathbb{O}_n^{\times}$ .

*Proof.* Note that  $LT_E$  equals the increasing union of open subspaces

$$\mathrm{LT}_E = \bigcup_{r=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{Spa} E\langle X_0, X_0^r / \pi \rangle,$$

where each Spa  $E\langle X_0, X_0^r/\pi \rangle$  is preserved by multiplication by  $\pi^n$  on  $LT_E$ . Because the element  $f_{\pi^n}$  of  $\mathcal{O}[\![X_0]\!]$  that computes multiplication by  $\pi^n$  on LT satisfies  $f_{\pi^n} \equiv X_0^{q^n} \pmod{\pi}$ , the analogue of Weierstrass division for  $E\langle X_0, X_0^r/\pi \rangle$  implies that the resulting map  $E\langle X_0, X_0^r/\pi \rangle \to E\langle X_0, X_0^r/\pi \rangle$  is finite free of degree  $q^n$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>See 5.2 for the definition of the line bundle  $\mathcal{O}_{X_S}(1)$  on  $X_S$ . In particular, there is no circularity.

To show that  $E\langle X_0, X_0^r/\pi \rangle \to E\langle X_0, X_0^r/\pi \rangle$  is étale, Lemma 2.7 indicates that it suffices to check after applying  $-\otimes_E E_i$  for all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Now  $\mathrm{LT}_E \times_{\mathrm{Spa}\,E} \mathrm{Spa}\,E_i$ is isomorphic to  $\mathrm{LT}_i \times_{\mathrm{Spa}\,\mathcal{O}_i} \mathrm{Spa}\,E_i$ , so this follows from Lubin–Tate theory over  $E_i$ . Similarly, Lubin–Tate theory over  $E_i$  yields the desired description of  $\mathrm{LT}_E[\pi^n]$ .  $\Box$ 

4.3. Next, we consider the "universal cover" of LT in the sense of [37, p. 170]. Write  $\widetilde{\text{LT}}$  for  $\varprojlim_n \text{LT}$ , where *n* runs over non-negative integers, and the transition morphisms are given by multiplication by  $\pi$  on LT. As in 4.1, identify the *n*-th copy of LT with Spf  $\mathcal{O}[X_n]$ . Since multiplication by  $\pi$  on  $\widetilde{\text{LT}}$  is invertible,  $\widetilde{\text{LT}}$  is a formal *E*-module over Spf  $\mathcal{O}$ .

Write  $\mathcal{O}[\![\widetilde{X}^{1/q^{\infty}}]\!]$  for the  $\pi$ -adic completion of  $\bigcup_{r=0}^{\infty} \mathcal{O}[\![\widetilde{X}^{1/q^{r}}]\!]$ .

**Lemma.** We have an isomorphism  $\widetilde{\operatorname{LT}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Spf} \mathcal{O}[\![\widetilde{X}^{1/q^{\infty}}]\!]$  of formal schemes over Spf  $\mathcal{O}$  given by sending  $(a_n)_{n\geq 0} \mapsto (\lim_{n\to\infty} a_n^{q^{n-r}})_{r\geq 0}$ .

*Proof.* Note that  $\widetilde{\operatorname{LT}} = \operatorname{Spf} B$ , where B denotes the  $\pi$ -adic completion of  $\varinjlim_n \mathcal{O}[\![X_n]\!]$ , and the transition maps send  $X_n \mapsto f_{\pi}(X_{n+1})$ . For any non-negative integer r, we claim that the sequence  $(X_n^{q^{n-r}})_{n\geq r}$  converges in B. To see this, observe that  $X_n = f_{\pi}(X_{n+1}) \equiv X_{n+1}^q \pmod{\pi}$  implies that  $X_n^{q^{n-r}} \equiv X_{n+1}^{q^{n+1-r}} \pmod{\pi^{n+1-r}}$ , which yields the claim.

The claim indicates that sending  $\widetilde{X} \mapsto \lim_{n \to \infty} X_n^{q^n}$  induces a map of  $\mathcal{O}$ -algebras  $\mathcal{O}[\![\widetilde{X}^{1/q^\infty}]\!] \to B$ . Since  $\mathcal{O}[\![\widetilde{X}^{1/q^\infty}]\!]$  and B are  $\pi$ -adically complete and  $\pi$ -torsionfree, to show that  $\mathcal{O}[\![\widetilde{X}^{1/q^\infty}]\!] \to B$  is an isomorphism, it suffices to check mod  $\pi$ . There, it becomes the map of  $\mathcal{O}/\pi$ -algebras  $\bigcup_{r=0}^{\infty} (\mathcal{O}/\pi)[\![\widetilde{X}^{1/q^r}]\!] \to \bigcup_{n=0}^{\infty} (\mathcal{O}/\pi)[\![X_0^{1/q^n}]\!]$  given by sending  $\widetilde{X} \mapsto X_0$ , which is indeed an isomorphism.  $\Box$ 

4.4. Using our choice of coordinates for  $LT_E$  from 4.1, we can explicitly define its logarithm as follows. By the proof of [13, Proposition 4.3.1], we have a morphism of  $\mathcal{O}$ -module objects log :  $LT_E \to \mathbb{G}_a^{\mathrm{an}}$  over Spa *E* given by sending

$$a_0 \mapsto \sum_{r=0}^{\infty} a_0^{q^r} / \pi^r$$

Note that log sends  $\{|X_0| \le |\pi|\} \subseteq LT_E$  to  $\{|X| \le |\pi|\} \subseteq \mathbb{G}_a^{\mathrm{an}}$ .

**Proposition.** The induced morphism  $\log : \{|X_0| \le |\pi|\} \rightarrow \{|X| \le |\pi|\}$  is an isomorphism. Consequently, we get a short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{LT}_{E}[\pi^{n}] \longrightarrow \operatorname{LT}_{E} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{log}} \mathbb{G}_{a}^{\operatorname{an}} \longrightarrow 0,$$

where log is étale-locally surjective.

*Proof.* Since the power series  $\sum_{r=0}^{\infty} T^{q^r} / \pi^r$  lies in  $T \cdot E[T]$  and has linear term T, it has a compositional inverse exp in  $T \cdot E[T]$ . Expanding the coefficients of exp shows that it lies in  $E\langle T/\pi \rangle$ , so the morphism given by sending  $a \mapsto \exp(a)$  induces the desired inverse to  $\log : \{|X_0| \le |\pi|\} \rightarrow \{|X| \le |\pi|\}.$ 

We turn to the short exact sequence. By checking on fibers over Spa E, we see that, for all positive integers m, the intersection of  $\{|X_0|^{q^{m-1}(q-1)} \leq |\pi|\} \subseteq LT_E$  with  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} LT_E[\pi^n]$  equals  $LT_E[\pi^m]$ . This implies that  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} LT_E[\pi^n] \to LT_E$  is a

closed embedding. Similarly, checking on fibers indicates that  $\bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} LT_E[\pi^n]$  is the kernel of log.

To show that log is étale-locally surjective, let a be an  $(A, A^+)$ -point of  $\mathbb{G}_a^{\mathrm{an}}$ . Because  $\operatorname{Spa}(A, A^+)$  is compact, the image of a lies in  $\{|X| \leq |\pi|^{-n+1}\} \subseteq \mathbb{G}_a^{\mathrm{an}}$  for some positive integer n, so  $\pi^n a$  lies in  $\{|X| \leq |\pi|\}$ . The invertibility of log on  $\{|X| \leq |\pi|\}$  lets us lift  $\pi^n a$  to an  $(A, A^+)$ -point  $p_0$  of LT<sub>E</sub>, and Proposition 4.2 indicates, after replacing  $(A, A^+)$  with a finite étale cover, that there exists an  $(A, A^+)$ -point  $a_0$  of LT<sub>E</sub> satisfying  $f_{\pi^n}(a_0) = p_0$ . Since log is  $\mathcal{O}$ -linear, we get

$$\pi^n \log(a_0) = \log(f_{\pi^n}(a_0)) = \log(p_0) = \pi^n a,$$

and the invertibility of  $\pi$  on  $\mathbb{G}_a^{\mathrm{an}}$  indicates that  $\log(a_0) = a$ , as desired.

4.5. Using the identification from Lemma 4.3, view  $\widetilde{\mathrm{LT}}$  as the pre-adic space  $\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}[\![\widetilde{X}^{1/q^{\infty}}]\!]$ . Write  $\widetilde{\log}: \widetilde{\mathrm{LT}}_E \to \mathbb{G}_a^{\operatorname{an}}$  for the composition  $\widetilde{\mathrm{LT}}_E \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_0} \operatorname{LT}_E \xrightarrow{\operatorname{log}} \mathbb{G}_a^{\operatorname{an}}$ .

Corollary. We have a short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \varprojlim_{n} \left( \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{LT}_{E}[\pi^{m}] \right) \longrightarrow \widetilde{\operatorname{LT}}_{E} \xrightarrow{\widetilde{\operatorname{log}}} \mathbb{G}_{a}^{\operatorname{an}} \longrightarrow 0.$$

where  $\widetilde{\log}$  is pro-étale-locally surjective.

*Proof.* Proposition 4.2 identifies  $\bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} LT_E[\pi^m]$  with the disjoint union

$$\left(\prod_{j=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{Spa} E^{\operatorname{LT},j}\right) \coprod \operatorname{Spa} E.$$

Under this identification, multiplication by  $\pi$  on LT restricts to the morphism

$$\bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} \mathrm{LT}_E[\pi^m] \to \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} \mathrm{LT}_E[\pi^m]$$

that sends  $\operatorname{Spa} E$  to  $\operatorname{Spa} E$  and  $\operatorname{Spa} E^{\operatorname{LT},j}$  to  $\operatorname{Spa} E^{\operatorname{LT},j-1}$  via the natural morphism  $\operatorname{Spa} E^{\operatorname{LT},j} \to \operatorname{Spa} E^{\operatorname{LT},j-1}$ , where  $E^{\operatorname{LT},0}$  denotes E. In particular, this is surjective.

Since multiplication by  $\pi$  on  $\mathbb{G}_a^{\operatorname{an}}$  is invertible, we can identify  $\varprojlim_n \mathbb{G}_a^{\operatorname{an}}$  with  $\mathbb{G}_a^{\operatorname{an}}$  via  $\operatorname{pr}_0$ . From here, taking  $\varprojlim_n$  of the short exact sequence from Proposition 4.4 and applying the Mittag–Leffler criterion yield the desired result.

4.6. We now use Witt bivectors to compute  $B_{S,[1,\infty]}^{\varphi=\pi}$ , as in [13, Proposition 4.2.1]. Write  $\widehat{BW}(R^+)$  for the  $\mathcal{O}$ -module  $\varprojlim_m BW(R^+/\varpi^m)$ , where *m* runs over positive integers. Note that we can identify  $\widehat{BW}(R^+)$  with the set of double sequences  $(\ldots, a_{-1}, a_0, a_1, \ldots)$  in  $R^+$  satisfying  $\limsup_{n \to -\infty} ||a_n|| < 1$ . Therefore we have an  $\mathcal{O}$ -linear map  $\widehat{BW}(R^+) \to B_{S,[1,\infty]}$  given by sending

$$(\ldots, a_{-1}, a_0, a_1, \ldots) \mapsto \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} [a_n^{1/q^n}] \pi^n.$$

For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $S_i$  for the fiber of  $S \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  at  $\underline{\{i\}}$ . Note that  $S_i$  is affinoid perfectoid; write  $S_i = \operatorname{Spa}(R_i, R_i^+)$ , and for all r in R, write  $r_i$  for its image in  $R_i$ .

**Proposition.** The map  $\widehat{BW}(R^+) \to B_{S,[1,\infty]}$  is injective, and it induces a bijection

$$\widehat{BW}(R^+)^{\varphi=\pi} \xrightarrow{\sim} B_{S,[1,\infty]}^{\varphi=\pi}.$$

Consequently, the map  $\widetilde{a} \mapsto \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} [\widetilde{a}^{1/q^n}] \pi^n$  yields a bijection  $R^{\circ \circ} \xrightarrow{\sim} B_{S,[1,\infty]}^{\varphi=\pi}$ .

Proof. First, suppose that  $\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} [a_n^{1/q^n}]\pi^n = 0$  for some  $(\ldots, a_{-1}, a_0, a_1, \ldots)$  in  $\widehat{BW}(R^+)$ . Then its image in  $B_{S_i,[1,\infty]}$  is 0, and Proposition 3.7 shows that this image equals  $\sum_{n\in\mathbb{Z}} [a_{n,i}^{1/q^n}]\pi_i^n$ . Hence [13, p. 95] indicates that  $a_{n,i} = 0$  for all n in  $\mathbb{Z}$ . As i runs over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , [38, Theorem 5.2.1] implies that  $a_n = 0$  for all n in  $\mathbb{Z}$ .

Next, write  $[\varpi^{1/q^{\infty}}]$  for the ideal of  $B_{S,[1,\infty]}$  generated by  $[\varpi^{1/q^r}]$  for all nonnegative integers r. We claim that reduction mod  $[\varpi^{1/q^{\infty}}]$  induces an injection

$$B_{S,[1,\infty]}^{\varphi=\pi} \hookrightarrow (B_{S,[1,\infty]}/[\varpi^{1/q^{\infty}}])^{\varphi=\pi}$$

and precomposing with  $\widehat{BW}(R^+)^{\varphi=\pi} \hookrightarrow B_{S,[1,\infty]}^{\varphi=\pi}$  yields a bijection. For injectivity, suppose that x in  $B_{S,[1,\infty]}^{\varphi=\pi}$  lies in  $[\varpi^{1/q^r}]B_{S,[1,\infty]}$  for some non-negative integer r. Then  $x = \pi^{-k}\varphi^k(x)$  lies in  $[\varpi^{q^{k-r}}]B_{S,[1,\infty]}$  for all non-negative integers k, so taking  $k \to \infty$  shows that x = 0.

For bijectivity, note that  $W(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}]$  surjects onto  $B_{S,[1,\infty]}/[\varpi^{1/q^{\infty}}]$ . Therefore it suffices to consider  $\tilde{x}$  in  $W(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}]$  such that  $y \coloneqq \pi^{-1}\varphi(\tilde{x}) - \tilde{x}$  lies in  $[\varpi^{1/q^r}]B_{S,[1,\infty]}$ . Then y also lies in  $W(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}]$ , so y even lies in  $[\varpi^{1/q^r}]W(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}]$ . Hence  $\varphi^k(y)$  lies in  $[\varpi^{q^{k-r}}]W(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}]$ . Because the  $\pi$ -adic valuation of  $\pi^{-k}\varphi^k(y)$  decreases linearly in k and we have

$$\pi^{-(k+1)}\varphi^{k+1}(\widetilde{x}) - \pi^{-k}\varphi^k(\widetilde{x}) = \pi^{-k}\varphi^k(\pi^{-1}\varphi(\widetilde{x}) - \widetilde{x}) = \pi^{-k}\varphi^k(y),$$

this shows that  $x \coloneqq \lim_{k \to \infty} \pi^{-k} \varphi^k(\widetilde{x}) = \widetilde{x} + \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \pi^{-k} \varphi^k(y)$  converges in  $\widehat{BW}(R^+)$ . By construction, x lies in  $\widehat{BW}(R^+)^{\varphi=\pi}$  and satisfies  $x \equiv \widetilde{x} \pmod{[\varpi^{1/q^{\infty}}]}$ , which yields the claim.

The claim yields the first bijection. For the second bijection, note that  $\pi = \varphi \circ V$ implies that  $\widehat{BW}(R^+)^{\varphi=\pi}$  equals the set of constant double sequences  $(\ldots, \widetilde{a}, \widetilde{a}, \widetilde{a}, \ldots)$ satisfying  $\|\widetilde{a}\| < 1$ . Now  $\{\widetilde{a} \in R^+ \mid \|\widetilde{a}\| < 1\}$  equals  $R^{\circ\circ}$ , as desired.  $\Box$ 

4.7. See 5.2 for the definition of the line bundle  $\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(1)$  on  $X_S$ . Let us interpret Proposition 4.6 in terms of  $\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(1)$  and LT as follows. Write  $(-)_{\mathcal{O}/\pi}$  for the fiber product  $- \times_{\text{Spa}\,\mathcal{O}} \text{Spa}(\mathcal{O}/\pi)$ . Lemma 4.3 identifies  $\widetilde{\text{LT}}_{\mathcal{O}/\pi}$  and  $\widetilde{\text{LT}}_E$  with the open perfectoid unit disk over  $\text{Spa}(\mathcal{O}/\pi)$  and  $\text{Spa}\,E$ , respectively.

Corollary. Under the identification from Lemma 4.3,

i) the map  $\widetilde{a} \mapsto \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} [\widetilde{a}^{q^r}] / \pi^r$  induces an E-linear bijection

$$\widetilde{\mathrm{LT}}(S) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^0(X_S, \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(1)),$$

ii) the map  $\widetilde{\log}: \widetilde{\operatorname{LT}}_E \to \mathbb{G}_a^{\operatorname{an}}$  sends  $(\widetilde{a}^{1/q^r})_{r\geq 0} \mapsto \sum_{r\in\mathbb{Z}} \widetilde{a}^{q^r}/\pi^r$  on  $(A, A^+)$ -points,

iii) for all untilts  $S^{\sharp} = \operatorname{Spa}(R^{\sharp}, R^{\sharp+})$  of S over  $\operatorname{Spa} E$ , the square



commutes, where the left arrow is  $R^{\circ\circ} = \varprojlim_r (R^{\sharp})^{\circ\circ}$ , and the right arrow is given by pullback to the closed Cartier divisor  $S^{\sharp} \hookrightarrow X_S$  from 3.14.

*Proof.* For part i), we identify  $H^0(X_S, \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(1))$  with  $B_{S,[1,\infty]}^{\varphi=\pi}$  by Proposition 5.2. Bijectivity follows from Proposition 4.6, and *E*-linearity follows from the proof of [13, Proposition 4.4.5].

For part ii), let  $(a_n)_{n\geq 0}$  be an  $(A, A^+)$ -point of  $\widetilde{\mathrm{LT}}_E$ . As log is  $\mathcal{O}$ -linear, we get

$$\log(a_0) = \log(f_{\pi^n}(a_n)) = \pi^n \log(a_n) = \sum_{r=-n}^{\infty} a_n^{q^{r+n}} / \pi$$

for all non-negative integers n. The proof of Lemma 4.3 indicates that

$$a_n^{q^{r+n}}/\pi^r \equiv a_{n+1}^{q^{r+n+1}}/\pi^r \pmod{\pi^{n+1}},$$

so taking  $\lim_{n\to\infty}$  shows that

$$\log(a_0) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{r=-n}^{\infty} a_n^{q^{r+n}} / \pi^r = \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} \lim_{n \to \infty} a_n^{q^{r+n}} / \pi^r = \sum_{r \in \mathbb{Z}} \widetilde{a}^{q^r} / \pi^r.$$

This yield part ii). Finally, because the composition  $R^{\circ\circ} = \varprojlim_r (R^{\sharp})^{\circ\circ} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_0} R^{\sharp}$  equals  $(-)^{\sharp}$ , part iii) follows immediately from part ii), part i), and the description of  $\theta$  in Proposition 3.3.i).

4.8. Next, we turn to study  $E^{\text{LT}}$ . For this, we use the following analogue of bases for the Tate module of Lubin–Tate formal groups.

**Lemma.** There exists a sequence  $(t_n)_{n\geq 1}$  in  $(E^{\text{LT}})^{\circ\circ}$  such that, for all positive integers n,

- $t_1$  generates  $E^{\text{LT},1}$  over E, and  $t_{n+1}$  generates  $E^{\text{LT},n+1}$  over  $E^{\text{LT},n}$ ,
- $t_n$  lies in  $(E^{\text{LT},n})^{\circ\circ}$ , we have  $f_{\pi}(t_{n+1}) = t_n$ , and we have  $f_{\pi}(t_1) = 0$ .

Proof. Note that  $f_{\pi}$  is divisible by  $X_0$ , and  $f_{\pi}/X_0 \equiv X_0^{q-1} \pmod{\pi}$ . Therefore [29, Chapter IV, Theorem 9.2]<sup>7</sup> yields a monic polynomial  $g_1$  in  $\mathcal{O}[X_0]$  such that  $f_{\pi}/X_0 = u_1g_1$  for some unit  $u_1$  in  $\mathcal{O}[X_0]$ . Since  $f_{\pi} = X_0u_1g_1$ , one can use [29, Chapter IV, Theorem 9.1] to identify  $\mathrm{LT}_E[\pi]$  with  $\mathrm{Spa} E[X_0]/(X_0g_1)$ , which identifies  $\mathrm{LT}_E[\pi] - \{0\}$  with  $\mathrm{Spa} E[X_0]/g_1$ . Proposition 4.2 identifies  $\mathrm{LT}_E[\pi] - \{0\}$  with  $\mathrm{Spa} E^{\mathrm{LT},1}$ , so the image  $t_1$  of  $X_0$  in  $E^{\mathrm{LT},1}$  is a generator over E. By checking the image of  $t_1$  in  $E_i^{\mathrm{LT},1}$  for all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , we see that  $t_1$  lies in  $(E^{\mathrm{LT},1})^{\circ\circ}$ , which lets us evaluate  $f_{\pi}(t_1) = t_1u_1(t_1)g_1(t_1) = 0$ .

To inductively obtain  $t_{n+1}$  from  $t_n$ , note that  $f_{\pi} - t_n \equiv X_0^q \pmod{t_n}$ . Therefore [29, Chapter IV, Theorem 9.2] yields a monic polynomial  $g_{n+1}$  in  $(E^{\text{LT},n})^{\circ}[X_0]$ such that  $f_{\pi} - t_n = u_{n+1}g_{n+1}$  for some unit  $u_{n+1}$  in  $(E^{\text{LT},n})^{\circ}[X_0]$ . Arguing as in

36

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Note that [29, Chapter IV, Theorem 9.1] and [29, Chapter IV, Theorem 9.2] hold for any ring  $\mathfrak{o}$  and ideal  $\mathfrak{m} \subseteq \mathfrak{o}$  such that is  $\mathfrak{m}$ -adically complete (with the same proofs).
the proof of Proposition 4.2 identifies  $E^{\text{LT},n+1}$  with  $E^{\text{LT},n}[X_0]/g_{n+1}$ , so the image  $t_{n+1}$  of  $X_0$  in  $E^{\text{LT},n+1}$  is a generator over  $E^{\text{LT},n}$ . By checking the image of  $t_{n+1}$  in  $E_i^{\text{LT},n+1}$  for all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , we see that  $t_{n+1}$  lies in  $(E^{\text{LT},n+1})^{\circ\circ}$ , which lets us evaluate  $f_{\pi}(t_{n+1}) = u_{n+1}(t_{n+1})g_{n+1}(t_{n+1}) + t_n = t_n$ .

4.9. Fix a sequence  $(t_n)_{n\geq 1}$  as in Lemma 4.8. For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $t_{n,i}$  for the image of  $t_n$  in  $E_i^{\mathrm{LT},n}$ . Recall from 2.12 the topological field  $E_{\infty}^{\mathrm{perf}}$ , and note that  $E_{\infty}^{\mathrm{perf}}$  equals the completion  $\mathbb{F}_q((t^{1/q^{\infty}}))$  of  $\bigcup_{r=0}^{\infty} \mathbb{F}_q((t^{1/q^{r}}))$ .

**Proposition.** The ring  $E^{\text{LT}}$  is perfected, and our choice of  $(t_n)_{n\geq 1}$  induces an identification  $(E^{\text{LT}})^{\flat} = \text{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, E_{\infty}^{\text{perf}})$  such that  $\pi_{\infty}^{\sharp} = \lim_{n \to \infty} t_n^{q^n}$ .

*Proof.* Since  $\pi$  is a multiple of  $t_1$  and  $t_2^q \equiv f_\pi(t_2) = t_1 \pmod{\pi}$ , we see that  $t_2^q$  is a unit multiple of  $t_1$ . Now  $(E^{\text{LT}})^\circ = \mathcal{O}^{\text{LT}}$ , and we have

$$\mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{LT}}/t_1 = \varinjlim_{n} (E^{\mathrm{LT},n})^{\circ}/t_1 = \varinjlim_{n} \varinjlim_{d} \prod_{i \le d} \mathcal{O}_{E_i^{\mathrm{LT},n}}/t_{1,i} \times \mathcal{O}_{E_{\infty}^{\mathrm{LT},n}}/t_{1,\infty},$$

where d is large enough with respect to n. Because  $\varinjlim_n \mathcal{O}_{E_i^{\mathrm{LT},n}}/t_{1,i} = \mathcal{O}_{E_i^{\mathrm{LT}}}/t_{1,i}$ , switching the order of the direct limits yields

$$\varinjlim_{d} \varinjlim_{i \le d} \prod_{i \le d} \mathcal{O}_{E_{i}^{\mathrm{LT},n}} / t_{1,i} \times \mathcal{O}_{E_{\infty}^{\mathrm{LT},n}} / t_{1,\infty} = \varinjlim_{d} \prod_{i \le d} \mathcal{O}_{E_{i}^{\mathrm{LT}}} / t_{1,i} \times \mathcal{O}_{E_{\infty}^{\mathrm{LT}}} / t_{1,\infty}$$

Replacing  $t_1$  with  $t_2$  yields  $\mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{LT}}/t_2 = \lim_{d \to d} \prod_{i \leq d} \mathcal{O}_{E_i^{\mathrm{LT}}}/t_{2,i} \times \mathcal{O}_{E_{\infty}^{\mathrm{LT}}}/t_{2,\infty}$ . Since  $\mathcal{O}_{E_i^{\mathrm{LT}}}$  is integral perfectoid, these descriptions imply that the absolute q-Frobenius map  $\mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{LT}}/t_2 \to \mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{LT}}/t_2^q = \mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{LT}}/t_1$  is an isomorphism, so  $E^{\mathrm{LT}}$  is perfectoid.

 $\mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{LT}}/t_2 \to \mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{LT}}/t_2^q = \mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{LT}}/t_1$  is an isomorphism, so  $E^{\mathrm{LT}}$  is perfected. We have  $t_1^{q-1} \equiv f_{\pi}(t_1)/t_1 = 0 \pmod{\pi}$  and  $t_{n+1}^q \equiv f_{\pi}(t_{n+1}) = t_n \pmod{\pi}$ . Therefore our choice of  $(t_n)_{n\geq 1}$  induces an identification

$$\mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{LT}/\pi} = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} (\mathcal{O}/\pi) [t^{1/q^{n-1}(q-1)}]/t = \mathrm{Cont}\left(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \mathbb{F}_q[t^{1/q^{n-1}(q-1)}]/t\right),$$

where  $t^{1/q^{n-1}(q-1)}$  equals the image of  $t_n$ . Taking the inverse limit perfection yields

$$(\mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{LT}})^{\flat} = \mathrm{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, (E_{\infty}^{\mathrm{perf}})^{\circ}),$$

where  $\pi_{\infty}$  equals  $(\ldots, t^{1/q(q-1)}, t^{1/(q-1)}, 0)$  in the inverse limit perfection of  $\mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{LT}/\pi}$ . This implies the desired description of  $(E^{\mathrm{LT}})^{\flat}$ . Finally, because the sequence  $(\ldots, t_2, t_1, 0)$  in  $\mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{LT}}$  is a lift of the sequence  $(\ldots, t^{1/q(q-1)}, t^{1/(q-1)}, 0)$  in  $\mathcal{O}^{\mathrm{LT}}/\pi$ , we see that  $\pi_{\pi}^{\sharp} = \lim_{n \to \infty} t_n^{q^n}$ , as desired.

4.10. At this point, we can explain the relationship between  $\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(1)$  and divisors on  $X_S$ . See 5.2 for the definition of the *E*-module v-sheaf  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{O}(1))$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

**Proposition.** Our choice of  $(t_n)_{n\geq 1}$  induces an isomorphism over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ 

$$\operatorname{Spd} E^{\operatorname{LT}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{O}(1)) - \{0\}.$$

*Proof.* Since  $f_{\pi}(t_1) = 0$  and  $f_{\pi}(t_{n+1}) = t_n$  for all positive integers n, our choice of  $(t_n)_{n\geq 1}$  induces a morphism  $\operatorname{Spa} E^{\operatorname{LT}} \to \widetilde{\operatorname{LT}}$ . Therefore precomposing with an untilt  $S^{\sharp} = \operatorname{Spa}(R^{\sharp}, R^{\sharp+})$  of S over  $\operatorname{Spa} E^{\operatorname{LT}}$  yields an element of

$$\operatorname{LT}(S^{\sharp}) = \operatorname{LT}(S) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^0(X_S, \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(1)),$$

and this induces a morphism  $\operatorname{Spd} E^{\operatorname{LT}} \to \mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{O}(1))$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

Proposition 4.9 shows that  $E^{\text{LT}}$  is perfected. Moreover, Proposition 4.9 identifies

$$\operatorname{Spd} E^{\operatorname{LT}} = \operatorname{Spa}(E^{\operatorname{LT}})^{\flat} = \operatorname{Spa} \operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, E_{\infty}^{\operatorname{perf}}),$$

and under the identification from Corollary 4.7.i), the morphism Spd  $E^{\text{LT}} \to \mathcal{BC}(\mathcal{O}(1))$ sends  $S^{\sharp} \to \text{Spa} E^{\text{LT}}$  to the image of  $\pi_{\infty}$  in R. Hence the image of this morphism lies in  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathcal{O}(1)) - \{0\}$ . Corollary 4.7.i) even identifies  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathcal{O}(1)) - \{0\}$  with the punctured open perfectoid unit disk Spa  $\text{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathbb{F}_q((\widetilde{X}^{1/q^{\infty}})))$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , and Spd  $E^{\text{LT}} \to \mathcal{BC}(\mathcal{O}(1)) - \{0\}$  corresponds to the map of  $\mathcal{O}/\pi$ -algebras

$$\operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\},\mathbb{F}_q(\hspace{-0.15cm}(\widetilde{X}^{1/q^\infty})\hspace{-0.15cm})) \!\rightarrow\! \operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\},E^{\operatorname{perf}}_\infty)$$

that sends  $\widetilde{X} \mapsto \pi_{\infty}$ . This is indeed an isomorphism.

4.11. Let  $\sigma$  be an S-point of  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{O}(1)) - \{0\}$ . By Proposition 4.10,  $\sigma$  corresponds to an S-point of Spd  $E^{\text{LT}}$ , whose image under Spd  $E^{\text{LT}} \to \text{Div}_X^1 \to \text{Div}_X^1$  naturally

induces a closed Cartier divisor  $S^{\sharp} \hookrightarrow X_S$  by 3.14.

**Proposition.** We get a short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathscr{O}_{X_S} \xrightarrow{\sigma} \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(1) \longrightarrow \mathscr{O}_{S^{\sharp}} \longrightarrow 0$$

of sheaves on  $X_S$ .

*Proof.* Write  $\mathscr{I}_{S^{\sharp}}$  for the ideal of  $\mathscr{O}_{X_S}$  corresponding to the closed Cartier divisor  $S^{\sharp} \hookrightarrow X_S$ . Note that the morphism  $\operatorname{Spa} E^{\operatorname{LT}} \to \widetilde{\operatorname{LT}}_E$  induced by our choice of  $(t_n)_{n\geq 1}$  lies in the kernel of  $\log$ , so Corollary 4.7.iii) indicates that the image of  $\sigma: \mathscr{O}_{X_S} \to \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(1)$  lies in  $\mathscr{I}_{S^{\sharp}}(1)$ .

Since  $\mathscr{I}_{S^{\sharp}}(1)$  is a line bundle, to show that  $\sigma : \mathscr{O}_{X_S} \to \mathscr{I}_{S^{\sharp}}(1)$  is an isomorphism, it suffices to check after pulling back to geometric points  $\overline{s}$  of S. Now the image of  $\overline{s}$ in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  equals  $\{i\}$  for some i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , so the result follows from Proposition 3.7 and [14, Proposition II.2.3].  $\Box$ 

4.12. We want to use our study of  $\operatorname{Spd} E^{\operatorname{LT}}$  to prove that  $\operatorname{Div}_X^1 \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  is cohomologically smooth of dimension 1. This requires the following generalization of [36, Lemma 10.13], which will also be useful later. Let *G* be a group topological space over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  that is letd over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  as in Definition 1.2, and let  $\{K^{\alpha}\}_{\alpha}$  be a family of compact open group subspaces of *G* over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  satisfying Definition 1.2.a).

**Lemma.** Let  $\widetilde{S} \to S$  be a <u>G</u>-torsor in the category of v-sheaves. For all  $\alpha$ , the morphism  $K^{\alpha} \setminus G \times^{\underline{G}} \widetilde{S} \to S$  is separated étale, and the natural morphism

$$\widetilde{S} \to \varprojlim_{\alpha} \underline{K^{\alpha} \backslash G} \times \underline{G} \widetilde{S}$$

is an isomorphism. Consequently,  $\widetilde{S} \to S$  is a pro-étale cover and universally open.

*Proof.* First, assume that  $\widetilde{S}$  is the trivial  $\widetilde{G}$ -torsor  $\underline{G} \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} S$ . Lemma 1.12 implies that the étale topological space  $K^{\alpha} \setminus G$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  is Hausdorff, so the morphism

$$\underline{K^{\alpha}\backslash G}\times^{\underline{G}}\widetilde{S}=\underline{K^{\alpha}\backslash G}\times_{\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}}S\to S$$

is separated étale. Moreover, Definition 1.2.a) indicates that  $G \to \varprojlim_{\alpha} K^{\alpha} \setminus G$  is an isomorphism, so the same holds for  $\widetilde{S} \to \varprojlim_{\alpha} K^{\alpha} \setminus G \times^{\underline{G}} \widetilde{S} = \varprojlim_{\alpha} K^{\alpha} \setminus G \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} S$ .

In general,  $\widetilde{S}$  is trivial after replacing S with a v-cover, so the above and [36, Proposition 10.11 (iv)] show that  $\underline{K^{\alpha}\backslash G} \times^{\underline{G}} \widetilde{S} \to S$  is separated étale in general. Because isomorphisms of v-sheaves can be checked after a v-cover, the above also shows that  $\widetilde{S} \to \lim_{\alpha} K^{\alpha}\backslash G \times^{\underline{G}} \widetilde{S}$  is an isomorphism in general.

The presentation  $\widetilde{S} = \lim_{\alpha} K^{\alpha} \backslash G \times^{\underline{G}} \widetilde{S}$  implies that  $\widetilde{S} \to S$  is a pro-étale cover. Since the morphisms  $\underline{K^{\alpha} \backslash G} \times^{\underline{G}} \widetilde{S} \to S$  are universally open and every open subspace of  $\widetilde{S}$  arises via pullback from  $\underline{K^{\alpha} \backslash G} \times^{\underline{G}} \widetilde{S}$  for some  $\alpha$ , this also indicates that  $\widetilde{S} \to S$  is universally open, as desired.

4.13. We also need the following variant of [36, Proposition 24.2]. Write  $(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^n$  for the kernel of  $\mathbb{O}^{\times} \to \mathbb{O}_n^{\times}$ . Note that  $\mathbb{O}^{\times}$  is letd over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , and  $\{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^n\}_{n \ge 1}$  forms a family of compact open group subspaces of  $\mathbb{O}^{\times}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  satisfying Definition 1.2.a).

Let  $f: Z' \to Z$  be a morphism of small v-stacks over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , and let

$$(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1 \times_Z Z' \to Z'$$

be a free action of  $(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1$  on Z' over Z. For all positive integers n, write

$$Z' \xrightarrow{q_n} Z' / \underbrace{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^n}_{\longrightarrow} \xrightarrow{f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^n}} Z$$

for the natural morphisms. Let  $\Lambda$  be a ring that is  $\ell$ -power torsion.

**Proposition.** If f is representable in locally spatial diamonds, separated, and cohomologically smooth, then the same holds for  $f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1}$ . Moreover, there is a natural transformation  $q_1^* \to q_1^1$  of functors

$$D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Z'/(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1,\Lambda) \to D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Z',\Lambda)$$

 $such \ that \ q_1^*f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1}^! \to q_1^!f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1}^! = f^! \ is \ an \ isomorphism.$ 

*Proof.* Let  $S \to Z$  be a morphism over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Then  $S \times_Z Z'$  is a locally spatial diamond,  $S \times_Z Z/(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1$  is a diamond, and  $S \times_Z Z' \to S \times_Z Z/(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1$  is an  $(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1$ -torsor. By replacing  $S \times_Z Z/(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1$  with a v-cover by an affinoid perfectoid space, we can use Lemma 4.12 to see that  $S \times_Z Z' \to S \times_Z Z/(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1$  is open, so [36, Lemma 2.10] and [36, Proposition 11.15] imply that  $S \times_Z Z/(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1$  is locally spatial.

The separatedness of  $f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1}$  follows from [36, Proposition 10.9]. Note that the relative compactification  $\overline{Z'/(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1}^{/Z}$  is naturally isomorphic to  $(\overline{Z'}^{/Z})/(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1$ , and arguing as above shows that

$$\left|\overline{Z'}^{/Z}\right| \to \left|(\overline{Z'}^{/Z})/(\underline{\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1}\right|$$

is a quotient map. Because f is compactifiable, this implies that  $f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1}$  is compactifiable.

Next, we turn to our candidate for  $q_1^* \to q_1^!$ . Since  $q_1$  is proper, it suffices to construct a natural transformation  $q_{1*}q_1^* \to \mathrm{id}$ . For all positive integers  $n \ge m$ , write  $q_{n,m}: Z'/(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^n \to Z'/(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^m$  for the quotient morphism, which is finite étale of degree  $q^{n-m}$ . Lemma 4.12 identifies  $q_1$  with  $\lim_n q_{n,1}$ , so  $q_{1*}q_1^*$  is naturally

isomorphic to  $\varinjlim_n q_{n,1*}q_{n,1}^*$ . Because  $q_{n+1,n}$  is finite étale of degree q, the trace natural transformation  $\operatorname{tr}_n: q_{n,1*}q_{n,1}^* \to \operatorname{id}$  satisfies the commutative square



Hence taking  $\lim_{n \to \infty} of q^{-n} \operatorname{tr}_n$  yields a natural transformation  $q_{1*}q_1^* \to \operatorname{id}$ .

We claim that the natural transformation  $q_1^* f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1}^! \to f^!$  is an isomorphism. To see this, after replacing Z with a v-cover, we can assume that Z is strictly totally disconnected. Then Z' is a locally spatial diamond, and since the claim is open-local on Z', we can assume that Z' is spatial. Because Z is strictly totally disconnected, [36, Proposition 20.17] indicates that it suffices to show that

(†) 
$$\operatorname{Hom}(B, q_1^* f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1}^! A) \to \operatorname{Hom}(B, f^! A)$$

is an isomorphism for all B in  $D_{\text{\acute{et}},pc}(Z',\Lambda)$  and A in  $D_{\text{\acute{et}}}(Z,\Lambda)$ . Lemma 4.12 identifies Z' with  $\varprojlim_n Z'/(\underline{\mathbb{O}^{\times}})^n$ , so [36, Proposition 20.15] implies that B is isomorphic to  $q_m^* B_m$  for some positive integer m and  $B_m$  in  $D_{\text{\acute{et}},pc}(Z'/(\underline{\mathbb{O}^{\times}})^m,\Lambda)$ . Therefore the left-hand side of (†) becomes

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Hom}(q_m^*B_m, q_1^*f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1}^!A) \\ &= \operatorname{Hom}(B_m, q_{m*}q_1^*f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1}^!A) \\ &= \operatorname{Hom}(B_m, \varliminf_n q_{n,m*}q_{n,1}^*f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1}^!A) \\ &= \varliminf_n \operatorname{Hom}(B_m, q_{n,m*}q_{n,1}^*f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1}^!A) \\ &= \varliminf_n \operatorname{Hom}(B_m, q_{n,m*}q_{n,1}^!f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1}^!A) \\ &= \varliminf_n \operatorname{Hom}(B_m, q_{n,m*}f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1}^!A) \\ &= \varliminf_n \operatorname{Hom}(B_m, q_{n,m*}f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^n}^!A) \\ &= \varliminf_n \operatorname{Hom}(B_m, q_{n,m*}f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^n}^!A) \\ &= \varliminf_n \operatorname{Hom}(f_{\mathbb{O}^{\times})^n}q_{n,m}^*B_m, A), \end{aligned}$$

where n runs over positive integers satisfying  $n \ge m$ . Next, note that

$$\begin{split} f_!B &= f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^m!}q_m!q_m^*B_m = f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^m!}q_{m*}q_m^*B_m & \text{because } q_m \text{ is proper} \\ &= \varinjlim_n f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^m!}q_{n,m*}q_{n,m}^*B_m & \text{since } \varinjlim_n q_{n,m*}q_{n,m}^* \xrightarrow{\sim} q_{m*}q_m^* \\ &= \varinjlim_n f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^m!}q_{n,m!}q_{n,m}^*B_m & \text{because } q_{n,m} \text{ is finite} \\ &= \varinjlim_n f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^n!}q_{n,m}^*B_m, & \text{because } q_{n,m} \text{ is finite} \end{split}$$

and the transition morphisms in the directed system  $\{f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^n!}q_{n,m}^*B_m\}_n$  have splittings given by normalized traces as above. Since f is quasicompact cohomologically smooth,  $f_!B$  lies in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(Z,\Lambda)$  by [36, Proposition 23.13 (ii)], so [36, Proposition 20.17] implies that the directed system  $\{f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^n!}q_{n,m}^*B_m\}_n$  is eventually constant with value  $f_!B$ . Therefore the left-hand side of ( $\dagger$ ) becomes

$$\lim_{m \to \infty} \operatorname{Hom}(f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^n!}q_{n,m}^*B_m, A) = \operatorname{Hom}(f_!B, A) = \operatorname{Hom}(B, f^!A),$$

which is precisely the right-hand side of (†). This yields the claim.

To show that  $f_{(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1}$  is cohomologically smooth, [36, Proposition 23.15] indicates that, after replacing Z with a v-cover, we can assume that Z is strictly totally disconnected. Then it suffices to check condition (iii) in [36, Proposition 23.4], and this follows from the claim and applying [36, Proposition 23.4 (iii)] again to f.  $\Box$  4.14. The proof of Lemma 3.15 shows that  $W(\mathcal{O}/\pi) \cong \mathcal{O}$ , so the composition

$$\mathbb{F}_q \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathbb{F}_q) \cong \mathcal{O}/\pi \xrightarrow{[-]} W(\mathcal{O}/\pi) \cong \mathcal{O}$$

induces a morphism  $\mathbb{F}_q^{\times} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}) \to \mathbb{O}^{\times}$  of group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . By using profinitude and checking on fibers, we see that the induced morphism

$$\mathbb{F}_{a}^{\times} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}) \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} (\mathbb{O}^{\times})^{1} \to \mathbb{O}^{\times}$$

of group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  is an isomorphism.

We conclude this section by proving the promised smoothness result.

**Corollary.** Our  $\operatorname{Div}_X^1 \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  is cohomologically smooth of dimension 1.

*Proof.* Proposition 4.9 identifies  $\operatorname{Spd} E^{\operatorname{LT}}$  with the punctured open perfectoid unit disk over  $\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}$ . This identifies  $\operatorname{Spd} E^{\operatorname{LT}} \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}} \operatorname{Spd} C$  with the punctured open perfectoid unit disk over  $\operatorname{Spd} C$ , so  $\operatorname{Spd} E^{\operatorname{LT}} \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}} \operatorname{Spd} C \to \operatorname{Spd} C$  is cohomologically smooth of dimension 1.

Corollary 2.9 and [36, Lemma 15.6] imply that Spd  $E^{\text{LT}} \to \text{Spd } E$  is an  $\mathbb{O}^{\times}$ -torsor. Therefore Spd  $E^{\text{LT}} \to (\text{Spd } E^{\text{LT}})/\mathbb{F}_q^{\times}$  is a finite étale cover, so the above and [36, Proposition 23.13] show that  $(\text{Spd } E^{\text{LT}})/\mathbb{F}_q^{\times} \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \text{Spd } C \to \text{Spd } C$  is cohomologically smooth of dimension 1. Since  $(\text{Spd } E^{\text{LT}})/\mathbb{F}_q^{\times} \to \text{Spd } E^{\text{LT}}$  is a  $(\mathbb{O}^{\times})^1$ -torsor, Proposition 4.13 indicates that  $\text{Spd } E \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \text{Spd } C \to \text{Spd } C$  is cohomologically smooth of dimension 1. From here, Lemma 3.14 and [36, Proposition 23.15] imply that  $\text{Spd } E \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  is cohomologically smooth of dimension 1. Finally, the proof of Lemma 3.14 shows that the same holds for  $\text{Div}_X^1 \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

## 5. Vector bundles on Fargues-Fontaine curves

In this section, we study vector bundles on  $X_S$ . First, we prove that they satisfy v-descent with respect to S. Next, we define the analogue of absolute Banach– Colmez spaces over E, and we use results from §4 to prove various facts about them. We also define general Banach–Colmez spaces over E, and we use an ampleness result to extend the aforementioned facts to this setting. Finally, we apply these facts to prove properties about the Harder–Narasimhan filtration in our context, as well as to generalize a theorem of Kedlaya–Liu [26].

5.1. Let  $\mathscr{E}$  be a vector bundle on  $X_S$ . Write  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{E})$  for the presheaf of *E*-modules on  $\operatorname{Perf}_{\mathbb{F}_q}$  over *S* whose *S'*-points equal  $H^0(X_{S'}, \mathscr{E}|_{X_{S'}})$ .

**Proposition.** The presheaf of categories on  $\operatorname{Perf}_{\mathbb{F}_a}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  given by

 $S \mapsto \{vector \ bundles \ on \ X_S\}$ 

satisfies v-descent. In particular,  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{E})$  is a v-sheaf.

*Proof.* Because  $X_S = Y_S / \varphi^{\mathbb{Z}}$ , vector bundles on  $X_S$  are equivalent to vector bundles on  $Y_S$  equipped with a  $\varphi$ -semilinear automorphism. Therefore it suffices to prove that  $S \mapsto \{\text{vector bundles on } Y_S\}$  satisfies v-descent. Let  $S' \to S$  be an affinoid perfectoid v-cover. Since  $Y_S = \bigcup_{\mathcal{I}} \mathcal{Y}_{S,\mathcal{I}}$ , where  $\mathcal{I}$  runs over closed intervals in  $(0, \infty)$ with rational endpoints, it suffices to prove that vector bundles satisfy descent with respect to  $\mathcal{Y}_{S',\mathcal{I}} \to \mathcal{Y}_{S,\mathcal{I}}$ . Let  $\mathscr{E}'$  be a vector bundle on  $\mathcal{Y}_{S',\mathcal{I}}$  with a descent datum  $\alpha$  with respect to  $\mathcal{Y}_{S',\mathcal{I}} \to \mathcal{Y}_{S,\mathcal{I}}$ . Pullback yields a vector bundle  $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}'$  on  $\mathcal{Y}_{S',\mathcal{I}} \times_{\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}} \operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}^{\operatorname{perf}}$  with commuting descent data  $\widetilde{\alpha}$  with respect to

$$\mathcal{Y}_{S',\mathcal{I}} \times_{\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}} \operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}^{\operatorname{perf}} \to \mathcal{Y}_{S,\mathcal{I}} \times_{\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}} \operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}^{\operatorname{perf}}$$

and  $\beta'$  with respect to  $\mathcal{Y}_{S',\mathcal{I}} \times_{\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}} \operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}^{\operatorname{perf}} \to \mathcal{Y}_{S',\mathcal{I}}$ .

Proposition 3.10 indicates that the  $\mathcal{Y}_{-,\mathcal{I}} \times_{\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}} \operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}^{\operatorname{perf}}$  are affinoid perfectoid. Hence [38, Lemma 17.1.8] enables us to descend  $(\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}', \widetilde{\alpha})$  and  $(\beta', \widetilde{\alpha})$  to a vector bundle  $\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}$  on  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,\mathcal{I}} \times_{\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}} \operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}^{\operatorname{perf}}$  with a descent datum  $\beta$  with respect to

$$\mathcal{Y}_{S,\mathcal{I}} \times_{\operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}} \operatorname{Spa} \mathcal{O}^{\operatorname{perf}} \to \mathcal{Y}_{S,\mathcal{I}}$$

Because  $\mathcal{O}$  is a direct summand of  $\mathcal{O}^{\text{perf}}$  as topological  $\mathcal{O}$ -modules, [40, Tag 08XA] and [40, Tag 08XD] enable us to descend  $(\widetilde{\mathscr{E}}, \beta)$  to a vector bundle  $\mathscr{E}$  on  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,\mathcal{I}}$ . This yields the desired result.

5.2. Next, we study the analogue of absolute Banach–Colmez spaces in our context. Let  $\lambda$  be a rational number, and write  $\lambda = \frac{c}{d}$  for coprime integers c and d such that d is positive. Write  $\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(\lambda)$  for the rank-d vector bundle on  $X_S$  given by descending  $\mathscr{O}_{Y_S}^{\oplus d}$  along  $Y_S \to X_S$  via

$$\begin{bmatrix} & & \pi^{-c} \\ 1 & & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & 1 \end{bmatrix} \circ \varphi^{\oplus d},$$

and write  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{O}(\lambda))$  for the presheaf of *E*-modules on  $\operatorname{Perf}_{\mathbb{F}_q}$  over  $\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}$  whose *S*-points equal  $H^0(X_S, \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(\lambda))$ . Since  $\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(\lambda)$  is compatible with base change in *S*, Proposition 5.1 implies that  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{O}(\lambda))$  is a v-sheaf.

**Proposition.** If  $\lambda$  is positive, then  $H^0(X_S, \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(\lambda))$  is naturally isomorphic to  $B_{S,[1,\infty]}^{\varphi^d=\pi^c}$ , and  $H^1(X_S, \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(\lambda))$  is zero.

*Proof.* By repeating the construction of E (except that in 2.1 we replace  $\mathbb{F}_q$  with  $\mathbb{F}_{q^d}$ , and we replace  $E_i$  with its corresponding unramified extension), we obtain a topological ring  $E^d$ . Write  $X_S(E^d)$  for the adic space associated with  $E^d$  as in 3.8. By construction, we have a degree d finite étale morphism  $X_S(E^d) \to X_S$  given by quotienting by  $\varphi$ , and  $\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(\lambda)$  is the pushforward of  $\mathscr{O}_{X_S(E^d)}(c)$ . Therefore Shapiro's lemma lets us assume, after replacing E with  $E^d$ , that  $\lambda = c$  is an integer.

Note that  $X_S$  is obtained from  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,[1,q]}$  by using  $\varphi$  to glue  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,[1,1]} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{Y}_{S,[q,q]}$ . Because the  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,\mathcal{I}}$  are affinoid, we see that  $R\Gamma(X_S, \mathcal{O}_{X_S}(c))$  is quasi-isomorphic to

$$B_{S,[1,q]} \xrightarrow{\varphi - \pi^c} B_{S,[1,1]}.$$

We claim that restriction yields a quasi-isomorphism to this complex from

$$B_{S,[1,\infty]} \xrightarrow{\varphi - \pi^c} B_{S,[1,\infty]}.$$

To see this, recall from 3.9 the topological ring  $W'(R^+)$ . Now  $\operatorname{Spa} W'(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}]$  is covered by the rational open subspaces

$$\{|\pi| \le |[\varpi]| \ne 0\}$$
 and  $\{|[\varpi]| \le |\pi| \ne 0\},\$ 

and the proof of Lemma 3.9.ii) shows that the global sections of the latter equals  $B_{S,[1,\infty]}$ . Arguing similarly shows that the global sections of the former equals  $B_{S,[0,1]}[\frac{1}{\pi}]$ , and the global sections of their intersection equals  $B_{S,[1,1]}$ . Using the two-sided  $\pi$ -adic expansions of elements of  $B_{S,[1,1]}$ , we see that the difference map  $B_{S,[0,1]}[\frac{1}{\pi}] \times B_{S,[1,\infty]} \to B_{S,[1,1]}$  is surjective, so Lemma 3.9.i) yields a short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow W(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}] \longrightarrow B_{S,[0,1]}[\frac{1}{\pi}] \times B_{S,[1,\infty]} \longrightarrow B_{S,[1,1]} \to 0.$$

Replacing  $\{|\pi| \le |[\varpi]| \ne 0\}$  with  $\{|\pi^q| \le |[\varpi]| \ne 0\}$  instead yields

$$0 \longrightarrow W(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}] \longrightarrow B_{S,[0,q]}[\frac{1}{\pi}] \times B_{S,[1,\infty]} \longrightarrow B_{S,[1,q]} \longrightarrow 0,$$

and  $\varphi - \pi^c$  induces a map from the bottom row to the top row. By the snake lemma, it suffices to see that the maps  $W(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}] \to W(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}]$  and  $B_{S,[0,q]} \to B_{S,[0,1]}$  are isomorphisms. Now  $\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \pi^{mc} \varphi^{-1-m}$  converges on  $W(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}]$  and  $B_{S,[0,1]}$ , which provides the inverse to  $\varphi - \pi^c$  on  $W(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}]$  and  $B_{S,[0,1]}$ . This yields the claim.

The claim yields the first statement. For the second statement, note that  $B_{S,[1,\infty]}$  is spanned by  $W(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}]$  and  $[\varpi]B_{S,[1,\infty]}$ , and the above work shows that  $W(R^+)[\frac{1}{\pi}]$  lies in the image of  $\varphi - \pi^c$ . Now  $-\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \pi^{(-1-m)c} \varphi^m$  converges on  $[\varpi]B_{S,[1,\infty]}$ , which implies that  $[\varpi]B_{S,[1,\infty]}$  also lies in the image of  $\varphi - \pi^c$ .  $\Box$ 

# 5.3. **Proposition.** Let $\lambda$ be a rational number.

- i) If  $\lambda$  is positive, then the morphism  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathcal{O}(\lambda)) \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  is representable in locally spatial diamonds, partially proper, and cohomologically smooth.
- ii) If  $\lambda$  is zero, then  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{O}(\lambda))$  is naturally isomorphic to  $\underline{\mathbb{E}}$ , and the pro-étale sheafification of the presheaf on  $\operatorname{Perf}_{\mathbb{F}_q}$  over  $\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}$  whose S-points equal  $H^1(X_S, \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(\lambda))$  is zero.
- iii) If  $\lambda$  is negative, then  $H^0(X_S, \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(\lambda))$  is zero.

*Proof.* The proof of Proposition 5.2 lets us assume that  $\lambda = c$  is an integer. Under the identification from Corollary 4.7.i), any pseudouniformizer of R yields an S-point  $\sigma$  of  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathcal{O}(1)) - \{0\}$ . By Proposition 4.11, we get a short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathscr{O}_{X_S} \xrightarrow{\sigma} \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(1) \longrightarrow \mathscr{O}_{S^{\sharp}} \longrightarrow 0$$

of sheaves on  $X_S$ , where  $S^{\sharp} \hookrightarrow X_S$  is the closed Cartier divisor from 3.14 associated with the image of  $\sigma$  under  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{O}(1)) - \{0\} \cong \operatorname{Spd} E^{\operatorname{LT}} \to \operatorname{Div}_Y^1 \to \operatorname{Div}_X^1$ . Since the pullback to  $Y_S$  of  $\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(1)$  is trivial, the same holds for  $S^{\sharp}$ , so twisting by  $\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(c)$ yields a short exact sequence

$$(\triangleright) \qquad \qquad 0 \longrightarrow \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(c) \xrightarrow{\sigma} \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(c+1) \longrightarrow \mathscr{O}_{S^{\sharp}} \longrightarrow 0.$$

First, suppose that c is positive. If c = 1, the result follows from the identification in Corollary 4.7.i). To inductively get the case of c+1 from the case of c, Proposition 5.2 shows that the long exact sequence induced by  $(\triangleright)$  yields a short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(c)) \longrightarrow \mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(c+1)) \longrightarrow (\mathbb{G}_{a,S^{\sharp}}^{\mathrm{an}})^{\Diamond} \longrightarrow 0,$$

where the morphism  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathcal{O}_{X_S}(c+1)) \to (\mathbb{G}_{a,S^{\sharp}}^{\mathrm{an}})^{\Diamond}$  is surjective on S-points. Because  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathcal{O}_{X_S}(c+1)) \to (\mathbb{G}_{a,S^{\sharp}}^{\mathrm{an}})^{\Diamond}$  is also a  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathcal{O}_{X_S}(c))$ -torsor, the result for  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathcal{O}_{X_S}(c))$  implies that  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathcal{O}_{X_S}(c+1)) \to (\mathbb{G}_{a,S^{\sharp}}^{\mathrm{an}})^{\Diamond}$  is representable in locally spatial diamonds,

#### SIYAN DANIEL LI-HUERTA

partially proper, and cohomologically smooth. Now  $(\mathbb{G}_{a,S^{\sharp}}^{\mathrm{an}})^{\diamond} \to S$  is a locally spatial diamond, partially proper, and cohomologically smooth, so [36, Proposition 23.13] shows that the same holds for the composition  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(c+1)) \to (\mathbb{G}_{a,S}^{\mathrm{an}})^{\diamond} \to S$ .

Next, suppose that c is zero. Then Proposition 5.2 shows that the long exact sequence induced by  $(\triangleright)$  yields an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow H^0(X_S, \mathscr{O}_{X_S}) \longrightarrow H^0(X_S, \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(1)) \longrightarrow R^{\sharp} \longrightarrow H^1(X_S, \mathscr{O}_{X_S}) \longrightarrow 0$$

and Corollary 4.7.iii) and Corollary 4.5 identify its first four terms with

$$0 \longrightarrow \varprojlim_{n} \Big(\bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{LT}_{E}[\pi^{m}]\Big)(S^{\sharp}) \longrightarrow \widetilde{\operatorname{LT}}(S^{\sharp}) \xrightarrow{\widetilde{\operatorname{log}}} R^{\sharp}.$$

Corollary 4.5 indicates that  $\log$  is pro-étale-locally surjective, so our exact sequence implies that the pro-étale sheafification of  $S \mapsto H^1(X_S, \mathscr{O}_{X_S})$  is zero. As for  $H^0(X_S, \mathscr{O}_{X_S})$ , Proposition 4.2 shows that  $\mathrm{LT}_E[\pi^m](S^{\sharp})$  is a pseudotorsor for  $\mathrm{Cont}_{\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}}(|S^{\sharp}|, \mathbb{O}_n)$ . Now  $\sigma$  induces a morphism  $S^{\sharp} \to \mathrm{Spa}\, E^{\mathrm{LT}} \to \mathrm{Spa}\, E^{\mathrm{LT},m}$ , so Proposition 4.2 also shows that this pseudotorsor is naturally trivial. Therefore the compactness of  $|S| = |S^{\sharp}|$  yields the desired description

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \Big(\bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{LT}_{E}[\pi^{m}]\Big)(S^{\sharp}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} \operatorname{Cont}_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}(|S|, \mathbb{O}_{n}) = \operatorname{Cont}_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}(|S|, \mathbb{E}).$$

Finally, suppose that c is negative. Then the long exact sequence induced by  $(\triangleright)$  yields an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow H^0(X_S, \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(c)) \longrightarrow H^0(X_S, \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(c+1)) \longrightarrow R^{\sharp}$$

so if c = -1, the result follows from part ii) and the injectivity of  $\underline{\mathbb{E}} \to (\mathbb{G}_{a,S^{\sharp}}^{\mathrm{an}})^{\diamond}$ . This exact sequence also indicates that the case of c + 1 implies the case of c.  $\Box$ 

5.4. To extend our discussion to general Banach–Colmez spaces, we use the following ampleness result for  $\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(1)$ .

**Proposition.** Let  $\mathscr{E}$  be a vector bundle on  $X_S$ . Then there are positive integers c and m such that there exists a surjective morphism  $\mathcal{O}_{X_S}(-c)^{\oplus m} \twoheadrightarrow \mathscr{E}$ .

*Proof.* After replacing the usual Witt vectors with our Witt vectors, the proof proceeds as in [14, Theorem II.2.6] verbatim.  $\Box$ 

5.5. Note that  $\mathbb{O}^{\times} = \varprojlim_n \mathbb{O}_n^{\times}$  is profinite, and the morphism  $\mathbb{Z} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}) \to \mathbb{E}^{\times}$  of group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  arising from  $\pi$  induces an isomorphism

$$\left[\mathbb{Z} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})\right] \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \mathbb{O}^{\times} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{E}^{\times}.$$

We now consider the analogue of projectivized Banach–Colmez spaces in our context. For all vector bundles  $\mathscr{E}$  on  $X_S$ , Proposition 5.3.ii) shows that  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{E})$  is naturally an  $\underline{\mathbb{E}}$ -module over S.

**Corollary.** The morphism  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{E}) \to S$  is representable in locally spatial diamonds and partially proper. Moreover, the morphism  $(\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{E}) - \{0\})/\underline{\mathbb{E}^{\times}} \to S$  is representable in spatial diamonds and proper.

*Proof.* Applying Proposition 5.4 twice yields an exact sequence

$$\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(-c_2)^{\oplus m_2} \longrightarrow \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(-c_1)^{\oplus m_1} \longrightarrow \mathscr{E}^{\vee} \longrightarrow 0$$

of sheaves on  $X_S$ , where the  $c_1, c_2, m_1, m_2$  are positive integers. From here, taking duals and global sections yields an exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{E}) \longrightarrow \mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(c_1))^{\oplus m_1} \longrightarrow \mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(c_2))^{\oplus m_2}.$$

Now  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathcal{O}_{X_S}(c_2))^{\oplus m_2} \to S$  is separated by Proposition 5.3.i), so its zero section is a closed embedding. Hence our exact sequence implies that  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{E}) \to \mathcal{BC}(\mathcal{O}_{X_S}(c_1))^{\oplus m_1}$  is a closed embedding. Proposition 5.3.i) indicates that  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathcal{O}_{X_S}(c_1))^{\oplus m_1} \to S$  is representable in locally spatial diamonds and partially proper, so this shows that the same holds for the composition  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{E}) \to \mathcal{BC}(\mathcal{O}_{X_S}(c_1))^{\oplus m_1} \to S$ .

We turn to the second statement. We claim that  $|\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{E})|$  and the automorphism arising from  $\pi$  satisfy the conditions in [14, Lemma II.2.17]. The first paragraph is satisfied by [14, Remark II.2.18], and since  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{E})$  is a closed subspace and subsheaf of *E*-modules of  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(c_1))^{\oplus m_1}$ , it suffices to check conditions (i)–(ii) for  $|\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(c_1))^{\oplus m_1}|$ . The proof of Proposition 5.3.i) identifies  $\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(c_1))$  with an iterated extension of  $(\widetilde{\mathrm{LT}} \times_{\mathrm{Spa} \mathcal{O}/\pi} S)^{\diamond}$  and  $(\mathbb{G}_{a,S^{\sharp}}^{\mathrm{an}})^{\diamond}$ , which themselves satisfy conditions (i)–(ii). This yields the claim.

Because the fixed point locus of  $\pi$  is precisely the zero section, the claim and [14, Lemma II.2.17] imply that

$$(\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{E}) - \{0\})/\pi^{\mathbb{Z}} = (\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{E}) - \{0\})/\underline{\mathbb{Z} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})}$$

is a spatial diamond. Note that  $\underline{\mathbb{O}^{\times}}$  acts freely on  $(\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{E}) - \{0\})/\underline{\mathbb{Z} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})}$  over S, so [36, Remark 11.25] shows that

$$\frac{\left((\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{E}) - \{0\}) / \underline{\mathbb{Z} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})}\right) / \underline{\mathbb{O}^{\times}} = (\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{E}) - \{0\}) / \underline{[\mathbb{Z} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})] \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \underline{\mathbb{O}^{\times}}}{= (\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{E}) - \{0\}) / \underline{\mathbb{E}^{\times}}}$$

is a spatial diamond. Finally, we see that  $(\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{E}) - \{0\})/\underline{\mathbb{E}^{\times}} \to S$  remains partially proper, so [36, Proposition 18.3] indicates that it is proper, as desired.  $\Box$ 

5.6. Let us recall the notion of Harder–Narasimhan polygons. Let  $\mathscr{E}$  be a vector bundle on  $X_S$ . For any geometric point  $\overline{s}$  of S, the image of  $\overline{s}$  in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  equals  $\{i\}$  for some i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , so Proposition 3.7 and [14, Theorem II.2.14] imply that  $\mathscr{E}|_{X_{\overline{s}}}$  is isomorphic to

$$\mathscr{O}_{X_{\overline{s}}}(\lambda_1) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathscr{O}_{X_{\overline{s}}}(\lambda_r)$$

for some rational numbers  $\lambda_1 \geq \cdots \geq \lambda_r$ . For all  $1 \leq j \leq r$ , write  $d_j$  for the rank of  $\mathscr{O}_{X_{\overline{s}}}(\lambda_j)$ .

**Definition.** The Harder–Narasimhan polygon of  $\mathscr{E}$  is the function

$$p_{\mathscr{E}}: |S| \to \{\text{convex polygons in } \mathbb{R}^2\}$$

sending  $\overline{s}$  to the polygon with vertices given by

$$(0,0), (d_1,d_1\lambda_1), \ldots, (d_1+\cdots+d_r,d_1\lambda_1+\cdots+d_r\lambda_r).$$

5.7. As usual, the properness of projectivized Banach–Colmez spaces has the following consequence for Harder–Narasimhan polygons.

**Proposition.** Let  $\mathscr{E}$  be a vector bundle on  $X_S$ .

- i) The function  $p_{\mathscr{E}}$  is upper semicontinuous.
- ii) If  $p_{\mathscr{E}}$  is constant, then there exists a decreasing filtration  $\{\mathscr{E}^{\geq\lambda}\}_{\lambda\in\mathbb{Q}}$  of  $\mathscr{E}$  such that, for all geometric points  $\overline{s}$  of S, the pullback  $\{\mathscr{E}^{\geq\lambda}|_{X_{\overline{s}}}\}_{\lambda\in\mathbb{Q}}$  equals the Harder–Narasimhan filtration of  $\mathscr{E}|_{X_{\overline{s}}}$ . Moreover, there exists an affinoid perfectoid v-cover  $S' \to S$  such that, for all rational numbers  $\lambda$ , there is a non-negative integer m and an isomorphism

$$\left( \mathscr{E}^{\geq \lambda} / \bigcup_{\lambda' > \lambda} \mathscr{E}^{\geq \lambda'} \right) \Big|_{X_{S'}} \cong \mathscr{O}_{X_{S'}}(\lambda)^{\oplus m}.$$

*Proof.* For part i), after replacing S with a clopen cover, we can assume that  $\mathscr{E}$  has constant rank d. Note that  $p_{\mathscr{E}}(\overline{s})$  equals the convex hull of

 $\{(j,m)\in\mathbb{Z}^2\mid 0\leq j\leq d \text{ and } H^0(X_{\overline{s}},(\bigwedge^j\mathscr{E})\otimes\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(-m)\big|_{X_{\overline{s}}}) \text{ is nonzero}\},$ 

so it suffices to show that, for all vector bundles  $\mathscr{F}$  on  $X_S$ ,

 $\{\overline{s} \in |S| \mid H^0(X_{\overline{s}}, \mathscr{F}|_{X_{\overline{s}}}) \text{ is nonzero}\}$ 

is a closed subset of |S|. Now the latter equals equals the image of the morphism  $(\mathcal{BC}(\mathscr{F}) - \{0\})/\underline{\mathbb{E}^{\times}} \to S$ , which is proper by Corollary 5.5. Hence its image is indeed a closed subset of |S|.

For part ii), suppose that  $p_{\mathscr{E}}$  is the polygon with vertices given by

$$(0,0), (d_1, d_1\lambda_1), \ldots, (d_1 + \cdots + d_r, d_1\lambda_1 + \cdots + d_r\lambda_r)$$

for some rational numbers  $\lambda_1 \geq \cdots \geq \lambda_r$ . We claim that there exists an affinoid perfectoid v-cover  $S' \to S$  and an isomorphism

$$\mathscr{E}|_{X_{S'}} \cong \mathscr{O}_{X_{S'}}(\lambda_1) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathscr{O}_{X_{S'}}(\lambda_r).$$

To see this, consider the vector bundle  $\mathscr{F} := \mathscr{H}om(\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(\lambda_1),\mathscr{E})$  on  $X_S$ . The morphism  $(\mathscr{BC}(\mathscr{F}) - \{0\})/\underline{\mathbb{E}}^{\times} \to S$  is quasicompact by Corollary 5.5, and by assumption it is surjective on geometric points. Therefore [36, Lemma 12.11] indicates that  $(\mathscr{BC}(\mathscr{F}) - \{0\})/\underline{\mathbb{E}}^{\times} \to S$  is a v-cover. Since  $\mathscr{BC}(\mathscr{F}) - \{0\} \to (\mathscr{BC}(\mathscr{F}) - \{0\})/\underline{\mathbb{E}}^{\times}$  is also a v-cover, we see that, after replacing S with a v-cover, there exists a morphism  $\sigma : \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(\lambda_1) \to \mathscr{E}$  whose pullbacks to geometric points  $\overline{s}$  of S are nonzero. Because  $\mathscr{O}_{X_S}(-\lambda_1)$  is irreducible, checking on geometric points  $\overline{s}$  of S shows that  $\sigma^{\vee} : \mathscr{E}^{\vee} \to \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(\lambda_1)^{\vee} = \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(-\lambda_1)$  is surjective, so  $\sigma$  is injective and has a vector bundle cokernel. By induction on  $\mathrm{rk}\,\mathscr{E}$ , after replacing S with a v-cover, we have an isomorphism coker  $\sigma \cong \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(\lambda_2) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(\lambda_r)$ . The resulting extension

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(\lambda_1) \xrightarrow{\sigma} \mathscr{E} \longrightarrow \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(\lambda_2) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathscr{O}_{X_S}(\lambda_r) \longrightarrow 0$$

splits after replacing S with a pro-étale cover by Proposition 5.2 and Proposition 5.3.ii). This yields the claim.

Let  $S' \to S$  be as in the claim, and for all rational numbers  $\lambda$ , write  $\mathscr{E}'^{\geq \lambda}$  for the sub-bundle  $\bigoplus_{\lambda_j \geq \lambda} \mathscr{O}_{X_{S'}}(\lambda_j)$  of  $\mathscr{E}|_{X_{S'}} \cong \mathscr{O}_{X_{S'}}(\lambda_1) \oplus \cdots \oplus \mathscr{O}_{X_{S'}}(\lambda_r)$ . Note that  $\mathscr{E}|_{X_{S'}}$  has a descent datum  $\alpha$  with respect to  $X_{S'} \to X_S$ . Proposition 5.3.iii) implies that  $\alpha$  preserves the sub-bundles  $\mathscr{E}'^{\geq \lambda}$ , so Proposition 5.1 enables us to descend  $(\mathscr{E}'^{\geq \lambda}, \alpha)$  to a sub-bundle  $\mathscr{E}^{\geq \lambda}$  of  $\mathscr{E}$ . By construction,  $\mathscr{E}^{\geq \lambda}$  satisfies the desired properties.  $\Box$  5.8. We conclude this section by using Proposition 5.7 to prove the analogue of [26, Theorem 8.5.12] in our more general setting.

Corollary. We have an exact tensor equivalence of categories

$$\{\text{pro-étale } \underline{\mathbb{E}}\text{-local systems on } S\} \xrightarrow{\sim} \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \text{vector bundles } \mathscr{E} \text{ on } X_S \\ \text{with slope-zero } p_{\mathscr{E}} \end{array} \right\}$$

given by  $\mathbb{L} \mapsto \mathbb{L} \otimes_{\underline{\mathbb{E}}} \mathscr{O}_{X_S}$ .

*Proof.* Note that  $-\otimes_{\mathbb{E}} \mathscr{O}_{X_S}$  preserves tensor products and duals. Therefore internal homs let us reduce full faithfulness to proving that, for all pro-étale  $\underline{\mathbb{E}}$ -local systems  $\mathbb{L}$  on S, the map  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\underline{\mathbb{E}}}(\underline{\mathbb{E}}, \mathbb{L}) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathscr{O}_{X_S}}(\mathscr{O}_{X_S}, \mathbb{L} \otimes_{\underline{\mathbb{E}}} \mathscr{O}_{X_S})$  is a bijection. Now  $\mathbb{L}$  is trivial after replacing S with a pro-étale cover,  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\underline{\mathbb{E}}}(\underline{\mathbb{E}}, \mathbb{L})$  satisfies pro-étale descent on S, and  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathscr{O}_{X_S}}(\mathscr{O}_{X_S}, \mathbb{L} \otimes_{\underline{\mathbb{E}}} \mathscr{O}_{X_S})$  satisfies pro-étale descent on S by Proposition 5.1. Hence we can assume that  $\mathbb{L} = \underline{\mathbb{E}}$ , where the result follows from Proposition 5.3.ii).

For essential surjectivity, let  $\mathscr{E}$  be a vector bundle on  $X_S$  with slope-zero  $p_{\mathscr{E}}$ . After replacing S with a clopen cover, we can assume that  $\mathscr{E}$  has constant rank d. Then Proposition 5.1 and Proposition 5.3.ii) indicate that the presheaf  $\widetilde{S}$  on  $\operatorname{Perf}_{\mathbb{F}_q}$ over S whose S'-points equal  $\operatorname{Iso}(\mathscr{E}|_{X_{S'}}, \mathscr{O}_{X_{S'}}^{\oplus d})$  is a pseudotorsor for  $\operatorname{GL}_d(\underline{\mathbb{E}}) =$  $\operatorname{GL}_d(\underline{\mathbb{E}})$ , and Proposition 5.7.ii) shows that  $\widetilde{S}$  is a torsor. Proposition 6.5 and Proposition 6.3 indicate that  $\operatorname{GL}_d(\mathbb{E})$  is letd over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , so Lemma 4.12 shows that  $\widetilde{S} \to S$  is a pro-étale cover. This yields an affinoid perfectoid pro-étale cover  $S' \to S$  and an isomorphism  $\mathscr{E}|_{X_{S'}} \cong \mathscr{O}_{X_{S'}}^{\oplus d}$ . By full faithfulness, the resulting descent datum on  $\mathscr{O}_{X_{S'}}^{\oplus d}$  with respect to  $X_{S'} \to X_S$  induces a descent datum  $\alpha$  on  $\underline{\mathbb{E}}^{\oplus d}$  with respect to  $S' \to S$ , and  $(\underline{\mathbb{E}}^{\oplus d}, \alpha)$  descends to the desired pro-étale  $\underline{\mathbb{E}}$ -local system on S.

#### 6. Reductive groups in families

In this section, we study p-adic groups over E. We start with some recollections about Chevalley groups over  $\mathbb{Z}$ . Then we combine this with results from §2 to spread out quasisplit connected reductive groups over  $E_{\infty}$  to reductive group schemes Gover E. Using a construction from §1, the latter yields a group topological space  $G(\mathbb{E})$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , which we show is let over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  as in Definition 1.2. We also define the analogue  $\mathbb{K}^n$  of congruence subgroups of  $G(\mathbb{E})$ , and we prove that

$$\underline{\operatorname{End}}_{G(\mathbb{E})}(\operatorname{c-Ind}_{\mathbb{K}^n}^{G(\mathbb{E})}\underline{\Lambda})$$

is isomorphic to the constant sheaf  $\underline{\mathcal{H}(G_{\infty}(E_{\infty}),\mathbb{K}_{\infty}^{n})_{\Lambda}}$  in a way that recovers Ganapathy's isomorphism on stalks.

Next, we turn to the study of G-bundles on  $X_S$ . After proving a Tannakian description of G-torsors, we define the moduli stack

$$\operatorname{Bun}_G \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$$

of *G*-bundles on  $X_S$ . Using results from §5, we prove that the locus  $\operatorname{Bun}_G^1 \subseteq \operatorname{Bun}_G$  of trivial *G*-bundles is open, and that  $\operatorname{Bun}_G^1$  is isomorphic to the classifying stack of  $G(\mathbb{E})$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Finally, we prove an invariance property of  $D_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Bun}_G, \Lambda)$  when base changing to  $\operatorname{Bun}_G \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \operatorname{Spd} C$ , by reducing to the situation considered in Fargues–Scholze [14].

6.1. Let  $(G^{\mathrm{s}}, T^{\mathrm{s}}, X^{*}(T^{\mathrm{s}}), \Delta, \{x_{\widetilde{a}}\}_{\widetilde{a} \in \Delta})$  be a pinned split connected reductive group over  $\mathbb{Z}$  as in [9, Definition 6.1.1], and recall that the global sections  $\mathcal{O}_{G^{\mathrm{s}}}$  of  $G^{\mathrm{s}}$  is a free  $\mathbb{Z}$ -module [6, 4.9]. Write  $B^{\mathrm{s}}$  for the Borel subgroup of  $G^{\mathrm{s}}$  associated with the base  $\Delta$ , and note that  $\mathcal{O}_{B^{\mathrm{s}}}$  is also a free  $\mathbb{Z}$ -module.

Let  $\delta: \Gamma_{\infty} \to \operatorname{Aut}(G^{\operatorname{s}}, T^{\operatorname{s}}, X^{*}(T^{\operatorname{s}}), \Delta, \{x_{\widetilde{a}}\}_{\widetilde{a} \in \Delta})$  be a continuous homomorphism, and write  $F_{\infty}/E_{\infty}$  for the finite Galois extension such that  $\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})$  is the image of  $\delta$ . Descending  $(G^{\operatorname{s}}_{F_{\infty}}, T^{\operatorname{s}}_{F_{\infty}}, B^{\operatorname{s}}_{F_{\infty}}, \{x_{\widetilde{a}}\}_{\widetilde{a} \in \Delta})$  along the étale  $\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})$ torsor Spec  $F_{\infty} \to \operatorname{Spec} E_{\infty}$  via  $\delta$  yields a quasisplit connected reductive group  $G_{\infty}$ over  $E_{\infty}$  with a pinning  $(B_{\infty}, T_{\infty}, \{x_{\widetilde{a}}\}_{\widetilde{a} \in \Delta})$  over  $E_{\infty}$  as in [24, Definition 2.9.1]. Recall that every quasisplit connected reductive group over  $E_{\infty}$  arises this way for a uniquely determined  $\delta$  (up to conjugation).

6.2. We now spread out  $G_{\infty}$  to a connected reductive group over E as follows. Let n be a positive integer such that the image of  $I_{\infty}^n$  in  $\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})$  is trivial. For the rest of this paper, assume that  $e_i \ge n$  for all i in  $\mathbb{N}$ . Recall from 2.10 the function  $\psi : [-1, \infty) \to [-1, \infty)$ , the finite Galois extensions  $F_i/E_i$ , the finite étale E-algebra F, and the ring topological spaces  $\mathbb{O}_{\mathbb{F},n}$ ,  $\mathbb{O}_{\mathbb{F}}$ , and  $\mathbb{F}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

Corollary 2.9 implies that Spec  $F \to \text{Spec } E$  is an étale  $\text{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})$ -torsor. Therefore descending  $(G_F^s, T_F^s, B_F^s, \{x_{\tilde{a}}\}_{\tilde{a}\in\Delta})$  along Spec  $F \to \text{Spec } E$  via  $\delta$  yields a connected reductive group G over E, a maximal subtorus T of G, a Borel subgroup Bof G containing T, and generators  $x_{\tilde{a}}$  of the rank-1 free F-module (Lie  $G_F)_{\tilde{a}}$  for all  $\tilde{a}$  in  $\Delta$ .

For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $(G_i, T_i, B_i, \{x_{\widetilde{a}}\}_{\widetilde{a} \in \Delta})$  for the base change to  $E_i$  of  $(G, T, B, \{x_{\widetilde{a}}\}_{\widetilde{a} \in \Delta})$ . Then  $G_i$  and  $(B_i, T_i, \{x_{\widetilde{a}}\}_{\widetilde{a} \in \Delta})$  are the objects associated with  $G_{\infty}$  and  $(B_{\infty}, T_{\infty}, \{x_{\widetilde{a}}\}_{\widetilde{a} \in \Delta})$  as in A.5. In particular, when  $i = \infty$  this agrees with the notation of 6.1.

6.3. By Proposition 1.20, the affine group G over  $E = \mathbb{E}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$  induces a group topological space  $G(\mathbb{E})$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

**Proposition.** The group topological space  $G(\mathbb{E})$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  is Hausdorff, locally profinite, and satisfies Definition 1.2.b).

*Proof.* Since  $\mathbb{E}$  is Hausdorff, the same holds for  $G(\mathbb{E})$ . Similarly, because G is of finite type over E and  $\mathbb{E}$  is locally profinite, the same holds for  $G(\mathbb{E})$ .

We turn to Definition 1.2.b). Let *i* be in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , and note that the fiber  $G(\mathbb{E})_i$  is  $G(E_i)$ . Moreover, the evaluation map  $\operatorname{ev}_i : \varinjlim_U G(\mathbb{E})(U) \to G(\mathbb{E})_i$ , where *U* runs over compact neighborhoods of *i*, equals the composition

$$\lim_{U} G(\mathbb{E})(U) = \lim_{U} G(\mathbb{E}(U)) \to G(\mathscr{O}_{\operatorname{Spa} E,i}) \to G(E_i) = G(\mathbb{E})_i,$$

where the first equality follows from Proposition 1.20. The first arrow is an isomorphism because  $\mathscr{O}_{\operatorname{Spa} E,i} = \varinjlim_U \mathbb{E}(U)$  and G is of finite presentation over E. The second arrow is surjective because  $E_i$  is the residue field of  $\mathscr{O}_{\operatorname{Spa} E,i}$ , the latter is henselian [26, Lemma 2.4.17 (a)], and G is smooth over E.

6.4. To construct our family of congruence subgroups over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , we use Theorem A.6. For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $\mathcal{B}(G_i/E_i)$  for the (reduced) building of  $G_i$ over  $E_i$ , and write  $o_i$  for the vertex in  $\mathcal{B}(G_i/E_i)$  corresponding to the adjusted Chevalley valuation associated with the pinning  $(B_i, T_i, \{x_{\tilde{a}}\}_{\tilde{a} \in \Delta})$  over  $E_i$ . Write  $\mathcal{K}_i$  for the smooth affine model of  $G_i$  over  $\mathcal{O}_i$  such that  $\mathcal{K}_i(\mathcal{O}_i) \subseteq G_i(E_i)$  equals the open compact subgroup  $G_i(E_i)_{o_i}^1$  [24, Proposition 8.3.1], which is maximal. Let *n* be a positive integer. For large enough *i*, Theorem A.6 indicates that our isomorphism  $\operatorname{Tr}_{e_i}(E_i) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_{e_i}(E_{\infty})$  induces an isomorphism  $(\mathcal{K}_i)_{\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n} \cong (\mathcal{K}_{\infty})_{\mathcal{O}_{\infty}/\mathfrak{p}_{\infty}^n}$  of groups over  $\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n \cong \mathcal{O}_{\infty}/\mathfrak{p}_{\infty}^n$ .

**Definition.** Recall from 2.2 our presentation of  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

a) Let n be a positive integer. Write  $\mathbb{K}_n$  for the group topological space over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  given by  $\lim_{n \to \infty} dn$  of the discrete group topological spaces

$$\left(\coprod_{i\leq d}\mathcal{K}_i(\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n)\right)\coprod\mathcal{K}_\infty(\mathcal{O}_\infty/\mathfrak{p}_\infty^n)$$

over  $\{i \in \mathbb{N} \mid i \leq d\} \cup \{\infty\}$ , where, for large enough d, the transition map

$$\Big(\coprod_{i\leq d+1}\mathcal{K}_i(\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n)\Big)\coprod\mathcal{K}_\infty(\mathcal{O}_\infty/\mathfrak{p}_\infty^n)\to\Big(\coprod_{i\leq d}\mathcal{K}_i(\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n)\Big)\coprod\mathcal{K}_\infty(\mathcal{O}_\infty/\mathfrak{p}_\infty^n)$$

sends  $\mathcal{K}_{d+1}(\mathcal{O}_{d+1}/\mathfrak{p}_{d+1}^n)$  to  $\mathcal{K}_{\infty}(\mathcal{O}_{\infty}/\mathfrak{p}_{\infty}^n)$  via the isomorphism

$$(\mathcal{K}_{d+1})_{\mathcal{O}_{d+1}/\mathfrak{p}_{d+1}^n} \cong (\mathcal{K}_\infty)_{\mathcal{O}_\infty/\mathfrak{p}_\infty^n}$$

(since d is large enough) and equals the identity otherwise.

- b) Write  $\mathbb{K}$  for the group topological space over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  given by  $\varprojlim_n \mathbb{K}_n$ , where *n* runs over positive integers, and the transition map  $\mathbb{K}_{n+1} \to \mathbb{K}_n$  is induced from reduction mod  $\pi_i^n$ .
- c) Write  $\mathbb{K}^n$  for the kernel of  $\mathbb{K} \to \mathbb{K}_n$ .

Note that  $\mathbb{K}_n$  is finite locally constant over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , so  $\mathbb{K}$  is profinite. Moreover,  $\{\mathbb{K}^n\}_{n\geq 1}$  forms a family of compact open group subspaces of  $\mathbb{K}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  satisfying Definition 1.2.a). We see that  $\mathbb{K}$  also satisfies Definition 1.2.b), so it is let dover  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

6.5. For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , note that the fiber  $\mathbb{K}_i$  is  $\mathcal{K}_i(\mathcal{O}_i)$ . Write  $\iota : \mathbb{K} \to G(\mathbb{E})$  for the map over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  whose fiber at i equals the inclusion  $\mathcal{K}_i(\mathcal{O}_i) \subseteq G(E_i)$ .

**Proposition.** The map  $\iota$  is an open embedding of group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Consequently,  $G(\mathbb{E})$  satisfies Definition 1.2.a), so it is let over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

*Proof.* Because  $G^{s}$  is of finite type over  $\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\mathbb{O}_{\mathbb{F}}$  is an open ring topological subspace of  $\mathbb{F}$ , Proposition 1.20 yields an open embedding  $G^{s}(\mathbb{O}_{\mathbb{F}}) \hookrightarrow G^{s}(\mathbb{F})$  of group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Endow  $G^{s}(\mathbb{F})$  with the action of  $\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})$  arising from  $\delta$  and Proposition 1.20. Then taking  $\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})$ -invariants yields an open embedding

$$G^{\mathrm{s}}(\mathbb{O}_{\mathbb{F}})^{\mathrm{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})} \hookrightarrow G^{\mathrm{s}}(\mathbb{F})^{\mathrm{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})} = G(\mathbb{E})$$

of group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , we claim that there exists a natural morphism

$$\mathcal{K}_i \to \mathcal{R}_{\mathcal{O}_{F_i}/\mathcal{O}_i}(G^{s}_{\mathcal{O}_{F_i}})$$

of groups over  $\mathcal{O}_i$  such that the resulting diagram



commutes. To see this, consider the image of  $o_i$  in  $\mathcal{B}(G_i/F_i)$ . Note that  $G^s_{\mathcal{O}_{F_i}}$  is the smooth affine model of  $(G_i)_{F_i}$  over  $\mathcal{O}_{F_i}$  such that  $G^s(\mathcal{O}_{F_i}) \subseteq G_i(F_i)$  equals  $G_i(F_i)_{o_i}^1$ . Now  $\mathcal{K}_i(\mathcal{O}_i)$  equals the intersection of  $G_i(E_i)$  with  $G_i(F_i)_{o_i}^1$ , so  $\mathcal{K}_i$  is the smoothening as in [24, Definition A.6.3] of the Zariski closure of  $G_i$  in  $\mathbb{R}_{\mathcal{O}_{F_i}/\mathcal{O}_i}(G^s_{\mathcal{O}_{F_i}})$ . This yields the claim.

Because Proposition 1.20 is compatible with inverse limits in R and S, we have

$$G^{\mathrm{s}}(\mathbb{O}_{\mathbb{F}}) = \varprojlim_{n} G^{\mathrm{s}}(\mathbb{O}_{\mathbb{F},n}) = \varprojlim_{n} \varprojlim_{d} \left[ \left( \coprod_{i \leq d} G^{\mathrm{s}}(\mathcal{O}_{F_{i}}/\mathfrak{p}_{F_{i}}^{n}) \right) \coprod G^{\mathrm{s}}(\mathcal{O}_{F_{\infty}}/\mathfrak{p}_{F_{\infty}}^{n}) \right]$$

as group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , the claim induces a homomorphism  $\mathcal{K}_i(\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n) \to G^{\mathrm{s}}(\mathcal{O}_{F_i}/\mathfrak{p}_{F_i}^n)$ , so taking  $\varprojlim_n \varprojlim_d \coprod_{\{i \leq d\} \cup \{\infty\}}$  yields a morphism  $\mathbb{K} \to G^{\mathrm{s}}(\mathbb{O}_{\mathbb{F}})$  of group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . By checking on fibers, the above work shows that the image of this map is  $G^{\mathrm{s}}(\mathbb{O}_{\mathbb{F}})^{\mathrm{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})}$ . Moreover, we see that the composition

$$\mathbb{K} \to G^{\mathrm{s}}(\mathbb{O}_{\mathbb{F}})^{\mathrm{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})} \hookrightarrow G(\mathbb{E})$$

equals  $\iota$ , so  $\iota$  is a morphism of group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Finally, since  $\mathbb{K}$  is compact and  $G(\mathbb{E})$  is Hausdorff,  $\iota$  is a homeomorphism onto its image. We already saw that this image is the open subspace  $G^{s}(\mathbb{O}_{\mathbb{F}})^{\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})}$ .

6.6. We have the following version of the valuation map for  $T(\check{\mathbb{E}})$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Recall from 2.11 the *E*-algebra  $\check{E}$ , as well as the ring topological spaces  $\check{\mathbb{O}}$  and  $\check{\mathbb{E}}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Note that the pullback to Spec *F* of  $\underline{\mathrm{Hom}}(T, \mathbb{G}_m)$  is naturally  $\mathrm{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})$ -equivariantly isomorphic to the constant  $\mathbb{Z}$ -local system with fiber  $X^*(T_{\infty})$ , so elements of  $X^*(T_{\infty})^{\Gamma_{\infty}}$  induce morphisms  $T \to \mathbb{G}_m$  of groups over *E*. Similarly, elements of  $X^*(T_{\infty})^{I_{\infty}}$  induce morphisms  $T_{\check{E}} \to \mathbb{G}_m$  of groups over  $\check{E}$ , and elements of  $X_*(T_{\infty})$  induce morphisms  $\mathbb{G}_m \to T_{\check{F}}$  of groups over  $\check{F}$ .

For all compact open subsets U of  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  and f in  $T(\mathbb{E})(U)$ , write

$$v(f): X^*(T_\infty)^{I_\infty} \to \underline{\mathbb{Z}}(U)$$

for the map that sends  $\omega$  in  $X^*(T_\infty)^{I_\infty}$  to the composition

$$U \xrightarrow{f} T(\breve{\mathbb{E}}) \xrightarrow{\omega(\breve{\mathbb{E}})} \breve{\mathbb{E}}^{\times} \xrightarrow{v} \mathbb{Z} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}).$$

Note this yields a morphism  $v: T(\check{\mathbb{E}}) \to \underline{\operatorname{Hom}(X^*(T_{\infty})^{I_{\infty}}, \mathbb{Z})}$  of abelian sheaves on  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Identify  $\operatorname{Hom}(X^*(T_{\infty})^{I_{\infty}}, \mathbb{Z})$  with the  $\mathbb{Z}$ -torsionfree quotient  $X_*(T_{\infty})_{I_{\infty}, \operatorname{tf}}$  of  $X_*(T_{\infty})_{I_{\infty}}$ .

Write  $T(\check{\mathbb{E}})^1$  for the subspace of  $T(\check{\mathbb{E}})$  whose fiber at i equals  $T_i(\check{E}_i)^1$ , and write  $T(\mathbb{E})^1$  for the subspace of  $T(\mathbb{E})$  whose fiber at i equals  $T_i(E_i)^1$ . Proposition 6.5 shows that  $T(\mathbb{E})^1$  is an open group topological subspace of  $T(\mathbb{E})$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Similarly, arguing as in the proof of Proposition 6.5 shows that  $T(\check{\mathbb{E}})^1$  is an open group topological subspace of  $T(\check{\mathbb{E}})$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

**Lemma.** The morphism v induces an isomorphism

$$v: T(\check{\mathbb{E}})/T(\check{\mathbb{E}})^1 \xrightarrow{\sim} X_*(T_\infty)_{I_\infty, \mathrm{tf}}$$

of abelian sheaves on  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Moreover, v restricts to an isomorphism

 $v: T(\mathbb{E})/T(\mathbb{E})^1 \xrightarrow{\sim} (X_*(T_\infty)_{I_\infty, \mathrm{tf}})^{\varphi_\infty}.$ 

*Proof.* By using Proposition 1.4 to check on stalks, the first statement follows from [24, Corollary 11.6.2], and the second one follows from [24, Corollary 11.7.6].  $\Box$ 

6.7. In A.8, we compare elements of  $T(\mathbb{E})_i$  for different values of i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . To carry out this comparison compatibly over all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , we proceed as follows.

Choose a uniformizer  $\pi_{F_{\infty}}$  of  $F_{\infty}$ . For all i in  $\mathbb{N}$ , choose a uniformizer  $\pi_{F_i}$  of  $F_i$ whose image in  $\mathcal{O}_{F_i}/\mathfrak{p}_{F_i}^{\psi(e_i)} \cong \mathcal{O}_{F_{\infty}}/\mathfrak{p}_{F_{\infty}}^{\psi(e_i)}$  equals the image of  $\pi_{F_{\infty}}$ , and write  $\pi_F$ for the continuous section of  $\mathbb{F} \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  whose value on i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  equals  $\pi_{F_i}$ .

Choose a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -basis  $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_r$  of  $X_*(T_\infty)_{I_\infty, \text{tf}}$ , and choose representatives  $\tilde{\mu}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\mu}_r$ in  $X_*(T_\infty)$  of the  $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_r$ . Consider the morphism of abelian group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ 

$$\breve{\nabla}: X_*(T_\infty)_{I_\infty, \mathrm{tf}} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}) \to T(\breve{\mathbb{E}})$$

that sends the constant section  $\mu_j$  to  $\operatorname{Nm}_{\check{F}/\check{E}}(\widetilde{\mu}_j \circ \pi_F)$  for all  $1 \leq j \leq r$ . By checking on fibers, we see that  $\check{\nabla}$  is a section of the composition

$$T(\check{\mathbb{E}}) \longrightarrow T(\check{\mathbb{E}})/T(\check{\mathbb{E}})^1 \xrightarrow{v} X_*(T_\infty)_{I_\infty, \text{tf}} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}).$$

Lemma 6.6 implies that this composition is a surjective morphism of abelian group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  with kernel  $T(\check{\mathbb{E}})^1$ , so  $\check{\nabla}$  induces an isomorphism of group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ 

$$\left[X_*(T_\infty)_{I_\infty,\mathrm{tf}} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})\right] \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} T(\breve{\mathbb{E}})^1 \xrightarrow{\sim} T(\breve{\mathbb{E}}).$$

6.8. Let  $\Lambda$  be a ring, and recall the notation of Definition 1.5, Definition 1.9, and Definition 1.17. For the rest of this paper, assume that  $e_i$  is large enough as in Theorem A.13 for all i in  $\mathbb{N}$ . For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , Theorem A.13 indicates that our isomorphism  $\operatorname{Tr}_{e_i}(E_i) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_{e_i}(E_\infty)$  induces an isomorphism of  $\Lambda$ -algebras

$$\mathcal{H}(G(E_{\infty}), \mathbb{K}_{\infty}^{n})_{\Lambda} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}(G(E_{i}), \mathbb{K}_{i}^{n})_{\Lambda}.$$

The following result is crucial for the spreading out argument in our main theorems.

**Theorem.** We have a natural isomorphism

$$G: \underline{\mathcal{H}(G(E_{\infty}), \mathbb{K}_{\infty}^{n})_{\Lambda}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \underline{\mathrm{End}}_{G(\mathbb{E})}(\operatorname{c-Ind}_{\mathbb{K}^{n}}^{G(\mathbb{E})} \underline{\Lambda})$$

of sheaves of  $\Lambda$ -modules on  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  such that, for all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , the stalk  $\varsigma_i$  equals the composition  $\mathcal{H}(G(E_{\infty}), \mathbb{K}^n_{\infty})_{\Lambda} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}(G(E_i), \mathbb{K}^n_i)_{\Lambda} = \operatorname{End}_{G(E_i)}(\operatorname{c-Ind}_{\mathbb{K}^n}^{G(\mathbb{E})} \underline{\Lambda}).$ 

*Proof.* For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , Proposition A.11 yields a natural bijection

$$\mathbb{K}_{i}^{n} \backslash G(E_{i}) / \mathbb{K}_{i}^{n} \cong \mathbb{K}_{\infty}^{n} \backslash G(E_{\infty}) / \mathbb{K}_{\infty}^{n}.$$

We claim that there exists a map  $\Upsilon : \mathbb{K}_{\infty}^{n} \setminus G(E_{\infty}) / \mathbb{K}_{\infty}^{n} \to G(\mathbb{E})(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$  such that, for all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , the square

commutes. To see this, choose a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -basis  $\nu_1, \ldots, \nu_s$  of  $(X_*(T_\infty)_{I_\infty, \text{tf}})^{\varphi_\infty}$ . By Lemma 6.6, there exist  $t_1, \ldots, t_s$  in  $T(\mathbb{E})(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$  such that, for all  $1 \leq j \leq s$ , the image of  $t_j$  under v equals the constant section  $\nu_j$ . Write

$$\nabla : (X_*(T_\infty)_{I_\infty, \mathrm{tf}})^{\varphi_\infty} \to T(\mathbb{E})(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$$

for the homomorphism that sends  $\nu_j \mapsto t_j$  for all  $1 \leq j \leq s$ .

For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $\mathcal{T}_i$  for the Néron model of  $T_i$  over  $\mathcal{O}_i$ , and note that  $\mathcal{T}_i$  is naturally a subgroup of  $\mathcal{K}_i$  over  $\mathcal{O}_i$  by Lemma A.2.i). For all  $1 \leq j \leq s$ , write  $\overline{t_j}$  for the composition

$$\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\} \xrightarrow{t_j} T(\check{\mathbb{E}}) \xleftarrow{\sim} [X_*(T_\infty)_{I_\infty, \mathrm{tf}} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})] \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} T(\check{\mathbb{E}})^1 \xrightarrow{\mathrm{pr}_2} T(\check{\mathbb{E}})^1.$$

Because  $\overline{t_j}$  is continuous, the image in  $\mathcal{T}_i(\check{\mathcal{O}}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n) \cong \mathcal{T}_\infty(\check{\mathcal{O}}_\infty/\mathfrak{p}_\infty^n)$  of its fiber at *i* is constant for large enough *i*.

For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $T_i^n$  for the kernel of  $\mathcal{T}_i(\mathcal{O}_i) \to \mathcal{T}_i(\mathcal{O}_i/\mathfrak{p}_i^n)$ . Now A.8 indicates that our choice of  $\tilde{\mu}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\mu}_r$  in  $X_*(T_\infty)$ , along with our choice of uniformizers  $\pi_{F_i}$  and  $\pi_{F_\infty}$ , induce an isomorphism  $T_i(E_i)/T_i^n \cong T_\infty(E_\infty)/T_\infty^n$ , and the above implies that the images of  $\mathrm{ev}_i(t_j)$  and  $\mathrm{ev}_\infty(t_j)$  in  $T_i(E_i)/T_i^n \cong T_\infty(E_\infty)/T_\infty^n$  coincide for large enough i. Therefore, by modifying  $t_j$  at finitely many i, we can assume that this holds for all i. As  $\nu$  runs over  $(X_*(T_\infty)_{I_\infty,\mathrm{tf}})^{\varphi_\infty,+}$ , using the resulting  $\mathrm{ev}_i(\nabla(\nu))$  and  $\mathrm{ev}_\infty(\nabla(\nu))$  in the proof of Proposition A.11 yields the claim.

Recall the notation of 1.19. By checking on fibers, the claim identifies

$$G(\mathbb{E}) = \prod_{g_{\infty}} \mathbb{K}^n \Upsilon(g_{\infty}) \mathbb{K}^n$$

as sets, where  $g_{\infty}$  runs over  $\mathbb{K}_{\infty}^n \setminus G(E_{\infty}) / \mathbb{K}_{\infty}^n$ . Combining this with Lemma 1.19 shows that  $\mathbb{K}^n \Upsilon(g_{\infty}) \mathbb{K}^n$  is clopen in  $G(\mathbb{E})$ , so we can form the continuous function  $h_{g_{\infty}} : G(\mathbb{E}) \to \Lambda$  whose value on  $\mathbb{K}^n \Upsilon(g_{\infty}) \mathbb{K}^n$  equals  $1 \circ \text{pr}$  and whose value on  $G(\mathbb{E}) - \mathbb{K}^n \Upsilon(g_{\infty}) \mathbb{K}^n$  equals  $0 \circ \text{pr}$ .

By checking on fibers, we see that  $h_{g_{\infty}}$  lies in  $\mathcal{H}(G(\mathbb{E}), \mathbb{K}^n)_{\Lambda}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$ . As  $g_{\infty}$  varies, the  $h_{g_{\infty}}$  induce a morphism of sheaves of  $\Lambda$ -modules

$$\mathcal{H}(G(E_{\infty}), K_{\infty}^{n})_{\Lambda} \to \mathcal{H}(G(\mathbb{E}), \mathbb{K}^{n})$$

on  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ ; take our candidate morphism  $\varsigma$  to be the composition

$$\mathcal{H}(G(E_{\infty}), K_{\infty}^{n})_{\Lambda} \to \mathcal{H}(G(\mathbb{E}), \mathbb{K}^{n})_{\Lambda} \xrightarrow{\varsigma} \underline{\mathrm{End}}_{G(\mathbb{E})}(\operatorname{c-Ind}_{\mathbb{K}^{n}}^{G(\mathbb{E})}\underline{\Lambda}).$$

Finally, the desired result follows from Proposition 1.18 and checking on stalks.  $\Box$ 

6.9. Next, we turn to the study of G-torsors. More generally, let H be one of  $\{G, B\}$ , and view  $\mathcal{O}_H$  as a representation of H over E via right translation.

**Lemma.** The representation  $\mathcal{O}_H$  is isomorphic to  $\varinjlim_{\alpha} V_{\alpha}$  for some directed family  $\{V_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha}$  of objects of Rep H.

*Proof.* Because  $H^s$  is an affine group over  $\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\mathscr{O}_{H^s}$  is a free  $\mathbb{Z}$ -module, arguing as in the proof of [11, II.2.4] and taking  $\mathbb{Z}$ -saturations show that  $\mathscr{O}_{H^s}$  is isomorphic to  $\varinjlim_{\alpha} V^s_{\alpha}$  for some directed family  $\{V^s_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha}$  of objects of Rep  $H^s$ . Now the finite group  $\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})$  acts on  $\mathscr{O}_{H^s}$  via  $\delta$ , so after replacing each  $V^s_{\alpha}$  with the sum of its  $\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})$ -translates, we can assume that each  $V^s_{\alpha}$  is  $\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})$ -stable.

Note that  $\mathscr{O}_{H_F^s}$  is isomorphic to  $\varinjlim_{\alpha} (V_{\alpha}^s)_F$ . The above indicates that each  $(V_{\alpha}^s)_F$  descends to a constant rank finite projective *E*-module  $V_{\alpha}$  with a co-action

of  $\mathcal{O}_H$ , and that  $\mathcal{O}_H$  is isomorphic to  $\varinjlim_{\alpha} V_{\alpha}$ . Because |Spa E| is profinite, every constant rank vector bundle on Spa E is free, so [26, Theorem 2.7.7] implies that every constant rank finite projective *E*-module is free. Therefore  $V_{\alpha}$  is an object of Rep *H*, as desired.

6.10. With Lemma 6.9 in hand, we can prove the following Tannakian description of *H*-torsors. Let *Z* be a sousperfectoid space over Spa *E*, and let  $\mathscr{H}$  be an étale  $H^{\mathrm{an}}$ -torsor on *Z*. For all *V* in Rep *H*, write  $\rho(V)$  for the locally free  $\mathscr{O}_{Z,\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}$ -module

$$\rho(V) \coloneqq \mathscr{H} \times^{H^{\mathrm{an}}} (V^{\mathrm{an}} \otimes_E \mathscr{O}_{Z,\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}).$$

Now [26, Theorem 8.2.22 (d)] implies that  $\rho(V)$  is a vector bundle on Z, so this yields an exact tensor functor  $\rho : \operatorname{Rep} H \to \{ \text{vector bundles on } Z \}$ .

Proposition. This association induces an equivalence of categories between

a) étale  $H^{\text{an}}$ -torsors  $\mathscr{H}$  on Z,

b) exact tensor functors  $\rho$ : Rep  $H \rightarrow \{vector bundles on Z\}$ .

Moreover, when  $Z = \text{Spa}(R, R^+)$  is affinoid, the above are naturally equivalent to c) étale H-torsors  $\mathscr{H}^{\text{alg}}$  on Spec R.

d) exact tensor functors  $\rho$ : Rep  $H \rightarrow \{$ finite projective R-modules $\}$ .

*Proof.* Both a) and b) are open-local on Z, so we can assume that  $Z = \text{Spa}(R, R^+)$  is affinoid. Let

 $\rho$ : Rep  $H \to \{$ vector bundles on  $Z\} \cong \{$ finite projective R-modules $\}$ 

be an exact tensor functor, where the equivalence follows from [26, Theorem 2.7.7]. Lemma 6.9 indicates that  $\mathscr{O}_H \cong \varinjlim_{\alpha} V_{\alpha}$  for some directed family  $\{V_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha}$  of objects of Rep H, so we can define  $\rho(\mathscr{O}_H)$  to be  $\varinjlim_{\alpha} \rho(V_{\alpha})$ . Because the  $V_{\alpha}$  are finite free E-modules, this is independent of the family  $\{V_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha}$ .

Note that  $\mathcal{O}_H$  is an *E*-algebra with an *H*-equivariant co-action of  $\mathcal{O}_H$  over *E* via left translation. Since  $\rho$  is a tensor functor, this endows  $\rho(\mathcal{O}_H)$  with the structure of an *R*-algebra with a co-action of  $\mathcal{O}_H$  over *E*. Moreover,  $\rho(\mathcal{O}_H)$  is a direct limit of flat *R*-modules and hence itself flat over *R*. Because  $\mathcal{O}_H$  contains *E* and  $\rho(E) = R$ , the exactness of  $\rho$  shows that  $\rho(\mathcal{O}_H)$  is supported everywhere on Spec *R*, so  $\rho(\mathcal{O}_H)$  is even faithfully flat over *R*.

Write  $\mathscr{H}^{\mathrm{alg}}$  for  $\operatorname{Spec} \rho(\mathscr{O}_H)$ . The above implies that  $\mathscr{H}^{\mathrm{alg}}$  has an action of H over E, and we see that  $\mathscr{H}^{\mathrm{alg}} \times_{\operatorname{Spec} R} \mathscr{H}^{\mathrm{alg}}$  is naturally H-equivariantly isomorphic to  $H \times_{\operatorname{Spec} E} \mathscr{H}^{\mathrm{alg}}$  over  $\mathscr{H}^{\mathrm{alg}}$ . Since  $\mathscr{H}^{\mathrm{alg}} \to \operatorname{Spec} R$  is faithfully flat, this shows that  $\mathscr{H}^{\mathrm{alg}}$  is an fpqc H-torsor on  $\operatorname{Spec} R$ . The smoothness of H indicates that  $\mathscr{H}^{\mathrm{alg}}$  is even an étale H-torsor on  $\operatorname{Spec} R$ . Finally, because Z is sousperfectoid, the analytification of  $\mathscr{H}^{\mathrm{alg}}$  over Z yields an étale  $H^{\mathrm{an}}$ -torsor  $\mathscr{H}$  on Z, as desired.  $\Box$ 

6.11. We have the following analogue of the moduli of G-bundles on the Fargues– Fontaine curve in our setting.

**Definition.** Write  $\operatorname{Bun}_G$  for the presheaf of groupoids on  $\operatorname{Perf}_{\mathbb{F}_q}$  over  $\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}$  whose S-points equal the category of étale  $G^{\operatorname{an}}$ -torsors on  $X_S$ .

Proposition 6.10 and Proposition 5.1 imply that  $\operatorname{Bun}_G$  is a v-stack, and the proof of [14, Proposition III.1.3] shows that  $\operatorname{Bun}_G$  is small.

For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $\operatorname{Bun}_{G_i}$  for the v-stack as in [14, Definition III.1.2]. Proposition 3.7 identifies the fiber of  $\operatorname{Bun}_G$  at  $\{i\}$  with  $\operatorname{Bun}_{G_i}$ . 6.12. For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $\nu_i : |\operatorname{Bun}_{G_i}| \to (X_*(T_i)_{\mathbb{Q}}^+)^{\Gamma_i} \cong (X_*(T_\infty)_{\mathbb{Q}}^+)^{\Gamma_\infty}$  for the Newton map as in [14, Theorem III.2.3]. Because 6.11 identifies the set  $|\operatorname{Bun}_G|$  with the disjoint union  $\coprod_i |\operatorname{Bun}_{G_i}|$ , where i runs over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , the maps  $\nu_i$  induce a map  $\nu : |\operatorname{Bun}_G| \to (X_*(T_\infty)_{\mathbb{Q}}^+)^{\Gamma_\infty}$ .

**Proposition.** The map  $\nu : |\operatorname{Bun}_G| \to (X_*(T_\infty)^+_{\mathbb{O}})^{\Gamma_\infty}$  is upper semicontinuous.

Proof. Let  $\omega$  be in  $X^*(T_{\infty})^{\Gamma_{\infty},+}$ , write  $V_{\omega}$  in Rep *G* for the associated Weyl module, and write  $\rho_{\omega}: G \to \operatorname{GL}_d$  for the corresponding morphism of groups over *E*. For all *i* in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $(V_{\omega,i}, \rho_{\omega,i})$  for the base change to  $E_i$  of  $(V_{\omega}, \rho_{\omega})$ . Identify  $\omega$ with its image in  $X^*(T_i)^{\Gamma_i,+} \cong X^*(T_{\infty})^{\Gamma_{\infty},+}$ , and note that  $V_{\omega,i}$  is an irreducible representation of  $G_i$  with highest weight  $\omega$ .

Let  $\mathscr{G}$  be a  $G^{\operatorname{an-torsor}}$  on  $X_S$ , and let  $\nu_0$  be in  $(X_*(T_\infty)^+_{\mathbb{Q}})^{\Gamma_\infty}$ . By definition,

$$\left\{\overline{s}\in |S| \left| \nu(\mathscr{G}|_{X_{\overline{s}}}) \geq \nu_0 \right\} = \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \overline{s}\in |S| \\ \text{the image of } \overline{s} \text{ in } \mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\} \end{array} \right\}.$$

Now [34, p. 165] shows that this equals

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{c|c} \overline{s} \in |S| & p_{\mathscr{G}|_{X_{\overline{s}}}(V_{\omega,i})} \ge \rho_{\omega,i}(\nu_0) \text{ for all } \omega \text{ in } X^*(T_i)^{\Gamma_i,+}, \\ \text{ where } \{i\} \text{ is the image of } \overline{s} \text{ in } \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\} \end{array} \right\},$$

so the above implies that this equals

$$\bigcap_{\omega} \left\{ \overline{s} \in |S| \, \big| \, p_{\mathscr{G}(V_{\omega})}(\overline{s}) \ge \rho_{\omega,\infty}(\nu_0) \right\},\$$

where  $\omega$  runs over  $X^*(T_{\infty})^{\Gamma_{\infty},+}$ . Proposition 5.7.ii) indicates that this is a closed subset of |S|, and this yields the desired result.

6.13. Write  $\operatorname{Bun}_G^1$  for the substack of  $\operatorname{Bun}_G$  whose S-points consist of étale  $G^{\operatorname{an-torsors}}$  on  $X_S$  such that, for all geometric points  $\overline{s}$  of S, the pullback  $\mathscr{G}|_{X_{\overline{s}}}$  is trivial.

As usual, the trivial locus  $\operatorname{Bun}_G^1$  admits the following description in terms of classifying stacks. Recall the notation of 3.17. Consider the morphism  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\} \to \operatorname{Bun}_G$  corresponding to the trivial  $G^{\operatorname{an-torsor}}$ , which factors through a morphism

$$\underline{\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}}\to\operatorname{Bun}_G^1.$$

Proposition 5.3.ii) identifies  $\underline{G(\mathbb{E})} = G(\underline{\mathbb{E}})$  with  $\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \times_{\mathrm{Bun}_G^1} \underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}$  as group v-sheaves over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , so descent yields a morphism  $BG(\mathbb{E}) \to \overline{\mathrm{Bun}_G^1}$ .

**Proposition.** The substack  $\operatorname{Bun}_G^1 \subseteq \operatorname{Bun}_G$  is open, and the morphism  $BG(\mathbb{E}) \to \operatorname{Bun}_G^1$  is an isomorphism.

*Proof.* Let  $\mathscr{G}$  be a  $G^{\operatorname{an-torsor}}$  on  $X_S$ . We claim that

$$\{\overline{s} \in |S| \mid \text{the pullback } \mathscr{G}|_{X_{\overline{s}}} \text{ is trivial}\}$$

is an open subset of |S|. To see this, [36, Lemma 2.5] indicates that, after replacing S with a pro-étale cover, we can assume that S is strictly totally disconnected. Now

$$\left\{\overline{s} \in |S| \, \big| \, \text{the pullback } \mathscr{G}|_{X_{\overline{s}}} \text{ is trivial} \right\} \subseteq \left\{\overline{s} \in |S| \, \big| \, \nu(\mathscr{G}|_{X_{\overline{s}}}) = 0 \right\},$$

and the right-hand side is an open subset of |S| by Proposition 6.12. Therefore, after replacing S with the corresponding open subspace, we can assume that  $\nu(\mathscr{G}|_{X_{\overline{x}}}) = 0$ 

for all geometric points  $\overline{s}$  of S. For all V in Rep G, this implies that  $p_{\mathscr{G}(V)}$  has slopezero, so Corollary 5.8 shows that  $\mathscr{G}$  corresponds to an exact tensor functor

 $\operatorname{Rep} G \to \{ \operatorname{pro-\acute{e}tale} \mathbb{E} \text{-local systems on } S \}.$ 

Because S is strictly totally disconnected, Lemma 4.12 implies that pro-étale  $\underline{\mathbb{E}}$ -local systems on S are trivial. Hence the natural functor

{finite free  $\underline{\mathbb{E}}(S)$ -modules}  $\rightarrow$  {pro-étale  $\underline{\mathbb{E}}$ -local systems on S}

is an exact tensor equivalence, so  $\mathscr{G}$  corresponds to an exact tensor functor

 $\operatorname{Rep} G \to \{ \text{finite free } \underline{\mathbb{E}}(S) \text{-modules} \}.$ 

Proposition 6.10 shows that this corresponds to a G-torsor  $\mathscr{F}$  on

 $\operatorname{Spec} \underline{\mathbb{E}}(S) = \operatorname{Spec} \operatorname{Cont}_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}(|S|, \mathbb{E}) = \operatorname{Spec} \operatorname{Cont}_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}(\pi_0(|S|), \mathbb{E}).$ 

Since  $\pi_0(|S|)$  is profinite, we can form the analytic adic space

$$Z \coloneqq \pi_0(|S|) \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \operatorname{Spa} E$$

Note that Z is affinoid with global sections equal to  $\operatorname{Cont}_{\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}}(\pi_0(|S|),\mathbb{E})$ . For all  $\overline{s}$  in |S|, write z for the point of Z corresponding to the image of  $\overline{s}$  in  $\pi_0(|S|)$ . Then

$$\mathscr{O}_{Z,z} = \varinjlim_{U} \operatorname{Cont}_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} (U, \mathbb{E})$$

where U runs over neighborhoods of  $\overline{s}$  in  $\pi_0(|S|)$ , and the residue field of  $\mathscr{O}_{Z,z}$  is  $\operatorname{Cont}_{\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}}(\overline{s},\mathbb{E})$ . Because  $\mathscr{O}_{Z,z}$  is henselian [26, Lemma 2.4.17 (a)], the triviality of  $\mathscr{F}|_{\operatorname{Cont}_{\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}}(\overline{s},\mathbb{E})}$  implies the triviality of  $\mathscr{F}|_{\operatorname{Cont}_{\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}}(U,\mathbb{E})}$  for some U. Therefore if  $\mathscr{G}|_{X_{\overline{s}}}$  is trivial, then  $\mathscr{G}|_{X_{\overline{U}}}$  is trivial, where  $\widetilde{U}$  denotes the preimage in |S| of U. As  $\overline{s}$  varies, this yields the claim.

The claim yields the first statement. For the second statement, note that the above work shows that the morphism  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\} \to \operatorname{Bun}_G^1$  is a pro-étale cover. Hence the second statement follows from descent.

6.14. In this subsection, we work over  $\operatorname{Spd} \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$  and assume that  $\Lambda$  is  $\ell$ -power torsion. We conclude this section by proving that the second statement in Proposition 3.17 holds for  $Z = \operatorname{Bun}_G$ , which will be needed in §9. Recall from 2.13 the *E*-algebra C, and recall from 3.16 the morphism  $\operatorname{Spd} C \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

**Proposition.** The pullback functor

$$D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Bun}_G, \Lambda) \to D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Bun}_G \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \mathrm{Spd}\, C, \Lambda)$$

is an equivalence of categories.

*Proof.* Proposition 2.13 identifies Spd C with  $\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \times \operatorname{Spa} C_{\infty}$ , so applying [36, Theorem 19.5 (ii)] to  $\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q \hookrightarrow C_{\infty}$  shows that our functor is fully faithful.

We turn to essential surjectivity. Since  $\mathbb{N}$  is discrete, 6.11. indicates that  $\operatorname{Bun}_{G|\underline{\mathbb{N}}}$  is naturally isomorphic to the disjoint union  $\coprod_{i} \operatorname{Bun}_{G_{i}}$ , where *i* runs over  $\mathbb{N}$ . This identifies the functor

$$D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Bun}_G|_{\mathbb{N}},\Lambda) \to D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Bun}_G|_{\mathbb{N}} \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \operatorname{Spd} C,\Lambda)$$

with  $\prod_i D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Bun}_{G_i}, \Lambda) \to \prod_i D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Bun}_{G_i} \times \operatorname{Spd} C_i, \Lambda)$ , which is an equivalence by [14, Corollary V.2.3]. Similarly, 6.11 identifies the functor

$$D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Bun}_G|_{\{\infty\}},\Lambda) \to D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Bun}_G|_{\{\infty\}} \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \mathrm{Spd}\,C,\Lambda)$$

#### SIYAN DANIEL LI-HUERTA

with  $D_{\text{\'et}}(\operatorname{Bun}_{G_{\infty}}, \Lambda) \to D_{\text{\'et}}(\operatorname{Bun}_{G_{\infty}} \times \operatorname{Spd} C_{\infty}, \Lambda)$ , which also is an equivalence by [14, Corollary V.2.3]. Therefore the essential surjectivity of our functor follows from combining full faithfulness and the excision exact triangle associated with

 $\operatorname{Bun}_{G}|_{\underline{\mathbb{N}}} \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}} \operatorname{Spd} C \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Bun}_{G} \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}} \operatorname{Spd} C \longleftrightarrow \operatorname{Bun}_{G}|_{\underline{\{\infty\}}} \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}} \operatorname{Spd} C. \square$ 

# 7. Beilinson–Drinfeld Affine Grassmannians

In this section, we introduce the analogue of Beilinson–Drinfeld affine Grassmannians  $\operatorname{Gr}_G^J$  over E. After proving various basic facts about  $\operatorname{Gr}_G^J$  and its affine Schubert subvarieties, we study the analogue of semi-infinite orbits. This lets us apply the machinery of hyperbolic localization as in [14, Section IV.6] to define the constant term functor  $\operatorname{CT}_B$  for étale sheaves on  $\operatorname{Gr}_G^J$ . We conclude by giving, in terms of  $\operatorname{CT}_B$ , criteria for étale sheaves on  $\operatorname{Gr}_G^J$  to vanish or to be universally locally acyclic.

Our arguments in §7 and §8 closely follow those of Scholze–Weinstein [38] and Fargues–Scholze [14]. For some statements, we can even reduce to the situation considered in Fargues–Scholze [14] by working fiberwise over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . This lets us avoid (direct) reduction mod  $\pi$  arguments over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , for example.

7.1. Recall from 3.14 the v-sheaf  $\operatorname{Div}_X^1$  over  $\underbrace{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}_{S}$ , and recall the notation of 3.18. Let J be a finite set. For all morphisms  $\overline{S} \to (\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^J$  over  $\underbrace{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}_{S}$  and j in J, write  $S_j \to \operatorname{Div}_X^1$  for the j-th projection, write  $S_j^{\sharp} \hookrightarrow X_S$  for the closed Cartier divisor from 3.14, and write  $\mathscr{I}_{S_j^{\sharp}}$  for the corresponding ideal of  $\mathscr{O}_{X_S}$ . Write  $D_S$  for the closed Cartier divisor  $\sum_{j \in J} S_j^{\sharp} \hookrightarrow X_S$ , and write  $\mathscr{I}_{D_S}$  for the corresponding ideal of  $\mathscr{O}_{X_S}$ .

**Lemma.** The presheaf of categories on  $\operatorname{Perf}_{\mathbb{F}_q}$  over S given by  $S' \mapsto \{vector \ bundles \ on \ D_{S'}\}$ 

satisfies v-descent.

*Proof.* Let  $S' \to S$  be an affinoid perfectoid v-cover. When S is a geometric point, the image of |S| in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  equals  $\{i\}$  for some  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , so the result follows from Proposition 3.7 and [14, Proposition VI.1.4]. When  $S' \to S$  is finite étale, Corollary 3.4 implies that  $X_{S'} \to X_S$  and hence  $D_{S'} \to D_S$  is finite étale, so the result follows from [26, Theorem 8.2.22 (d)]. Combined with Proposition 3.12, this shows that

 $\mathcal{P} := \{ \text{vector bundles satisfy descent with respect to } D_{S'} \to D_S \}$ 

satisfies the conditions in [26, Proposition 8.2.20], so [26, Proposition 8.2.20] indicates that the result holds when  $S' \rightarrow S$  is étale.

In general, let  $\mathscr{E}'$  be a vector bundle on  $D_{S'}$  with a descent datum  $\alpha$  with respect to  $D_{S'} \to D_S$ . For all geometric points  $\overline{s}$  of S, the above enables us to descend  $(\mathscr{E}'|_{D_{S'_{\overline{s}}}}, \alpha|_{D_{S'_{\overline{s}}}})$  to a vector bundle  $\mathscr{E}_{D_{\overline{s}}}$  on  $D_{\overline{s}}$ . Because  $|D_{\overline{s}}|$  is a disjoint union of points,  $\mathscr{E}_{D_{\overline{s}}}$  and hence its pullback  $\mathscr{E}'|_{D_{S'_{\overline{s}}}}$  is free. Therefore [16, Proposition 5.4.21] implies that any basis of  $\mathscr{E}_{D_{\overline{s}}}$  induces a basis of  $\mathscr{E}'|_{D_U}$  for some affinoid perfectoid étale neighborhood U of  $S'_{\overline{s}}$ ; in particular,  $\mathscr{E}'|_{D_U}$  is free. In these coordinates,  $\alpha|_{D_U}$ corresponds to a matrix with entries in  $\mathscr{O}_{D_U \times D_S D_U} = \mathscr{O}_{D_U \times S^U}$ , and after shrinking U, we see that  $\alpha|_{D_U}$  – id has entries lying in the image of  $[\varpi]\mathscr{O}^+_{\mathcal{Y}_U \times_S U,[0,q^r]}$ , where ris large enough such that  $D_S$  lies in  $\mathcal{Y}_{S,[0,q^r]}$ . Since  $\mathcal{O}$  is a direct summand of  $\mathcal{O}^{\text{perf}}$  as topological  $\mathcal{O}$ -modules, Proposition 3.10 and [36, Proposition 8.8] show that the v-cohomology group  $H^1_v(S, \mathscr{O}_{\mathcal{Y}^+_{S,[0,q^r]}})$  is annihilated by  $[\varpi]^{1/q^m}$  for all non-negative integers m. Hence the result follows from arguing as in the proof of [38, Lemma 17.1.8].

7.2. Let us introduce the analogue of loop groups, affine Grassmannians, and local Hecke stacks in our setting. Write  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(S)$  for the global sections of  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathscr{O}_{X_S}/\mathscr{I}_{D_S}^n$ , and write  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}(S)$  for the global sections of  $(\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathscr{O}_{X_S}/\mathscr{I}_{D_S}^n)[\frac{1}{\mathscr{I}_{D_S}}]$ . Lemma 7.1 indicates that the global sections of  $\mathscr{O}_{X_S}/\mathscr{I}_{D_S}^n = \mathscr{O}_{nD_S}$  yields a v-sheaf over  $(\mathrm{Div}_X^1)^J$ , so the same holds for  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+$  and  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}$ .

Let M be an affine scheme over E, and let H be one of  $\{G, B\}$ .

## Definition.

- a) Write  $L_J^n M$ ,  $L_J^+ M$ , and  $L_J M$  for the presheaves on  $\operatorname{Perf}_{\mathbb{F}_q}$  over  $(\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^J$  whose S-points equal  $M(\mathscr{O}_{nD_S})$ ,  $M(B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(S))$  and  $M(B_{\mathrm{dR}}(S))$ , respectively.
- b) Write  $\mathcal{H}ck_H^J$  for the presheaf of groupoids on  $\operatorname{Perf}_{\mathbb{F}_q}$  over  $(\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^J$  whose S-points parametrize data consisting of
  - i) two  $H\text{-torsors}\ {\mathscr H}$  and  ${\mathscr H}'$  on  $\operatorname{Spec} B^+_{\operatorname{dR}}(S),$
  - ii) an isomorphism  $\rho: \mathscr{H}|_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}(S)} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{H}'|_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}(S)}$  of *H*-torsors on Spec  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}(S)$ .
- c) Write  ${\rm Gr}_H^J$  for the presheaf on  ${\rm Perf}_{\mathbb{F}_q}$  over  $({\rm Div}_X^1)^J$  whose S-points parametrize data consisting of
  - i) an *H*-torsor  $\mathscr{H}$  on Spec  $B^+_{dB}(S)$ ,
  - ii) an isomorphism  $\rho: \mathscr{H}|_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}(S)} \xrightarrow{\sim} H$  of *H*-torsors on Spec  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}(S)$ .

Since M is affine, we see that  $L_J^n M$ ,  $L_J^+ M$ , and  $L_J M$  are v-sheaves, and the proof of [14, Proposition III.1.3] shows that they are small. We have a natural morphism  $\operatorname{Gr}_H^J \to \mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_H^J$  given by  $(\mathscr{H}, \rho) \mapsto (\mathscr{H}, H, \rho)$ .

7.3. Let M be a smooth affine scheme over E.

**Proposition.** The morphism  $L^n_J M \to (\text{Div}^1_X)^J$  is representable in locally spatial diamonds, partially proper, and cohomologically smooth of dimension  $n \cdot \#J \cdot \dim M$ .

Proof. First, assume that  $M = \mathbb{G}_a^d$ , and choose an enumeration  $J \cong \{1, \ldots, \#J\}$ . The filtration  $0 \subseteq \mathscr{I}_{S_2^{\sharp} + \cdots + S_{\#J}^{\sharp}}^n / \mathscr{I}_{D_S}^n \subseteq \cdots \subseteq \mathscr{I}_{S_{\#J}^{\sharp}}^n / \mathscr{I}_{D_S}^n \subseteq \mathscr{O}_{nD_S}$  shows that the morphism  $L_J^n M \to (\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^J$  is the iterated extension of  $L_{\{j\}}^n M$ -torsors, where j runs over J, and the filtration  $0 \subseteq \mathscr{I}_{S_j^{\sharp}}^{n-1} / \mathscr{I}_{S_j^{\sharp}}^n \subseteq \cdots \subseteq \mathscr{I}_{S_j^{\sharp}} / \mathscr{I}_{S_j^{\sharp}}^n \subseteq \mathscr{O}_{nS_j^{\sharp}}$  shows that the pullback to S of  $L_{\{j\}}^n M \to (\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^J$  is the iterated extension of n many  $(\mathbb{G}_{a,S_j^{\sharp}}^{d,\operatorname{an}})^{\diamond}$ -torsors. Because  $(\mathbb{G}_{a,S_j^{\sharp}}^{d,\operatorname{an}})^{\diamond} \to S$  is representable in locally spatial diamonds, partially proper, and cohomologically smooth of dimension 1, the result for M follows.

Next, let  $D \to nD_S$  be a quasicompact separated étale morphism. We claim that the presheaf on  $\operatorname{Perf}_{\mathbb{F}_q}$  over S whose set of S'-points equal the set of lifts



is representable by a separated étale morphism  $\widetilde{S} \to S$ . To see this, [36, Proposition 9.7] indicates that, after replacing S with a pro-étale cover, we can assume that S is strictly totally disconnected. For all geometric points  $\overline{s}$  of  $nD_S$ , the morphism  $\overline{s} \times_{nD_S} \widetilde{D} \to \overline{s}$  is quasicompact separated étale and hence a finite disjoint union of  $\overline{s}$ . Since S is strictly totally disconnected, [36, Lemma 15.6] and [36, Proposition 11.23 (iii)] imply that there exists an open neighborhood U of  $\overline{s}$  such that  $U \times_{nD_S} \widetilde{D} \to U$  is a finite disjoint union of U. Therefore after replacing  $\widetilde{D}$  with an open cover, we may assume that  $\widetilde{D} \to nD_S$  is an open embedding. Then Lemma 3.14 shows that the image C of  $|nD_S - \widetilde{D}|$  in |S| is closed. The resulting open subspace S - C of S satisfies the desired property, which yields the claim.

In general, after replacing M with an open cover, we may assume that M is étale over  $\mathbb{G}_a^d$ . By the Spec-global sections adjunction, morphisms  $S \to L_J^n M$  over  $(\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^J$  correspond to morphisms  $nD_S \to M^{\operatorname{an}}$  over Spa E. Applying this to M and  $\mathbb{G}_a^d$  shows that morphisms  $S' \to S \times_{L_J^n \mathbb{G}_a^d} L_J^n M$  over S correspond to lifts



Now  $M^{\mathrm{an}} \to \mathbb{G}_a^{d,\mathrm{an}}$  and hence  $nD_S \times_{\mathbb{G}_a^{d,\mathrm{an}}} M^{\mathrm{an}} \to nD_S$  is quasicompact separated étale, so the claim indicates that  $L^n_J M \to L^n_J \mathbb{G}_a^d$  is separated étale. Combined with the case of  $\mathbb{G}_a^d$ , this yields the desired result.

7.4. **Proposition.** The presheaves  $\mathcal{H}ck_H^J$  and  $Gr_H^J$  are small v-stacks. Moreover, the natural morphisms  $L_JH \to Gr_H^J \to \mathcal{H}ck_H^J$  induce isomorphisms from the étale quotients  $(L_JH)/(L_J^+H) \xrightarrow{\sim} Gr_H^J$  and  $(L_J^+H) \setminus (L_JH)/(L_J^+H) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}ck_H^J$ .

 $\mathit{Proof.}$  We claim that the presheaf of categories on  $\mathrm{Perf}_{\mathbb{F}_q}$  over  $(\mathrm{Div}^1_X)^J$  given by

 $S \mapsto \{\text{finite projective } B^+_{dB}(S) \text{-modules} \}$ 

satisfies v-descent. To see this, note that base change induces an equivalence

$$\{\text{finite projective } B^+_{\mathrm{dR}}(S)\text{-modules}\} \xrightarrow{\sim} \varprojlim_n \{\text{finite projective } \mathcal{O}_{nD_S}\text{-modules}\},\$$

so the claim follows from Lemma 7.1 and [26, Theorem 2.7.7].

The claim and Proposition 6.10 indicate that  $\mathcal{H}ck_H^J$  and  $\operatorname{Gr}_H^J$  are v-stacks. For the second statement, let  $\mathscr{H}$  be an H-torsor on  $\operatorname{Spec} B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(S)$ . For all geometric points  $\overline{s}$  of S, note that  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}(\overline{s})$  is a finite product of strictly henselian local rings, so  $\mathscr{H}|_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(\overline{s})}$  and hence  $\mathscr{H}|_{\mathscr{O}_{D_s}}$  is trivial. Because H is smooth affine over E, [16, Proposition 5.4.21] implies that there exists an affinoid perfectoid étale neighborhood U of  $\overline{s}$  such that  $\mathscr{H}|_{\mathscr{O}_{D_U}}$  is trivial. Since  $B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(U)$  is complete along  $\mathscr{I}_{D_U}$  and H is smooth over E, this shows that  $\mathscr{H}|_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(U)}$  is trivial. As  $\overline{s}$  varies, we get an affinoid perfectoid étale cover  $S' \to S$  such that  $\mathscr{H}|_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}^+(S')}$  is trivial, which yields the second statement.

Finally, the second statement implies that  $\mathcal{H}ck_H^J$  and  $Gr_H^J$  are small.

7.5. Our affine Grassmannians and local Hecke stacks specialize to the usual ones from [14], which lets us reduce many facts to their "classical" analogues from [14]. More precisely, for all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $\operatorname{Div}_{X_i}^1$  for the v-sheaf as in [14, Definition II.1.19], write  $\mathcal{H}ck_{G_i}^J$  for the v-sheaf over  $(\text{Div}_{X_i}^1)^J$  as in [14, Definition VI.1.6], and write  $\operatorname{Gr}_{G_i}^J$  for the v-sheaf over  $(\operatorname{Div}_{X_i}^1)^J$  as in [14, Definition VI.1.8]. Proposition 3.7 identifies the fiber at  $\underline{\{i\}}$  of  $\operatorname{Div}_X^1$ ,  $\mathcal{H}ck_G^J$ , and  $\operatorname{Gr}_G^J$  with  $\operatorname{Div}_{X_i}^1$ ,  $\mathcal{H}ck_{G_i}^J$ , and  $\operatorname{Gr}_{G_i}^J$ , respectively.

7.6. In this subsection, assume that G is split. Let  $\mu_{\bullet} = (\mu_j)_{j \in J}$  be in  $(X_*(T_{\infty})^+)^J$ . We define affine Schubert varieties in this setting.

# Definition.

- a) Write  $\mathcal{H}ck^J_{G,\leq\mu_{\bullet}}$  for the substack of  $\mathcal{H}ck^J_G$  whose S-points consist of  $(\mathscr{H}, \mathscr{H}', \rho)$  such that, for all geometric points  $\overline{s}$  of S and j in J, the relative position of  $\rho|_{B_{\mathrm{dR}}(\overline{s})}$  at the completion of  $X_S$  along  $\overline{s}_j^{\sharp}$  is bounded by  $\sum_{j'} \mu_{j'}$ , where j' runs over elements of J such that  $\overline{s}_{j'}^{\sharp} = \overline{s}_{j}^{\sharp}$ .
- b) Write  $\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\leq \mu_{\bullet}}^{J}$  for the pullback to  $\operatorname{Gr}_{G}^{J}$  of  $\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_{G,<\mu_{\bullet}}^{J}$ .

Note that the action of  $L_{J}^{+}G$  on  $\operatorname{Gr}_{G}^{J}$  preserves  $\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\leq \mu_{\bullet}}^{J}$ .

7.7. In this subsection, assume that G is split. Write  $2\rho$  in  $X^*(T_{\infty})$  for the sum of all positive roots, and for all  $\mu_{\bullet}$  be in  $(X_*(T_{\infty})^+)^J$ , and write  $d_{\mu_{\bullet}}$  for  $\sum_{j \in J} \langle 2\rho, \mu_j \rangle$ . For all positive integers n, write  $(L_J^+G)^n$  for the kernel of  $L_J^+G \to L_J^nG$ .

## **Proposition.**

- i) The substack  $\mathcal{H}ck_{G,\leq\mu_{\bullet}}^{J} \subseteq \mathcal{H}ck_{G}^{J}$  is closed, and the morphism  $\mathrm{Gr}_{G,\leq\mu_{\bullet}}^{J} \to (\mathrm{Div}_{X}^{1})^{J}$  is representable in spatial diamonds, proper, and of finite dim. trg.
- ii) Assume that n is greater than all weights of  $\sum_{j \in J} \mu_j$  acting on Lie G. Then
- $(L_J^+G)^n \text{ acts trivially on } \operatorname{Gr}_{G,\leq\mu_{\bullet}}^J.$ iii) The natural morphism  $\varinjlim_{\mu_{\bullet}} \operatorname{Gr}_{G,\leq\mu_{\bullet}}^J \to \operatorname{Gr}_G^J,$  where  $\mu_{\bullet}$  runs over  $(X_*(T_{\infty})^+)^J,$ is an isomorphism.
- iv) For par in  $\mathbb{Z}/2$ , write  $(\mathrm{Gr}_G^J)^{\mathrm{par}}$  for  $\varinjlim_{\mu} \mathrm{Gr}_{G,\leq\mu_{\bullet}}^J$ , where  $\mu_{\bullet}$  runs over elements of  $(X_*(T_\infty)^+)^J$  such that the image of  $d_{\mu_{\bullet}}$  in  $\mathbb{Z}/2$  equals par. Then the subspace  $(\operatorname{Gr}_G^J)^{\operatorname{par}} \subseteq \operatorname{Gr}_G^J$  is clopen.

Proof. Part i) follows from arguing as in the proof of [14, Proposition 20.4.5]. For part ii), note that part i) indicates that the equalizer of

$$(L^+_JG)^n\times_{(\operatorname{Div}^1_X)^J}\operatorname{Gr}^J_{G,\leq\mu_\bullet}\xrightarrow[\operatorname{pr}_2]{a}\operatorname{Gr}^J_{G,\leq\mu_\bullet}$$

is a closed subspace of  $(L_J^+G)^n \times_{(\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^J} \operatorname{Gr}_{G, \leq \mu_{\bullet}}^J$ , so [36, Lemma 12.11] shows that, to see that a and  $pr_2$  agree, it suffices to check on geometric points. This follows from 7.5 and [14, Proposition VI.2.8].

For part iii), the natural morphism  $\varinjlim_{\mu_{\bullet}} \operatorname{Gr}_{G, \leq \mu_{\bullet}}^{J} \to \operatorname{Gr}_{G}^{J}$  is injective, so we focus on surjectivity. For any morphism  $S \to \operatorname{Gr}_G^{\bullet,J}$  over  $(\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^J$ , note that its image in  $\operatorname{Gr}_{G}^{J}$  lies in a finite union of subspaces of the form  $\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\leq\mu_{\bullet}}^{J}$ . Then part i) implies that  $\coprod_{\mu_{\bullet}} \operatorname{Gr}_{G, \leq \mu_{\bullet}}^{J} \to \operatorname{Gr}_{G}^{J}$  is a v-cover, which yields surjectivity, as desired. Finally, part iv) follows from  $\langle 2\rho, a \rangle$  being even for all roots a in  $X_*(T_\infty)$ .  7.8. In this subsection, assume that G is split. For all j in J, let  $\xi_j$  in  $B^+_{dR}(S)$  be a generator of  $\mathscr{I}_{S_j^{\sharp}}$ , and choose an enumeration  $J \cong \{1, \ldots, \#J\}$ . For all  $\mu_{\bullet}$  in  $(X_*(T_{\infty})^+)^J$ , write  $[\mu_{\bullet}] : (\text{Div}_X^1)^J \to \text{Gr}_G^J$  for the morphism over  $(\text{Div}_X^1)^J$  given by sending  $S \mapsto \prod_{j=1}^{\#J} (L_J \mu)(\xi_j)$ , which is independent of the  $\xi_j$ . When G is abelian or #J = 1, this is independent of the enumeration of J.

For the rest of this subsection, assume that #J = 1. In this case, we also consider affine Schubert cells. Proposition 7.7.i) indicates that

$$\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_{G,\mu}^{\{*\}} \coloneqq \mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_{G,\leq\mu}^{\{*\}} - \bigcup_{\mu'} \mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_{G,\leq\mu'}^{\{*\}}$$

yields an open substack of  $\mathcal{H}ck_{G,\leq\mu}^{\{*\}}$ , where  $\mu'$  runs over elements of  $X_*(T_{\infty})^+$  such that  $\mu' < \mu$ . Write  $\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}^{\{*\}}$  for the pullback to  $\operatorname{Gr}_{G}^{\{*\}}$  of  $\mathcal{H}ck_{G,\mu}^{\{*\}}$ , and note that  $[\mu]$  factors through a morphism  $[\mu] : \operatorname{Div}_X^1 \to \operatorname{Gr}_{G,\mu}^{\{*\}}$  over  $\operatorname{Div}_X^1$ . Write  $(L_{\{*\}}^+G)_{\mu}$  for the stabilizer of  $[\mu]$  in  $L_{\{*\}}^+G$ , which is a closed subspace by Proposition 7.7.i).

**Proposition.** The morphism  $[\mu] : \operatorname{Div}_X^1 \to \mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_{G,\mu}^{\{*\}}$  is a v-cover, so it induces an isomorphism  $\operatorname{Div}_X^1/(L_{\{*\}}^+G)_{\mu} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_{G,\mu}^{\{*\}}$  over  $\operatorname{Div}_X^1$ .

*Proof.* This follows from the proof of [14, Proposition VI.2.4].

7.9. As usual, local Hecke stacks satisfy the following fusion property. For all partitions  $P = \{J_1, \ldots, J_s\}$  of J, write  $(\text{Div}_X^1)^P$  for the subsheaf of  $(\text{Div}_X^1)^J$  whose S-points consist of  $S \to (\text{Div}_X^1)^J$  such that, for all geometric points  $\overline{s}$  of S and  $j \neq j'$  in J lying in different  $J_k$ , we have  $\overline{s}_j \neq \overline{s}_{j'}$ . Lemma 3.14 implies that  $(\text{Div}_X^1)^P \subseteq (\text{Div}_X^1)^J$  is an open subspace. Note that we have a natural identification

$$\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_{G}^{J}|_{(\mathrm{Div}_{X}^{1})^{\mathrm{p}}} = \Big(\prod_{k=1}^{s}\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_{G}^{J_{k}}\Big)\Big|_{(\mathrm{Div}_{X}^{1})^{\mathrm{p}}},$$

where  $\prod$  denotes the product over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Under the above identification, when G is split, the closed substack  $\mathcal{H}ck_{G,\leq \mu_{\bullet}}^{\overline{J}}|_{(\operatorname{Div}_{X}^{1})^{\mathsf{p}}} \subseteq \mathcal{H}ck_{G}^{J}|_{(\operatorname{Div}_{X}^{1})^{\mathsf{p}}}$  corresponds to

$$\Big(\prod_{k=1}^{s} \mathcal{H} \mathrm{ck}_{G, \leq (\mu_{j})_{j \in J_{k}}}^{J_{k}}\Big)\Big|_{(\mathrm{Div}_{X}^{1})^{\mathsf{p}}} \subseteq \Big(\prod_{k=1}^{s} \mathcal{H} \mathrm{ck}_{G}^{J_{k}}\Big)\Big|_{(\mathrm{Div}_{X}^{1})^{\mathsf{p}}}$$

7.10. In this subsection, assume that G is split. We need the following decomposition of  $\operatorname{Gr}_T^J$ . For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , write  $\Sigma_i : |\operatorname{Gr}_{T_i}^J| \to X_*(T_i) \cong X_*(T_\infty)$  for the continuous map as in [14, (VI.3.1)]. Now 7.5 identifies the set  $|\operatorname{Gr}_T^J|$  with the disjoint union  $\coprod_i |\operatorname{Gr}_{T_i}^J|$ , where i runs over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , so the  $\Sigma_i$  induce a map  $\Sigma : |\operatorname{Gr}_T^J| \to X_*(T_\infty)$ .

**Lemma.** The map  $\Sigma : |\operatorname{Gr}_T^J| \to X_*(T_\infty)$  is continuous.

For all  $\nu$  in  $X_*(T_\infty)$ , write  $\operatorname{Gr}_T^{J,\nu}$  for the preimage under  $\Sigma$  of  $\nu$ .

*Proof.* As  $\mu_{\bullet}$  runs over  $X_*(T_{\infty})^J$ , the  $[\mu_{\bullet}]$  induce a morphism

$$X_*(T_\infty)^J \times (\operatorname{Div}^1_X)^J \to \operatorname{Gr}^J_T$$

over  $(\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^J$  that is surjective on geometric points. Therefore [36, Lemma 2.5] indicates that resulting continuous map  $X_*(T_\infty)^J \times |(\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^J| \to |\operatorname{Gr}_T^J|$  is a quotient map. Checking on fibers shows that the continuous map

$$X_*(T_\infty)^J \times |(\operatorname{Div}^1_X)^J| \longrightarrow X_*(T_\infty)^J \xrightarrow{\Sigma} X_*(T_\infty)$$

factors through a map  $|\operatorname{Gr}_T^J| \to X_*(T_\infty)$  with the desired description on fibers.  $\Box$ 

7.11. In this subsection, assume that G is split. We turn to study the analogue of semi-infinite orbits in our setting. For all  $\nu$  in  $X_*(T_{\infty})$ , write  $\operatorname{Gr}_B^{J,\nu}$  for the preimage of  $\operatorname{Gr}_T^{J,\nu}$  under  $\operatorname{Gr}_B^J \to \operatorname{Gr}_T^J$ . Choose a regular element  $\lambda$  of  $X_*(T_{\infty})^+$ , and consider the action of  $\mathbb{G}_m^{\operatorname{an}}$  on  $\operatorname{Gr}_H^J$  given by composing the conjugation action of  $L_1^+T$  with

$$\mathbb{G}_m^{\mathrm{an}} \xrightarrow{[-]} L_J^+ \mathbb{G}_m \xrightarrow{L_J^+ \lambda} L_J^+ T \longrightarrow L_J^+ H.$$

# Proposition.

- i) The morphism Gr<sup>J</sup><sub>T</sub>→Gr<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub> is a closed embedding, and it identifies Gr<sup>J</sup><sub>T</sub> with the fixed point locus of G<sup>an</sup><sub>m</sub>.
  ii) The morphism Gr<sup>J</sup><sub>B</sub>→Gr<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub> induces a bijection on geometric points. Its restriction of the second secon
- ii) The morphism  $\operatorname{Gr}_B^J \to \operatorname{Gr}_G^r$  induces a bijection on geometric points. Its restriction to  $\operatorname{Gr}_B^{J,\nu}$  is a locally closed embedding, and the image of  $\coprod_{\nu'} |\operatorname{Gr}_B^{J,\nu'}|$  in  $|\operatorname{Gr}_G^J|$  is closed, where  $\nu'$  runs over elements of  $X_*(T_\infty)$  satisfying  $\nu' \leq \nu$ . Finally, the action of  $\mathbb{G}_m^{\operatorname{an}}$  on  $\operatorname{Gr}_B^J$  naturally extends to an action of  $(\mathbb{A}^1)^{\operatorname{an}}$ .

*Proof.* For part i), the first statement follows from arguing as in the proof of [38, Lemma 19.1.5]. Write  $(\operatorname{Gr}_G^J)^{\mathbb{G}_m^{\operatorname{an}}}$  for the fixed point locus of  $\mathbb{G}_m^{\operatorname{an}}$ . Now  $\operatorname{Gr}_T^J \to \operatorname{Gr}_G^J$  factors through a morphism  $\operatorname{Gr}_T^J \to (\operatorname{Gr}_G^J)^{\mathbb{G}_m^{\operatorname{an}}}$ , which is a closed embedding by the first statement. Note that this closed embedding is a bijection on geometric points, so the second statement follows from [14, Lemma 12.11].

For part ii), the first statement follows from the Iwasawa decomposition. The action of  $\mathbb{G}_m$  on B given by composing the conjugation action of T with  $\lambda$  naturally extends to an action of  $\mathbb{A}^1$ , which implies the last statement. Finally, everything else follows from the proof of [14, Proposition VI.3.1].

7.12. In this subsection, assume that G is split. Proposition 7.11 enables us to use hyperbolic localization as in [14, Section IV.6] to define the constant term functor as follows. Let  $\Lambda$  be a ring that is  $\ell$ -power torsion, and for all small v-stacks Z over  $(\text{Div}_X^1)^J$ , write  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\text{Gr}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$  for the full subcategory of  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\text{Gr}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$ consisting of objects arising via pushforward from a finite union of subspaces of the form  $\text{Gr}_{G,<\mu_{\bullet}}^J|_Z$ .

Note that the action of  $\mathbb{G}_m^{\mathrm{an}}$  on  $\mathrm{Gr}_G^J$  preserves the subspace  $\mathrm{Gr}_{G,\leq\mu_{\bullet}}^J$ . Write  $D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Gr}_G^J|_Z,\Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd},\mathbb{G}_m^{\mathrm{an}}}$  for the full subcategory of  $D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Gr}_G^J|_Z)^{\mathrm{bd}}$  consisting of objects arising from  $\mathbb{G}_m^{\mathrm{an}}$ -monodromic objects as in [14, Definition IV.6.11]. Write  $\overline{B}$  for the opposite Borel in G, and write

$$\begin{array}{c} \operatorname{Gr}_{G}^{J} \xleftarrow{q} \operatorname{Gr}_{B}^{J} \\ & \uparrow^{\overline{p}} & \downarrow^{p} \\ \operatorname{Gr}_{\overline{B}}^{J} \xrightarrow{\overline{q}} \operatorname{Gr}_{T}^{J} \end{array}$$

for the natural morphisms over  $(\text{Div}_X^1)^J$ .

**Corollary.** We have a natural transformation  $\overline{p}_*\overline{q}^! \to p_!q^*$  of functors

$$D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Gr}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}} \to D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Gr}_T^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}}.$$

When restricted to  $D_{\text{\'et}}(\operatorname{Gr}_{G}^{J}|_{Z}, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{bd}, \mathbb{G}_{m}^{\operatorname{an}}}$ , this natural transformation is an isomorphism, and the resulting functor

$$\mathrm{CT}_B: D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Gr}^J_G|_Z, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}, \mathbb{G}_m^{\mathrm{an}}} \to D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Gr}^J_T|_Z, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}}$$

is compatible with base change in Z and preserves universal local acyclicity over Z as in [14, Definition IV.2.1].

Proof. For all  $\mu_{\bullet}$  in  $(X_*(T_{\infty})^+)^J$ , Proposition 7.7.i) shows that  $\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\leq \mu_{\bullet}}^J \to (\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^J$  is representable in spatial diamonds, proper, and of finite dim.trg. We claim that the action of  $\mathbb{G}_m^{\operatorname{an}}$  on  $\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\leq \mu_{\bullet}}^J$  satisfies [14, Hypothesis IV.6.1]. Proposition 7.11.i) indicates that the fixed point locus of  $\mathbb{G}_m^{\operatorname{an}}$  in  $\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\leq \mu_{\bullet}}^J$  is its intersection with  $\operatorname{Gr}_T^J$ , and this intersection equals  $\coprod_{\nu} \operatorname{Gr}_{G,\leq \mu_{\bullet}}^J \cap \operatorname{Gr}_T^{\nu,J}$ , where  $\nu$  runs over elements of  $X_*(T_{\infty})$  such that the Weyl translate of  $\nu$  in  $X_*(T_{\infty})^+$  is bounded by  $\sum_{j\in J} \mu_j$ . There are only finitely many such  $\nu$ , so applying Proposition 7.11.ii) to B and  $\overline{B}$  provides the desired decompositions

$$\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\leq\mu_{\bullet}}^{J} = \coprod_{\nu} \operatorname{Gr}_{G,\leq\mu_{\bullet}}^{J} \cap \operatorname{Gr}_{B}^{J,\nu} \text{ and } \operatorname{Gr}_{G,\leq\mu_{\bullet}}^{J} = \coprod_{\nu} \operatorname{Gr}_{G,\leq\mu_{\bullet}}^{J} \cap \operatorname{Gr}_{\overline{B}}^{J,\nu}.$$

This yields the claim.

As  $\mu_{\bullet}$  varies, the claim and [14, Definition IV.6.4] yield the natural transformation  $\overline{p}_{*}\overline{q}^{!} \rightarrow p_{!}q^{*}$ , and its restriction to  $D_{\acute{e}t}(\operatorname{Gr}_{G}^{J}|_{Z}, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}, \mathbb{G}_{m}^{\mathrm{an}}}$  is an isomorphism by [14, Theorem IV.6.5]. The resulting functor  $\operatorname{CT}_{B}$  is compatible with base change in Z by [14, Proposition IV.6.12] and preserves universal local acyclicity over Z by [14, Proposition IV.6.14].

7.13. In this subsection, assume that G is split. The constant term functor enjoys the following conservativity property. Write  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z,\Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$  for the full subcategory of  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z,\Lambda)$  consisting of objects whose pullback to  $\operatorname{Gr}_G^J|_Z$  lie in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Gr}_G^J|_Z,\Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$ , and note that the image of the pullback functor

$$D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}^J_G|_Z,\Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}} \to D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Gr}^J_G|_Z,\Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}}$$

lies in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Gr}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}, \mathbb{G}_m^{\mathrm{an}}}$ . Write  $\mathrm{CT}_B$  for the composition

$$D_{\text{\'et}}(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}^J_G|_Z,\Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}} \longrightarrow D_{\text{\'et}}(\mathrm{Gr}^J_G|_Z,\Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd},\mathbb{G}_m^{\mathrm{an}}} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{CT}_B} D_{\text{\'et}}(\mathrm{Gr}^J_T|_Z,\Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}}.$$

**Proposition.** Let A be in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$ . If  $CT_B(A)$  is zero, then A is zero.

*Proof.* To check that A is zero, [36, Proposition 14.3] implies that it suffices to check on geometric points of  $\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z$ . Hence Corollary 7.12 indicates that we can assume that Z is a geometric point. Then the image of |Z| in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  equals  $\{i\}$  for some i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , so the result follows from 7.5 and [14, Proposition VI.4.2].  $\Box$ 

7.14. We will use the following to reduce many proofs to the case when G is split. Recall that  $G_F$  is split. Write  $X_S(F)$  for the adic space associated with F as in

3.8, and write  $\operatorname{Div}_{X(F)}^{1}$  for the v-sheaf over  $\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}$  associated with F as in 3.14. Note that we have a cartesian square



so the morphism  $X_S(F) \to X_S$  is finite étale. This induces identifications

$$\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_G^J|_{(\mathrm{Div}^1_{X(F)})^J} = \mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_{G_F}^J \text{ and } \mathrm{Gr}_G^J|_{(\mathrm{Div}^1_{X(F)})^J} = \mathrm{Gr}_{G_F}^J$$

as v-stacks over  $(\operatorname{Div}_{X(F)}^1)^J$ . Also, applying [36, Lemma 15.6] to  $\operatorname{Spa} \check{F} \to \operatorname{Spa} \check{E}$  implies that  $\operatorname{Div}_{X(F)}^1 \to \operatorname{Div}_X^1$  is finite étale.

We even use the above to reduce definitions to the case when G is split:

#### **Definition.**

a) When G is split, write  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Gr}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{ULA}}$  for the full subcategory of

$$D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Gr}_G^J|_Z,\Lambda)^{\mathrm{bc}}$$

consisting of universally locally acyclic objects over Z as in [14, Definition IV.2.1], and write  $D_{\acute{e}t}(\mathcal{H}ck^J_G|_Z, \Lambda)^{\rm ULA}$  for the full subcategory of

$$D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_G^J|_Z,\Lambda)^{\mathrm{bc}}$$

consisting of objects whose pullback to  $\operatorname{Gr}_G^J|_Z$  lie in  $D_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Gr}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{ULA}}$ . b) Write  $D_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_G^J, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{ULA}}$  for the full subcategory of  $D_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$  consisting of

b) Write  $D_{\text{ét}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^{\circ}, \Lambda)^{\text{obs}}$  for the full subcategory of  $D_{\text{ét}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^{\circ}|_Z, \Lambda)$  consisting of objects whose pullback to

$$\mathcal{H} \mathrm{ck}_{G}^{J}|_{(\mathrm{Div}_{X(F)}^{1})^{J} \times_{(\mathrm{Div}_{X}^{1})^{J}Z}} = \mathcal{H} \mathrm{ck}_{G_{F}}^{J}|_{(\mathrm{Div}_{X(F)}^{1})^{J} \times_{(\mathrm{Div}_{X}^{1})^{J}Z}}$$

lie in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G_F}^J|_{(\text{Div}_{X(F)}^1)^J \times_{(\text{Div}_X^1)^J Z}}, \Lambda)^{\text{ULA}}$  as in Definition 7.14.a).

c) Write  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z,\Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$  and  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}^{J}(\mathrm{Gr}_G^J|_Z,\Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$  for the full subcategories of

$$D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z,\Lambda)$$
 and  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Gr}_G^J|_Z,\Lambda)$ ,

respectively, consisting of objects whose pullback to

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_{G}^{J}|_{(\mathrm{Div}_{X(F)}^{1})^{J}\times_{(\mathrm{Div}_{X}^{1})^{J}Z}} &= \mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_{G_{F}}^{J}|_{(\mathrm{Div}_{X(F)}^{1})^{J}\times_{(\mathrm{Div}_{X}^{1})^{J}Z}} \text{ and} \\ \mathrm{Gr}_{G}^{J}|_{(\mathrm{Div}_{X(F)}^{1})^{J}\times_{(\mathrm{Div}_{Y}^{1})^{J}Z}} &= \mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_{G_{F}}^{J}|_{(\mathrm{Div}_{X(F)}^{1})^{J}\times_{(\mathrm{Div}_{Y}^{1})^{J}Z}}, \end{aligned}$$

respectively, lie in

$$D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}\text{ck}^{J}_{G_{F}}|_{(\text{Div}^{1}_{X(F)})^{J}\times_{(\text{Div}^{1}_{X})^{J}Z}},\Lambda)^{\text{bd}} \text{ and } D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\text{Gr}^{J}_{G_{F}}|_{(\text{Div}^{1}_{X(F)})^{J}\times_{(\text{Div}^{1}_{X})^{J}Z}},\Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$$

as in 7.13 and 7.12, respectively.

7.15. Later, we will need the following fact. Write sw :  $\mathcal{H}ck_G^J \to \mathcal{H}ck_G^J$  for the automorphism given by  $(\mathscr{H}, \mathscr{H}', \rho) \mapsto (\mathscr{H}', \mathscr{H}, \rho^{-1})$ . When G is split, note that sw restricts to an isomorphism  $\mathcal{H}ck_{G,\leq\mu_{\bullet}}^J \to \mathcal{H}ck_{G,\leq-w_0(\mu_{\bullet})}^J$  for all  $\mu_{\bullet}$  in  $(X_*(T_{\infty})^+)^J$ , where  $w_0$  denotes the longest Weyl element. Consequently, for general G the functor sw\* preserves  $D_{\text{ét}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$ .

**Lemma.** Let A be in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$ . Then A lies in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{ULA}}$  if and only if sw<sup>\*</sup> A lies in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{ULA}}$ .

Proof. Definition 7.14.b) indicates that we can assume that G is split. For all  $\mu_{\bullet}$  in  $(X_*(T_{\infty})^+)^J$ , write  $(L_JG)_{\leq \mu_{\bullet}}$  for the preimage in  $L_JG$  of  $\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\leq \mu_{\bullet}}^J$ . Proposition 7.3 and [14, Proposition IV.2.13 (ii)] show that an object of  $D_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\leq \mu_{\bullet}}^J|_Z,\Lambda)$  is universally locally acyclic over Z if and only if its pullback to  $(L_JG)_{\leq \mu_{\bullet}}/(L_J^+G)^n$  is universally locally acyclic over Z. As n varies, we have a natural isomorphism between the pro-systems  $\{(L_JG)_{\leq \mu_{\bullet}}/(L_J^+G)^n\}_n$  and  $\{(L_J^+G)^n\setminus (L_JG)_{\leq \mu_{\bullet}}\}_n$ , and universal local acyclicity over Z on the two pro-systems is equivalent by Proposition 7.3 and [14, Lemma VI.6.3]. Hence the result follows from the commutative square

and applying the above to  $-w_0(\mu_{\bullet})$ .

7.16. Write  $\pi_G : \operatorname{Gr}_G^J \to (\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^J$  for the structure morphism, and for the rest of this subsection, assume that G is split. Proposition 7.7.i) indicates that we have a functor  $\pi_{G!} : D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Gr}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}} \to D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Z, \Lambda)$  that agrees with  $\pi_{G*}$ .

We conclude this section by proving the following criterion for being universally locally acyclic in terms of the constant term functor.

**Proposition.** Let A be in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$ . Then the following are equivalent: a) A lies in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{ULA}}$ , b)  $\operatorname{CT}_B(A)$  lies in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Gr}_T^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{ULA}}$ , c)  $\pi_{T!}\operatorname{CT}_B(A)$  lies  $D_{\text{lc}}(Z, \Lambda)$ .

*Proof.* Now  $\pi_T$  is ind-finite by Proposition 7.7.iii), so [14, Proposition IV.2.28] and [14, Proposition IV.2.9] indicate that b)  $\iff$  c). Corollary 7.12 indicates that a)  $\implies$  b), so we focus on b)  $\implies$  a). For all  $\mu_{\bullet}$  in  $(X_*(T_{\infty})^+)^J$ , Proposition 7.7.ii) shows that the action of  $L_J^+G$  on  $\operatorname{Gr}_{G,\leq\mu_{\bullet}}$  factors through  $L_J^+G \to L_J^nG$ , where *n* is any positive integer greater than all weights of  $\sum_{j\in J} \mu_j$  acting on Lie *G*. Then [14, Proposition VI.4.1] and the proof of Proposition 7.3 imply that pullback induces an equivalence of categories

$$D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}((L_J^n G) \backslash \mathrm{Gr}_{G, \leq \mu_{\bullet}}^J |_Z, \Lambda) \xrightarrow{\sim} D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_{G, \leq \mu_{\bullet}}^J |_Z, \Lambda).$$

By Proposition 7.3,  $(L_J^n G) \backslash \operatorname{Gr}_{G, \leq \mu_{\bullet}}^J |_Z$  is an Artin v-stack over Z. Therefore we can apply [14, Theorem IV.2.23] to see that it suffices to check that the natural morphism

$$(\ddagger) \qquad \qquad \mathscr{H}om_{\Lambda}(A, \pi_{G}^{!}\Lambda) \boxtimes_{\Lambda} A \to \mathscr{H}om_{\Lambda}(\mathrm{pr}_{1}^{*}A, \mathrm{pr}_{2}^{!}A)$$

is an isomorphism. Note that  $\mathcal{H}ck^J_{G\times_E G}|_Z = \mathcal{H}ck^J_G|_Z \times_Z \mathcal{H}ck^J_G|_Z$ , and (‡) lies in  $D_{\acute{e}t}(\mathcal{H}ck^J_{G\times_E G}|_Z, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}}$ . By applying Proposition 7.13 to the cone of (‡), it suffices to check that (‡) becomes an isomorphism after applying  $\mathrm{CT}_{\overline{B}\times_E B}$ . Because hyperbolic localization is compatible with exterior tensor products, [14, Proposition IV.6.13] shows that the left-hand side of (‡) becomes

$$\mathrm{CT}_{\overline{B}}(\mathscr{H}\mathrm{om}_{\Lambda}(A, \pi^!_{G}\Lambda)) \otimes_{\Lambda} \mathrm{CT}_{B}(A) = \mathscr{H}\mathrm{om}_{\Lambda}(\mathrm{CT}_{B}(A), \pi^!_{T}\Lambda) \otimes_{\Lambda} \mathrm{CT}_{B}(A),$$

while the right-hand side of (‡) becomes

$$(p_{1} \times \overline{p}_{2})_{*} (q_{1} \times \overline{q}_{2})^{!} \mathscr{H}om(pr_{1}^{*} A, pr_{2}^{!} A)$$

$$= (p_{1} \times \overline{p}_{2})_{*} \mathscr{H}om((q_{1} \times \overline{q}_{2})^{*} pr_{1}^{*} A, (q_{1} \times \overline{q}_{2})^{!} pr_{2}^{!} A)$$

$$= (p_{1} \times \overline{p}_{2})_{*} \mathscr{H}om(pr_{1}^{*} q_{1}^{*} A, pr_{2}^{!} \overline{q}_{2}^{!} A)$$

$$= (p_{1} \times id)_{*} (id \times \overline{p}_{2})_{*} \mathscr{H}om((id \times \overline{p}_{2})^{*} pr_{1}^{*} q_{1}^{*} A, pr_{2}^{!} \overline{q}_{2}^{!} A)$$

$$= (p_{1} \times id)_{*} \mathscr{H}om(pr_{1}^{*} q_{1}^{*} A, (id \times \overline{p}_{2})_{*} pr_{2}^{!} \overline{q}_{2}^{!} A)$$

$$= (p_{1} \times id)_{*} \mathscr{H}om(pr_{1}^{*} q_{1}^{*} A, pr_{2}^{!} \overline{p}_{2*} \overline{q}_{2}^{!} A)$$

$$= (p_{1} \times id)_{*} \mathscr{H}om(pr_{1}^{*} q_{1}^{*} A, pr_{2}^{!} \overline{p}_{2*} \overline{q}_{2}^{!} A)$$

$$= (p_{1} \times id)_{*} \mathscr{H}om(pr_{1}^{*} q_{1}^{*} A, pr_{2}^{!} \overline{p}_{2*} \overline{q}_{2}^{!} A)$$

$$= \mathscr{H}om((p_{1} \times id)_{!} pr_{1}^{*} q_{1}^{*} A, pr_{2}^{!} \overline{p}_{2*} \overline{q}_{2}^{!} A)$$

$$= \mathscr{H}om((pr_{1}^{*} cT_{B}(A), pr_{2}^{!} CT_{B}(A)).$$

$$by [36, Proposition 23.3 (i)]$$

Since  $CT_B(A)$  is universally locally acyclic over Z, applying [14, Theorem IV.2.23] again implies that this is indeed an isomorphism, as desired.

# 8. Geometric Satake

To construct geometric Hecke operators in our context, we need the analogue of geometric Satake over E. This is the goal of this section. We begin by defining the perverse *t*-structure on  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$  via characterizing its  $\leq 0$  part. To analyze its  $\geq 0$  part, we prove a characterization of the perverse *t*-structure in terms of (a shift of) the constant term functor  $CT_B$ .

After defining the analogue of the Satake category in our context, we prove that it enjoys all of the structures needed to apply Tannakian reconstruction. However, computing the resulting Hopf algebra requires working over rings like

$$(\bowtie) \qquad \qquad \operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathbb{Z}_{\ell}),$$

which seem inaccessible to Tannakian identification results. Instead, we first prove the result with  $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$ -coefficients by explicitly constructing objects and morphisms in the Satake category, using the fact that  $\operatorname{Rep} \widehat{G}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}$  is semisimple, and then we deduce the result with  $\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}$ -coefficients, using a version of Hartog's lemma for ( $\bowtie$ ). In both steps, we reduce to the situation considered in Fargues–Scholze [14].

8.1. Write  ${}^{p}D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}^{\leq 0}(\mathcal{H}\text{ck}_{G}^{J}|_{Z}, \Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$  for the full subcategory of  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}\text{ck}_{G}^{J}|_{Z}, \Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$  consisting of objects A such that, for all geometric points  $\overline{s}$  of Z with image  $\{i\}$  in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  and under the identification  $\mathcal{H}\text{ck}_{G}^{J}|_{\overline{s}} = \mathcal{H}\text{ck}_{G_{i}}^{J}|_{\overline{s}}$  from 7.5, the pullback to  $\mathcal{H}\text{ck}_{G}^{J}|_{\overline{s}}$  of A lies in the full subcategory

$${}^{p}D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}^{\leq 0}(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_{G_{i}}^{J}|_{\overline{s}},\Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}} \subseteq D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_{G_{i}}^{J}|_{\overline{s}},\Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}}$$

as in [14, Definition/Proposition VI.7.1].

**Lemma.** There exists a unique t-structure on  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$  whose  $\leq 0$  part equals  ${}^p D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}^{\leq 0}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$ .

Write  ${}^{p}D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}^{\geq 0}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G}^{J}|_{Z},\Lambda)^{\text{bd}} \subseteq D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G}^{J}|_{Z},\Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$  for the  $\geq 0$  part of this *t*-structure, and write  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G}^{J}|_{Z},\Lambda) \subseteq D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G}^{J}|_{Z},\Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$  for the heart of this *t*-structure.

*Proof.* This follows from [36, Proposition 17.3] and [31, Proposition 1.4.4.11].  $\Box$ 

When G is split, write deg :  $|\operatorname{Gr}_T^J| \to \mathbb{Z}$  for the composition 8.2.

$$\left|\operatorname{Gr}_{T}^{J}\right| \xrightarrow{\Sigma} X_{*}(T_{\infty}) \xrightarrow{\langle 2\rho, -\rangle} \mathbb{Z}$$

The perverse t-structure and the constant term functor (after shifting by deg) enjoy the following exactness properties.

## **Proposition.**

- i) Let A be in D<sub>ét</sub>(Hck<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ)<sup>bd</sup>, and assume that G is split. Then A lies in <sup>p</sup>D<sup>≤0</sup><sub>ét</sub>(Hck<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ)<sup>bd</sup> or <sup>p</sup>D<sup>≥0</sup><sub>ét</sub>(Hck<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ)<sup>bd</sup> if and only if CT<sub>B</sub>(A)[deg] lies in D<sup>≤0</sup><sub>ét</sub>(Gr<sup>J</sup><sub>T</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ)<sup>bd</sup> or D<sup>≥0</sup><sub>ét</sub>(Gr<sup>J</sup><sub>T</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ)<sup>bd</sup>, respectively.
  ii) For all small v-stacks Z' over Z, the pullback functor

$$D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}} \to D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_G^J|_{Z'}, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}}$$

is t-exact for the perverse t-structure.

*Proof.* For part i), let A be in  ${}^{p}D_{\acute{e}t}^{\leq 0}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G}^{J}|_{Z},\Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}}$  or  ${}^{p}D_{\acute{e}t}^{\geq 0}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G}^{J}|_{Z},\Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}}$ . To check that  $\mathrm{CT}_{B}(A)[\mathrm{deg}]$  lies in  $D_{\acute{e}t}^{\leq 0}(\mathrm{Gr}_{T}^{J}|_{Z},\Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}}$  or  $D_{\acute{e}t}^{\geq 0}(\mathrm{Gr}_{T}^{J}|_{Z},\Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}}$ , respectively, [36, Proposition 14.3] implies that it suffices to check on geometric points of  $\operatorname{Gr}_T^J|_Z$ . Hence Corollary 7.12 indicates that we can assume that Z is a geometric point. Then the image of |Z| in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  equals  $\{i\}$  for some i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , so the result follows from 7.5 and [14, Proposition VI.7.4].

Conversely, assume that  $\operatorname{CT}_B(A)[\operatorname{deg}]$  lies in  $D_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}^{\leq 0}(\operatorname{Gr}_T^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{bd}}$  or  $D_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}^{\geq 0}(\operatorname{Gr}_T^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{bd}}$ . The above shows that applying  $\operatorname{CT}_B(A)[\operatorname{deg}]$  to the exact triangles

$${}^{p}\tau^{\leq 0}A \longrightarrow A \longrightarrow {}^{p}\tau^{\geq 1}A \xrightarrow{+1}$$
$${}^{p}\tau^{\leq -1}A \longrightarrow A \longrightarrow {}^{p}\tau^{\geq 0}A \xrightarrow{+1}$$

vields exact triangles

$$\tau^{\leq 0} \operatorname{CT}_B(A)[\operatorname{deg}] \longrightarrow \operatorname{CT}_B(A)[\operatorname{deg}] \longrightarrow \operatorname{CT}_B({}^p\tau^{\geq 1}A)[\operatorname{deg}] \stackrel{+1}{\longrightarrow}$$
$$\operatorname{CT}_B({}^p\tau^{\leq -1}A)[\operatorname{deg}] \longrightarrow \operatorname{CT}_B(A)[\operatorname{deg}] \longrightarrow \tau^{\geq 0} \operatorname{CT}_B(A)[\operatorname{deg}] \stackrel{+1}{\longrightarrow},$$

respectively. Therefore  $\operatorname{CT}_B({}^{p}\tau^{\geq 1}A)[\operatorname{deg}]$  or  $\operatorname{CT}_B({}^{p}\tau^{\leq -1}A)[\operatorname{deg}]$  is zero, respectively, so Proposition 7.13 indicates that  ${}^{p}\tau^{\geq 1}A$  or  ${}^{p}\tau^{\leq -1}A$  is zero, respectively. This yields the desired result.

For part ii), right t-exactness holds by construction, so we focus on left texactness. Then [4, 1.3.4] and descent [36, Proposition 17.3] show that we can replace Z with a v-cover, so 7.14 indicates that we can assume that G is split. Finally, the result follows from part i) and Corollary 7.12.  $\square$ 

# 8.3. Corollary.

i) Let A be in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z,\Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$ . Then A lies in  ${}^pD_{\text{\acute{e}t}}^{\geq 0}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z,\Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$  if and only if, for all geometric points  $\overline{s}$  of Z, the pullback to  $\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_{\overline{s}}$  of A lies in  ${}^{p}D_{\text{ét}}^{\geq 0}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G}^{J}|_{\overline{s}},\Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$ . Therefore, A lies in  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G}^{J}|_{Z},\Lambda)$  if and only if, for all geometric points  $\overline{s}$  of Z, the pullback to  $\mathcal{H}ck_{G}^{J}|_{\overline{s}}$  of A lies in  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G}^{J}|_{\overline{s}},\Lambda)$ .

ii) For all open substacks  $U \subseteq Z$ , the \*-pushforward functor

$$D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_G^J|_U, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}} \to D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}}$$

is left t-exact for the perverse t-structure.

*Proof.* For part i), the forward direction follows from Proposition 8.2.ii). In the other direction, [4, 1.3.4], and descent [36, Proposition 17.3] show that we can replace Z with a v-cover, so 7.14 indicates that we can assume that G is split. Then the result follows from Proposition 8.2.i), Corollary 7.12, and [36, Proposition 14.3].

For part ii), write  $\{i\}$  for the image of  $\overline{s}$  in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , and identify  $\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_{\overline{s}}$  with  $\mathcal{H}ck_{G_i}^J|_{\overline{s}}$  as in 7.5. Now  ${}^p D^{\geq 0}_{\acute{e}t}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_{\overline{s}}, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}}$  equals the full subcategory

$${}^{p}D^{\geq 0}_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}^{J}_{G_{i}}|_{\overline{s}},\Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}} \subseteq D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}^{J}_{G_{i}}|_{\overline{s}},\Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}}$$

as in [14, Definition/Proposition VI.7.1], so the discussion on [14, p. 221] characterizes  ${}^{p}D_{\text{ét}}^{\geq 0}(\mathcal{H}\text{ck}_{G}^{J}|_{\overline{s}}, \Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$  in terms of certain !-pullbacks. Therefore the desired result follows from part i) and [36, Proposition 23.16 (i)].

8.4. We now introduce the Satake category. Write  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$  for the full subcategory of  $D_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{ULA}}$  consisting of objects A such that, for all  $\Lambda$ -modules M, the tensor product  $A \otimes_{\Lambda} M$  lies in  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$ . In particular,  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$  lies in  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$ .

The Satake category can be described in terms of the constant term functor:

**Proposition.** Let A be in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{ULA}}$ , and assume that G is split. Then A lies in  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$  if and only if  $\pi_{T!} \operatorname{CT}_B(A)[\operatorname{deg}]$  lies in  $\operatorname{LocSys}(Z, \Lambda)$ .

*Proof.* Proposition 7.16 shows that  $\pi_{T!} \operatorname{CT}_B(A)[\operatorname{deg}]$  lies in  $D_{\operatorname{lc}}(Z, \Lambda)$ , and  $\pi_T$  is indfinite by Proposition 7.7.iii). Therefore Proposition 8.2.i) indicates that  $A \otimes_{\Lambda} M$ lying in  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$  for all  $\Lambda$ -modules M is equivalent to

 $\pi_{T!} \operatorname{CT}_B(A \otimes_{\Lambda} M)[\operatorname{deg}] = (\pi_{T!} \operatorname{CT}_B(A)[\operatorname{deg}]) \otimes_{\Lambda} M$ 

being concentrated in degree 0 for all  $\Lambda$ -modules M. The latter is equivalent to  $\pi_{T!} \operatorname{CT}_B(A)[\operatorname{deg}]$  lying in  $\operatorname{LocSys}(Z, \Lambda)$  by [40, Tag 0658].

8.5. Write  $\pi_{G!}$  for the composition

$$\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda) \longrightarrow D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Gr}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}} \xrightarrow{\pi_{G!}} D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(Z, \Lambda).$$

The (relative) total cohomology functor on  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$ , which will be the fiber functor we use to apply Tannakian reconstruction, satisfies the following properties.

**Proposition.** Let A be in  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$ .

i) When G is split, we have an isomorphism

$$\bigoplus_{d\in\mathbb{Z}} H^d(\pi_{G!}A) \cong \pi_{T!} \operatorname{CT}_B(A)[\operatorname{deg}].$$

- ii) The object  $F_Z(A) := \bigoplus_{d \in \mathbb{Z}} H^d(\pi_{G!}A)$  is concentrated in degree 0, and the resulting functor  $F_Z$ :  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda) \to \operatorname{Shv}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(Z, \Lambda)$  is conservative, exact, and faithful.
- iii) When  $F_Z$  is restricted to  $\operatorname{Sat}(\operatorname{Hck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$ , its image lies in  $\operatorname{LocSys}(Z, \Lambda)$ . Moreover,  $\operatorname{Sat}(\operatorname{Hck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$  admits and  $F_Z$  reflects coequalizers of  $F_Z$ -split pairs.

When  $Z = (\text{Div}_X^1)^J$ , write  $F^J$  for  $F_{(\text{Div}_Y^1)^J}$ .

*Proof.* For part i), note that  $\operatorname{Gr}_B^J = \coprod_{\nu} \operatorname{Gr}_B^{J,\nu}$ , where  $\nu$  runs over  $X_*(T_{\infty})$ . Therefore  $\operatorname{CT}_B(A) = \bigoplus_{\nu} p_{\nu!} q_{\nu}^* A$ , where  $p_{\nu} : \operatorname{Gr}_B^{J,\nu} \to \operatorname{Gr}_T^J$  and  $q_{\nu} : \operatorname{Gr}_B^{J,\nu} \to \operatorname{Gr}_G^J$  denote the restrictions to  $\operatorname{Gr}_{B}^{J,\nu}$  of p and q, respectively. Proposition 8.2.i) indicates that  $p_{\nu!}q_{\nu}^{*}A$ is concentrated in degree  $\langle 2\rho, \nu \rangle$ , and because  $\pi_T$  is ind-finite by Proposition 7.7.iii), this implies that  $\pi_{T!} p_{\nu !} q_{\nu}^* A$  is concentrated in degree  $\langle 2\rho, \nu \rangle$ .

Proposition 7.11.ii) yields a stratification of  $\operatorname{Gr}_G^J$  by  $q_{\nu} : \operatorname{Gr}_B^{J,\nu} \to \operatorname{Gr}_G^J$ . The excision exact triangles associated with this stratification yield a filtration of A with graded pieces  $q_{\nu!}q_{\nu}^*A$ , so applying  $\pi_{G!}$  yields a filtration of  $\pi_{G!}A$  with graded pieces  $\pi_{G!}q_{\nu!}q_{\nu}^*A = \pi_{T!}p_{\nu!}q_{\nu}^*A$ . The proof of Proposition 7.12 shows that the image of  $q_{\nu}$ lies in the clopen subspace  $(\mathrm{Gr}_G^J)^{\langle 2\rho,\nu\rangle} \subseteq \mathrm{Gr}_G^J$  from Proposition 7.7.iv), so we can restrict to  $\nu$  such that the image of  $\langle 2\rho, \nu \rangle$  in  $\mathbb{Z}/2$  is fixed. Then the above implies that the spectral sequence associated with this filtration of  $\pi_{G!}A$  degenerates, which yields the desired isomorphism

$$\bigoplus_{d\in\mathbb{Z}} H^d(\pi_G!A) \cong \bigoplus_{\nu} H^{\langle 2\rho,\nu\rangle}(\pi_T!p_{\nu!}q_{\nu}^*A) = \pi_T! \operatorname{CT}_B(A)[\operatorname{deg}].$$

We turn to part ii) and part iii). Descent [36, Proposition 17.3] and [36, Proposition 22.19 imply that we can replace Z with a v-cover, so 7.14 indicates that we can assume that G is split. Then part i) shows that  $F_Z(A) \cong \pi_{T_1} \operatorname{CT}_B(A)[\operatorname{deg}]$ . By Proposition 8.2.i), the object  $F_Z(A)$  lies in  $\operatorname{Shv}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(Z,\Lambda)$ , and  $F_Z$  is exact. Since  $\pi_T$ is ind-finite by Proposition 7.7.iii), Proposition 7.13 shows that  $F_Z$  is conservative, and by taking differences of morphisms, exactness and conservativity imply that  $F_Z$  is faithful. This yields part ii).

For part iii), Proposition 8.4 indicates that  $F_Z(A)$  lies in  $LocSys(Z, \Lambda)$ . Finally, by taking differences of morphisms, it suffices to show that, for all morphisms  $f: A \to A'$  in  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$  such that coker  $F_Z(f)$  is a direct summand of  $F_Z(A)$ , the object coker f in  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$  lies in  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$ . This follows from Proposition 7.16 and Proposition 8.4.  $\square$ 

8.6. We can use Proposition 8.5 to prove that Verdier duality preserves the Satake category. More precisely, write  $\mathbb{D} : D_{\text{\'et}}(\mathcal{H}\text{ck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{ULA}} \to D_{\text{\'et}}(\mathcal{H}\text{ck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{ULA}}$  for the Verdier dual as in [14, IV.2.3.1] on  $\mathcal{H}\text{ck}_{G,\leq\mu_{\bullet}}^J|_Z$  relative to  $Z/(L_J^+G)$ , where  $\mu_{\bullet}$ runs over  $(X_*(T_\infty)^+)^J$ .

**Proposition.** Let A be in  $D_{\text{ét}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{ULA}}$ .

- i) The object A lies in <sup>p</sup>D<sup>≤0</sup><sub>ét</sub>(Hck<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ)<sup>bd</sup> or <sup>p</sup>D<sup>≥0</sup><sub>ét</sub>(Hck<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ)<sup>bd</sup> if and only if D(A) lies in <sup>p</sup>D<sup>≥0</sup><sub>ét</sub>(Hck<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ)<sup>bd</sup> or <sup>p</sup>D<sup>≤0</sup><sub>ét</sub>(Hck<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ)<sup>bd</sup>, respectively.
  ii) If A lies in Sat(Hck<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ), then D(A) lies in Sat(Hck<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ).

*Proof.* For part i), we start with the first equivalence. Corollary 8.3.i) and [14, Proposition IV.2.15] imply that we can assume that Z is a geometric point. Then the result follows from [36, Proposition 23.3 (ii)] and the proof of Corollary 8.3.ii). As for the second equivalence, it follows from [14, Corollary IV.2.25] and the first equivalence.

For part ii), Corollary 8.3.i) implies that we can replace Z with a v-cover, so 7.14 indicates that we can assume that G is split. Part i) shows that  $\mathbb{D}(A)$  lies in

 $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$ , so Proposition 8.5.i) and [36, Proposition 23.3 (i)] indicate that

$$\pi_{T!} \operatorname{CT}_{B}(\mathbb{D}(A))[\operatorname{deg}] \cong \bigoplus_{d \in \mathbb{Z}} H^{d}(\pi_{G!}\mathbb{D}(A)) = \bigoplus_{d \in \mathbb{Z}} H^{d}(\pi_{G*}\mathbb{D}(A))$$
$$= \bigoplus_{d \in \mathbb{Z}} H^{d}(\mathscr{H}\operatorname{om}_{\Lambda}(\pi_{G!}A, \Lambda)) = \mathscr{H}\operatorname{om}_{\Lambda}\Big(\bigoplus_{d \in \mathbb{Z}} H^{d}(\pi_{G!}A), \Lambda\Big),$$

since  $\bigoplus_{d \in \mathbb{Z}} H^d(\pi_{G!}A)$  lies in LocSys $(Z, \Lambda)$ , by Proposition 8.5.iii). Therefore

$$\pi_{T!} \operatorname{CT}_B(\mathbb{D}(A))[\operatorname{deg}]$$

also lies in  $LocSys(Z, \Lambda)$ , so the result follows from Proposition 8.4.

8.7. In this subsection, assume that G is split. The following construction provides an important source of objects in the Satake category. Write  $J_{\mu} : \mathcal{H}ck_{G,\mu}^{\{*\}} \to \mathcal{H}ck_{G}^{\{*\}}$ for the locally closed embedding from 7.8.

**Proposition.** The objects  ${}^{p}H^{0}(_{1u!}\Lambda[d_{u}])$  and  ${}^{p}H^{0}(_{1u*}\Lambda[d_{u}])$  of  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}ck_{C}^{\{*\}}|_{Z},\Lambda)$ lie in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^{\{*\}}|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{ULA}}$ , and their values under  $\operatorname{CT}_B[\operatorname{deg}]$  are locally constant with finite free fibers. Consequently, the same holds for their values under  $F_Z$ , and  ${}^{p}H^{0}(\mathfrak{l}_{\mu!}\Lambda[d_{\mu}])$  and  ${}^{p}H^{0}(\mathfrak{l}_{\mu*}\Lambda[d_{\mu}])$  lie in  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_{G}^{J}|_{Z},\Lambda)$ .

*Proof.* The first sentence follows from the proof of [14, Proposition VI.7.5]. The second sentence follows from Proposition 8.5.i) and Proposition 8.4. 

8.8. We now give our first definition (via convolution) of the monoidal structure on the Satake category. Proposition 7.4 implies that we have a cartesian square

Taking into account the discussion on [14, p. 224], this identifies  $D_{\text{ét}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z,\Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$ with the category of 1-endomorphisms of the object  $Z/(L_T^+G)$  in the 2-category  $C_{Z/(L_{J}G)}$  as in [14, IV.2.3.3]. Write

$$\star: D_{\text{\'et}}(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}} \times D_{\mathrm{\'et}}(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}} \to D_{\mathrm{\'et}}(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}}$$

for the monoidal structure arising from composition of 1-morphisms in  $\mathcal{C}_{Z/(L_JG)}$ .

**Proposition.** Let A and A' be in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$ .

(

- i) If A and A' lie in D<sub>ét</sub>(Hck<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ)<sup>ULA</sup>, then A ★ A' lies in D<sub>ét</sub>(Hck<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ)<sup>ULA</sup>.
  ii) If A and A' both lie in <sup>p</sup>D<sup>≤0</sup><sub>ét</sub>(Hck<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ)<sup>bd</sup> or <sup>p</sup>D<sup>≥0</sup><sub>ét</sub>(Hck<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ)<sup>bd</sup>, then A ★ A' lies in <sup>p</sup>D<sup>≤0</sup><sub>ét</sub>(Hck<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ)<sup>bd</sup> or <sup>p</sup>D<sup>≥0</sup><sub>ét</sub>(Hck<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ)<sup>bd</sup>, respectively.
  iii) If A and A' lie in Sat(Hck<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ), then A ★ A' lies in Sat(Hck<sup>J</sup><sub>G</sub>|<sub>Z</sub>, Λ).

*Proof.* Proposition 7.7.i) lets us apply [14, Proposition IV.2.26] and [14, Proposition IV.2.11] to show part i). For part ii), Corollary 8.3.i) and [36, Proposition 22.19] imply that we can assume that Z is a geometric point. Then the first statement follows from 7.5 and [14, Proposition VI.8.1 (ii)]. By Proposition 8.6.i) and [14, Theorem IV.2.23], the second statement follows from the first.

For part iii), part i) shows that  $A \star A'$  lies in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{ULA}}$ . Since

$$(A \star A') \otimes_{\Lambda} M = (A \otimes_{\Lambda} M) \star (A' \otimes_{\Lambda} M)$$

for all  $\Lambda$ -modules M, the result follows from part ii).

8.9. The machinery of [14, Section IV.2.3.3] shows that the Satake category has duals with respect to convolution.

**Proposition.** Let A be in Sat( $\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda$ ). Then A is dualizable with respect to  $\star$ , and its dual is isomorphic to sw<sup>\*</sup>  $\mathbb{D}(A)$ .

*Proof.* Taking into account the discussion on [14, p. 224], we see from [14, Proposition IV.2.24] that the dual of A in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$  is isomorphic to sw\*  $\mathbb{D}(A)$ . Proposition 8.6.ii) shows that  $\mathbb{D}$  preserves  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$ . Finally, Corollary 8.3.i) and the proof of Corollary 8.3.ii) indicate that sw\* preserves  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_Z, \Lambda)$ .  $\Box$ 

8.10. Next, we give our second definition (via fusion) of the monoidal structure on the Satake category. Let  $P = \{J_1, \ldots, J_s\}$  be an ordered partition of J. Under the identification from 7.9, write

$$*: \prod_{k=1}^{s} D_{\text{\'et}}(\mathcal{H} \text{ck}_{G}^{J_{k}}, \Lambda)^{\text{bd}} \to D_{\text{\'et}}(\mathcal{H} \text{ck}_{G}^{J}|_{(\text{Div}_{X}^{1})^{\text{p}}}, \Lambda)^{\text{bd}}$$

for the functor that sends  $(A_1, \ldots, A_s) \mapsto (A_1 \boxtimes \cdots \boxtimes A_s)|_{(\operatorname{Div}^1_X)^p}$ . By the Künneth formula and [36, Proposition 22.19], \* is monoidal with respect to  $\prod_{k=1}^s *$  on the source and \* on the target.

Because the identification from 7.9 is independent of the ordering of P, we have a natural isomorphism  $A_1 * \cdots * A_s \cong A_{\sigma(1)} * \cdots * A_{\sigma(s)}$  for all  $\sigma$  in the symmetric group  $\mathfrak{S}_s$ . Using Proposition 7.7.iv), replace these natural isomorphisms with their modified version as in [14, p. 228].

8.11. Lemma. If  $A_k$  lies in  $\operatorname{Sat}(\operatorname{\mathcal{H}ck}_G^{J_k}, \Lambda)$  for all  $1 \leq k \leq s$ , then  $A_1 * \cdots * A_s$  lies in  $\operatorname{Sat}(\operatorname{\mathcal{H}ck}_G^J|_{(\operatorname{Div}_*^1)^p}, \Lambda)$ .

*Proof.* The Künneth formula indicates that  $A_1 * \cdots * A_s$  lies in

$$D_{\text{ét}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_{(\operatorname{Div}^1_{\mathbf{v}})^p}, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{ULA}}.$$

Next, we have  $(A_1 * \cdots * A_s) \otimes_{\Lambda} M = (A_1 \otimes_{\Lambda} M) * \cdots * (A_s \otimes_{\Lambda} M)$  for all  $\Lambda$ -modules M, so it suffices to show that  $A_1 * \cdots * A_s$  lies in  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_{(\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^p}, \Lambda)$ . Corollary 8.3.i) implies that we can replace  $(\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^p$  with a v-cover, so 7.14 indicates that we can assume that G is split. Then Proposition 8.2.i) shows that the desired condition is equivalent to  $\operatorname{CT}_B(A_1 * \cdots * A_s)[\operatorname{deg}]$  being concentrated in degree 0. Since hyperbolic localization is compatible with exterior tensor products and deg is compatible with 7.9, Corollary 7.12 indicates that the above is isomorphic to

$$\left(\operatorname{CT}_B(A_1)[\operatorname{deg}]\boxtimes\cdots\boxtimes\operatorname{CT}_B(A_s)[\operatorname{deg}]\right)\Big|_{(\operatorname{Div}^1_X)^p},$$

so applying Proposition 8.2.i) again s times yields the desired result.

8.12. The Satake category enjoys the following functoriality with respect to surjective maps  $\zeta : J \to J'$  of finite sets. Note that we have a natural identification  $\mathcal{H}ck_G^J \times_{(\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^J} (\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^{J'} = \mathcal{H}ck_G^{J'}$  and hence a natural morphism  $\zeta : \mathcal{H}ck_G^{J'} \to \mathcal{H}ck_G^J$  over the morphism  $\zeta : (\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^{J'} \to (\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^{J'}$ . The resulting pullback

$$\zeta^*: D_{\text{\'et}}(\mathcal{H} \mathrm{ck}^J_G, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}} \to D_{\mathrm{\'et}}(\mathcal{H} \mathrm{ck}^{J'}_G, \Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}}$$

sends  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_G^J, \Lambda)$  to  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_G^{J'}, \Lambda)$  by Proposition 8.2.ii), and the square

commutes by [36, Proposition 22.19].

8.13. We need the following version of "analytic continuation" for the Satake category. Write  $_{JP} : (Div_X^1)^P \rightarrow (Div_X^1)^J$  for the open embedding from 7.9, and write

 $\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{P}}:\left[(\mathrm{Div}_X^1)^J-(\mathrm{Div}_X^1)^{\mathbf{P}}\right]\!\rightarrow\!(\mathrm{Div}_X^1)^J$ 

for the complementary closed embedding.

**Lemma.** For all A in Sat( $\mathcal{H}ck_G^J, \Lambda$ ) and B in LocSys( $(\text{Div}_X^1)^J, \Lambda$ ), the morphisms

 $A \rightarrow {}^{p}H^{0}(J_{P*}J_{P}^{*}A) \text{ and } B \rightarrow H^{0}(J_{P*}J_{P}^{*}B)$ 

are isomorphisms. Consequently, the pullback functors

$$\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_{G}^{J}, \Lambda) \to \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_{G}^{J}|_{(\operatorname{Div}_{X}^{1})^{\mathsf{P}}}, \Lambda)$$
$$\operatorname{LocSys}((\operatorname{Div}_{X}^{1})^{J}, \Lambda) \to \operatorname{LocSys}((\operatorname{Div}_{X}^{1})^{\mathsf{P}}, \Lambda)$$

are fully faithful.

*Proof.* If #J = 1, then  $(\text{Div}_X^1)^p = (\text{Div}_X^1)^J$ , and there is nothing to prove. Hence assume that  $\#J \ge 2$ . For the statement about *B*, the excision exact triangle

$$\iota_{\mathbb{P}*}\iota_{\mathbb{P}}^{!}B \longrightarrow B \longrightarrow \jmath_{\mathbb{P}*}J_{\mathbb{P}}^{*}B \xrightarrow{+1}$$

implies that it suffices to prove that  $_{\mathbf{P}*}\mathbf{1}_{\mathbf{P}}^{l}B$  lies in  $D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}^{\geq 2}((\operatorname{Div}_{X}^{1})^{J}, \Lambda)$ . Now Corollary 4.14 shows that  $(\operatorname{Div}_{X}^{1})^{J}$  is cohomologically smooth of dimension  $\#J \geq 2$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , and it also shows that  $(\operatorname{Div}_{X}^{1})^{J} - (\operatorname{Div}_{X}^{1})^{\mathsf{P}}$  has a stratification by locally closed subsheaves that are cohomologically smooth of dimension 1 over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Because *B* lies in LocSys( $(\operatorname{Div}_{X}^{1})^{J}, \Lambda$ ), using [36, Proposition 23.16 (iii)] to work étale-locally yields the desired result.

We turn to the statement about A. The excision exact triangle

$${}_{1_{\mathsf{P}*}1_{\mathsf{P}}^!}A \longrightarrow A \longrightarrow {}_{J_{\mathsf{P}*}J_{\mathsf{P}}^*}A \xrightarrow{+1}$$

implies that it suffices to prove that  $_{\mathbf{P}*1_{\mathbf{P}}^{\mathbf{I}}}A$  lies in  $^{p}D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}^{\geq 2}(\mathcal{H}\mathrm{ck}_{G}^{J},\Lambda)^{\mathrm{bd}}$ . Since

$$\operatorname{Div}_{X(F)}^{1} \to \operatorname{Div}_{X}^{1}$$

is an étale cover, [36, Proposition 23.16 (iii)] and 7.14 imply that we can assume that G is split. Then Proposition 8.2.i) shows that the desired condition is equivalent to  $\operatorname{CT}_B(_{1P*1P}^!A)[\operatorname{deg}]$  lying in  $D_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}^{\geq 2}((\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^J, \Lambda)$ , and Corollary 7.12 yields

$$\operatorname{CT}_B(\mathfrak{l}_{\mathfrak{P}*}\mathfrak{l}_{\mathfrak{P}}^!A)[\operatorname{deg}] = \mathfrak{l}_{\mathfrak{P}*}\mathfrak{l}_{\mathfrak{P}}^!\operatorname{CT}_B(A)[\operatorname{deg}]$$

Proposition 8.4 indicates that  $\operatorname{CT}_B(A)[\operatorname{deg}]$  lies in  $\operatorname{LocSys}((\operatorname{Div}^1_X)^J, \Lambda)$ , so the desired result follows from the above work.

8.14. At this point, we can prove that fusion yields a symmetric monoidal structure on the Satake category, as well as that fusion agrees with convolution.

## Proposition.

i) The image of

$$*: \prod_{k=1}^{s} \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H} \mathrm{ck}_{G}^{J_{k}}, \Lambda) \to \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H} \mathrm{ck}_{G}^{J}|_{(\operatorname{Div}_{X}^{1})^{\mathsf{p}}}, \Lambda)$$

lies in the image of  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J, \Lambda)$ , and the square

commutes. Moreover, this is functorial in refinements and permutations of P. ii) The functor  $\star$  is naturally isomorphic to the composition

$$\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_{G}^{J}, \Lambda) \times \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_{G}^{J}, \Lambda) \xrightarrow{*} \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_{G}^{J \coprod J}, \Lambda) \xrightarrow{\zeta^{*}} \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_{G}^{J}, \Lambda),$$

where  $\zeta : J \coprod J \to J$  denotes the natural map. Consequently,  $\star$  is naturally a symmetric monoidal structure, and  $F^J$  is symmetric monoidal with respect to  $\star$  on the source and  $\otimes_{\Lambda}$  on the target.

*Proof.* We start with part i). The first statement follows from the proof of [14, Definition/Proposition VI.9.4]. As for the second statement, Lemma 8.13 shows that it suffices to check that the square

$$\begin{split} \prod_{k=1}^{s} \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_{G}^{J_{k}}, \Lambda) & \stackrel{*}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_{G}^{J}|_{(\operatorname{Div}_{X}^{1})^{\mathsf{p}}}, \Lambda) \\ & \downarrow^{\prod_{k=1}^{s} F^{J_{k}}} & \downarrow^{F_{(\operatorname{Div}_{X}^{1})^{\mathsf{p}}} \\ \prod_{k=1}^{s} \operatorname{LocSys}((\operatorname{Div}_{X}^{1})^{J_{k}}, \Lambda) & \stackrel{\boxtimes}{\longrightarrow} \operatorname{LocSys}((\operatorname{Div}_{X}^{1})^{\mathsf{p}}, \Lambda) \end{split}$$

commutes, and this follows from the Künneth formula. Finally, the last statement follows from 8.10.

For part ii), part i) and 8.10 imply that the composition yields a symmetric monoidal structure that commutes with  $\star$ . Therefore the Eckmann–Hilton argument shows that it is naturally isomorphic to  $\star$ , so the last statement follows from part i).
8.15. Let us explicate the target of our fiber functor  $F^J$ . Recall from 3.16 the group topological space  $\mathbb{W}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Because  $\mathbb{W}$  is letd over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  as in Definition 1.2, so is the *J*-fold fiber power  $\mathbb{W}^J$  of  $\mathbb{W}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Recall from Definition 1.5 the category  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \Lambda)$ , and write  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{fp}}$  for the full subcategory of  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \Lambda)$  given by objects whose underlying sheaf of  $\Lambda$ -modules on  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  is locally constant with finite projective fibers.

For the rest of this paper, we work over  $\operatorname{Spd} \overline{\mathbb{F}}_q$ .

**Lemma.** The category  $\operatorname{Shv}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Div}_X^1, \Lambda)$  is naturally equivalent to  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}, \Lambda)$ , and the category  $\operatorname{LocSys}((\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^J, \Lambda)$  is naturally equivalent to  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{fp}}$ .

*Proof.* The second statement follows from Proposition 3.18 and Lemma 1.6. As for the first statement, Proposition 2.13 identifies  $\operatorname{Spd} C$  with  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\} \times \operatorname{Spa} C_{\infty}$ , so the pullback functor  $D_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \Lambda) \to D_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Spd} C, \Lambda)$  is an equivalence. Hence the desired result follows from Proposition 3.17 and Lemma 1.6.

8.16. When applying Tannakian reconstruction to the Satake category, we consider the latter as an enriched category in the following way. Using the identification from Lemma 8.15, we obtain an action

 $\otimes_{\Lambda} : \operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{fp}} \times D_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}^J_G, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{bd}} \to D_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}^J_G, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{bd}}$ 

with respect to  $\otimes_{\Lambda}$  on  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{fp}}$ , given by  $(B, A) \mapsto \pi^*_G B \otimes_{\Lambda} A$ . By the adjoint functor theorem, this induces a  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{fp}}$ -enriched structure on  $D_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck^J_G, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{bd}}$ .

**Lemma.** The action  $\otimes_{\Lambda}$  preserves  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J, \Lambda)$  and  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J, \Lambda)$ . Moreover,  $F^J$  is  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{fp}}$ -linear.

Proof. Let B be in  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{fp}}$ , and let A be in  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}^J_G, \Lambda)$ . For all geometric points  $\overline{s}$  of  $(\operatorname{Div}^1_X)^J$ , the pullback  $(\pi^*_G B)|_{\overline{s}}$  is a finite free  $\Lambda$ -module concentrated in degree 0, so Corollary 8.3.i) implies that  $\pi^*_G B \otimes_{\Lambda} A$  lies in  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}^J_G, \Lambda)$ . Next, the projection formula [36, Proposition 22.23] shows that  $F^J$  is  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{fp}}$ -linear. Finally, suppose that A lies in  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}^J_G, \Lambda)$ . Since

$$(\pi^*_G B \otimes_\Lambda A) \otimes_\Lambda M = \pi^*_G B \otimes_\Lambda (A \otimes_\Lambda M)$$

for all  $\Lambda$ -modules M, the above indicates that it suffices to check that  $\pi_G^* B \otimes_{\Lambda} A$  lies in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J, \Lambda)^{\text{ULA}}$ . Using [14, Proposition IV.2.13 (ii)] and 7.14, we can assume that G is split. Then combining Proposition 8.5.i) with the above shows that

$$\operatorname{CT}_B(\pi_G^*B \otimes_\Lambda A)[\operatorname{deg}] \cong F^J(\pi_G^*B \otimes_\Lambda A) = B \otimes_\Lambda F^J(A) \cong B \otimes_\Lambda \operatorname{CT}_B(A)[\operatorname{deg}].$$

Proposition 7.16 indicates that  $\operatorname{CT}_B(A)$  lies in  $D_{\operatorname{lc}}((\operatorname{Div}^1_X)^J, \Lambda)$ . Since *B* also lies in  $D_{\operatorname{lc}}((\operatorname{Div}^1_X)^J, \Lambda)$ , applying Proposition 7.16 again yields the desired result.  $\Box$ 

8.17. We now prove the co-representability results needed to apply Tannakian reconstruction. For all j in J, let  $\Omega_j$  be a finite  $\Gamma_{\infty}$ -stable downwards-closed subset of  $X_*(T_{\infty})^+$ . Proposition 7.7.i) shows that the substack  $\bigcup_{\mu_{\bullet}} \mathcal{H}ck^J_{G_F,\leq\mu_{\bullet}} \subseteq \mathcal{H}ck^J_{G_F}$ , where  $\mu_{\bullet}$  runs over  $\prod_{j\in J} \Omega_j$ , is closed, and it descends to a closed substack  $\mathcal{H}ck^J_{G,\Omega} \subseteq \mathcal{H}ck^J_G$ . Write  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}ck^J_{G,\Omega}|_Z, \Lambda)$  and  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}ck^J_{G,\Omega}|_Z, \Lambda)$  for the full subcategories of  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}ck^J_{G,\Omega}|_Z, \Lambda)$  and  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}ck^J_G|_Z, \Lambda)$ , respectively, consisting of objects that are supported on  $\mathcal{H}ck^J_{G,\Omega}|_Z$ .

For the rest of this subsection, assume that #J = 1. Under the identification from Lemma 8.15, write  $L_{\Omega} : \operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}, \Lambda) \to \operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G,\Omega}^{\{*\}}, \Lambda)$  for the left adjoint of  $F^{\{*\}} : \operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G,\Omega}^{\{*\}}, \Lambda) \to \operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}, \Lambda)$ , which exists by the adjoint functor theorem.

# **Proposition.** The object $L_{\Omega}(\underline{\Lambda})$ lies in $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G,\Omega}^{\{*\}}, \Lambda)$ .

Proof. Corollary 8.3.i) and [14, Proposition IV.2.13 (ii)] imply that we can replace  $\operatorname{Div}_X^1$  with an étale cover, so 7.14 indicates that we can assume that G is split. By Proposition 7.16 and Proposition 8.4, it suffices to show that  $\operatorname{CT}_B(L_\Omega(\underline{\Lambda}))[\operatorname{deg}]$  lies in  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{fp}}$ . Because this is checked on underlying sheaves of  $\Lambda$ -modules on  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , Corollary 7.12 indicates that we can work over  $Z = \operatorname{Spd} C$ . Moreover, Proposition 8.5.i) lets us replace  $\operatorname{CT}_B(L_\Omega(\underline{\Lambda}))[\operatorname{deg}]$  with  $F_Z(L_\Omega(\underline{\Lambda}))$ , and it suffices to consider  $\Lambda = \mathbb{Z}/\ell^m$ .

For all  $\mu$  in  $X_*(T_\infty)$ , we claim that  $J^*_{\mu}L_{\Omega}(\underline{\Lambda})$  in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G,\mu}^{\{*\}}|_Z, \Lambda)$  is a constant finite free  $\Lambda$ -module concentrated in degree  $-d_{\mu}$ . Since  $\Lambda = \mathbb{Z}/\ell^m$ , Proposition 7.8 implies that it suffices to show that  $\operatorname{Hom}(J^*_{\mu}L_{\Omega}(\underline{\Lambda}), \Lambda[d_{\mu}])$  is a constant finite free  $\Lambda$ -module. By adjunction and Corollary 8.3.ii), we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathsf{J}_{\mu}^{*}L_{\Omega}(\underline{\Lambda}), \Lambda[d_{\mu}]) = \operatorname{Hom}(L_{\Omega}(\underline{\Lambda}), \mathsf{J}_{\mu*}\Lambda[d_{\mu}]) = \operatorname{Hom}(L_{\Omega}(\underline{\Lambda}), {}^{p}H^{0}(\mathsf{J}_{\mu*}\Lambda[d_{\mu}])) \\ = \operatorname{Hom}(\underline{\Lambda}, F_{Z}({}^{p}H^{0}(\mathsf{J}_{\mu*}\Lambda[d_{\mu}]))) = F_{Z}({}^{p}H^{0}(\mathsf{J}_{\mu*}\Lambda[d_{\mu}])),$$

so the claim follows from Proposition 8.7.

Let  $\mu$  be a maximal element of  $\Omega$ . The excision exact triangle associated with

$$\mathcal{H} \mathrm{ck}_{G,\mu}^{\{*\}} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H} \mathrm{ck}_{G,\Omega}^{\{*\}} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H} \mathrm{ck}_{G,\Omega-\{\mu\}}^{\{*\}}$$

and  $L_{\Omega}(\underline{\Lambda})$  yields the perverse cohomology long exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow K \longrightarrow {}^{p}H^{0}(\mathsf{J}_{\mu}\mathsf{J}_{\mu}^{*}L_{\Omega}(\underline{\Lambda})) \longrightarrow L_{\Omega}(\underline{\Lambda}) \longrightarrow L_{\Omega-\{\mu\}}(\underline{\Lambda}) \longrightarrow 0$$

for some K in  $\operatorname{Perv}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G,\Omega}^{\{*\}}|_Z, \Lambda)$ . The claim and Proposition 8.7 indicate that  $F_Z({}^pH^0(J_{\mu!}J_{\mu}^*L_{\Omega}(\underline{\Lambda})))$  is locally constant with finite free fibers, and by induction on  $\#\Omega$ , we can assume that the same holds for  $F_Z(L_{\Omega-\{\mu\}}(\underline{\Lambda}))$ . Hence Proposition 8.5.ii) implies that it suffices to show that K is zero.

Now [36, Proposition 14.3] shows that it suffices to check on geometric points  $\overline{s}$  of  $\mathcal{H}ck_{G,\Omega}^{\{*\}}|_Z$ . The image of  $\overline{s}$  in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  equals  $\{i\}$  for some i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , and under the identification  $\mathcal{H}ck_G^{\{*\}}|_{\underline{\{i\}}} = \mathcal{H}ck_{G_i}^{\{*\}}$  from 7.5, combining Proposition 8.5.i) with Corollary 7.12 implies that  $L_{\Omega}$  is compatible with pulling back to  $\mathcal{H}ck_{G_i}^{\{*\}}$ . Therefore the desired result follows from the proof of [14, Proposition VI.10.1].

8.18. For all j in J, Proposition 8.17 indicates that  $L_{\Omega_j}(\underline{\Lambda})$  lies in  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G,\Omega_j}^{\{j\}}, \underline{\Lambda})$ . Hence we can form  $*_{j \in J} L_{\Omega_j}(\underline{\Lambda})$  in  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G,\Omega}^J, \underline{\Lambda})$ .

Corollary. Under the identification from Lemma 8.15, the functor

 $F^J: \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}ck^J_{G,\Omega}, \Lambda) \to \operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \Lambda)^{\operatorname{fp}}$ 

is co-represented by  $*_{j \in J} L_{\Omega_i}(\underline{\Lambda})$ .

*Proof.* We have the unit morphism  $\underline{\Lambda} \to F^{\{j\}}(L_{\Omega_j}(\underline{\Lambda}))$ , so taking  $\boxtimes_{j \in J}$  and applying Proposition 8.14.i) yields an element of

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\underline{\Lambda}, F^J(\ast_{j\in J} L_{\Omega_j}(\underline{\Lambda}))) = \operatorname{Hom}(L_{\Omega}(\underline{\Lambda}), \ast_{j\in J} L_{\Omega_j}(\underline{\Lambda})).$$

Write P for the partition of J into singletons. We claim that the resulting morphism

$$J_{\mathbf{P}}^* L_{\Omega}(\underline{\Lambda}) \to J_{\mathbf{P}}^* (*_{j \in J} L_{\Omega_j}(\underline{\Lambda}))$$

is an isomorphism. To see this, [36, Proposition 14.3] implies that it suffices to check on geometric points  $\overline{s}$  of  $\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_{(\mathrm{Div}_X^1)^p}$ , so 7.14 indicates that we can assume that G is split. Now the image of  $\overline{s}$  in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  equals  $\{i\}$  for some i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , and under the identification  $\mathcal{H}ck_G^J|_{\{i\}} = \mathcal{H}ck_{G_i}^J$  from 7.5, the proof of Proposition 8.17 shows that  $L_{\Omega}$  is compatible with pulling back to  $\mathcal{H}ck_{G_i}^J$ . Therefore the claim follows from the proof of [14, Proposition VI.10.1].

Finally, for all A in  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G,\Omega}^J, \Lambda)$  we have

$$F^{J}(A) = \operatorname{Hom}(\underline{\Lambda}, F^{J}(A)) = \operatorname{Hom}(L_{\Omega}(\underline{\Lambda}), A)$$
  

$$= \operatorname{Hom}(L_{\Omega}(\underline{\Lambda}), {}^{p}H^{0}(J_{\mathsf{P}*}J_{\mathsf{P}}^{*}A)) \qquad \text{by Lemma 8.13}$$
  

$$= \operatorname{Hom}(L_{\Omega}(\underline{\Lambda}), J_{\mathsf{P}*}J_{\mathsf{P}}^{*}A) \qquad \text{by Corollary 8.3.ii})$$
  

$$= \operatorname{Hom}(J_{\mathsf{P}}^{*}L_{\Omega}(\underline{\Lambda}), J_{\mathsf{P}}^{*}A)$$
  

$$= \operatorname{Hom}(J_{\mathsf{P}}^{*}(*_{j\in J} L_{\Omega_{j}}(\underline{\Lambda})), J_{\mathsf{P}}^{*}A) \qquad \text{by the claim}$$
  

$$= \operatorname{Hom}(*_{j\in J} L_{\Omega_{j}}(\underline{\Lambda}), A) \qquad \text{by Lemma 8.13},$$

as desired.

8.19. To identify the Hopf algebra arising from Tannakian reconstruction, we want to work with  $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$ -coefficients. This requires us to first work with  $\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}$ -coefficients, so let us explicate the  $\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}$ -version of the target of our fiber functor  $F^{J}$ .

Later, it will be convenient to work in the following generality. Let  $L/\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$  be a finite extension, write  $\mathcal{O}_L$  for its ring of integers, and write  $\lambda$  for the maximal ideal of  $\mathcal{O}_L$ . Write  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \underline{\mathcal{O}}_L)^{\operatorname{fp}}$  for the inverse limit  $\lim_{m \to \infty} \operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \underline{\mathcal{O}}_L/\lambda^m)^{\operatorname{fp}}$ .

## Lemma.

*i)* The category

{finite projective  $Cont(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathcal{O}_L)$ -modules}

is naturally equivalent to the category of topological  $\mathcal{O}_L$ -module topological spaces V over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  that, open-locally on  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , are finite free topological  $\mathcal{O}_L$ -module topological spaces.

ii) The category  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \underline{\mathcal{O}}_L)^{\operatorname{fp}}$  is naturally equivalent to the category of V as in part i) along with a continuous  $\mathcal{O}_L$ -linear action  $\mathbb{W}^J \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} V \to V$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

*Proof.* All finite projective  $\mathcal{O}_L/\lambda^m$ -modules are free, and  $\mathcal{O}_L/\lambda^m$  is discrete. Therefore [21, Lemma B.2.5] implies that the category

{finite projective 
$$\operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathcal{O}_L/\lambda^m)$$
-modules}

is naturally equivalent to the category of  $\mathcal{O}_L/\lambda^m$ -module topological spaces  $V_m$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  that, open-locally on  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , are finite free  $\mathcal{O}_L/\lambda^m$ -module topological spaces. This identifies  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \mathcal{O}_L/\lambda^m)^{\operatorname{fp}}$  with the category of such  $V_m$  along with a continuous  $\mathcal{O}_L/\lambda^m$ -linear action  $\mathbb{W}^J \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} V_m \to V_m$ . Finally, taking  $\varprojlim_m$  yields part i) and part ii).

8.20. We now put everything together to apply Tannakian reconstruction. Write  $\operatorname{Sat}(\operatorname{\mathcal{H}ck}_{G}^{J}, \mathcal{O}_{L})$  for the inverse limit  $\operatorname{\underline{\lim}}_{m} \operatorname{Sat}(\operatorname{\mathcal{H}ck}_{G}^{J}, \mathcal{O}_{L}/\lambda^{m})$ .

**Theorem.** The Rep $(\mathbb{W}^J, \mathbb{Z}_\ell)^{\text{fp}}$ -enriched symmetric monoidal category Sat $(\mathcal{H}ck_G^J, \mathbb{Z}_\ell)$ is naturally equivalent to the category of representations of the Hopf algebra

$$\mathcal{H}_G^J \coloneqq \varinjlim_{\{\Omega_j\}_{j \in J}} F^J(*_{j \in J} L_{\Omega_j}(\underline{\mathbb{Z}_\ell})) \in \mathrm{Ind}(\mathrm{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \underline{\mathbb{Z}_\ell})^{\mathrm{fp}})$$

in  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \mathbb{Z}_\ell)^{\operatorname{fp}}$ , where  $\{\Omega_j\}_{j \in J}$  runs over collections of finite  $\Gamma_\infty$ -stable downwardsclosed subsets of  $X_*(T_\infty)^+$  indexed by J. Moreover, we have  $\mathcal{H}_G^J = \bigotimes_{j \in J} \mathcal{H}_G^{\{j\}}$ .

Proof. The second statement follows from Proposition 8.14.i), so we focus on the first statement. We claim that the category  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_G^J, \mathbb{Z}_\ell)$  and the functor

$$F^J: \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}^J_G, \mathbb{Z}_\ell) \to \operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}^J, \mathbb{Z}_\ell)^{\operatorname{fr}}$$

satisfy the conditions in [14, Proposition VI.10.2]. Proposition 8.9 indicates that  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_G^J, \mathbb{Z}_\ell)$  is rigid, and Proposition 8.14 indicates that  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_G^J, \mathbb{Z}_\ell)$  and  $F^J$  are symmetric monoidal. Moreover,  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_G^J, \mathbb{Z}_\ell)$  admits and  $F^J$  reflects coequalizers of  $F^J$ -split pairs by Proposition 8.5.iii). Finally, Proposition 7.7.iii) shows that  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}^J_G, \mathbb{Z}_\ell)$  equals the filtered union  $\bigcup_{\{\Omega_j\}_{j\in J}} \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}^J_{G,\Omega}, \mathbb{Z}_\ell)$ , and Corollary 8.18 shows that the restriction of  $F^J$  to  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}ck^J_{G,\Omega},\mathbb{Z}_\ell)$  is co-represented by  $*_{i \in J} L_{\Omega_i}(\mathbb{Z}_\ell)$ . This yields the claim. 

The claim and [14, Proposition VI.10.2] yield the first statement.

8.21. We have the following version of the L-group for G over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Recall from 6.1 the pinned split connected reductive group  $(G^{\rm s}, T^{\rm s}, X^*(T^{\rm s}), \Delta, \{x_{\tilde{\alpha}}\}_{\tilde{\alpha} \in \Delta})$ over  $\mathbb{Z}$  and the homomorphism

$$\delta : \operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty}) \to \operatorname{Aut}(G^{\mathrm{s}}, T^{\mathrm{s}}, X^{*}(T^{\mathrm{s}}), \Delta, \{x_{\widetilde{a}}\}_{\widetilde{a} \in \Delta}).$$

Write  $\widehat{G}$  for the associated Langlands dual over  $\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}$ , and topologize  $\mathscr{O}_{\widehat{G}}$  as the filtered union of finite free  $\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}$ -submodules with the  $\ell$ -adic topology. Then  $\check{\delta}$  induces a continuous  $\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}$ -linear action a:  $\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty}) \times \mathscr{O}_{\widehat{G}} \to \mathscr{O}_{\widehat{G}}$ . Write  $G_{\operatorname{ad}}$  for the adjoint group of  $\widehat{G}$ , and note that the composition

$$\mathbb{Z} \xrightarrow{q^{-1}} \mathbb{Z}_{\ell}^{\times} \xrightarrow{\rho_{\mathrm{ad}}} \widehat{G}_{\mathrm{ad}}(\mathbb{Z}_{\ell})$$

induces another such action c of  $\mathbb{Z}$  on  $\mathscr{O}_{\widehat{G}}$  that commutes with a.

Write  $\mathscr{O}_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}}$  for the topological  $\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}$ -module topological space over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  given by  $\mathscr{O}_{\widehat{G}} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$ . Because  $E \to F$  induces a morphism  $\mathbb{W} \to \operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty}) \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$ of group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , we get a continuous  $\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}$ -linear action a of  $\mathbb{W}$  on  $\mathscr{O}_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Precomposing c with  $\mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{Z} \times (\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\})$  yields another such action, and after multiplying by a, endow  $\mathscr{O}_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}}$  with the resulting continuous  $\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}$ -linear action over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Under the identification from Lemma 8.19, view  $\mathscr{O}_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}}$ as an object of  $\operatorname{Ind}(\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W},\mathbb{Z}_{\ell})^{\operatorname{fp}})$ .

8.22. First, we identify  $\mathcal{H}_{G}^{\{*\}}$  after inverting  $\ell$ . Write  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}, \underline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell})^{\operatorname{fp}}$  for the category  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W},\mathbb{Z}_{\ell})^{\operatorname{fp}}[\frac{1}{\ell}], \text{ and write } \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_{G}^{J},\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}) \text{ for the category } \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_{G}^{J},\mathbb{Z}_{\ell})[\frac{1}{\ell}].$ 

**Theorem.** There is a natural isomorphism

$$\mathcal{D}_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}}[\frac{1}{\ell}] \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}_{G}^{\{*\}}[\frac{1}{\ell}]$$

of Hopf algebras in  $\operatorname{Ind}(\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}, \mathbb{Q}_{\ell})^{\operatorname{fp}})$ .

*Proof.* Write Z for Spd C, write  $J_{\mathbb{N}} : Z \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}} \underline{\mathbb{N}} \to Z$  for the open embedding, and recall the notation of 4.6. For all  $\mu$  in  $\overline{X_*(T_{\infty})^+}$ , write  $V_{\mu}$  in  $\operatorname{Rep}(\widehat{G}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}})$  for the associated Weyl module. For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , it follows from 7.5 and [14, Theorem VI.11.1] that we have a natural  $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$ -linear symmetric monoidal equivalence

$$\epsilon_i : \operatorname{Rep}(\widehat{G}_{\mathbb{Q}_\ell}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_G^{\{*\}}|_{Z_i}, \mathbb{Q}_\ell)$$

such that  $F_{Z_i}$ :  $\operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}ck_G^{\{*\}}|_{Z_i}, \mathbb{Q}_\ell) \to \operatorname{Shv}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(Z_i, \mathbb{Q}_\ell) = \operatorname{Vect}(\mathbb{Q}_\ell)$  corresponds to the forgetful functor  $\operatorname{Rep}(\widehat{G}_{\mathbb{Q}_\ell}) \to \operatorname{Vect}(\mathbb{Q}_\ell)$ , and that  $\epsilon_i(V_\mu) = {}^p H^0(\operatorname{J}_\mu!\mathbb{Q}_\ell|_{Z_i}[d_\mu]))$ . We use Proposition 8.2.ii) and [36, Proposition 22.19] to identify the latter with  ${}^p H^0(\operatorname{J}_\mu!\mathbb{Q}_\ell[d_\mu]))|_{Z_i}$ .

First, let us construct a  $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$ -linear functor  $\epsilon : \operatorname{Rep}(\widehat{G}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}}) \to \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}ck_{G}^{\{*\}}|_{Z}, \mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ . By 7.14, we can assume that G is split, so Proposition 8.7 lets us take

$$\epsilon(V_{\mu}) := {}^{p}H^{0}(\mathbf{j}_{\mu} \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}[d_{\mu}]).$$

For all  $\mu'$  in  $X_*(T_{\infty})^+$  and all morphisms  $f: V_{\mu} \to V_{\mu'}$ , we claim that there exists a unique morphism  $\epsilon(f): \epsilon(V_{\mu}) \to \epsilon(V_{\mu'})$  such that  $\epsilon(f)|_{Z_i} = \epsilon_i(f)$  for all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . To see this, write  $\epsilon_{\mathbb{N}}(f): \mathbf{j}_{\mathbb{N}}^* \epsilon(V_{\mu}) \to \mathbf{j}_{\mathbb{N}}^* \epsilon(V_{\mu'})$  for the disjoint union  $\coprod_i \epsilon_i(f)$ , where i runs over  $\mathbb{N}$ . The description of  $D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathcal{H}ck_{\mathcal{C}}^{\{*\}}|_{Z}, \Lambda)$  in terms of the decomposition

$$\coprod_{i} \mathcal{H} \mathrm{ck}_{G}^{\{*\}}|_{Z_{i}} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H} \mathrm{ck}_{G}^{\{*\}}|_{Z} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H} \mathrm{ck}_{G}^{\{*\}}|_{Z_{\infty}},$$

which follows from [36, Proposition 14.3], indicates that it suffices to check that

$$\begin{split} \epsilon(V_{\mu})|_{Z_{\infty}} &\longrightarrow \mathbf{J}_{\mathbb{N}*}\mathbf{J}_{\mathbb{N}}^{*}\epsilon(V_{\mu})|_{Z_{\infty}} \\ & \downarrow \\ \epsilon_{\infty}(f) & \downarrow_{\mathbf{J}_{\mathbb{N}*}\epsilon_{\mathbb{N}}(f)_{Z_{\infty}}} \\ \epsilon(V_{\mu'})|_{Z_{\infty}} &\longrightarrow \mathbf{J}_{\mathbb{N}*}\mathbf{J}_{\mathbb{N}}^{*}\epsilon(V_{\mu'})|_{Z_{\infty}} \end{split}$$

is commutative. Corollary 8.3.ii) implies that this is equivalent to checking that

$$\epsilon(V_{\mu})|_{Z_{\infty}} \longrightarrow {}^{p}H^{0}(\mathbf{J}_{\mathbb{N}*}\mathbf{J}_{\mathbb{N}}^{*}\epsilon(V_{\mu}))|_{Z_{\infty}}$$

$$\downarrow^{\epsilon_{\infty}(f)} \qquad \qquad \downarrow^{p}H^{0}(\mathbf{J}_{\mathbb{N}*}\epsilon_{\mathbb{N}}(f))_{Z_{\infty}}$$

$$\epsilon(V_{\mu'})|_{Z_{\infty}} \longrightarrow {}^{p}H^{0}(\mathbf{J}_{\mathbb{N}*}\mathbf{J}_{\mathbb{N}}^{*}\epsilon(V_{\mu'}))|_{Z_{\infty}}$$

is commutative, and Proposition 8.5.ii) indicates that it suffices to check after applying  $F_{Z_{\infty}}$ . By combining Proposition 8.5.i) with Corollary 7.12, this becomes

where U runs over compact neighborhoods of  $\infty$ , and the top and bottom maps are induced by the natural map  $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell} \to \underline{\lim}_{U} \operatorname{Cont}(U - \{\infty\}, \mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ . This square indeed commutes, so the claim follows.

Since  $\operatorname{Rep}(\widehat{G}_{\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}})$  is semisimple with simple objects given by the  $V_{\mu}$ , the claim finishes our construction of  $\epsilon$ . Arguing as above also shows that  $\epsilon$  is symmetric monoidal, so it induces a morphism  $\mathscr{O}_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}}[\frac{1}{\ell}] \to \mathcal{H}_{G}^{\{*\}}[\frac{1}{\ell}]$  of Hopf algebras in

Ind{finite projective  $Cont(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ -modules}.

To show that this is an isomorphism that, under the identification from Lemma 8.19, preserves the continuous  $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$ -linear W-action, it suffices to check on fibers. Finally, the result follows from 7.5 and [14, Theorem VI.11.1].

8.23. Finally, we use Theorem 8.22 to identify  $\mathcal{H}_{G}^{\{*\}}$  before inverting  $\ell$ .

**Theorem.** There is a natural isomorphism

$$\mathscr{O}_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}} \, \stackrel{\sim}{ o}\, \mathcal{H}_{G}^{\{*\}}$$

of Hopf algebras in  $\operatorname{Ind}(\operatorname{Rep}(\mathbb{W}, \underline{\mathbb{Z}}_{\ell})^{\operatorname{fp}})$ .

Proof. Note that 7.5 and [14, Theorem VI.11.1] yield a natural isomorphism

$$\mathscr{O}_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}} \otimes_{\operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathbb{Z}_{\ell})} \operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{Z}_{\ell}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}_{G}^{\{*\}} \otimes_{\operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathbb{Z}_{\ell})} \operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{Z}_{\ell})$$

of Hopf algebras in

Ind{finite projective  $Cont(\mathbb{N}, \mathbb{Z}_{\ell})$ -modules},

and Theorem 8.23 yields a natural isomorphism  $\mathscr{O}_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}}[\frac{1}{\ell}] \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}_{G}^{\{*\}}[\frac{1}{\ell}]$  of Hopf algebras in  $\mathrm{Ind}(\mathrm{Rep}(\mathbb{W}, \mathbb{Q}_{\ell})^{\mathrm{fp}})$ . Because  $\mathbb{N}$  is dense in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , the square

is cartesian. Our natural isomorphisms are compatible with this cartesian square, and since  $\mathscr{O}_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}}$  and  $\mathcal{H}_{G}^{\{*\}}$  are both flat over  $\operatorname{Cont}(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathbb{Z}_{\ell})$ , this induces a natural isomorphism  $\mathscr{O}_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}_{G}^{\{*\}}$  of Hopf algebras in

Ind{finite projective  $Cont(\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}, \mathbb{Z}_{\ell})$ -modules}.

To show that, under the identification from Lemma 8.19, this isomorphism preserves the continuous  $\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}$ -linear  $\mathbb{W}$ -action, it suffices to check on fibers. Finally, the result follows from 7.5 and [14, Theorem VI.11.1].

#### 9. Local Langlands over close fields

In this section, we put everything together to prove Theorem A and Theorem B. We start by proving that étale sheaves on certain classifying stacks are equivalent to smooth representations, thereby geometrizing the setting of §1. Next, we use results from §8 to spread out geometric Hecke operators from  $E_{\infty}$  to E. After proving basic facts about geometric Hecke operators over E, we prove Theorem A using results from §6 and a spreading out argument. Finally, we combine this with results of Bernstein [3] to prove Theorem B. 9.1. Recall the notation of Proposition 1.7. Recall from 6.4 the group topological space  $\mathbb{K}^n$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , which is naturally an open group subspace of  $G(\mathbb{E})$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  by Proposition 6.5. Let  $\mathbb{H}$  be one of  $\{G(\mathbb{E}), \mathbb{K}^n\}$ .

Let  $\Lambda$  be a ring that is  $\ell$ -power torsion.

**Proposition.** There is a natural equivalence of categories

$$\mathcal{F}_{(-)}: D(\mathbb{H}, \Lambda) \xrightarrow{\sim} D_{\text{\'et}}(B\mathbb{H}, \Lambda).$$

*Proof.* First, let us construct a natural functor  $\mathcal{F}_{(-)}$ : Rep( $\mathbb{H}, \Lambda$ ) → Shv<sub>ét</sub>( $B\mathbb{H}, \Lambda$ ). For all locally profinite topological spaces X over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  and small v-stacks Z over  $\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}$ , one can show that the natural map  $|\underline{X} \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}} Z| \to X \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}} |Z|$  is a homeomorphism by reducing to the case where X is profinite. Because  $G(\mathbb{E})$  is locally profinite by Proposition 6.3, this implies that, for all  $\underline{\mathbb{H}}$ -torsors  $\widetilde{S} \to S$  in the category of v-sheaves,  $|\widetilde{S}|$  naturally has a continuous action of  $\mathbb{H}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . For all smooth representations V of  $\mathbb{H}$  over  $\Lambda$ , write  $\mathcal{F}_V$  for the presheaf of  $\Lambda$ -modules over  $B\mathbb{H}$  given by sending  $\widetilde{S} \to S$  to the  $\Lambda$ -module

 $\{\text{continuous } \mathbb{H}\text{-equivariant maps } |\widetilde{S}| \to V \text{ over } \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}\}.$ 

By [36, Proposition 12.9],  $\mathcal{F}_V$  is a v-sheaf. Since continuous  $\mathbb{H}$ -equivariant maps  $\mathbb{H} \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} |S| \to V$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  are equivalent to continuous maps  $|S| \to V$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , the pullback  $\mathcal{F}_V|_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}$  is naturally isomorphic to  $\underline{V}$  over  $\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}$ , so [36, Remark 14.14] shows that  $\mathcal{F}_V$  lies in Shv<sub>ét</sub>( $B\mathbb{H}, \Lambda$ ).

Note that  $\mathcal{F}_{(-)}$  is exact. Hence [36, Proposition 14.16] indicates that it extends to a functor  $\mathcal{F}_{(-)} : D(\mathbb{H}, \Lambda) \to D_{\text{\'et}}(B\mathbb{H}, \Lambda)$ . Let  $\overline{s}$  be a geometric point in  $\operatorname{Perf}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_q}$ , and note that the functor  $X \mapsto (X/\mathbb{H}) \times \overline{s}$  yields an equivalence of sites

{étale  $\mathbb{H}$ -spaces}  $\xrightarrow{\sim} (B\mathbb{H}_{\overline{s}})_{\text{ét}}$ .

Therefore we get a commutative diagram

where the top left equivalence follows from Corollary 1.8. The right functor is fully faithful by [36, Proposition 19.5 (ii)], so it suffices to show that the bottom functor is an equivalence.

For full faithfulness, write  $\lambda : (B\mathbb{H}_{\overline{s}})_v \to (B\mathbb{H}_{\overline{s}})_{\acute{e}t}$  for the natural morphism of sites. To prove that the natural transformation  $\mathrm{id} \to \lambda_* \lambda^*$  on  $D((B\mathbb{H}_{\overline{s}})_{\acute{e}t}, \Lambda)$  is an isomorphism, we can replace  $B\mathbb{H}$  with an étale cover. Hence we can assume that  $\mathbb{H}$  is  $\mathbb{K}^n$ . Then the fiber  $\mathbb{H}_i$  is a pro-*p* group for all *i* in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , so checking on stalks shows that the morphism of ringed sites  $((B\mathbb{H}_{\overline{s}})_{\acute{e}t}, \Lambda) \to ((\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}_{\overline{s}})_{\acute{e}t}, \Lambda)$ has cohomological dimension 0. Because [36, Lemma 7.2] indicates that

$$((\underline{\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}}_{\overline{s}})_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}},\Lambda)$$

has cohomological dimension 0, this shows that  $((B\mathbb{H}_{\overline{s}})_{\acute{e}t}, \Lambda)$  also has cohomological dimension 0, so [40, Tag 0D64] implies that  $D((B\mathbb{H}_{\overline{s}})_{\acute{e}t}, \Lambda)$  is left-complete. Since  $D_{\acute{e}t}(B\mathbb{H}_{\overline{s}}, \Lambda)$  is also left-complete by [36, Proposition 14.15], it suffices to restrict to  $D^+((B\mathbb{H}_{\overline{s}})_{\acute{e}t}, \Lambda)$ . Then the desired result follows from using Čech cohomology along the cover  $\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}_{\overline{s}} \to B\mathbb{H}_{\overline{s}}$  and the fact that  $\mathbb{H}_i$  is a pro-p group for all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

We turn to essential surjectivity. Full faithfulness implies that it suffices to consider  $\mathcal{F}$  in  $\operatorname{Shv}_{\operatorname{\acute{e}t}}(B\mathbb{H}_{\overline{s}}, \Lambda)$ , and pullback yields a v-sheaf  $\mathcal{F}|_{\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}_{\overline{s}}}$  of  $\Lambda$ -modules over  $\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}_{\overline{s}}$  with a descent datum with respect to

$$\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}_{\overline{s}} \to B\mathbb{H}_{\overline{s}}.$$

Because  $\mathcal{F}_{\underline{\mathbb{N}}\cup\{\infty\}_s}$  is étale over  $\underline{\mathbb{N}}\cup\{\infty\}_s$ , it corresponds to a  $\Lambda$ -module étale topological space V over  $\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}$ . Lemma 1.6 shows that the descent datum endows V with a continuous  $\Lambda$ -linear action  $\mathbb{H} \times_{\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}} V \to V$  over  $\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}$ , and descent [36, Proposition 17.3] identifies  $\mathcal{F}_V$  with  $\mathcal{F}$ .

9.2. We have the following analogue of the (global) Hecke stack in our setting. Recall from 7.1 the closed Cartier divisor  $D_S \hookrightarrow X_S$ .

**Definition.** Write  $\operatorname{Hck}_{G}^{J}$  for the presheaf of groupoids on  $\operatorname{Perf}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{q}}$  over  $(\operatorname{Div}_{X}^{1})^{J}$  whose S-points parametrize data consisting of

a) two étale  $G^{\text{an}}$ -torsors  $\mathscr{G}$  and  $\mathscr{G}'$  on  $X_S$ ,

b) an isomorphism

$$\rho:\mathscr{G}|_{X_S-D_S} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{G}'|_{X_S-D_S}$$

of étale  $G^{\text{an}}$ -torsors on  $X_S - D_S$  that is meromorphic along  $D_S$ .

Proposition 6.10 and Proposition 5.1 imply that  $\mathcal{H}ck_G^J$  is a v-stack, and the proof of [14, Proposition III.1.3] shows that  $\mathrm{H}ck_G^J$  is small. Proposition 6.10 also indicates that pullback to the completion of  $X_S$  along  $D_S$  induces a morphism  $\mathcal{L}: \mathrm{H}ck_G^J \to \mathcal{H}ck_G^J$ . Finally, note that we have natural morphisms

$$\operatorname{Bun}_G \xleftarrow{p_1} \operatorname{Hck}_G^J \xrightarrow{p_2} \operatorname{Bun}_G \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}} (\operatorname{Div}_X^1)^J$$

given by  $(\mathscr{G}, \mathscr{G}', \rho) \mapsto \mathscr{G}$  and  $(\mathscr{G}, \mathscr{G}', \rho) \mapsto \mathscr{G}'$ , respectively. Using Beauville–Laszlo gluing, Proposition 7.7.i) and Proposition 7.7.ii) imply that  $p_2$  is ind-proper.

9.3. Theorem 8.23 lets us spread out geometric Hecke operators from  $E_{\infty}$  to E as follows. Recall from 8.21 the action a of  $\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})$  on  $\widehat{G}$  and the action c of  $\mathbb{Z}$  on  $\widehat{G}$ . Form the semidirect product  $\widehat{G} \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})$  via the action a. By using  $\sqrt{q}$  to untwist the action c, Theorem 8.23 yields a natural functor

$$\mathcal{S}_{(-)} : \operatorname{Rep}\left(\widehat{G} \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})\right)^{J}_{\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}[\sqrt{q}]} \to \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}^{J}_{G}, \underline{\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}[\sqrt{q}]}).$$

Let  $\Lambda$  be a  $\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}[\sqrt{q}]$ -algebra that is  $\ell$ -power torsion, and write  $\mathcal{S}_{(-)}$  for the composition

$$\operatorname{Rep}\left(\widehat{G} \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})\right)^{J}_{\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}[\sqrt{q}]} \xrightarrow{\mathcal{S}_{(-)}} \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_{G}^{J}, \underline{\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}[\sqrt{q}]}) \xrightarrow{-\otimes\Lambda} \operatorname{Sat}(\mathcal{H}\operatorname{ck}_{G}^{J}, \Lambda).$$

For all V in Rep  $(\widehat{G} \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty}))^{J}_{\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}[\sqrt{q}]}$ , write

 $T_V: D_{\text{\'et}}(\operatorname{Bun}_G, \Lambda) \to D_{\text{\'et}}(\operatorname{Bun}_G \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} (\operatorname{Div}^1_X)^J, \Lambda)$ 

for the functor given by  $A \mapsto p_{2!}(p_1^*A \otimes_{\Lambda} \mathcal{L}^*\mathcal{S}_V)$ .

**Proposition.** The pullback functor

 $D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Bun}_G\times_{\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}}B\mathbb{W}^J,\Lambda)\to D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Bun}_G\times_{\mathbb{N}\cup\{\infty\}}(\mathrm{Div}^1_X)^J,\Lambda)$ 

is fully faithful, and the image of  $T_V$  lies in the image of  $D_{\text{\'et}}(\operatorname{Bun}_G \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} B \mathbb{W}^J, \Lambda)$ .

*Proof.* The first statement follows from applying Proposition 3.17 #J times. For the second statement, note that  $V \mapsto T_V$  is exact and compatible with exterior tensor products. Since  $D_{\text{ét}}(\operatorname{Bun}_G \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} B \mathbb{W}^J, \Lambda)$  is left-complete [36, Proposition 14.15] and V has a resolution whose terms are of the form  $\boxtimes_{j \in J} V_j$  for  $V_j$  in

$$\operatorname{Rep}\left(G\rtimes\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})\right)_{\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}[\sqrt{q}]}$$

this indicates that we can assume that #J = 1. Then the result follows from Proposition 6.14 and Proposition 3.17.

9.4. As usual, geometric Hecke operators enjoy the following properties. For all V in Rep  $(\widehat{G} \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty}))^J_{\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}[\sqrt{q}]}$ , write  $T_V$  for the composition

$$D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Bun}_G, \Lambda) \xrightarrow{T_V} D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Bun}_G \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}} B\mathbb{W}^J, \Lambda) \longrightarrow D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Bun}_G, \Lambda).$$

**Proposition.** The functor  $T_{V^{\vee}}$  is left and right adjoint to  $T_V$ . Consequenty,  $T_V$  preserves limits, colimits, and compact objects.

*Proof.* Note that  $V \mapsto T_V$  is monoidal with respect to  $\otimes_{\Lambda}$  on

$$\operatorname{Rep}\left(\widehat{G}\rtimes\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})\right)_{\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}[\sqrt{q}]}^{J}$$

and composition on the category of functors  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\text{Bun}_G, \Lambda) \to D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\text{Bun}_G, \Lambda)$ . Therefore the evaluation and coevaluation morphisms for V induce the counit and unit, respectively, for the desired adjunctions.

9.5. For all i in  $\mathbb{N}$ , recall from 2.1 the absolute ramification index  $e_i$  of  $E_i$ , and recall from 2.6 the isomorphism  $\Gamma_i/I_i^{e_i} \cong \Gamma_{\infty}/I_{\infty}^{e_i}$  of topological groups. Let  $\mathbb{P}$  be a compact group subspace of  $\mathbb{W}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  satisfying the following properties:

- a) for all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , the fiber  $\mathbb{P}_i$  is a normal subgroup of  $W_i$  that is an open subgroup of the wild inertia subgroup,
- b) there exists a positive integer d such that, for all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , the fiber  $\mathbb{P}_i$  contains  $I_i^d$ , and for large enough i, the image of  $\mathbb{P}_i$  under the isomorphism  $\Gamma_i/I_i^d \cong \Gamma_\infty/I_\infty^d$  (since i is large enough) equals the image of  $\mathbb{P}_\infty$ .

By repeating Definition 2.6.a) (except that we replace  $\Gamma_i/I_i^d$  with  $W_i/\mathbb{P}_i$ ), we obtain a natural group topological space  $\mathbb{W}/\mathbb{P}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  whose fiber at *i* is isomorphic to  $W_i/\mathbb{P}_i$ . Arguing as in the proof of Lemma 2.14 shows that the map

$$q: \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{W}/\mathbb{P}$$

whose fiber at *i* equals  $W_i \to W_i/\mathbb{P}_i$  is continuous, and by checking on fibers, we see that *q* is a morphism of group topological spaces over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

### 9.6. Proposition.

i) The pullback functor

 $(\mathrm{id} \times q)^* : D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Bun}_G \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} B(\mathbb{W} / \mathbb{P})^J, \Lambda) \to D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Bun}_G \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}}} B\mathbb{W}^J, \Lambda)$ 

is fully faithful.

ii) Let A be a compact object in  $D_{\text{\'et}}(\operatorname{Bun}_G, \Lambda)$ . Then there exists a group subspace  $\mathbb{P}$  of  $\mathbb{W}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  as in 9.5 such that, for all finite sets J and V in

$$\operatorname{Rep}\left(\widehat{G}\rtimes\operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})\right)^{J}_{\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}[\sqrt{q}]}$$

the object  $T_V(A)$  lies in the image of  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Bun}_G \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} B(\mathbb{W}/\mathbb{P})^J, \Lambda)$ .

*Proof.* For part i), it suffices to show that the pullback functor

$$(\mathrm{id} \times q)^* : D_{\blacksquare}(\mathrm{Bun}_G \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}} B(\mathbb{W}/\mathbb{P})^J, \Lambda) \to D_{\blacksquare}(\mathrm{Bun}_G \times_{\underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}} B\mathbb{W}^J, \Lambda)$$

is fully faithful. The projection formula [14, Proposition VII.3.1 (i)] indicates that it suffices to show that the counit morphism  $(id \times q)_{\natural} \Lambda \to \Lambda$  is an isomorphism, and combining the cartesian square

with [14, Proposition VII.3.1 (iii)] implies that it suffices to show that the counit morphism  $q_{\natural}\Lambda \to \Lambda$  is an isomorphism. Using descent [36, Proposition 17.3] and applying [14, Proposition VII.3.1 (iii)] again indicate that it suffices to show that the structure morphism pr :  $B\mathbb{P}^J \to \underline{\mathbb{N}} \cup \{\infty\}$  induces an isomorphism  $\mathrm{pr}_{\natural}\Lambda \to \Lambda$ . Finally, this follows from  $\mathbb{P}_i$  being a pro-*p* group for all *i* in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ .

For part ii), note that  $V \mapsto T_V$  is exact and compatible with exterior tensor products, so it suffices to consider a tensor generator V in Rep  $(\widehat{G} \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty}))_{\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}[\sqrt{q}]}$ . Now  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Bun}_G, \Lambda)$  naturally has the structure of a condensed  $(\infty$ -)category over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  via sending any extremally disconnected profinite set X over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  to  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\operatorname{Bun}_G \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} \underline{X}, \Lambda)$ , and descent [36, Proposition 17.3] implies that

$$D_{\mathrm{\acute{e}t}}(\mathrm{Bun}_G \times_{\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}} B \mathbb{W}, \Lambda)$$

is naturally equivalent to the category of objects A' in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\text{Bun}_G, \Lambda)$  along with a morphism  $\mathbb{W} \to \text{Aut}(A')$  of condensed animated groups over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Because  $T_V(A)$  is a compact object in  $D_{\text{\acute{e}t}}(\text{Bun}_G, \Lambda)$  by Proposition 9.4, the condensed animated group  $\text{Aut}(T_V(A))$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  is étale over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ . Since  $\Lambda$  is  $\ell$ power torsion but  $\mathbb{P}_i$  is a pro-p group for all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , the result follows.  $\Box$ 

9.7. Before proceeding to our main theorems, we need the following preparations. Write  $j: BG(\mathbb{E}) \to Bun_G$  for the open embedding from Proposition 6.13. Now  $j_!$  preserves compact objects, and Proposition 1.14 implies that the same holds for c-Ind<sup>G(\mathbb{E})</sup><sub> $\mathbb{K}^n$ </sub>. Hence  $A := j_!$  c-Ind<sup>G(\mathbb{E})</sup><sub> $\mathbb{K}^n$ </sub>  $\underline{\Lambda}$  is a compact object in  $D_{\acute{e}t}(Bun_G, \Lambda)$ . Write  $\mathbb{P}$  for the group subspace of  $\mathbb{W}$  over  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  as in 9.5 provided by applying Proposition 9.6.ii) to A.

For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , choose lifts  $\tilde{\varphi}_i$  and  $\tilde{\tau}_i$  to  $W_i/\mathbb{P}_i$  of absolute q-Frobenius and of a (topological) generator of tame inertia, respectively, such that, for large enough i as in 9.5.b), the images of  $\tilde{\varphi}_i$  and  $\tilde{\tau}_i$  under the isomorphism  $W_i/\mathbb{P}_i \cong W_{\infty}/\mathbb{P}_{\infty}$ 

equal  $\tilde{\varphi}_{\infty}$  and  $\tilde{\tau}_{\infty}$ , respectively. Write  $\operatorname{Exc}(W_i/\mathbb{P}_i, \widehat{G})$  for the associated excursion algebra over  $\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}[\sqrt{q}]$  as in [14, Definition VIII.3.4].

Recall the notation of Definition 1.17. Briefly, relax our assumption that  $\Lambda$  is  $\ell$ -power torsion. Write  $\mathcal{Z}_{\Lambda}(G(E_i), \mathbb{K}_i^n)$  for the center of  $\mathcal{H}(G(E_i), \mathbb{K}_i^n)_{\Lambda}$ , and recall from [14, p. 326] the natural map of  $\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}[\sqrt{q}]$ -algebras

$$\operatorname{Exc}(W_i/\mathbb{P}_i,\widehat{G}) \to \mathcal{Z}_{\Lambda}(G(E_i),\mathbb{K}_i^n)$$

9.8. By spreading out excursion operators from  $E_{\infty}$  to E, we can prove our first main theorem. For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , Theorem A.13 indicates that our isomorphism  $\operatorname{Tr}_{e_i}(E_i) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_{e_i}(E_{\infty})$  induces an isomorphism of  $\Lambda$ -algebras

$$\mathcal{H}(G(E_{\infty}), \mathbb{K}_{\infty}^{n})_{\Lambda} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}(G(E_{i}), \mathbb{K}_{i}^{n})_{\Lambda},$$

which restricts to an isomorphism of  $\Lambda$ -algebras

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\Lambda}(G(E_{\infty}), \mathbb{K}_{\infty}^{n}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{Z}_{\Lambda}(G(E_{i}), \mathbb{K}_{i}^{n}).$$

Resume our assumption that  $\Lambda$  is  $\ell$ -power torsion.

**Theorem.** For large enough i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , the square

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Exc}(W_{\infty}/\mathbb{P}_{\infty},\widehat{G}) & \longrightarrow \mathcal{Z}_{\Lambda}(G(E_{\infty}),\mathbb{K}_{\infty}^{n}) \\ & & & \downarrow \wr \\ & & & \downarrow \wr \\ \operatorname{Exc}(W_{i}/\mathbb{P}_{i},\widehat{G}) & \longrightarrow \mathcal{Z}_{\Lambda}(G(E_{i}),\mathbb{K}_{i}^{n}) \end{aligned}$$

commutes.

*Proof.* Recall that  $\operatorname{Exc}(W_{\infty}/\mathbb{P}_{\infty}, \widehat{G})$  has canonical generators  $S_{J,V,x,\xi,\gamma_{\infty,\bullet}}$ , where J runs over finite sets, V runs over objects in  $\operatorname{Rep}\left(\widehat{G} \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(F_{\infty}/E_{\infty})\right)_{\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}[\sqrt{q}]}^{J}$ , x and  $\xi$  run over morphisms  $\mathbf{1} \to V|_{\Delta(\widehat{G})}$  and  $V|_{\Delta(\widehat{G})} \to \mathbf{1}$  in  $\operatorname{Rep}\widehat{G}_{\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}[\sqrt{q}]}$ , respectively, and  $\gamma_{\bullet,\infty} = (\gamma_{j,\infty})_{j \in J}$  runs over J-tuples in the subgroup of  $W_{\infty}/\mathbb{P}_{\infty}$  generated by  $\widetilde{\varphi}_{\infty}$ ,  $\widetilde{\tau}_{\infty}$ , and the image of the wild inertia subgroup [14, Corollary VIII.4.3].

For all j in J, let  $\gamma_j$  be a continuous section of  $\mathbb{W}/\mathbb{P} \to \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  such that, for all i large enough as in 9.5.ii), the image of  $\gamma_j(i)$  under the isomorphism  $W_i/\mathbb{P}_i \cong W_{\infty}/\mathbb{P}_{\infty}$  equals  $\gamma_{j,\infty}$ . Since  $V \mapsto T_V$  is functorial in J and V, we can form the composition

$$A = T_{\mathbf{1}}(A) \xrightarrow{x} T_{V|_{\Delta(\widehat{G})}}(A) = T_{V}(A) \xrightarrow{\gamma_{\bullet}} T_{V}(A) = T_{V|_{\Delta(\widehat{G})}} \xrightarrow{\xi} T_{\mathbf{1}}(A) = A.$$

Write  $S_{J,V,x,\xi,\gamma_{\bullet}}$  for this endomorphism of A, which corresponds to an element of  $\operatorname{End}_{G(\mathbb{E})}(\operatorname{c-Ind}_{\mathbb{K}^n}^{G(\mathbb{E})}\underline{\Lambda})$  because  $j_!$  is fully faithful. For all i in  $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$ , Proposition 3.7 implies that  $(S_{J,V,x,\xi,\gamma_{\bullet}})(i)$  equals the image of  $S_{J,V,x,\xi,\gamma_{\bullet}(i)}$  under the map

$$\operatorname{Exc}(W_i/\mathbb{P}_i, \widehat{G}) \to \mathcal{Z}_{\Lambda}(G(E_i), \mathbb{K}_i^n).$$

Therefore, under the identification  $\underline{\mathcal{H}(G(E_{\infty}), \mathbb{K}_{\infty}^{n})_{\Lambda}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \underline{\operatorname{End}}_{G(\mathbb{E})}(\operatorname{c-Ind}_{\mathbb{K}^{n}}^{G(\mathbb{E})} \underline{\Lambda})$  from Theorem 6.8, there exists a compact neighborhood U of  $\infty$  such that

- all i in U are large enough as in 9.5.ii),
- the restriction of  $S_{J,V,x,\xi,\gamma_{\bullet}}$  to U corresponds to the constant section valued in the image of  $S_{J,V,x,\xi,\gamma_{\bullet,\infty}}$  under the map  $\operatorname{Exc}(W_{\infty}/\mathbb{P}_{\infty},\widehat{G}) \to \mathcal{Z}_{\Lambda}(G(E_{\infty}),\mathbb{K}_{\infty}^{n}).$

Theorem 6.8 and the above show that, for all i in U, the square in question commutes for  $S_{J,V,x,\xi,\gamma\bullet,\infty}$ . Finally, since  $\operatorname{Exc}(W_{\infty}/\mathbb{P}_{\infty},\widehat{G})$  is of finite type over  $\mathbb{Z}_{\ell}[\sqrt{q}]$ , applying this to finitely many  $S_{J,V,x,\xi,\gamma\bullet,\infty}$  yields the desired result.  $\Box$ 

9.9. We now prove Theorem A. Write E' for  $\mathbb{F}_q((t))$ , and let G' be a quasisplit connected reductive group over E' that splits over an *n*-ramified extension.

**Theorem.** For all p-adic fields E along with an isomorphism  $\operatorname{Tr}_e(E) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_e(E')$  for some  $e \ge n$ , write G for the quasisplit connected reductive group over E associated with G' as in A.5. There exists an integer  $d \ge n$  such that, if  $e \ge d$ , then

i) the map  $LLC_G^{ss}$  restricts to a map

$$\operatorname{LLC}_{G}^{\operatorname{ss}}:\left\{\begin{array}{c} \text{smooth irreps } \pi \text{ of } G(E)\\ \text{over } \overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell} \text{ with } (\pi)^{K^{n}} \neq 0\end{array}\right\} \longrightarrow \left\{\begin{array}{c} \text{semisimple } L\text{-parameters } \rho\\ \text{for } G \text{ over } \overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell} \text{ with } \rho|_{I^{d}} = 1\end{array}\right\},$$

and the same holds for the map  $LLC_{G'}^{ss}$ .

*ii)* the square

commutes.

*Proof.* For all positive integers e, Krasner's lemma implies that there are finitely many p-adic fields E with residue field  $\mathbb{F}_q$  and absolute ramification index e (up to isomorphism). Moreover, there are finitely many isomorphisms  $\operatorname{Tr}_e(E) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_e(E')$ . Therefore we can take  $\{E_i\}_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  in 2.1 to be the family of all p-adic fields E with residue field  $\mathbb{F}_q$  (up to isomorphism), where we make E appear with multiplicity equal to the number of isomorphisms  $\operatorname{Tr}_e(E) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_e(E')$ . Finally, using [14, Corollary VIII.4.3], part i) follows from 9.7, and part ii) follows from Theorem 9.8.  $\Box$ 

9.10. We conclude by proving Theorem B.

**Theorem.** There exists an integer  $d \ge n$  such that, if  $e \ge d$ , then

i) the map  $LLC_{G'}^{ss}$  restricts to a map

$$\operatorname{LLC}_{G'}^{\operatorname{ss}}: \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \text{smooth irreps } \pi' \text{ of } G'(E') \\ \text{over } \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \text{ with } (\pi')^{K'^n} \neq 0 \end{array} \right\} \longrightarrow \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \text{semisimple } L\text{-parameters } \rho' \\ \text{for } G' \text{ over } \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \text{ with } \rho'|_{I'^d} = 1 \end{array} \right\}$$

*ii)* the square

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} \text{smooth irreps } \pi' \text{ of } G'(E') \\ \text{over } \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \text{ with } (\pi')^{K'^n} \neq 0 \end{array} \right\} \xrightarrow{\text{LLC}_{G'}^{ss}} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \text{semisimple } L\text{-parameters } \rho' \\ \text{for } G' \text{ over } \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \text{ with } \rho'|_{I'^d} = 1 \end{array} \right\}$$

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} \text{smooth irreps } \pi \text{ of } G(E) \\ \text{over } \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \text{ with } (\pi)^{K'^n} \neq 0 \end{array} \right\} \xrightarrow{\text{LLC}_{G}^{ss}} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \text{semisimple } L\text{-parameters } \rho \\ \text{for } G \text{ over } \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \text{ with } (\pi)^{K'^n} \neq 0 \end{array} \right\} \xrightarrow{\text{LLC}_{G}^{ss}} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \text{semisimple } L\text{-parameters } \rho \\ \text{for } G \text{ over } \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell} \text{ with } \rho|_{I^d} = 1 \end{array} \right\}$$

commutes after restricting to the wild inertia subgroup. In particular, part i) holds for the map  $LLC_G^{ss}$ .

Proof. Let  $\pi'$  be an irreducible cuspidal representation of G'(E') over  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$  with  $(\pi')^{K'^n} \neq 0$ . Write  $\rho'$  for  $\mathrm{LLC}_{G'}^{\mathrm{ss}}(\pi')$ , and let d be a positive integer with  $\rho'|_{I'^d} = 1$ . After enlarging d, we can assume that it is at least the d from Theorem 9.9. Now [14, p. 331] indicates that  $\mathrm{LLC}_{G'}^{\mathrm{ss}}$  is compatible with twisting by unramified characters, so we can assume that  $\pi'$  has finite order central character. Then [41, (II.4.12)] shows that there exists a finite extension  $L/\mathbb{Q}_{\ell}(\sqrt{q})$  such that

• 
$$\pi'$$
 is defined over  $L$ ,

•  $\pi'$  has an  $\mathcal{O}_L[G'(E')]$ -lattice  $\pi'_{\mathcal{O}_L}$  as in [41, (I.9.1)].

Write  $\mathbb{F}_{\lambda}$  for the residue field of L, and write  $\chi' : \mathcal{Z}_{\mathcal{O}_L}(G'(E'), K'^n) \to \mathcal{O}_L$  for the map of  $\mathcal{O}_L$ -algebras induced by  $\pi'_{\mathcal{O}_L}$ . Since  $\rho'$  corresponds to  $\chi' \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell$  under [14, Corollary VIII.4.3], this implies that, after enlarging L, the L-parameter  $\rho'$  has a representative of the form  $\rho' : W' \to \widehat{G}(\mathcal{O}_L)$ .

Write  $\pi$  for the irreducible smooth representation of G(E) over  $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$  associated with  $\pi'$  via the isomorphism

$$\mathcal{H}(G(E), K^n)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}(G'(E'), K'^n)_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}}.$$

Because the above isomorphism is base changed from an isomorphism

$$\mathcal{H}(G(E), K^n)_{\mathcal{O}_L} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}(G'(E'), K'^n)_{\mathcal{O}_L},$$

the representation  $\pi$  is also defined over L, and  $\pi'_{\mathcal{O}_L}$  induces an  $\mathcal{O}_L[G(E)]$ -lattice  $\pi_{\mathcal{O}_L}$  of  $\pi$ . Write  $\chi : \mathcal{Z}_{\mathcal{O}_L}(G(E), K^n) \to \mathcal{O}_L$  for the map of  $\mathcal{O}_L$ -algebras induced by  $\pi_{\mathcal{O}_L}$ . Write  $\rho$  for  $LLC_G^{ss}(\pi)$ ; arguing as above shows that, after enlarging L, the L-parameter  $\rho$  has a representative of the form  $\rho : W \to \widehat{G}(\mathcal{O}_L)$ .

The proof of Theorem 9.9 yields certain normal subgroups P' and P of W' and W, respectively, that are open subgroups of the wild inertia subgroups, contain  $I'^d$  and  $I^d$ , respectively, and whose images in  $W'/I'^d \cong W/I^d$  coincide. Consider the resulting diagram

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Exc}(W'/P',\widehat{G}) & \longrightarrow \mathcal{Z}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}}(G'(E'),K'^n) \xrightarrow{\chi' \otimes \overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} \overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell} \\ & \| \chi & \qquad \qquad \downarrow \chi & \| \\ \operatorname{Exc}(W/P,\widehat{G}) & \longrightarrow \mathcal{Z}_{\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}}(G(E),K^n) \xrightarrow{\chi \otimes \overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}} \overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell}. \end{aligned}$$

Theorem 9.8 indicates that the left square commutes, and the right square commutes by construction. The top and bottom rows correspond under [14, Corollary VIII.4.3] to the semisimplification of the images in  $\widehat{G}(\overline{\mathbb{F}}_{\ell})$  of  $\rho'$  and  $\rho$ , respectively, so after enlarging L, this shows that the semisimplification of the 1-cocycles

$$W'/P' \xrightarrow{\rho'} \widehat{G}(\mathcal{O}_L) \longrightarrow \widehat{G}(\mathbb{F}_{\lambda}) \text{ and } W/P \xrightarrow{\rho} \widehat{G}(\mathcal{O}_L) \longrightarrow \widehat{G}(\mathbb{F}_{\lambda})$$

are cohomologous (under the isomorphism  $W'/P' \cong W/P$ ). Since the kernel  $\widehat{K}$  of  $\widehat{G}(\mathcal{O}_L) \to \widehat{G}(\mathbb{F}_{\lambda})$  is pro- $\ell$  but the wild inertia subgroup is pro-p, the Galois cohomology long exact sequence induced by

$$1 \longrightarrow \widehat{K} \longrightarrow \widehat{G}(\mathcal{O}_L) \longrightarrow \widehat{G}(\mathbb{F}_{\lambda}) \longrightarrow 1$$

then implies that the 1-cocycles

$$W'/P' \xrightarrow{\rho'} \widehat{G}(\mathcal{O}_L)$$
 and  $W/P \xrightarrow{\rho} \widehat{G}(\mathcal{O}_L)$ 

#### SIYAN DANIEL LI-HUERTA

are cohomologous after restricting to the wild inertia subgroup.

Finally, [3, 2.13] implies that that there are finitely many Bernstein components in  $\operatorname{Rep}(G'(E'), \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell})$  that contain an irreducible smooth representation  $\pi'$  with  $(\pi')^{K'^n} \neq 0$ . Because  $\operatorname{LLC}_{G'}^{ss}$  is compatible with twisting by unramified characters [14, p. 331] and parabolic induction [14, Corollary IX.7.3], applying the above to these finitely many Bernstein components yields the desired result.

### APPENDIX A. CONGRUENCES OF DISCONNECTED PARAHORIC SUBGROUPS

In the appendix, our goal is to generalize Kazhdan's Hecke algebra isomorphism over close fields [25, Theorem A] to the case of quasisplit connected reductive groups G over E. While such a generalization has been proved by Ganapathy [19, Theorem 4.1], this relies on a congruence result of Ganapathy [18, Corollary 6.3] for parahoric subgroups associated with stabilizers in  $G(E)^0$  (which have connected special fibers). For applications to §6, it is convenient instead to use parahoric subgroups associated with stabilizers in  $G(E)^1$  (which can have disconnected special fibers), since  $G(E)^1$  enjoys Galois descent.

Therefore, we begin by proving a congruence result for disconnected parahoric subgroups. By using birational group laws, we reduce this to the case when G is a torus, where it follows from results of Chai–Yu [8]. Afterwards, we follow Kazhdan's arguments to construct an isomorphism of Hecke algebras over close fields. Although the Hecke algebras that we consider are equal to those considered in [19], we do not know whether the isomorphisms constructed here equal those constructed in [19].

A.1. We start with some notation. Let E be a nonarchimedean local field, write  $\mathcal{O}$  for its ring of integers, and write  $\mathfrak{p}$  for the maximal ideal of  $\mathcal{O}$ . Fix a separable closure  $\overline{E}$  of E, and write  $\Gamma$  for  $\operatorname{Gal}(\overline{E}/E)$ . Write I for the inertia subgroup of  $\Gamma$ . For all positive integers n, write  $I^n$  for the *n*-th ramification subgroup of I in the upper numbering.

Recall the notation of 6.1. Let  $\delta : \Gamma \to \operatorname{Aut}(G^{\mathrm{s}}, T^{\mathrm{s}}, X^{*}(T^{\mathrm{s}}), \Delta, \{x_{\widetilde{a}}\}_{\widetilde{a}\in\Delta})$  be a continuous homomorphism, and write F/E for the finite Galois extension such that  $\operatorname{Gal}(F/E)$  is the image of  $\delta$ . Descending  $(G_{F}^{\mathrm{s}}, T_{F}^{\mathrm{s}}, B_{F}^{\mathrm{s}}, \{x_{\widetilde{a}}\}_{\widetilde{a}\in\Delta})$  along the étale  $\operatorname{Gal}(F/E)$ -torsor Spec  $F \to \operatorname{Spec} E$  via  $\delta$  yields a quasisplit connected reductive group G over E with a pinning  $(B, T, \{x_{\widetilde{a}}\}_{\widetilde{a}\in\Delta})$  over  $E_{i}$  as in [24, Definition 2.9.1].

A.2. Let us gather some facts about disconnected parahoric subgroups. Write S for the maximal split subtorus of T, write  $\mathcal{B}(G/E)$  for the (reduced) building of G over E, and write  $\mathcal{A}(S)$  for the apartment in  $\mathcal{B}(G/E)$  associated with S. Let x be a special point in  $\mathcal{A}(S)$ . Write  $\mathcal{K}$  for the smooth affine model of G over  $\mathcal{O}$  such that  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}) \subseteq G(E)$  equals the maximal compact subgroup  $G(E)^1_x$  [24, Proposition 8.3.1].

Write  $\Phi$  for the relative root system  $\Phi(G, S)$ , and write  $\Phi^{\pm}$  for the subset of positive or negative roots associated with B. By [24, Proposition B.2.4], the Zariski closure S of S in  $\mathcal{K}$  is a split subtorus of  $\mathcal{K}$ . Write  $\mathcal{T}$  for the centralizer of S in  $\mathcal{K}$ , and for all a in  $\Phi$ , write  $\mathcal{U}_a$  for the a-root subgroup of  $\mathcal{K}$ .

# Lemma.

i) The group  $\mathcal{T}$  is isomorphic to the Néron model of T over  $\mathcal{O}$ .

ii) The multiplication morphism ∏<sub>a</sub> U<sub>a</sub> → K, where a runs over Φ<sup>±</sup><sub>red</sub> (for some ordering of Φ<sup>±</sup><sub>red</sub>) and ∏ denotes the product over O, is a closed embedding whose image is a subgroup U<sub>±</sub> of K that is independent of the ordering of Φ<sup>±</sup><sub>red</sub>.
 iii) The multiplication many here U<sub>±</sub> of K that is independent of the ordering of Φ<sup>±</sup><sub>red</sub>.

iii) The multiplication morphism  $\mathcal{U}_{-} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{T} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{U}_{+} \to \mathcal{K}$  is an open embedding.

*Proof.* Note that that  $\mathcal{T}_E$  equals T, and  $T(E)^1$  equals the intersection of T(E) with  $G(E)_x^1$ . Since  $\mathcal{T}$  is smooth over  $\mathcal{O}$  by [9, Lemma 2.2.4], part i) follows from [24, Proposition B.7.2]. Part ii) and part iii) follow from [24, Theorem 8.2.5].

A.3. Let a be in  $\Phi_{\text{red}}$ . Let  $\tilde{a}$  be a lift of a to the absolute root system  $\Phi(G, T)$ , write  $E_{\tilde{a}}$  for the field of definition of  $\tilde{a}$ , and write  $\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{a}}$  for the ring of integers of  $E_{\tilde{a}}$ . Write  $\tilde{a}: T \to \mathbb{R}_{E_{\tilde{a}}/E} \mathbb{G}_m$  for the associated morphism of groups over E, as well as the induced morphism  $\tilde{a}: \mathcal{T} \to \mathbb{R}_{\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{a}}/\mathcal{O}} \mathbb{G}_m$  of Néron models over  $\mathcal{O}$ .

Write  $U_a$  for the *a*-root subgroup of *G*. There are two possibilities:

- R1: If 2a does not lie in  $\Phi$ , then the pinning induces an isomorphism  $\operatorname{R}_{E_{\widetilde{a}}/E} \mathbb{G}_a \xrightarrow{\sim} U_a$ . Moreover, after composing the natural action of  $\operatorname{R}_{E_{\widetilde{a}}/E} \mathbb{G}_m$  on  $\operatorname{R}_{E_{\widetilde{a}}/E} \mathbb{G}_a$  with  $\widetilde{a}$ , this corresponds to the action of T on  $U_a$ .
- R2: If 2a lies in  $\Phi$ , then the pinning induces an isomorphism  $\operatorname{R}_{E_{\widetilde{b}}/E} U_a \xrightarrow{\sim} U_a$ , where  $\widetilde{b}$  denotes the lift to  $\Phi(G,T)$  of 2a induced by  $\widetilde{a}$ , and  $\widetilde{U}_a$  denotes the affine group  $U_{E_{\widetilde{a}}/E_{\widetilde{b}}}$  over  $E_{\widetilde{b}}$  as in [24, (2.7.2)]. Moreover, there is a natural action of  $\operatorname{R}_{E_{\widetilde{a}}/E_{\widetilde{b}}} \mathbb{G}_m$  on  $\widetilde{U}_a$ , and after applying  $\operatorname{R}_{E_{\widetilde{b}}/E}$  and composing with  $\widetilde{a}$ , this corresponds to the action of T on  $U_a$ .
- The (disconnected) Néron model  $\mathcal{T}$  naturally acts on root subgroups as follows.

**Lemma.** The subgroup  $\mathcal{U}_a$  is normalized by  $\mathcal{T}$ . There are two possibilities:

- R1: If 2a does not lie in  $\Phi$ , then the pinning induces an isomorphism  $\mathbb{R}_{\mathcal{O}_{\overline{a}}/\mathcal{O}}\mathcal{U}_{a} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{U}_{a}$ , where  $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{a}$  denotes the smooth affine model of  $\mathbb{G}_{a}$  over  $\mathcal{O}_{\overline{a}}$  such that  $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{a}(\mathcal{O}_{\overline{a}}) \subseteq E_{\overline{a}}$ equals  $U_{x,a,0}$  [24, §C.2]. Moreover, there is a natural action of  $\mathbb{G}_{m}$  on  $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{a}$ , and after applying  $\mathbb{R}_{\mathcal{O}_{\overline{a}}/\mathcal{O}}$  and composing with  $\widetilde{a}$ , this corresponds to the action of  $\mathcal{T}$  on  $\mathcal{U}_{a}$ .
- R2: If 2a lies in  $\Phi$ , then the pinning induces an isomorphism  $\mathbb{R}_{\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{b}}/\mathcal{O}} \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{a} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{U}_{a}$ , where  $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{a}$  denotes the smooth affine model of  $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{a}$  over  $\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{b}}$  such that  $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{a}(\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{b}}) \subseteq \widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{a}(E_{\tilde{b}})$  equals  $U_{x,a,0}$  [24, §C.4]. Moreover, there is a natural action of  $\mathbb{R}_{\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{a}}/\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{b}}} \mathbb{G}_{m}$  on  $\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_{a}$ , and after applying  $\mathbb{R}_{\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{b}}/\mathcal{O}}$  and composing with  $\tilde{a}$ , this corresponds to the action of  $\mathcal{T}$  on  $\mathcal{U}_{a}$ .

*Proof.* The desired description of  $\mathcal{U}_a$  follows from [24, Proposition C.5.1]. Because  $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{O}) \subseteq T(E)$  equals  $T(E)^1$ , this description indicates that  $\mathcal{U}_a$  is normalized by  $\mathcal{T}$ . It also yields the desired description of the action of  $\mathcal{T}$  on  $\mathcal{U}_a$ .

A.4. We will use the following to reconstruct  $\mathcal{K}$ , which is crucial for our congruence result. Write  $\mathcal{X}$  for the smooth affine scheme  $\mathcal{U}_{-} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{T} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{U}_{+}$  over  $\mathcal{O}$ , so that the multiplication morphism  $\mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{K}$  is an open embedding by Lemma A.2.iii). Since xis a special point, [24, Proposition 7.7.11] and [24, Remark 7.7.6] imply that  $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}}$ is dense in  $\mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}}$ . Hence the group law on  $\mathcal{K}$  over  $\mathcal{O}$  restricts to an birational group law on  $\mathcal{X}$  over  $\mathcal{O}$  as in [7, 5.1/1].

**Proposition.** For any scheme  $\mathcal{Z}$  over  $\mathcal{O}$ , the birational group law on  $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{Z}}$  over  $\mathcal{Z}$  depends only on the group laws on  $(\mathcal{U}_{\pm})_{\mathcal{Z}}$  and  $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{Z}}$  over  $\mathcal{Z}$ , along with the action of  $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{Z}}$  on  $(\mathcal{U}_{+})_{\mathcal{Z}}$ .

*Proof.* Applying Lemma A.2.iii) to the opposite Borel shows that the multiplication morphism  $\mathcal{U}_+ \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{T} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{U}_- \to \mathcal{K}$  is also an open embedding. Write  $\mathcal{X}^{-1}$  for the smooth affine scheme  $\mathcal{U}_+ \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{T} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{U}_-$  over  $\mathcal{O}$ , and write  $\mathcal{C}$  for the intersection of  $\mathcal{X}$  with  $\mathcal{X}^{-1}$ . Note that the birational group law  $\mathcal{X} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}$  equals

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{X} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{X} &= \mathcal{U}_{-} \times_{\mathcal{O}} (\mathcal{T} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{U}_{+} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{U}_{-}) \times_{\mathcal{O}} (\mathcal{T} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{U}_{+}) \\ &\cong \mathcal{U}_{-} \times_{\mathcal{O}} (\mathcal{U}_{+} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{T} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{U}_{-}) \times_{\mathcal{O}} (\mathcal{T} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{U}_{+}) \\ &\supseteq \mathcal{U}_{-} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{C} \times_{\mathcal{O}} (\mathcal{T} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{U}_{+}) \\ &\subseteq \mathcal{U}_{-} \times_{\mathcal{O}} (\mathcal{U}_{-} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{T} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{U}_{+}) \times_{\mathcal{O}} (\mathcal{T} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{U}_{+}) \\ &\cong (\mathcal{U}_{-} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{U}_{-}) \times_{\mathcal{O}} (\mathcal{T} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{T}) \times_{\mathcal{O}} (\mathcal{U}_{+} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{U}_{+}) \\ &\to \mathcal{U}_{-} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{T} \times_{\mathcal{O}} \mathcal{U}_{+} = \mathcal{X}, \end{aligned}$$

where the isomorphisms are induced by the action of  $\mathcal{T}$  on  $\mathcal{U}_+$ , and the last morphism is induced by the group laws on  $\mathcal{U}_{\pm}$  and  $\mathcal{T}$  over  $\mathcal{O}$ . After base changing to  $\mathcal{Z}$ , this yields the desired result.

A.5. We now introduce our setup of close fields. Let n be a positive integer such that the image of  $I^n$  in  $\operatorname{Gal}(F/E)$  is trivial. Let E' be a nonarchimedean local field along with an isomorphism  $\operatorname{Tr}_l(E) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_l(E')$  for some  $l \ge n$ , which induces an isomorphism  $\operatorname{Tr}_n(E) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_n(E')$ . Using our isomorphism  $\operatorname{Tr}_n(E) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_n(E')$ , we obtain a canonical isomorphism  $\Gamma/I^n \cong \Gamma'/I'^n$  of topological groups (up to conjugation) [10, (3.5.1)].

Write F'/E' for the finite Galois extension corresponding to F/E via the isomorphism  $\Gamma/I^n \cong \Gamma'/I'^n$ . We have an isomorphism  $\operatorname{Gal}(F/E) \cong \operatorname{Gal}(F'/E')$ , so descending  $(G_{F'}^{\mathrm{s}}, T_{F'}^{\mathrm{s}}, B_{F'}^{\mathrm{s}}, \{x_{\tilde{a}}\}_{\tilde{a}\in\Delta})$  along Spec  $F' \to \operatorname{Spec} E'$  via  $\delta$  yields a quasisplit connected reductive group G' over E' with a pinning  $(B', T', \{x_{\tilde{a}}'\}_{\tilde{a}\in\Delta})$  over E'.

Write S' for the maximal split subtorus of T'. Note that we have natural isomorphisms  $X^*(T) \cong X^*(T')$  and  $X^*(S) \cong X^*(S')$  that preserve the absolute and relative root systems, respectively, as well as the positive roots. By using our pinnings  $(B, T, \{x_{\tilde{a}}\}_{\tilde{a}\in\Delta})$  and  $(B', T', \{x'_{\tilde{a}}\}_{\tilde{a}\in\Delta})$  as basepoints, this induces a canonical isomorphism  $\mathcal{A}(S) \cong \mathcal{A}(S')$ . Write x' for the image of x under the isomorphism  $\mathcal{A}(S) \cong \mathcal{A}(S')$ , and write  $\mathcal{K}'$  for the unique smooth affine model of G' over  $\mathcal{O}'$  such that  $\mathcal{K}'(\mathcal{O}') \subseteq G'(E')$  equals  $G'(E')^{\frac{1}{r'}}$ .

Write  $\psi : [-1, \infty) \to [-1, \infty)$  for the Hasse–Herbrand function associated with F/E as in [39, Chap. IV, §3], and write v for the inertia degree of F/E. Recall that our isomorphism  $\operatorname{Tr}_l(E) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_l(E')$  induces an isomorphism  $\operatorname{Tr}_{\psi(l)}(F) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_{\psi(l)}(F')$  [10, (3.4.1)]. Because  $\psi(x) \to \infty$  as  $x \to \infty$ , for large enough l this yields an isomorphism  $\mathcal{O}_L/\mathfrak{p}_L^{nv_L} \cong \mathcal{O}_{L'}/\mathfrak{p}_{L'}^{nv_L}$  for all subextensions L/E in F with corresponding subextension L'/E' in F', where  $v_L$  denotes the inertia degree of L/E.

A.6. For the rest of this section, assume that l is large enough as in A.5. The following is our main congruence result for disconnected parahoric subgroups.

**Theorem.** For large enough l, the isomorphism  $\operatorname{Tr}_l(E) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_l(E')$  induces an isomorphism  $\mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n} \cong \mathcal{K}'_{\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n}$  of groups over  $\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n \cong \mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n$ .

*Proof.* Assume that l is large enough as in the proof of [8, (9.4)]. Then [8, (9.2)] indicates that our isomorphism  $\operatorname{Tr}_l(E) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_l(E')$  induces an isomorphism  $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n} \cong$ 

 $\mathcal{T}'_{\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n}$  of groups over  $\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n \cong \mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n$ . Under this identification, [8, (9.4)] implies that, for all  $\tilde{a}$  in  $X^*(T) \cong X^*(T')$ , the square of groups over  $\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n \cong \mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n$ 

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n} \underbrace{\longrightarrow}_{\widetilde{a}_{\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n}} \mathcal{T}'_{\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n} \\ \downarrow^{\widetilde{a}_{\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n}} & \downarrow^{\widetilde{a}_{\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n}} \\ \mathrm{R}_{(\mathcal{O}_{\overline{a}}/\mathfrak{p}_{\overline{a}}^{nv_{\widetilde{a}}})/(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n)} \mathbb{G}_m \underbrace{\longrightarrow}_{R_{(\mathcal{O}_{\overline{a}}'/\mathfrak{p}_{\overline{a}}^{'nv_{\widetilde{a}}})/(\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n)} \mathbb{G}_m \end{array}$$

commutes, where  $v_{\tilde{a}}$  denotes the inertia degree of  $E_{\tilde{a}}/E$ .

Let a be in  $\Phi_{\text{red}}$ . In the two cases of A.3, the proof of [18, Lemma 4.7] shows that the isomorphism  $\text{Tr}_l(E) \cong \text{Tr}_l(E')$  induces:

R1: If 2a does not lie in  $\Phi$ , an isomorphism  $(\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_a)_{\mathcal{O}_{\overline{a}}/\mathfrak{p}_{\overline{a}}^{n\upsilon_{\overline{a}}}} \cong (\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}'_a)_{\mathcal{O}'_{\overline{a}}/\mathfrak{p}_{\overline{a}}^{'n\upsilon_{\overline{a}}}}$  of groups over  $\mathcal{O}_{\overline{a}}/\mathfrak{p}_{\overline{a}}^{n\upsilon_{\overline{a}}} \cong \mathcal{O}'_{\overline{a}}/\mathfrak{p}_{\overline{a}}^{'n\upsilon_{\overline{a}}}$  such that the actions of  $(\mathbb{G}_m)_{\mathcal{O}_{\overline{a}}/\mathfrak{p}_{\overline{a}}^{'n\upsilon_{\overline{a}}}} \cong (\mathbb{G}_m)_{\mathcal{O}'_{\overline{a}}/\mathfrak{p}_{\overline{a}}^{'n\upsilon_{\overline{a}}}}$  agree,

R2: If 2*a* lies in  $\Phi$ , an isomorphism  $(\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}_a)_{\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{b}}/\mathfrak{p}_{\widetilde{b}}^{n\upsilon_{\widetilde{b}}}} \cong (\widetilde{\mathcal{U}}'_a)_{\mathcal{O}'_{\widetilde{b}}/\mathfrak{p}_{\widetilde{b}}^{'n\upsilon_{\widetilde{b}}}}$  of groups over  $\mathcal{O}_{\widetilde{b}}/\mathfrak{p}_{\widetilde{b}}^{n\upsilon_{\widetilde{b}}} \cong \mathcal{O}'_{\widetilde{b}}/\mathfrak{p}_{\widetilde{b}}^{'n\upsilon_{\widetilde{b}}}$  such that the actions of

$$\mathbf{R}_{(\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{a}}/\mathfrak{p}_{\tilde{a}}^{n\upsilon_{\tilde{a}}})/(\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{b}}/\mathfrak{p}_{\tilde{b}}^{n\upsilon_{\tilde{b}}})} \mathbb{G}_{m} \cong \mathbf{R}_{(\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{a}}'/\mathfrak{p}_{\tilde{a}}'^{n\upsilon_{\tilde{a}}})/(\mathcal{O}_{\tilde{b}}'/\mathfrak{p}_{\tilde{b}}'^{n\upsilon_{\tilde{b}}})} \mathbb{G}_{m}$$

agree, where  $v_{\tilde{h}}$  denotes the inertia degree of  $E_{\tilde{h}}/E$ .

Therefore Lemma A.3 yields an isomorphism  $(\mathcal{U}_a)_{\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n} \cong (\mathcal{U}'_a)_{\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n}$  of groups over  $\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n \cong \mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n$  such that the actions of  $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n} \cong \mathcal{T}'_{\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n}$  agree. By Proposition A.4, this induces an isomorphism  $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n} \cong \mathcal{X}'_{\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n}$  of birational group laws over  $\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n \cong \mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n$ . Now  $\mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n}$  and  $\mathcal{K}'_{\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n}$  are solutions as in [7, 5.1/2] of the birational group laws  $\mathcal{X}_{\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n}$  and  $\mathcal{K}'_{\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n}$ , respectively, so the uniqueness of solutions [7, 5.1/3] induces an isomorphism  $\mathcal{K}_{\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n} \cong \mathcal{K}'_{\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n}$  of groups over  $\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n \cong \mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n$ . This yields the desired result.

A.7. At this point, we begin preparations for our Hecke algebra isomorphism over close fields. Write  $\check{E}$  for the completion of the maximal unramified extension of E, and write  $\check{\mathcal{O}}$  for its ring of integers. Write  $\mathbb{F}_q$  for the residue field of E, and write  $\varphi : \check{E} \to \check{E}$  for the lift of absolute q-Frobenius.

Choose a uniformizer  $\pi_F$  of F. Choose a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -basis  $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_r$  of the  $\mathbb{Z}$ -torsionfree quotient  $X_*(T)_{I,\text{tf}}$  of  $X_*(T)_I$ , and choose representatives  $\tilde{\mu}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\mu}_r$  in  $X_*(T)$  of the  $\mu_1, \ldots, \mu_r$ . Sending  $\mu_j \mapsto \operatorname{Nm}_{\breve{F}/\breve{E}} \tilde{\mu}_j(\pi_F)$  for all  $1 \leq j \leq r$  yields a homomorphism

$$\check{\nabla}: X_*(T)_{I,\mathrm{tf}} \to T(\check{E}).$$

Note that  $\breve{\nabla}$  is a section of the valuation map  $v: T(\breve{E}) \to X_*(T)_{I,\text{tf}}$ , and because v is surjective with kernel  $T(\breve{E})^1$ , this induces an isomorphism

$$X_*(T)_{I,\mathrm{tf}} \times T(\breve{E})^1 \xrightarrow{\sim} T(\breve{E}).$$

Lemma A.2.i) indicates that  $T(\check{E})^1$  equals  $\mathcal{T}(\check{\mathcal{O}})$ . Write  $\check{T}^n$  for the kernel of  $\mathcal{T}(\check{\mathcal{O}}) \to \mathcal{T}(\check{\mathcal{O}}/\mathfrak{p}^n)$ , write  $T^n$  for the kernel of  $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{O}) \to \mathcal{T}(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n)$ , and write  $K^n$  for the kernel of  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}) \to \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n)$ . Note that  $\check{T}^n$ ,  $T^n$ , and  $K^n$  remain unchanged if we replace the groups  $\mathcal{G}$  over  $\mathcal{O}$  with their relative neutral components  $\mathcal{G}^\circ$ , since  $\mathcal{G}^\circ$  is open in  $\mathcal{G}$ , and the only open subscheme of Spec  $\mathcal{O}$  containing Spec  $\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n$  is Spec  $\mathcal{O}$ .

A.8. We want to compare elements of T(E) with elements of T'(E') in a way that is compatible with Theorem A.6, so we proceed as follows.

Choose a uniformizer  $\pi_{F'}$  of F' whose image in  $\mathcal{O}_{F'}/\mathfrak{p}_{F'}^{nv} \cong \mathcal{O}_F/\mathfrak{p}_F^{nv}$  equals the image of  $\pi_F$ . Using the image of the  $\tilde{\mu}_1, \ldots, \tilde{\mu}_r$  in  $X_*(T') \cong X_*(T)$ , we obtain a homomorphism  $\breve{\nabla}' : X_*(T')_{I', \text{tf}} \to T'(\breve{E}')$  as in A.7 and hence an isomorphism  $X_*(T')_{I', \text{tf}} \times \mathcal{T}'(\breve{\mathcal{O}}') \xrightarrow{\sim} T'(\breve{\mathcal{E}}')$ .

For the rest of this section, assume that l is large enough as in Theorem A.6. Then [8, (9.2)] indicates that our isomorphism  $\operatorname{Tr}_l(E) \cong \operatorname{Tr}_l(E')$  induces an isomorphism  $\mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n} \cong \mathcal{T}'_{\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n}$  of groups over  $\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n \cong \mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n$ ; write  $\tau$  for the resulting composition

$$T(\breve{E})/\breve{T}^n \stackrel{\sim}{\leftarrow} X_*(T)_{I,\mathrm{tf}} \times \mathcal{T}(\breve{\mathcal{O}}/\mathfrak{p}^n) \cong X_*(T')_{I',\mathrm{tf}} \times \mathcal{T}'(\breve{\mathcal{O}}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n) \stackrel{\sim}{\to} T'(\breve{E}')/\breve{T}'^n.$$

The proof of [19, Lemma 2.5] shows that  $\tau$  intertwines the actions of  $\varphi$  and  $\varphi'$ , so [24, Corollary B.10.14] implies that taking  $\varphi$ -invariants and  $\varphi'$ -invariants yields an isomorphism  $\tau : T(E)/T^n \xrightarrow{\sim} T'(E')/T'^n$ .

A.9. Note that the action of  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}) \times \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O})$  on  $K^n \setminus G(E)/K^n$  by left and right translation factors through  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}) \times \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}) \to \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n) \times \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n)$ .

Our comparison from A.8 satisfies the following compatibility with Theorem A.6. Let t be in T(E), and choose t' in T'(E') whose image in  $T'(E')/T'^n \cong T(E)/T^n$  equals the image of t.

**Lemma.** Under the identification  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n) \cong \mathcal{K}'(\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n)$  from Theorem A.6, the stabilizer of  $K^n t K^n$  in  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n) \times \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n)$  equals the stabilizer of  $K'^n t' K'^n$  in  $\mathcal{K}'(\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n) \times \mathcal{K}'(\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n)$ .

*Proof.* Let k and k' be elements of  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O})$  and  $\mathcal{K}'(\mathcal{O}')$ , respectively, whose images in  $\mathcal{K}'(\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n) \cong \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n)$  coincide. We claim that if  $t^{-1}kt$  lies in  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O})$ , then  $t'^{-1}k't'$  lies in  $\mathcal{K}'(\mathcal{O}')$ , and their images in  $\mathcal{K}'(\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n) \cong \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n)$  also coincide. By the Bruhat decomposition, it suffices to check this in the following two cases:

- If k and k' lie in  $\mathcal{T}(\mathcal{O})$  and  $\mathcal{T}'(\mathcal{O}')$ , respectively, then this follows from T(E) being commutative.
- If k and k' lie in  $\mathcal{U}_a(\mathcal{O})$  and  $\mathcal{U}'_a(\mathcal{O}')$ , respectively, for some a in  $\Phi_{\text{red}}$ , then this follows from Lemma A.3.

Next, note that the map  $k \mapsto (k, t^{-1}kt)$  induces an isomorphism

$$\iota: \left(\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}) \cap t\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O})t^{-1}\right) / \left(K^n \cap tK^n t^{-1}\right) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{stab}_{\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n) \times \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n)} (K^n tK^n).$$

We have an analogous isomorphism

and the claim implies that the images of  $\iota$  and  $\iota'$  in

$$\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n) \times \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n) \cong \mathcal{K}'(\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n) \times \mathcal{K}'(\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n)$$

coincide. This yields the desired result.

A.10. Let us recall the Cartan decomposition for disconnected parahoric subgroups, as well as some of its consequences for Hecke algebras. Choose a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -basis  $\nu_1, \ldots, \nu_s$  of  $(X_*(T)_{I,\mathrm{tf}})^{\varphi}$ , and choose lifts  $t_1, \ldots, t_s$  to T(E) of the  $\nu_1, \ldots, \nu_s$ . Sending  $\nu_j \mapsto t_j$  for all  $1 \leq j \leq s$  yields a homomorphism  $\nabla : (X_*(T)_{I,\mathrm{tf}})^{\varphi} \to T(E)$ . By construction,  $\nabla$  is a section of the valuation map  $v: T(E) \to (X_*(T)_{I,\mathrm{tf}})^{\varphi}$ .

90

Let  $\Lambda$  be a ring. Consider the (noncommutative)  $\Lambda$ -algebra  $\mathcal{H}(G(E), K^n)_{\Lambda}$  as in Definition 1.17, and for all g in G(E), write  $h_g$  in  $\mathcal{H}(G(E), K^n)_{\Lambda}$  for the indicator function on  $K^n g K^n$ . As g runs over  $K^n \backslash G(E)/K^n$ , the  $h_g$  form a  $\Lambda$ -basis of  $\mathcal{H}(G(E), K^n)_{\Lambda}$ .

### Lemma.

i) The group G(E) equals the disjoint union

$$\coprod_{\nu} \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}) \nabla(\nu) \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}),$$

where  $\nu$  runs over  $(X_*(T)_{I,\mathrm{tf}})^{\varphi,+}$ .

- ii) For all  $\nu$  and  $\mu$  in  $(X_*(T)_{I,\mathrm{tf}})^{\varphi,+}$ , we have  $h_{\nabla(\nu)} * h_{\nabla(\mu)} = h_{\nabla(\nu+\mu)}$ .
- iii) For all  $\nu$  in  $(X_*(T)_{I,\mathrm{tf}})^{\varphi,+}$  and k and j in  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O})$ , we have

$$h_k * h_{\nabla(\nu)} * h_j = h_{k \cdot \nabla(\nu) \cdot j}$$

Proof. Since x is a special point, part i) follows from the proof of [24, Theorem 5.2.1]. Next, note that  $\mathcal{H}(G(E), K^n)_{\Lambda}$  is base changed from the  $\Lambda = \mathbb{Z}$  case, so it suffices to consider  $\Lambda = \mathbb{Z}$ . Then part i) and Lemma A.2.iii) imply that  $\Delta := \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O})$ ,  $\Delta_0 := K^n$ , and  $\mathbf{D} := \nabla((X_*(T)_{I,\mathrm{tf}})^{\varphi,+})$  satisfy [1, Condition H-1] and [1, Condition H-2]. Therefore part ii) and part iii) follow from [1, Theorem 2].

A.11. At this point, we can compare double coset spaces over close fields as follows. Using  $t'_1, \ldots, t'_s$  in T'(E') whose images in  $T'(E')/T'^n \cong T(E)/T^n$  equal the images of the  $t_1, \ldots, t_s$ , we obtain a homomorphism  $\nabla' : (X_*(T')_{I', \text{tf}})^{\varphi'} \to T'(E')$  as in A.10.

**Proposition.** We have a natural bijection  $K^n \setminus G(E)/K^n \cong K'^n \setminus G'(E')/K'^n$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\nu$  be in  $(X_*(T)_{I,\mathrm{tf}})^{\varphi,+} \cong (X_*(T')_{I',\mathrm{tf}})^{\varphi',+}$ . Note that the diagram

commutes by construction, so Lemma A.9 indicates that the stabilizer of  $K^n \nabla(\nu) K^n$ and the stabilizer of  $K'^n \nabla'(\nu) K'^n$  in

$$\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n) \times \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n) \cong \mathcal{K}'(\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n) \times \mathcal{K}'(\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n)$$

coincide. This induces a natural bijection between the set of  $K^n$ -double cosets lying in  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O})\nabla(\nu)\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O})$  and the set of  $K'^n$ -double cosets lying in  $\mathcal{K}'(\mathcal{O}')\nabla'(\nu)\mathcal{K}'(\mathcal{O}')$ . As  $\nu$  varies, Lemma A.10.i) yields the desired result.

A.12. Proposition A.11 and A.10 induce a natural isomorphism of  $\Lambda$ -modules

$$\eta_n: \mathcal{H}(G(E), K^n)_\Lambda \to \mathcal{H}(G'(E'), K'^n)_\Lambda.$$

To prove that  $\eta_n$  is an isomorphism of  $\Lambda$ -algebras, we need the following result. Let  $C \subseteq (X_*(T)_{I,\mathrm{tf}})^{\varphi,+}$  be a finite subset, and write  $G(E)_C$  for  $\coprod_{\nu \in C} \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}) \nabla(\nu) \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O})$ . View C as a subset of  $(X_*(T')_{I',\mathrm{tf}})^{\varphi',+} \cong (X_*(T)_{I,\mathrm{tf}})^{\varphi,+}$ .

**Lemma.** For large enough l, we have  $\eta_n(h_1 * h_2) = \eta_n(h_1) * \eta_n(h_2)$  for all  $h_1$  and  $h_2$  in  $\mathcal{H}(G(E), K^n)_{\mathbb{C}}$  supported on  $G(E)_C$ .

*Proof.* Because  $K^n$  remains unchanged if we replace  $\mathcal{K}$  with its relative neutral component  $\mathcal{K}^\circ$ , this follows from [19, Lemma 4.6].

A.13. Finally, we prove our Hecke algebra isomorphism over close fields.

**Theorem.** For large enough l, the map  $\eta_n : \mathcal{H}(G(E), K^n)_{\Lambda} \to \mathcal{H}(G'(E'), K'^n)_{\Lambda}$  is an isomorphism of  $\Lambda$ -algebras.

*Proof.* Note that  $\eta_n$  is base changed from the  $\Lambda = \mathbb{Z}$  case, so it suffices to consider  $\Lambda = \mathbb{Z}$ . Because  $\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{C}$  is injective, the  $\Lambda = \mathbb{Z}$  case follows from that of  $\Lambda = \mathbb{C}$ .

Therefore assume that  $\Lambda = \mathbb{C}$ . Let  $k_1, \ldots, k_a$  be a set of representatives in  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O})$ of  $\mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n)$ , and let  $\nu_1^+, \ldots, \nu_b^+$  be generators of the monoid  $(X_*(T)_{I,\mathrm{tf}})^{\varphi,+}$ . Then Lemma A.10.ii) and Lemma A.10.iii) indicate that the  $h_{k_1}, \ldots, h_{k_a}, h_{\nabla}(\nu_1^+), \ldots, h_{\nabla}(\nu_b^+)$ generate  $\mathcal{H}(G(E), K^n)_{\mathbb{C}}$  over  $\mathbb{C}$ . Now [3, 2.13] and [3, 3.4] imply that  $\mathcal{H}(G(E), K^n)_{\mathbb{C}}$ is finitely presented over  $\mathbb{C}$ , so there exist  $f_1, \ldots, f_r$  in the noncommutative polynomial ring  $\mathbb{C}\langle X_1, \ldots, X_{a+b} \rangle$  such that the surjective  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebra homomorphism

$$\mathbb{C}\langle X_1,\ldots,X_{a+b}\rangle \to \mathcal{H}(G(E),K^n)_{\mathbb{C}}$$

induced by the  $h_{k_1}, \ldots, h_{k_a}, h_{\nabla(\nu_1^+)}, \ldots, h_{\nabla(\nu_{k}^+)}$  has kernel  $(f_1, \ldots, f_r)$ .

Write D for  $\max_{1 \le j \le r} \deg f_j$ . By compactness, there exists a finite subset  $C \subseteq (X_*(T)_{I,\mathrm{tf}})^{\varphi,+}$  such that  $G(E)_C$  contains the D-fold product of  $G(E)_{\{0,\nu_1^+,\ldots,\nu_b^+\}}$  in G(E). Assume that l is large enough for C as in Lemma A.12.ii). Since every at most D-fold product of the  $h_{k_1},\ldots,h_{k_a},h_{\nabla(\nu_1^+)},\ldots,h_{\nabla(\nu_b^+)}$  is supported on  $G(E)_C$ , Lemma A.12.ii) shows that

$$f_j(\eta_n(h_{k_1}), \dots, \eta_n(h_{k_a}), \eta_n(h_{\nabla(\nu_1^+)}), \dots, \eta_n(h_{\nabla(\nu_b^+)})) = \eta_n(f(h_{k_1}, \dots, h_{k_a}, h_{\nabla(\nu_1^+)}, \dots, h_{\nabla(\nu_b^+)})) = 0$$

for all  $1 \leq j \leq r$ . Hence the C-algebra homomorphism

$$\mathbb{C}\langle X_1,\ldots,X_{a+b}\rangle \to \mathcal{H}(G'(E'),K'^n)$$

induced by the  $\eta_n(h_{k_1}), \ldots, \eta_n(h_{k_a}), \eta_n(h_{\nabla(\nu_1^+)}), \ldots, \eta_n(h_{\nabla(\nu_b^+)})$  factors through a  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebra homomorphism  $\vartheta : \mathcal{H}(G(E), K^n)_{\mathbb{C}} \to \mathcal{H}(G'(E'), K'^n)_{\mathbb{C}}.$ 

For all  $1 \leq i \leq a$ , let  $k'_i$  be an element of  $\mathcal{K}'(\mathcal{O}')$  whose image in  $\mathcal{K}'(\mathcal{O}'/\mathfrak{p}'^n) \cong \mathcal{K}(\mathcal{O}/\mathfrak{p}^n)$  equals the image of  $k_i$ . Note that  $\eta_n(h_{k_i})$  equals  $h'_{k'_i}$ . Similarly, for all  $1 \leq m \leq b$ , we have  $\eta_n(h_{\nabla(\nu_m^+)}) = h'_{\nabla'(\nu_m^+)}$ . Therefore Lemma A.10.ii) and Lemma A.10.ii) indicate that  $\vartheta$  equals  $\eta_n$ , so  $\eta_n$  is a homomorphism of  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebras. Finally, we already saw in A.12 that  $\eta_n$  is a bijection.

#### References

- [1] N. D. Allan. Hecke rings of congruence subgroups. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc., 78:541–545, 1972.
- [2] A.-M. Aubert and S. Varma. On congruent isomorphisms for tori. arXiv e-prints, page arXiv:2401.08306, Jan. 2024, 2401.08306.
- [3] J. N. Bernstein. Le "centre" de Bernstein. In Representations of reductive groups over a local field, Travaux en Cours, pages 1–32. Hermann, Paris, 1984. Edited by P. Deligne.
- [4] A. A. Beĭlinson, J. Bernstein, and P. Deligne. Faisceaux pervers. In Analysis and topology on singular spaces, I (Luminy, 1981), volume 100 of Astérisque, pages 5–171. Soc. Math. France, Paris, 2nd edition edition, 2018.
- [5] B. Bhatt, M. Morrow, and P. Scholze. Integral p-adic Hodge theory. Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci., 128:219–397, 2018.

- [6] A. Borel. Properties and linear representations of Chevalley groups. In Seminar on Algebraic Groups and Related Finite Groups (The Institute for Advanced Study, Princeton, N.J., 1968/69), volume Vol. 131 of Lecture Notes in Math., pages 1–55. Springer, Berlin-New York, 1970.
- [7] S. Bosch, W. Lütkebohmert, and M. Raynaud. Néron models, volume 21 of Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3) [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1990.
- [8] C.-L. Chai and J.-K. Yu. Congruences of Néron models for tori and the Artin conductor. Ann. of Math. (2), 154(2):347–382, 2001. With an appendix by Ehud de Shalit.
- B. Conrad. Reductive group schemes. In Autour des schémas en groupes. Vol. I, volume 42/43 of Panor. Synthèses, pages 93–444. Soc. Math. France, Paris, 2014.
- [10] P. Deligne. Les corps locaux de caractéristique p, limites de corps locaux de caractéristique 0. In Representations of reductive groups over a local field, Travaux en Cours, pages 119–157. Hermann, Paris, 1984.
- [11] P. Deligne, J. S. Milne, A. Ogus, and K.-y. Shih. Hodge cycles, motives, and Shimura varieties, volume 900 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1982.
- [12] V. G. Drinfel'd. Coverings of p-adic symmetric domains. Funkcional. Anal. i Priložen., 10(2):29–40, 1976.
- [13] L. Fargues and J.-M. Fontaine. Courbes et fibrés vectoriels en théorie de Hodge p-adique. Astérisque, (406):xiii+382, 2018. With a preface by Pierre Colmez.
- [14] L. Fargues and P. Scholze. Geometrization of the local Langlands correspondence. arXiv e-prints, page arXiv:2102.13459, Jan. 2024, 2102.13459.
- [15] J.-M. Fontaine. Groupes p-divisibles sur les corps locaux, volume No. 47-48 of Astérisque. Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 1977.
- [16] O. Gabber and L. Ramero. Almost ring theory, volume 1800 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2003.
- [17] W. T. Gan, M. Harris, W. Sawin, and R. Beuzart-Plessis. Local parameters of supercuspidal representations. arXiv e-prints, page arXiv:2109.07737, June 2022, 2109.07737.
- [18] R. Ganapathy. Congruences of parahoric group schemes. Algebra Number Theory, 13(6):1475– 1499, 2019.
- [19] R. Ganapathy. A Hecke algebra isomorphism over close local fields. Mar. 2024. Revised version communicated to the author by Radhika Ganapathy.
- [20] A. Genestier and V. Lafforgue. Chtoucas restreints pour les groupes réductifs et paramétrisation de Langlands locale. arXiv e-prints, page arXiv:1709.00978, Sept. 2017, 1709.00978.
- [21] D. Hansen, T. Kaletha, and J. Weinstein. On the Kottwitz conjecture for local shtuka spaces. Forum Math. Pi, 10:Paper No. e13, 79, 2022.
- [22] R. Huber. A generalization of formal schemes and rigid analytic varieties. Math. Z., 217(4):513–551, 1994.
- [23] R. Huber. Étale cohomology of rigid analytic varieties and adic spaces. Aspects of Mathematics, E30. Friedr. Vieweg & Sohn, Braunschweig, 1996.
- [24] T. Kaletha and G. Prasad. Bruhat-Tits theory—a new approach, volume 44 of New Mathematical Monographs. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2023.
- [25] D. Kazhdan. Representations of groups over close local fields. J. Analyse Math., 47:175–179, 1986.
- [26] K. S. Kedlaya and R. Liu. Relative p-adic Hodge theory: foundations. Astérisque, (371):239, 2015.
- [27] R. E. Kottwitz. Harmonic analysis on reductive p-adic groups and Lie algebras. In Harmonic analysis, the trace formula, and Shimura varieties, volume 4 of Clay Math. Proc., pages 393–522. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2005.
- [28] M. Krasner. Quelques méthodes nouvelles dans la théorie des corps valués complets. In Algèbre et Théorie des Nombres, volume no. 24 of Colloq. Internat. CNRS, pages 29–39. CNRS, Paris, 1950.
- [29] S. Lang. Algebra, volume 211 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, third edition, 2002.
- [30] S. D. Li-Huerta. Local-global compatibility over function fields. arXiv e-prints, page arXiv:2301.09711, Aug. 2023, 2301.09711.
- [31] J. Lurie. Higher Algebra. https://www.math.ias.edu/~lurie/papers/HA.pdf, 2017.

#### SIYAN DANIEL LI-HUERTA

- [32] S. Mac Lane and I. Moerdijk. Sheaves in geometry and logic. Universitext. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1994. A first introduction to topos theory, Corrected reprint of the 1992 edition.
- [33] M. Mishra and B. Pattanayak. A note on depth preservation. J. Ramanujan Math. Soc., 34(4):393–400, 2019.
- [34] M. Rapoport and M. Richartz. On the classification and specialization of F-isocrystals with additional structure. Compositio Math., 103(2):153–181, 1996.
- [35] P. Scholze. Perfectoid spaces and their applications. In Proceedings of the International Congress of Mathematicians—Seoul 2014. Vol. II, pages 461–486. Kyung Moon Sa, Seoul, 2014.
- [36] P. Scholze. Etale cohomology of diamonds. arXiv e-prints, page arXiv:1709.07343, Jan. 2022, 1709.07343.
- [37] P. Scholze and J. Weinstein. Moduli of p-divisible groups. Camb. J. Math., 1(2):145–237, 2013.
- [38] P. Scholze and J. Weinstein. Berkeley Lectures on p-adic Geometry, volume 207 of Annals of Mathematics Studies. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2020.
- [39] J.-P. Serre. Local fields, volume 67 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1979. Translated from the French by Marvin Jay Greenberg.
- [40] The Stacks Project Authors. Stacks Project. http://stacks.math.columbia.edu, 2024.
- [41] M.-F. Vignéras. Représentations l-modulaires d'un groupe réductif p-adique avec  $l \neq p$ , volume 137 of Progress in Mathematics. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1996.

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, MASSACHUSETTS INSTITUTE OF TECHNOLOGY, 77 MASSACHUSETTS AVENUE, CAMBRIDGE, MA 02139

Email address: sdlh@mit.edu